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Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors present therr report and the audited financial statements of GFI TP Limited (The “Company™) for the
year ended 31 December 2012

Principal activities

The Company acts as a holding company for its subsidiary, Trayport Limuted The principal activity of Trayport
Limited is the development of new designs and solutions for electromc ttading  GFI TP Limited’s activities are not
expected to change in the foreseeable future

Results and dividends

The Company made a profit for the financial year of $21 million (2011 $18 million) for the year ended 31
December 2012 The directors paid a dividend of $41 milhion for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011 $nil)
No final dividend was proposed (2011 $nul)

Business review

The Company acts as a holding company for Trayport Limited, a leading provider of real-tune electronic trading
software for brokers, exchanges and traders (n the commodities, fixed income, currencies and equities markets

The directors feel that a key performance indicator analysis 15 not meaningful for the Company as 1t acts purely as a
holding company The financial performance of the company’s subsidiary 15 commented on in the individual
Directors’ Report

Going concern

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectatton that the Company has adequate resources to
contmue 1n operational existence for the foreseeable future Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis 1n preparing the financial statements

Details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in note 1 of the accounting policies n the
financial statements

Risk management

As the company 1s a holding company, 1ts risks relate to the investments 1 1ts subsidianies, Trayport Limited

Directors
The directors who served during the year were

Julian Swain
Prashant Naik
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DIRECTORS?’ REPORT (continued)

Directors’ indemmties

GF1 Group Inc, of which GFI TP Limited 1s a member, has made indemnity provisions for the benefit of the directors
of its subsitdiaries  These provisions were in force at the date of this report

Disclosure of infermation to Auditors
Each of the persons who are directors at the date of approval of this report confirms that

¢ so far as the directors are aware, there 15 no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors 1s
unaware, and

» the directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director 1n order to make themselves aware
of all relevant audit information and to estabhsh that the Company’s auditors 1s aware of that information

This mformation 1s given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 5418 of Companies Act 2006

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board

Prashant Maik
Director
3 May 2013
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responstble for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Pracuce (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law} Under Company law the directors
must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that peniod In prepaning these financal
statements, the directors are required to

s select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
» make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
= state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, and

s prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 1t 1s inappropriate to presume that the Company
will continue 1n business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other wregularities




Independent auditors’ report to the members of GFI TP Limited

We have audited the financial statements of GFI TP Limited for the year ended 31 December 2012 which comprise the
Profit and Loss Account, the Balance Sheet and the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been
applied m their preparation 1s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (Umted Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibilaties of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 4, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and far view Our responsibility 1s
to audit and express an opimon on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical
Standards for Auditors

This report, ncluding the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body wn accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose  We do not, in giving these opinions,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose
hands 1t may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error
This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have
been consistently apphed and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and non-financal
information in the Directors’ report for the year ended 2012 to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications
for our report

Opinon on financial statements
In our opimon the financial statements

* give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2012 and of its profit for the
year then ended,

*  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinton the information given 1n the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companues Act 2006 requires us to report to you
if, 1n our opinion

* adequate accounting records have not been kept, or retums adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us, or
the financial statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
certamn disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

o (1

Jeft Picton (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

3 May 2013




GFI TP Limited

Profit and loss account
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Administrative expenses

Operating profit

Interest recervable and similar income

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax on profit on ordinary activities

Profit for the financial year

All activities derive from continuing operations

Notes

11

2012 2011
$7000 $°000
28 517

28 517
21,512 17,550
21,540 18,067
21,540 18,067

There are no recognised gains or losses other than those shown 1n the profit and loss account above 1n the current or
previous year and accordingly no statement of total recogmised gans and losses has been presented




GFI TP Limited

Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2012

Fixed assets
Investments

Current assets
Debtors

Creditors amounts falling due within one year
Net current assets

Total assets less current habihities

Net assets

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital

Share premium account

Profit and loss account

Total shareholders’ funds

Notes

10
11
11

2012 2011
$'000 5000
169,664 169,664
813 20,416
813 20416
(10) (49}
803 20,367
170,467 190,031
170,467 190,031
12,000 12,000
137,500 137,500
20,967 40,531
170,467 190,031

The financial statements of GFI TP Limited, registered number 06484649 were approved and authorised for 1ssue by

the Board of Directors on 3 May 2013
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

Prasheni Naik
Director




GFI1 TP Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies are summarised below They have all been apphed consistently throughout
the year and the preceding year

Basis of accounting

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention n accordance with applicable
United Kingdom law and Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Going concern

The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and
performance are set out 1n the business review on page 2

After making enquiries and consideration of the financial nsk as disclosed n the Directors’ Report, the
directors have formed a judgement, at the time of approving the financial statements, that there 1s a reasonable
expectation that the Company has adequate resources to coniinue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future For this reason the directors have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements

Group financial statements

The Company 1s exempt under section 401 of the Compames Act 2006 frem producing group financial
statements as it 15 a wholly owned subsidiary of GFI Group Inc, a company that produces group financial
statements

Cash flow statement

The parent undertaking of the largest group that includes the Company, GF1 Group Inc , produces a cash flow
statement Accordingly, the Company has elected to avail uself of the exemption provided n Financial
Reporting Standard 1 (revised 1996) paragraph 5 and not produce a cash flow statement

Foreign exchange

These financial statements are denomimnated in US dollars (3) as this 1s the Company’s primary economic
environment

Profit and loss account items denomunated i currencies other than US dollars (8) are translated at the average
exchange rate ruling during the month of the transaction

Monetary items in the balance sheet are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date
Exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account

Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are valued at cost Provision 1s made for any impairment in value
Taxation

Current taxation, includig UK corporation tax and foreign tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be paid (or
recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date

Deferred tax s recognised n respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a
right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date

A deferred tax asset 1s regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only to the extent that, on the basis of
all available evidence, 1t can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from
which the future reversal of the underlymmg timing differences can be deducted The deferred tax balance has
not been discounted




GFI TP Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

L. Accounting policies (continued)
Dividend income

Dividend income from investments 1s recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive the payment have
been established

2. Operating profit
The audnt fees of $16,200 (2011 $10,200) for the year ending 31 December 2012 are borne by a fellow group
undertaking, GFI Holdings Limited The Company made a foreign exchange loss of $1,700 for the year ended
2012 (2011 gain of $548,000), which s included within admumstrative expenses

3 Staff costs

GFI TP Limited 1s a holding company and does not employ any staff (2011 none)

4 Directors’ remuneration

The Directors of GFI TP Lumited did not receive any remuneration for their services provided to the company

5 Interest receivable and similar income
2012 2011
000 $000
Dividend income 21,512 17,547
Bank and other mnterest - 3
21,512 17,550




GFI TP Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

6. Tax on profit on ordimary activitres

Current taxation
United Kingdom corporation tax at 24 5% (2011 26 5%)

Adjustments in respect of prior years
United Kingdom Corporation tax

Total current tax

Deferred tax
Origmation and reversal of timing differences

Total deferred taxation

Total tax charge on ordinary profits

2012
5’000

2011
$'000

The difference between the total current tax shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard

rate of UK corporation tax to the profit before tax 1s as follows

Tax rate reconcihiation:

Statutory rate

{Decrease) / Increase in rate due to:

Non-taxable income
Group rehef claimed /(surrendered) for mil consideraton

Current tax rate

2012 2011
% Yo

(24 50) (26 50)
24 47 2574
003 076

UK corporation 1ax 15 calculated at 24 5% (2011 26 5%) of the esumated assessable profits for the year
Taxation for other junisdictions 1s calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions

The Finance Act 2011 provided for a reduction 1n the main rate of UK corporation tax to 25% effective from |
Apnl 2012 The UK Budget on 2! March 2012 announced further reductions 10 24% on 1 April 2012 and to
23% on | April 2013 which were enacted during the year The future change 1n rate to 23% has not been

included in these financial statements and the estimated financial effect of this change 15 insignificant




GFI TP Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

7 Fixed asset investment

As at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2012

Country of
Subsidiary undertakings Lncorporation
Trayport Limited Great Britain

Equity in
subsidiary
company
$°000

169,664

Proportion

of voting

rights and

ordinary

share capital
rights Nature of business

100% Development and licensing mului-asset
class trading platforms

1




GFI TP Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

8 Debtors

Amounts owed by fellow group undertakings

9. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Other creditors and accruals

1¢.  Called up shared capital

Allotted and fully pad:
7,808,264 ordinary shares of £1 each

2012 2011
$'000 $°000
813 20,416
813 20,416
2012 2011
$000 $000
10 49
2012 2011
$7000 $7000
12,000 12,000

12




GFI TP Limited

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

11 Reserves

On 1 January 2012
Profit for the financial year
Dividends Paid

On 31 December 2011

12 Reconcihation of movements in shareholder’s funds

Openmg shareholders’ funds
Profit for the financial year
Dividend paid

Closing shareholders’ funds

13 Related party transactions

Profit
Called Up Share and
Share Premium loss
capital Account account Total
$000 $’000 $°000 $°000
12,000 137,500 40,531 190,031
- 21,540 21,540
- (41,104) {41,104)
12,000 137,500 20,967 170,467
2012 2011
$’000 $’000
190,031 171,964
21,540 18,067
(41,104) -
170,467 190,031

The Company 1s exempt from the requirement to disclose transactions with fellow wholly owned group
undertakings under Financial Reporting Standard 8 paragraph 3 (¢) There were no other related party

transactiens requiring disclosure

14 Ultimate parent and controlling party

The immediate parent company 1s GF1 TP Holdings PTE Limited The ultimate parent undertaking and
controlling party 1s GFl Group Inc  The parent undertaking of the largest group that includes the Company and
for which consolidated financial statements are prepared 1s GFI Group Inc, a company ncorporated n the
United States of America Copies of the consolidated financial statements of GFI Group Inc are available from

55 Water Street, New York, NY 10041



Morningstar® Document Research™

FORM10-K

GFI Group Inc. -GFIG
Filed: March 13, 2013 (period: December 31, 2012)

Annual report with a comprehensive overview of the company

TH E:i’::—- f ;-‘\ﬂ‘ﬂ-}.d e :r‘ sTS

- e
G o e
z,f o RS S .
T - e ble i

f \;C;ﬁ'u?f:ﬂ'\jv

JECN ATy 1730

e e o memeer 8 A e A S AR ¥ i i)

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or imely The user
assumaes all rlsks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this Informalion, excep! to the extent such damages or losses cannot be
limited or exciuded by applicable law Past financial performance is no guarantee of futura resulls




Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D C 20549

FORM 10-K
(X ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934
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OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commussion file number: 000-51103
GFI Group Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified i 1ts charter)
Delaware 80-0006224
(State or other junsdiction of (1R S Employer
Incorporation or orgamzation) Identification No )
55 Water Street, New York, NY 10041
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(212) 9684100
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Secunities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0 01 par value per share New York Stock Exchange Euronext
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Indicate by check mark 1f the registrant 18 a well-known seasoned 1ssuer, as defined tn Rule 405 of the Secunties Act Yes B No (&
Indicate by check mark 1f the registrant 1s not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act Yes O No X}

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d} of the Secuntics Exchange Act of 1934
duning the preceding 12 months {or for such shorter pentod that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
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definitions of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer”, and “smaller reporting company™ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer X
Non-accelerated filer O Smalter reporting company O
(Do nat check 1f a smaller reporting company}
Indicate by check mark whether the registrani 1s a shetl company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act) Yes O No &

As of June 30, 2012, the aggregate market value of the registrant’s common stock held by non-affihiates of the registrant was $243,624,737 based upon
the closing sale pnce of $3 56 as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Euronext

[ndicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date
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Common Stock, $0 01 par value per share 117,932,662 shares
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FORWARD-LOOKING STALEMENTS

Scetions of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including, but not limted to “Legal Proceedings” under Part [—ltem 3 “Management’s Discussion &
Analysis’ and “Quantitative and Quahtauve Disclosures About Market Risk™ under Part 1l—Itemn 7 & 7A, may contan “forward- locking statements
within the meaning of the Private Secunties Lingation Reform Act of 1995 Forward-looking statements mnclude, without iimitation, any statement that may
predict, forecast, indicate or imply future results performance or achievements and may contain the words “beligve * “anticipate,” “expect ™ “estimate,”
“mtend ' “project, " “will be,” “will likely contmue,” * will likely result,” or words or phrases of stmilar meaning  These forward-lecking stalements are based
largely on the expectations of management and are subject to a number of nisks and uncertainues ncluding, but not hmited to, the following

¢ the nsks and other factors deseribed under the heading “Risk Factors™ in Part | — ltem 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and elsewhere
n the Annual Report on Form 10-K,

»  economic, political and market factors affecting trading volumes, securities prices, or demand for our brokerage services, including recent
conditions n the world economy and financial markets in which we provide our services,

o the extensive regulation of the Company’s business changes 1n laws and regulations govermng our business and operations or permssible
activities and our abihity to comply with such laws and regulations,

& our ability to obtain and mamtain regulatory approval to conduct our business in hight of certain proposed changes in laws and regulations 1
the U S and Europe and increased operational costs related to compliance with such changes 1n laws and regulations,

*  the risks assoctated with the transition of cleared swaps to future contracts and our ability to continue to provide value-added brokerage and
execulion services to our customers pursuant to rules and regulations apphicable to futures markets,

s our ability 1o attract and retain key personnel including laghly qualified brokerage personnel,

¢ ourability 1o keep up with rapud technological change and to continue to develop and support our software, analytics and market data
products, including our hybnd brokerage systems, that are desired by our customers,

®  our enirance nlo new brokerage markets, including investments i estabhishing new brokerage desks,
¢  competition from current and new competitors,

s nisks associated with our matched principal and principal trading businesses, including nisks ansing from specific brokerage transactions, or
series of brokerage transactions, such as credst nisk, market nisk or the risk of fraud or unauthonzed wrading,

+  financial difficulties expenenced by our customers or key parucipants 1n the markets in which we focus our brokerage services,
»  our ability to assess and integrate acquisitions of businesses or technologies,
s the maturing of key markets and any resulting contraction m commissions,

s nisks associated with the expansion and growth of our operations generally or of specific products or services, imcluding, m particular, our
abihty to manage our mternational operations,

«  uncertainiies associated with currency fluctuations,

¢ our failure to protect or enforce our intellectual property nghts,
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*  uncertanties relating to hitigation,

s hgquidity and cleanng capital requirements and the impact of the conditions in the world economy and the financial markets in which we
provide our services on the availability and terms of additional or future capital,

e our ability to 1dentify and remediate any matenal weakness 1n our internal controls that could affect our ability to prepare financial statements
and reports n a trmely manner,

*  the effectiveness of our nsk management policies and procedures and the impact of unexpected market moves and sumlar events,
. future results of operations and financial condition, and

»  the success of our business strategtes

The foregoing nsks and uncertamnties, as well as those risks discussed under the headings “Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Item 7A—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” and elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, may cause actual results to differ matenally from such forward-looking statements The information included heretn 1s given as of the
filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the Secunities Exchange Commussion (the SEC™) and future events or circumstances could differ
sigmficantly from these forward-looking statements The Company does not undertake to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Our internet website address 1s www gfigroup com Through our website, we make avalable, free of charge, the following reports as soon as
reasonably practicable after electromically filing them with, or furmshing them to, the Securities and Exchange Commissien (the “SEC™) our Proxy
Statements, Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reperts on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed on behalf of directors and
cxeeutive officers, and any amendments to those reports filed or furmshed pursvant to Section 13(a) of the Secuntics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
+Exchange Act™)

In addimion, you may rcad and copy any matenals that we file with the SEC at the SEC’'s Public Reference Room at F00 F Serect, N E , Room 1580,
Washington D C 20549 You also may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 In addmon,
the SEC maintains an Internet site that contains our reports, proxy and information siatements, and other informator regarding the Company that we file
electronically with the SEC at hitp /www sec gov

Information relating to the corporate governance of the Company 15 also available on the Investor Relations page of our website, including information
concermny our directors, board commuttees, mcluding committee charters, our corporate govemance gindelines, our code of business conduct and ethics for all
employees and for senior financial officers and our comphance procedures for accounting and auditing matters In addiion, the Investor Relahons page of our
website includes certain supplemental financial information that we make available from time to ime

Our Internet website and the information contasmed therein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on
Form 10-K
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PART |
ITEM 1 BUSINESS

Throughout this Annual Report, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “GF! ", ' Company ', we |, “us” and our ' refer to GFI
Group Inc and 115 consolidated subsidiaries

Our Business
Introduction

We are a leading provider of wholesale brokerage services cleanng services and electronic execution and trading support products for global financial
markets We founded our business 1n 1987 and were incorpotated under the laws of the State of Delaware m 2001 to be a holding company for our
subsidianies We provide brokerage and trade execution services, cleanng services market data and trading platform and other software products o
wmstitutional customers m markets for a range of fixed income, financial, equity and commodity instruments We provide execution services for our
institutional wholesale customers by either matching their trading needs with counterparties having reciprocal interests or directing their orders to an exchange !
or other trading venue We have focused husterically on more complex, and ofien less commoditized, markets for sophisticated financial instruments,
prunanly over-the-counter (“OTC") detivatives, that offer an opportunity for lugher comnussions per transaction than the markets for more standardized
financial mstruments In recent years, we have developed other businesses that complement our brokerage of OTC denrvatives, such as cash bond and futures
contracts brokerage services, clearing services and analytical and trading software businesses We have been recognized by vanious industry publications as a
leading provider of institutional brokerage and other services for a broad range of products in the fixed income, financial, equity and commodity markets on
which we focus

We offer our customers a hybnd brokerage approach, combining a range of telephonic and clectronic trade execution services depending on the
nature of the products and the specific needs of our customers We complement our hybnd brokerage capabilities with decision support services, such as
valuc-added data and analytics products, real-time auctions, fixing and matching sessions and posi-transaction services such as straight-through processing
(*STP™), cleanng links and trade and portfohio management services

Headquartered in New York, GFI was founded in 1987 and employs more than 2,000 people with additional offices in Londen, Pans, Nyon,
Madnid, Hong Kong, Seoul Singapore, Manila, Sydney, Cape Town, Santiago, Bogota, Buenos Aires, Lima, Dubar Dublin, Tel Aviv, Los Angeles and
Sugar Land (TX) We have more than 2,600 brokerage, software and market data customers, including commercial and investment banks, corporations,
mmsurance companies, asset managers and hedge funds

Durtng 2012, many of the financial markets in which we provide our services continued to be subject to major regulatery overhaul, as regulators and
legislators in the United States and abroad have proposed and, 1n some 1nslances, atready adopted, a slate of regulatory changes that call for among other
things, central clearing of certain derivatives, greater transparency and reporting of derivatives transactions, mandatory trading of certain denvatives
transactions on regulated exchanges or swap execution facilities and the required or increased use of electronic trading system technologies [n the Umted
States, The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the ‘Dodd-Frank Act™) was signed inte law m July 2010 We are sull in the midst
of the rulemaking process mandated by the Dodd-Frank Act, with many rules yet to be finahized The Dodd-Frank Act creates a new form of regulated entity
known as a Swap Execution Facility (referred to heretn as a “SEF™) and mandates that all cleared swaps trade on either an exchange or a SEF We intend to
apply to become a SEF and this process, including the regulatory implications and risks associated with 11, are discussed throughout this Form 10-K,
ncluding under the heading *Recent Denvatve Market Developments™ below and under “ltem | A—Rusk Factors’

Based on the naturc of our operations 1 cach geographic region, our products and services, customers and regulatory environment, we have five
operating segments Amencas Brokerage, Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA™)} Brokerage, Asia Brokerage, Cleaning and Backed Trading and All
Other Our brokerage operations provide brokerage services 1n four broad product categones fixed income, financial equity and commodity Our Cleaning and
Backcd Trading segment encompasses our clearing, nsk management, settlement and other back-office services, as well as the capital we prowvide 1o start-up
trading groups, small hedge funds, market-makers and indsvidual traders Our All Other segment captures revenues and costs that are not directly assignable |
1o the brokerage or cleaning and backed trading operating business segments, primarily consisting of our corporate business activities and operations and !
commercial
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revenues from sales and Iicensing of trading systems software, analytics and market data See Note 21 to our Consolidated Financial Statements 1n Part 11-
liem 8 tor turther mformation on our revenues by segment and geographic region

Our Industry
Services of Wholesale Brokers

Wholesale brokers (sometimes called 1nter-dealer” brokers), such as us, operate as intermedsartes in the center of the wholesale financial markets by
aggregating and dissemmating pnces and fostening transactional hquidity for financial institutions around the globe Wholesale brokers provide highly
sophtsticated trade exccution services, combining teams of traditional “voice™ brokers with sophisticated electronic tradeng systems that match institutional
buyers and sellers 1n transactions for financial products that are histed on traditional exchanges or transacted over-the-counter We refer to this integration of
voice brokers with electronic brokerage systems as “hybnd brokerage’ Although wholesale brokers may provide their institutional customers with access to
tradhitional exchange products through their many STP hnks and electronic conneetions to exchanges and cleanng firms, wholesale brokers do not generally
provide independent clearing and settlement services

Wholesale market trading mstitutions, such as major banks, investment banks, asset managers and broker-dealer firms, have long uttlized the
services of wholesale brokers to help them idennfy complementary trading parties for transactions 1n a broad range of equity, fixed income, financial and
commadity products across the globe These major trading firms pay brokerage comnmisstons to wholesale brokers in retumn for imely and valuable pncing
nformation strong execution capabilities and access 1o deep pools of trading hquidity for both exchange-iraded and OTC products

Exchange traded and OTC Transactons

Exchange traded markets and OTC markets have generally developed and grown 1n parallel to each other as trading efficiencies have increased with
the help of pre-trade data and analytics, trading software and antomated post-trade processing and clearing services The relationshup between exchange-traded
and OTC markets generally has been complementary as each market tymically provides unique services to different trading constituencies for products with
distinctive charactenistics and hiquidity needs Increasmgly, wholesale brokers cross exchange-traded products 1n the OTC market or direct customer orders to
an appropnate exchange or other electromic trading venue for execution Additionally, transactions executed OTC by wholesale brokers are often exchanged for
an exchange-traded instrument afler the 1mitial OTC trade takes place

Tradwonal stock exchanges, such as NYSE Euronext, NASDAQ OMX and the London Stock Exchange, and listed dertvatives exchanges, such as
CME Group and Eurex, provide a trading venue for fairly simple and commodatized instruments that are based on standard charactensucs and single key
measures or parameters Exchange-traded markets rely on relatively active order submission by buyers and sellers and generally high transaction flow These
markets allow a broad base of trading customers meeting relatively modest margin requirements to transact standardized contracts m a relatively hquid
market Exchanges offer price transparency and transactional liqudity Exchanges are often associated or tied to use of a central counterparty clearer (* CCP™),
thereby providing a ready utihity for controlling counterparty credit risk

In companson, OTC markets provide whelesale dealers and other large institutional traders with access to trading environments for individually
negotrated transactions, non-standardized products and larger-sized orders of both OTC and exchange cleared instruments OTC markets generally serve
counterparties that are professional trading instituttons and wholesale dealers These professional counterparties often have tn place bilateral arrangements to
offsct their contingent credit nisk on cach other by giving or taking collateral against that risk In some of the more significant OTC asset classes, such as
U S treasury secunities, equities, and equity and commedity denivatives, OTC trades are increasingly either “given up” to a third-party CCP, underwntten by
a clearing house or exchanged for exchange-traded instruments In some cases, as described below, new regulations now require that many OTC swaps are
cleared by a CCP with only limited exceptions

The existence of both exchange-traded and OTC markets provides benefits for different sectors of the global financial marketplace Exchange-traded
markets serve the needs of both major and mimor market participants for access to frequently traded, highty commoditized 1nstruments QTC markets, on the
other hand, provide professional market participants and wholesale dealers with an arena 1n which to execute larger-sized transactions 1n a broad range of non-
standardized and standardized products that are less actively traded and, often, individually negotated OTC markets are also
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conducive for trading large “block’ transactions of actively traded standardized and centrally cleared instruments Exchange-traded futures are seen as less-
precise hedging tools compared to bespoke OTC contracts, potentially exposing users to larger losses Last, OTC markets often serve as incubators for new
financial products that onginate as relatively mactvely traded OTC products before achicving a significant level of trading activity among a breader spectrum
of investors

As a result of the new regulations being passed m the United States and Europe and considered elsewhere, certain OTC denvanve products are now
required to be centrally cleared and traded via exchanges or SEFs As thus happens, 1t 1s expected that the OTC markets for certawn products will diminish and |
the associated exchange and SEF markets for those products will expand For example, the Dodd-Frank reform legislation made it rmore costly to trade swaps !
and other customized denvatives leadmg many participants to consider futures contracts which are more widely uscd, as an altemative Dunng 2012,
derivatves exchanges and other participants began migraung toward these alternauves to swaps and, as a result, there was a general market move 1n the U §
commodities markets toward the use of futures instead of OTC denvatves contracts This migration to the use of futures contracts instead of swaps allowed
participants to avord new regulations that require companies with a certain level of trading volume to register as swaps dealers and that would have forced
many of the swaps to be executed through swap execution facilities and cleared by central clearinghouses

We are actively preparmg to serve the resuling SEF and futures contracts markes that develop as the new regulations are implemented  For example,
subject to the rules and regulations applhcable to futures products, we expect o continue to broker all the products that we have customanly brokered as swaps
as block futures trades 1t 1s unclear what impact the transition from OTC markets to associated exchange and SEF markets will have on the relevant markets
or on the demand for our brokerage and trade execution services 1n these markets For further infermation, see the discussion under “Recent Denvative Market
Developments * belew and “ltem 1A—Rusk Factors

Role of the Wholesale Broker

Cn most business days around the globe, wholesale brokers and other market intermedianes facilitate the execution of mullions of sophisticated
transactions, either on exchanges or OTC, involving tnllions of doilars of securihies, commodities, currencies and denvative instruments These products
range from standardized financial instruments such as comman equity securities, futures coniracts and standardized OTC derivative coniracts, to more
complex, less standardized nstruments, such as non-standardized OTC denvauves, that ate typically traded between wholesale dealers, money center banks,
asset managers and hedge funds Wholesale brokers serve professional traders an these markets by assisting in market price discovery, fostering trading
ilquidity, preserving pre-trade anonymty, providing market inteiligence and, ulumately, matching counterparties with reciprecal interests or directing their
orders to an exchange or other electronic trading venue

The essential role of a wholesale broker 1s to enhance trading hiquidity Liguidity 1s the degree to which a fizancial instrument can be bought or sold
quickly with minimal price disturbance The liquidity of a market for a particular financial product or instrument depends on several factors, including the
number of market participants and facilitators of hquidity, the availability of pricing reference data, the availability of standardized terms and the volumc of
trading acuvity Liquid markets are charactenzed by substantial price competition, effictent execution and high traditg volume Highly liquid markets exist
for both commoditized, exchange-traded products and certain, more standardized mstruments traded over the counter, such as the market for U S treasury
securtties, equities and equity and commeodity derrvatives In such highly liquid markets, the services of wholesale brokers assist market participants achieve
better execution or pricing, especially fot larger block transactions that may be privately negotiated

In contrast to the highly liquid markets for more commoditized mstruments, less commoditized financial mstruments and less liquid standardized
transactions, stch as igh yield debt and denvatives with longer maturiues are generally traded over the counter in markets with vanable or non-continuous
hquidity 1n such markets, a wholesale broker can enhance the efficient execution of a trade by applyng its market knowledge to locate bids and offers and
aggregate pools of hquidity in which such prolessional traders and dealers may meet counterparties with which o trade A wholesale broker ordinanly
accomplishes this by contacting potential counterparties directly by telephone or elecironic messaging and, tn an increasing number of cases via propretary
trading systems provided by the broker through which marke! participants may post prices and execute transactions Additionally, in a relatively less hqud
market with fewer participants, disclosure of the intention of a participant to buy or sell could disrupt the market and tead to poor pneing By using a broker,
the 1dennties of the transacuon parties are often not disclosed until the trade 1s consummated In this way, market participants better preserve their anonymty
For all these reasons, in relatively less iquid markets for non-commoditized products, a wholesale broker
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can provide professional traders and dealers with cructal iquidity enhancement through in-depth market knowledge, access to a range of potental
counterparties and singular focus and attention on efficient execution

Wholesale brokers gencrally provide brokerage or execution services on either an agency (often called name give-up™) or matched principal (often
called ‘nskless principal™) basis [n an agency transaction, which 1s the conventional method of brokerage for OTC derivanves, we simply match a buyer
and a seller and do not take title to or hold a posttion i the derivative instrument, or the underlying sccunty, instrument or asset, at any stage ot the process
In a matched principal transactien, which 1s a conventional method of brokerage for cash products, such as equittes and corporate {ixed mcome, we are the
coumterparty to both sides of the transaction and the trade 15 settled through a third-party cleanng orgamization Third party clearing organizations are able to
reduce our counterparty risk by matching the trade and assuming the legal counterparty nsk for the trade In some cases, pnincipally in the OTC cash
markets, a wholesale broker may temporanly take unmatched posittons tor 1ts own account, generally 1n response to customer demand, whereby the broker
commts 1ts own capital to facilitate customer trading activities

Market Evolution

Generally, as a market for a particular financial instrument develops and matures, more buyers and sellers enter the market, generating more
transactions and pricing mformation [n addition, the terms of such financial imstruments tend to become more standarchzed, generally resulting m a more
liquid market In this way, a relatively 1lhguid market for an instrument may evolve over a period of time 1nto a more hquid market As this evelution occurs,
the charactenstics of trading, the preferred mode of execution and the size of commussions that wholesale brokers charge may also change In some cases, as
the market matures, a wholesale broker may provide a chient with an electronic screen or system that displays the most current pneing information In
additron, a market may have some characteristics of both more liquid and less liqund markets, requining a wholesale broker to offer integrated telephonic and
electromc brokenng We refer to this integrated service as hybnd brokerage Hybrid brokerage may range from coupling traditional voice brokerage setvices
with vanous electronic enhancements, such as electronic communications, price discovery tools and automated order entry, to full electronic execution
supported by telephonic communicaton between the broker and 1ts customers

For tutures markets and mghly liquid OTC markets, such as certain U 8 Treasury and cash foreign exchange products, electromic marketplaces
have emerged as the pnmary means of conducting transactions and creating markets In such electrontc markets, many of the pre- and post-trade activities of
market partictpants are facilitated through an electrome medium, such as a pnivate electronic network or over the Internet These electronee capabihtics reduce
the need for actual voice-to-voice participant mteraction for certain functions, such as negotiation of specific terms, and allow vorce brokers to focus on
executing larger-sized or “block™ trades, providing market intelligence and otherwise assisting 1r the execution process For many professional traders, the
establishment of clectromic marketplaces has increased trading profits by leading to new trading methods and strategies, fostenng new financial products and
increasing market volumes

Most large exchanges worldwide, including certain exchanges in the Umited States, France Canada, Germany, Japan, Sweden, Swinzerland and the
United Kingdom, are now partially or completely electromic Additronally, 1n an increasing number of O'TC markets tor less commoditized products, a veice
broker will often assist the customer by entering the customer’s prices directly into the wholesale broker’s electronie trading systems at the request of the
customer so that any resulting trades can be electromcally processed using STP In many of these markets, customers may benefit from a range of etectronic
cnhancements to hquidity, including pricing dissemmation, interactive trading, pest-trade processing and other technology services As these OTC markets
have adopted greater use of technology, some market participants have sought to outsource the electromic distribution of their products and pnices to qualified
wholesale brokers in order to achieve optimal liquidity and to avord the difficulty and cost of developing and mamtaining their own electronic solutions

The Cash Markeis

Cash, or spot markets, exist across the fixed income, financial, equity and commedity product spectrum  The cash or spot markets are also known
as physical markets, because prices are settled in cash on the spot at current market prices, as opposed to forward prices A cash market may be a self-
regulated centralized market, such as an equity or commodity exchange, or a decentralized OTC market where private transactions eccur The cash markets
are often hughly hquid, commoditized markets Wholesale brokers, such as us, provide value in these markets through the capacity to source hquidity from
other market participants and efficiently transact large positions through their access to exchanges, electronic communications networks and other trading
counterparties and platforms with minmal price movement Wholesale brokers may also provide traders 1n these markets wath critical market information
and analysis
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Cash markets for equities, commodihies and debt secunities extst on both exchanges and i the OTC markets, while cash foreign exchange products
ate traded principally i the OTC markets In cash transactions, market participants generally seck to purchase or scll a specified amount of secunties
commoditics or currencics at a specified price for cash, with settlement occumng within a few days after the trade 1s executed In centain cash OTC
transactiens, the broker executes the transaction and the transaction 1s then cleared by a third- party clearinghouse on behalf of the parties to the trade The
cleanng process reduces the counterparty nisk inherent in a bilateral OTC transaction as the cleaninghouse becomes the buyer and seller in the transaction,
thereby guaranteeing the trade For this service, the cleannghouse imposes margin requirements and charges a fee When we execute transactions for certain
cash products, our customers may have their own relationshup with a CCP, either directly or through a third party clearing firm or prime broker In these
cases, our customers are responsible for the margim payments and other CCP fees Once we execute the transachion, our role 1s to coliect a commussion and step
out of the trade However in most cleared markets, wcluding in equittes and cash fixed mcome we remain the counterparty until the trade 15 settled We
believe that central counterparty clearing wiil play an ncreasing role in the future of both the cash and denvative OTC markets

The Derivatives Markets

Denvatives are widely used to manage nsk or take advantage of an anticipated direction of a markei by allowing holders to guard against gains o7
declines m the price of underlying financial assets, indices or other investments without having to buy ot sell such underlying assets, indices or other
investments Denvatives denve their value from the underlying asset index or other investment that may be, among other things, a physical commodity. an
interest rate, a stock, a bond, an index ot a currency Dertvatives enable mitigation of nisks associated with interest rate movements, equity ownership
changes m the value of foreign currency, credit defaulis by large corporate and sovereign debtors and changes n the prices of commodity products

Historically, the lower capital utilization of denvatives made these products a more efficient and attractive medium for trading than cash markets for
many professional market participants For this reason, trading volumes in derivatives were trequently a multiple of volumes in the equivalent underlying
cash markets However, with the passage of the Dodd-Frank Act and other regulations abroad, regulators have increased the net capital requirements or require
additional dedicated collateral to support the rading of many denvatve products, which may impact trading volumes for the affected derivatives

Denvatives may be exchange-traded or traded 1n the OTC market Exchange-traded denvatives, including “ options” and “futures,” are highly
commoditized mstruments featuring standardized terms, including delivery places and dates, volume, techmcal speerfications, and trading and credit
proccdures Exchange-traded denivatives are gencrally cleared through a CCP Wholesale brokers, like us, match exchange-traded denvatives as OTC
transactions and the trades are then either exchanged for exchange-traded instruments, such as a furtures contract, or “given up” to an exchange, other third-
party CCP or futures clearing merchant (“FCM™) for cleaning  In cases where cleared swaps are converted to futures contracts by the CCP, we arrange trades
off-exchange that meet the futures block minumum stze requirements and submuit the trade 10 the associated futures exchange as a block trade We have
relationships with FCMs through which we ate able to give up our customer’s exchange-traded futures and options for clearmg and settlement On a limited
number of our desks focusing on exchange-traded or QTC denvatives, we act as pnncipal and our FCM acts as our cleanng agent In these cases we are
responsible for providing the required collateral and margin payments

OTC denvatives, on the other hand, are bilateral, ptivately-negotiated agreements that range from highly custormizable derivatives with long
matunties structured for a user’s specific needs to very hquid, mghly standardized derivatives with shorter maturities OTC derivatives are generally
structured as forwards, swaps or options A forward 1s an agreement between two partics to exchange asscts or cash flows at a specified future date at a price
agreed on the trade datc A swap 1s an agreement between two parties to exchange cash flows or other assets or habilities at specified payment dates during the
agreed-upon life of the contract An option 1s an agreement that gives the buyer the nght, but not the obligation, to buy or sell a specified amount of an
underlymg asset or security at an agreed upon price on, of until, the expiration of the contract Forwards have many of the same charactenstics as cxchange-
traded futures and options OTC denvative transactions can be hedged and arbitraged agamst both cash and related exchange-traded instruments and vice
versa However, a party generally cannot offset a posiuon resuling from an OTC derivative against margin deposits or collateral held by an exchange
Currently, swaps tend to be traded primanly OTC, but arc increasingly beng cleared by CCPs In the future, many of these cleared swaps inthe U S will be
required 10 be executed on an exchange or through a SEF  Other cleared swaps may be converted into futures contracts and be required to be listed selely ona
regstered futures exchange
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OTC denvatves provide mvestors and corporations with a wide varety of structures to address specific nsk mutigation and trading strategies In its
2012 annual survey, Risk magazine 1dentfied 101 denvative categories across mlerest rates, foreign exchange, fixed income and equity denvatives Asa
result, corporations and other investors are able to offset unique types of business nisks that cannot be mitigated using standardized, exchange-traded
denvatives Indeed, while many large corporations hedge some risks using the relatively limited set of exchange-traded denvanves, such as futures, they often
rely on the wide range of customizable OTC denvatives to hedge those nisks for which there 1s no close match available an organized exchanges Such specific
hedging also allows such end users to satusfy hedge accounting requirements

The number of different dervative istruments has histoncally grown as compames and financial institutions have developed new and innovauve
denvative instruments to meet industry demands for sophisticated nsk management and complex financial arbitrage Novel derivative instruments often have
distinet terms and little or no trading history with which 1o estimate a pnce Markets for new denvative instruments therefore require reliable market data,
market intelligence and pricing lools, as well as the services of highly skilled and well-informed brokers

The QTC denvanives markets are currently far larger than the exchange-traded derivatives markets According to a recent report from the Bank for
Intemational Settlements (the “BlS™), OTC denvanves accounted for approximately 91% of the total outstanding global dernivatives transactions, as of’
June 2012 (as measured by nottonal amount), with the remamnder being exchange-traded denvatives OTC derivatives markets generally feature lower and more
episodic hquidity than exchange-traded denvatives markets In these large, vanably hiquid OTC denvatives markets, wholesale brokers provide an essential
service of liquidity aggregation and anonymous, efficient execution

Recent Dertvative Market Developments

According to BIS, the size of the global OTC denvative markets, as measured by notional amounts outstanding, was $638 9 trllion as of June 30,
2012, the latest penod reported, compared to $647 8 tnllion and $706 9 trllon as of December 31, 2011 and June 30, 2011, respectively The size of the
global OTC derivatives markets as of June 30, 2012 decreased by $8 9 tnllton, or | 4%, and $68 0 trithion, or 9 6%, when compared to the notional
amounts ouistanding as of December 31, 2011 and June 30, 2011, respectively

The Internanional Swaps and Denivatives Association (“ISDA™) produced a market analysis report from 2007 through June 2012 based on the above
BIS figures, reducing notional outstanding to include one stde of two-sided cleared transactions and excluding foreign exchange contract volumes Foreign
exchange contracts typically reach maturity within a few months while other OTC dervatives mature over a longer period of time  The ISDA report also
quantified the effect of compression, which mvolves the tearing up of matched trades or trades that do not contnibute nisk to a dealer’s portfolio, on the size of
the OTC derivatives market The adjusted notional amount outstanding of $416 9 tnllion as of June 30, 2012 indicates increased cleanng and compresston
of OTC denvatives resulting, 1n part, 1n the $23 2 tnlhion, or 5 3%, decline 1n the total notional amounts outstanding when compared to December 31, 2011
and the 373 7 mllion, or 15%, dechine when compared to June 30, 2011 ISDA beheves that the adjusted numbers provide better msight imto underlying
market activity and trends by showing the impact of cleanng, netting, compression and collateral on notional amounts outstanding in the QTC denvatives
market

In the interest rate denvatives market, adjusted netional amounts outstanding decreased to $341 2 trillion as of June 30, 2012 as compared 1o $362 4
trillion and $405 | tmllion as of December 31, 2011 and June 30, 2011, respectively This was a decrease ot $21 2 tnllion, or 5 9%, and $63 9 mllion, or
15 8%, when compared to December 31, 2011 and June 30, 2011, respectively  The decline in adjusted notional amounts outstanding was atiributed 1o the
effects of compression and lower interest rate derivative activity  1SDA estimates that 54 2% of adjusted 1nterest rate swap volumes were centrally cleared as of
June 30, 2012, up from 21 3% as of December 31, 2007 [SDA estimates that 43 2% of forward rate agreements were centrally cleared as of June 30, 2012, up
trom 0 0% at December 31 2010

In the credrt default swaps market, adjusted notional amounts outstanding decreased by $1 6 tritlion, or 6 2%, to $24 3 tnlhon from $25 9 tnlhion
as of December 31, 2011, the lowest reported level since 2006 due to the substantial effects of compression and lower credit denvanve activity  1SDA
estimates that 10 7% of credit default swaps were centrally cleared as of June 30, 2012, up from 7 $% as of December 31, 2010

On July 21, 2010, President Obama signed the Dodd-Frank Act into law The Dodd-Frank Act was intended to reduce the nsk of future financial
crises and has resulted 1n mayor changes to the United States financial regulatory system
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The Dodd-Frank Act will significantly alter the way we operate portions of our OTC business in the United States The Dodd-Frank Act gives the Commodity
Futures Trading Comnussion (“CFTC } and SEC expansive authonty over much of the OTC denvauves markets and market parucipants, and provides the
Federal Reserve Board with authority over systemically important financial entines Through extensive rulemaking authonty granted under the Dodd-Frank
Act, the CFTC and SEC will create a comprehensive new regulatory regime governing many OTC derivative markets and market participants, including
much of our OTC markets and customers Key denvatives market provisions under the Dedd-Frank Act mclude

+  requinng clearing of standardized swaps (with limited exceptions),

. requiring trading of clearable swaps on SEFs ot exchanges (with an exemption for those swaps that are not made available for trading by an
exchange or a SEF)

s requiring all swaps (o be reported to a swap data repository and reported in near real time through a market data disseminator,
¢ giving the CFTC authonty to impose aggregale position limils across markets on certain commedity denvatives,
s imposing margin requirements on cleared and uncleared swaps at levels established by regulators,

¢ establishing a comprehensive framework for the registration and regulation of, including the imposition of capital requirements on dealers and
“major” non-dealer market participants under new categones of regulated entities known as swap dealers and major swap participants,

+ imposing limits on proprietary trading in certain derivative instruments by federally insured depository institunions and non-bank entitres
deemed systemically important and

*  giving the CFTC and the SEC broad power to draft rules setting specific requirements under the core pninciples applicable to designated
contract markets, SEFs, denvatives cleanng organizations, national securities exchanges, swap data repositones and clearing agencies, thus
altermg the flexibihity that these entities have to determe how to operate their business in comphiance with law

Since July 2010, the CFTC and SEC have proposed vanous rules to implement the Dodd-Frank Act Many of the rules proposed to datc are not
final As with other parts of the Dodd-Frank Act, many of the details of the new regulatory regime relating to swaps are lefi to the CFTC and SEC 10 determine
through rulemaking Subject to such rulemaking, we currently expect 1o establish and operate a SEF and a secunty-based SEF

The SEC's regulations will apply to secunty-based swaps, such as single name credit default swaps, certamn equity swaps and total return swaps
referencing a single secunty or loan The CFTC’s regulations will apply to non-secunity based swaps, such as interest rate swaps, commodity swaps and
swaps based on broad-based credit and equity indices

The CFTC’s and SEC’s proposed rules relating io SEFs would require, among other thimgs, that 1o maimam registration as a SEF, an enuty would
be obligated to comply with certain enumerated core principles These principles generally relate to trading and preduct requirements, compliance and audut-
trail obligations, governance and disciplinary requirements opcrational capabilities, surveillance obligations and financial information and resource
requirements In addition, we believe that SEFs will be required to maintain certam trading systems that meet the mmumum functionality requirements set by
the CFTC and SEC for tradmg m certain OTC derivatives that are required to be cleared

The Dodd-Frank Act also made changes to the regulatory requirements of cur custemers, mcluding large market participants such as investment
banks and hedge funds For example many of our customers had to register as swap dealers or major swap participants Registration as a swap dealer or
major swap participant results in additional regulatton for these entities including greater reporting and recordkeeping requirements, higher capital and margin
requirements and higher business conduct standards They are also required to scgregate chients’ or counterpartics’ margin m a manner similar to the
scgregation of futures margin
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In Europe, the European Commisston published a formal proposal for OTC derivatives, central cleanng parties and trade repositories regulation in
September 2010 which 1s referred to as the European Market Infrastructure Regulation (* EMIR™ EMIR was approved by the European Parliament in
February 2012 and proposes central clearing and transparent reporting requirements for OTC derivatives The proposed rules were 1ssued 1n September of
2012 and, despite delays, are now expecled to be operational dunng 2013 Additionally, a consultation paper relating to the Markets 1n Financtal Instruments
Directive (¢ MiFID™) was released in December of 2010 focusing on OTC denvatives and areas such as dark pools, high frequency trading and consohdated
tape for cash equittes The paper concluded that all trading 1n denvatives that are ehigible for central cleaning should trade exclusively on regulated markets,
mululateral rading facilities or orgamized trading facilities Subject to final rules being adopted, we currently mtend 1o establish and operate an orgamzed
trading facility

In the fourth quarter of 2011, the European Commission published a draft revised Markets 1n Financial Instruments Directive (“MiFID [1”) and
retated draft Regulations (“MiFIR™} that, if adopted, will revise and replace MiFID The MiFID II proposals will migrate the European regulatory landscape
from a principles’ based system to a rule based system and extends the MiFID framework to addiional asset classes and markets These draft proposals are
now subject to approval by the European Parltament and individual member states Sirmilar to the United States regulations, until such regulations are
finahized, 1t 1s difficult to predict how our business will be specifically impacted For additional discussion of the risks relating to these new regulatory
changes, see “Item | A—Rusk Factors—Broad changes in laws or regulations or in the application of such laws and regulations may have an adverse effect on
our abality to conduct our business ™

Our Market Opportunity
We believe the financial markets in which we operale present us with the following opportunities to provide value to our customers

Continued Global Demand for Investment Hedging and Risk Management  In recent years, governments worldwide have 1ssued billions ot
dollars of sovereign debt in order to fund financal system rescues and fiscal shmulus packages Global corporate borrowings are also expected to increase as
and when economic recovery takes hold Investors in the sovercign and corporate debt markets will need to utilize a range of denvatives products to effectively
hedge their credit, interest rate and foreign exchange related nsks Additionally, the continuing growth of key emerging market countries, such as China,
Brazil and India, should lead 1o increased dernand for basic commodities and a corresponding need for hedging mstruments, such as energy and commodity
futures and dernvauves These hedging activities account for a growing proportion of the daily trading volume 1n denvative products In the current financial
environment, we behieve wholesale brokers will be needed to provide crucial iquidity aggregation and anonymous, effictent execution for those denvative
products which are commonly used to hedge the nsks associated with credit defaults by sovereign and corporate debtors, equity ownership, fluctuations in the
value of foreign currencies and energy and commodity price volatnhty We behieve growing global demand for hedging and risk management will, in time, drive
hugher trading volumes in the finaneial products and markets 1in which we provide our execution, market snformation and software services

Increased Cenmtralized Clearing of OTC Dervatives  Increased cleanng of certain OTC denvatives has been a focal pomnt in both the U § and
Europe under new legislation as governments, regulators and market participants seek to improve global financial markets International governmenits and
regulators have pushed for the centrahized clearing of credit denvatives and several exchanges and mdusiry utihiies have launched clearinghouses and
platforms to clear certatn credit, imterest rate and foreign exchange dervative products We were a leader in wmtialives to launch cleaning of credit denvatives
and believe that the increased central cleanng of credit and other OTC denvatives products that we specialize m will be an important driver of future volume
growth

Demand for Superior Execution. Sophishcated market partricipants around the world require efficient and effective execution of transactions m
increasingly complex financial markets We believe that in certain highly liquid markets for cash products, such as corporate fixed income and equities, the
services of whelesale brokers are needed to achieve best execution, especially for targer transactions that may be privately negetated Wholesale brokers can
source Irquidity from other market participants or assess which competing markets, market makers, or electromc communications networks efter the most
favorable terms of execution and cfficiently transact large positions with minimal price movement In addition, we believe that wholesale brokers, such as us,
who provide hybnd brokerage services, are better posiioned to meet the particular needs n the broad range of markets 1n which we aperale than competitors
that do not offer this combinatton of vonce and electromic services In the wake of the global financial cnisis and the adoption of the Dedd-Frank Act and
European legislation, intermediated execution generally will be mandatory for clearable swaps transactions, which we belteve will tead to increased

12
\ IR AR SR Povared by e mngs a7 DocretReend ™
TRE wf e T T ST BETeNT maz nol be copird 2dapted of disinbuted and 13 nol of tunely The user assuihes all rick s for any damages of [sses ariging trom any use of this
Flor pLban €200RE {0 the catent such damagea or fosses Cannot be limited or excluded by nppuwbh law Past hnancial performance is no guaranlee of fUlUie resuns.




Table of Contents

demand for supenor hybrid electronic execution facilities in certain wholesale derivatives markets that traditionally have under-utihzed such systems
Accordingly, we believe that there will be an increased need for our trade support technology, including our hybnd brokerage systems and Trayport
GlobalVisionS™ products

Opportinity for Increased Market Share  As a result of the major push for regulatery reform in the global markets, which will carry significant
costs for comphance, including the need to have, mantain or expand sophisticated technology platforms, many smaller wholesale or inter-dealer brokers may
cease to exist We already operate hybnid execution platforms and have an ability to build and deploy sophusticated trade execution and support technology As
a result, we may be able to increase our market share in certain denvauve markets

Greater Importance of Product Expertise. Wholesale brokers provide important price discovery and hquidity aggregation services in both hiquid
and 1lliquid markets The presence of a broker provides customers with market intelligence, enhanced liquidity and, ulumately, improved pncing and
execution Wholesale brokers that execute a higher volume of trades of a particular financial product and have access to more market participants are better
positioned to provide valuable pricing information, and can offer superior market data and analytics tools, than brokers who less frequently serve that
market In less commoditized financial markets, including markets for novel and complex financial instruments where hquidity 15 intermittent, markel
leadership becomes more important because reliable pricing infermation 1s difficult to obtain Market participants 1n these less hquid markets utihize the
services of leading wholesale brokers in order 1o gain access to the best bids and offers for a particular product As a wholesale broker with high volumes of
ids and offers i specialized markets and access to technology that tracks such market data against actuvity i corretated markets, we are well-positioned to
meet the needs of professional market pariicipants for analytical insight, price discovery, and product expertise

Increasing Benefits of Automated Trade Processing The combination of hybrid execution with STP has significantly improved confirmation
and settlement processes, resulting 1n cost savings for customers Following the adoption of the Dodd-Frank Act, we expect to see continued demand 1n the
markets for wholesale brokers or SEFs thal have the ability to couple superior execution with automated trade reporting, confirmation and processing services

Need for Expertise int the Development of New Markets 1n order to better support thewr clients’ ¢volving investment and nsk management
strategies, our dealer customers create new products, including new denvative instruments  Dealers also modify their trading techniques in order to better
support their chients’ needs such as by integrating the trading of denivative instruments with the trading of related underlying or correlated financial assets,
ndices or other investments We believe the markets for these new products and trading techmques create an opportumty for those wholesale brokers, such as
us, who, through market knowledge and extensive client relationships, are able o dentify these new product opportunities and to focus their brokerage
services appropriately

Connnuing Globalization of Financial Markets The continuing globalization of trading 15 expected to propel long-term growth m trading
volumes 1n a wide array of financial and commodity products across the globe We believe that the economic growth of emerging markets in South Amenca,
EMEA and Asia will fuel demand for the services of wholesale brokers to foster hiquidity in new and emerging markets We believe that our presence in
multiple international financial centers including the expansion of our services i South America, EMEA, and Asia positions us te capitalize on such
demand There are certain nsks attendant to foreign operations  For detailed discussion of the nisks, see ¢ Item 1 A—Rusk Factors—If we are unable to
manage the risks of international operations effectively, our business could be adversely affected ™

Increased Demand for Trading and Broking Support Services  Our Kyte subsidiary provides cleanng, nsk management, settlement and other
back office services to professional trading and brokerage groups in listed fixed income, foreign exchange, commodity and equity products As a result of the
regulatory uncertainty relating to large financial institutions and their proprietary trading operations, as well as compensation restrictions for employces of
certain banks, some traders and brokers are seeking to start their own companies or hedge funds or otherwise partner with providers of connectivity and
support services such as Kyte We believe that the services offered by Kyte will be in further demand 1f proposed financial regulations requinng large banks lo
scale-down, sell or exit their propnetary trading operations are passed and implemented in their current form

Qur Competitive Strengths
We believe that the following principal competitive strengths will enable us to enhance our position as a leading wholesale broker
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Strong Brand and Leading Position 1n Key Markets We believe that over our twenty-five year history, we have successfully created value m
several brands that our customers associate with high quality services tn the markets on which we focus Our leadership in multiple markets, such as the
markets for certain fixed mcome and equity denvatives, foreign exchange opitons and commodity products, has been recognized by rankings 1n industry
publications such as Risk magazine, FX Week, Profit & Loss and Energy Risk magazine Risk magazine has frequently ranked us as the leading broker in
credit denvatives and numerous currency and equity denvative markets Energy Risk magazine also histed GF1 as Commodity Broker of the year in recent
years, with top positions 1n natural gas and metals In addition, FENICS Professional ™, GFI's pricing, trading and risk management platform, 15 a leading
analytic and nisk management tool m the foreign exchange markets Our electronic brokerage platforms, CreditMatch *®, GFl ForexMatch® and,
EnergyMatch®, as well as the Trayport GlobalVisionS™ products, are recogmized platforms n the markets 1n which they serve We believe that, because of our
leading market positions, strong brands and differentiated technological capabihties, we are better positioned than many of cur competitors to serve the
comprehensive needs of our customers m both exchange-traded and OTC markets

Expertise in Liquidity Formation tn Cash and Derivative Markets We believe we have expertise in fostenng hquidity in markets for complex
and mnovative financial products where lrquidity 1s harder to achseve and expert brokerage services are therefore more valuable to market participants We
have long sought to anticipate the development and growth of markets for evolving innovative financial products, in which we believe we can move early to
loster hiquidity, gamner a leading market posiiion and enjey higher commussions For example, we fostered hquidity 1n the credit derivative and currency
derivative markets n their early stages and have grown our services offertngs for these markets through the years We have also been involved m efforts to
mprove the ransparency and standardization of the credit derrvatives market as well as the development of cleaning mechanisms for credit denivatives We
have introduced hybnid execution, matching and auction technology to the fixed income and currency denvatives market globally Similarly, we were an early
entrant to the shipping, property and emissions denivatives markets Recently, we successfully increased our brokerage services for block futures contracts n
the North Amencan commodities markets We belteve that our cxpertise 1n fostenng hqudity m vanous derivanves markets gives us certain advantages when
providing brokerage services in correlated cash markets While cash products are far more commoditized than the OTC denvatives products for which we are
recognized, their tradeng activity 15 often correlated to activities 1n the corresponding derivatives markets, in which we are active intermediaries The services
we provide 1n the cash markets alse allows us to extend the reach of our services to a broader clientele, such as larger institutional investors and hedge funds,
that are more active 1 cash markets than denvatves markets

Abtlity to Build and Deploy Technology We believe we have a strong ability to develop and deploy sophusticated trade execution and support
technelogy that 15 tailored to the transactional nuances of cach specific market Depending on the needs of the individual markets, we deploy custorized
brokerage systems that leverage our range of electromic and voice execution services, which we refer to as “ hybrd brokerage " For example, our customers in
certain of our more complex, less commoditized markets may choose between utlizing our CreduMateh ®, GFI ForexMatch® or EnergyMatch® electrome
brokerage platforms to trade a range of fixed income denvauves, foreign exchange options, energy dertvatives and ermission allowances entirely on screen or
execute the same transaction through instant messaging devices or over the telephone with our brokers

QOur Trayport substdiary supports OTC and exchange-traded markets and 1s a market leader in providing electronic trading software to the European
energy markets Its prnmary revenue source comes from trading firms desiring a single, electrome access pomt for all of their energy trading requirements, both
OTC and exchange-traded Trayport software also supports brokers i their electromc market operations, as well as their electronic distmbution of prices to
trading clients Traypont also provides trading system technology o exchanges and clearing houses that offer connectivity to trading commumities across a
rangc of markets, including commodittes, equitics (cash, denvatives) and fixed income Trayport technology accommodates electronie trading, information
sharing, STP capabihities and clearing links

We have intemally built or purchased most of our core trade execution and support technology We believe that this distingwishes us from our
competitors as we are not overly beholden to the hcensing nghts of third party vendors and can tailor our technology offenngs to serve the unique needs of our
diverse product markets and customers

Quality Data and Analytics Products  We are one of the few wholesale brokers that offer a broad array of data and analytics products to
participants in the complex financial markets in which we speciahize Cur data products are derved from the historical trade data compiled from our brokerage
services th our key markets Qur analytics products benefit from the reputation of the Femcs ® brand for reliability, ease of use and independence from any
large dealer Our Fentcs® tools are used, not only by our traditional brokerage customers, but also by their customers, such as national and regional financial
instituitons and large corporations worldwide In additton, GF1 Trader (formerly Fenies ® Trader) allows users 10 have

14

Toe WMbieeple 108 Nach 13 2013 Pay Lied by Merngstar  Documert Rpseuch™

The wiformation contined Horen may not be copeed, td. o or cistributed and is no? to by dete Or imely The Uker assumes All ks for eny damages or losces ansmyg from gy usy of this
LRIonnRsbo, ewlnmmrndmuwmmmw by L Lw Past P 4 no o of future rosuits.




Tabte of Contents
electronic access to tradable prices for currency denvatives provided by a group of global dealers using “request for quote” technology

Clearing and Settlement Services  Through our Kyte subsidiary, which 1s a member of a number of leading exchanges, we provide clearing, nsk
management, seftlement and back-office services to proprietary traders, brokers, market makers and hedge funds The provision of these services allows us to
broaden our customer base and further diversify our revenue stream

Expernienced Senior Management, Skelled Brokers and Technology Developers We have a semor management team that 1s expenenced in
dentifying and developing brokerage markets for evolving, innovative financial instruments Qur founder and executive chairman, Michael Gooch, has over
30 years of experience n the brokerage industry Our chief executive officer, Colin HefTron, has been with our company since 1988 and, prior to becoming our
president, was instrumental 1n developing a number of brokerage desks and leading the growth of our European operations Reporting to them 1s an
experienced management team that mcludes senior market specialists i each of our product categones We also employed over 1,000 skilled and speciaiized
brokers as of December 31, 2012, many of whom have extensive product and indusity experience In addition, our m-house technology developers are
expenienced at developing electronic brokerage platforms and commercial grade software that are talored to the needs of certain select markets in which we
focus Qur brokers utilize this technology and market information to provide theur customers with enhanced services, such as electronic matching sessions
and option pricing software We beheve that the combination of our expenienced senior management, skilled brokers and technology developers gives us a
competitive advantage 1n executing our business strategy

Diverse Product and Service Offerings. We offer our products and services in a diverse array of financial markets and geographic regions
providimg us with a balanced revenue stream Histonically, the markets on which we focus have volume and revenue cycles that are refatively distinct from
each other and have generally been uncorrelated to and independent of the direction of broad equity indices While we pnimanly serve the wholesale and
protessional trader commumity, some of the markets in which we are active have seen new entrants from the ranks of hedge funds and asset managers We
thunk this trend will allow us, 1n time, to serve a broader customer base Further, our back-office and decision support products, mchuding our cleaning and
scttlement services risk management platforms, market data, analytical tools and trading system software give us an opportunity to further expand our
customer base, providing revenue sources beyond our tradittonal brokerage customers We believe our diverse product and service offerings provide us with an
advantage over many of our compentors that may have more imited product and service offenngs and, therefore, may be more susceptible to downturns ina
particular market or geographic region

Our Strategy

We mtend to continue to grow our business and increase our profitabihity by beng a leading provider of wholesale brokerage services, data and
analytics and trading system software to the markets on which we focus We mtend to employ the following strategies to achieve our goals

Maintain and Enhance our Leading Posttions in Key Markets  'We plan to continue building upon the leading market share and brand
recognition that we have developed for a range of OTC denvative instruments and underlying cash securities m fixed income, financial, equity and
commodity markets We will continue deploying our speciahized brokers and proprietary tradmg technology and systems n markets where iquidity 1s harder
to achieve and our unique brokerage services and systems are therefore more valuable to dealers and professional traders Building on our strength n executing
OTC denvative products, we plan to continue to build our brokerage capabilitics in exchange-traded dervatives, corporate bond and equity markets that have
correlations to the underlymng derivative markets 1n which we are well recogmized We also intend to continne offering our quahity brand data and analyties
products 1n certain select markets requiring reliable decision support tools Through these means, we seek to enhance our strong reputation and long-standing
relationships in existing markets, while offening additional services and serving new customers in increasingly global financial and commodities markets

Leverage Technology and Infrastructure to Gan Market Share and Improve Margins  We intend to continue to develop and deploy
technology, including propnesary electromic brokerage platforms, to further enhance broker productivity increase cusiomer and broker loyally and improve
our competitive posiion and market share We intend to continue to pursue technological innevations, such as state of the art clectronic brokerage platforms, to
improve our brokers’ produetivity and increase our market share in key products Dunng 2012, we continued to see substantial use of our CreditMatch *
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electronic brokerage platform 1n Europe and North America 1n both credit denvatives and cash bonds GFI ForexMatch %, an electronic brokerage platform for
foreign exchange products that is integrated with our Ferues ® rader tools, has seen increased usage n emerging market products, particularly in Latin
Amenican and Eastern European products We provide our EnergyMatch® system to certain natral gas and electne power markets in Europe and North
America We believe that there will be mereased demand for our hybnid electronic brokerage platforms 1n many of our existing wholesale denivatives markets
following the implementation of the Dodd-Frank Act We believe that as the usage of these systems becomes more widespread, we will be able 1o gan increased
market share We also plan to continue to install propnetary apphcation programnung interfaces (“APIs”) and STP connections with our customers’
seftlement, nsk management and compliance operations, 1 order to better serve their needs and to provide us with additional oppertunities to increase our
revenues

Continue to Identify and Develop New Products and High-growth Markets. Our brokerage personnel headeount as of December 31, 2012 was
1,188 We plan (o continue our practice of developing new brokerage desks threugh the strategic redeployment of expenenced brokers from established
brokerage desks and through the selective hiring of new brokers Individual brokerage desks are separately tracked and monitored m an effort to dnve
performance We will continue to focus on identifying growth markets where hquidity 1s more valuable, thereby yielding early-mover opportunities At the
same time, we plan to continue to develop our capablities 1n selected cash equities and fixed income products where we can leverage cur expertise in the related
denvative products and long-standing relationships with the world’s largest financial institutions We also intend to continue to expand our presence globally in
markets where we believe there are opportunities (o mcrease our revenues As part of this effort, we have grown our operations 1n recent years n a number of
locations 1 South America and Europe

Align our Business with the Goals of New Regulations Recent U S and European legislation, as well as pending legistative and regulatory
proposals, for OTC derivatives require, among other things, greater use of cleaning facilities, transaction reporung, greater price transparency and mandatory
execution of transactrons by regulated intermedtanies Our business benefited from the introduction of clearing in the Unuted States energy markets tn the mid-
2000s and we have long supported greater use of clearng for credit denvatives We behieve that increased use of clearmg will bring new entrants nto our
markets and ulimately increase trading volumes Sumilarly, we have worked with major industry participants to develop transaction confirmation and
reporting protocols that will be utthzed in enhanced regulatory trade warehousing  Although we already operate hybnid brokerage systems that we believe will be
able to meet the new regulatory requirements to operate as a SEF in the United States, we 1ntend to continue to invest 1n those areas of our business that will
serve the goals of expected regulation, including increased market transparency

Continue to Puriue New Customers and Diverse Revenue Opporturnuties. We offer our products and services in a diverse range of financial
markets and geographic regions and to hundreds of msthitutional customers We have been successful m expanding our wholesale brokerage customer base
through new product offerings and the implementation of our propnetary technology At the end of 2¢12, approxmmately 55% of our total revenues came from
our traditional dealer bank customers In cash markets for corporate fixed income and equities, as well as 1n certain energy and commodities markets, we are
mcreasingly providing brokerage services to a broader range of custemers than our tradstional chientele of large primary deaters Our data, analytics and
sottware products and clearing services are already purchased by a broad range of customers outstde of the dealer community We intend to merease the
diversity of our customer base by expanding our services to the wider professional trader community mm order to lessen the impact of a downturn i any
particular market or geographic region on us We also intend to maintain the geographic diversity of our revenues On a gecgraphic basis, approxtmately 61%
of our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012 were generated by our EMEA operations, 30% were generated by our Amernicas operations and 9%
were generated by our operations 1n the Asia-Pacific region Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2012, no ene customer accounted for more than 10%
of our total revenues from all products, services and regions, and our largest brokerage desk accounted for approximately 3% of total brokerage revenues

Strategically Expand our Operations and Customer Base through Business Acquisttions and Investments. Historically, the wholesale
brokerage industry was fragmented and concentrated mainly on specific country or regional marketplaces and discrete product sets, such as foreign exchange
ot energy products The indusiry was also predominantly focused on executing trades between large dealer banks and securities houses Over time, however,
the wholesale brokerage industry has expenenced increasing consolidation as larger whelesale brokers have sought to enhance their global brokerage services
and offset customer commussion pressure tn matunng product categories by acquiring smaller competitors that specialized in specific product markets At the
same time, mter-dealer brokers have expanded their customer base within the wholesale universe to include hedge funds, corporations and asset managers In
addttion, several wholesale brokers, such as us, have acquired technology-focused companies which enhance brokerage execution and pre- and post- trade
analysis and processing We plan to continue to selectively seek opportunities to grow our customer base, further our operational and
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technological depth and breadih and to grow our bustness in new and existing product areas through the acquisition of complementary businesses

Continue to Generate Cash and Return Value to Shareholders. Qur brokerage, software, analytics and market data businesses have generated
significant operating cash flows that have allowed us to invest m software development, open new brokerage or trading desks and otherwise re-position our
business to suit current and future market conditions At the same time, we have been able to provide our shareholders with a consistent quarterly dividend
stream since 2008 Despite the recent global financial crisis, over the past four years, we generated 1n excess of $263 mutiion of positive cash flow from
operations and paid in excess of $131 mullion of dividends to our shareholders We believe that our cash flows also benefit from the significant amount of
matched principal transactions we broker for cash products Matched pnncipal transactions generally setile within three days and we receive our commission
much sooner than we do when we execute a trade on an agency basts We intend 1o contimue to invest in businesses that generate operating cash flows and 10
usc these cash flows to continue to return value to our sharcholders

Overview of Qur Products and Services

Qur global brokerage operations focus on a wide varnety of fixed income, financial, equity and commoduty mstruments, including both cash and
denvative products Within these markets we have been successful, istoncally, in serving the more complex, less commoditized markets for sophisticated
financial instruments, pnmanly OTC denvatives As the trading strategies of market participants continue 1o evolve and diversify and the OTC denivatives
futures contracts and cash markets contimue to converge, wholesale brokers like us can bridge the gap between these markets and offer services in a number of
related markets

We support and enhance our brokerage operations by providing clearing and rnisk management services, trading system software, analyucs and
market data products to our customers We also provide our customers with STP links and electromc connections with exchanges and clearing firms where
applicable

¢

We provide brokerage services to our customers by executing transactions on either an agency or principal basis In agency transactions, we charge a
commussion for connecting buyers and sellers and assisting 1n the negotiation of the price and other material terms of the transaction Afler all material terms of
a transaction are agreed upon, we identfy the buyer and seller to each other and/or grve up their names to a CCP and they then settle the trade directly or with
the CCP Commussions charged to our customers in agency transactions vary across the products for which we provide brokerage services

We generate revenue from principal transactions on the spread between the buy and sell price of the security that 15 brokered or from an agreed
commussion rate that 1s built into the pricing of the mstrument Our principal transactions revenue 15 primanly denved from matched principal transactions
In matched principal transactions, we act as a “middleman’ by serving as the counterparty on ene side of a custemer trade and entering into an otfsetiing trade
with another party relatively quickly (often within minutes and generaily on the same trading day) These transactions are then settled through clearing
institutions with which we have a contractual relationstup Because the buyer and seller each transact through us rather than with each ather, the parties are
able to maintain their anonymity

We generally do not take unmatched positions for our own account or gam, but may do se 1n response to customer demand, pnmanly lo facihitate the
execution of existing customer orders or 1n anticipation that future customer orders will become available to fill the other side of the transaction Although the
sigmficant majority of our prncipal trading 15 done on a “matched principal * basis, we have authorized a limited number of our desks to enter mto principal
nvesting transactions 1n which we commit our capital within predefined limuts, either to facilitate customer trading activities or, 1n limited cases, to engage in
principal trading for our own acecount For more mformation on these hmuts, see “ltem 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Rusk
—Market Risk * Most of our pnncipal transactions are executed 1n the OTC cash trading markets, such as the fixed income and equity markets, or in certain
listed denvative markets

Fixed Income Products 'We provide brokerage services in a vanety of fixed income denvatives, bond instruments and other related fixed income
products Our offices in New York, London, Sydney, Hong Kong, and Singapere each provide brokerage services in a broad range of fixed income denvative
produets that may include single-entity credit default swaps, emerging market credit default swaps, credit indices, options on single-entity credit default
swaps options on credit indices and credit index tranches We also provide brokcrage services n a range of non-denvative credit instruments, such as
investment grade corporate bonds, high yield corporate bonds, emerging market Eurobonds, European government bonds,
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bank capital preferred shares, asset-backed bonds and floating rate notes We largely provide our services for these non-denvative fixed income products out of
our New York, London, Pans, Singapore and Hong Kong offices  We also broker government bonds and corporate bonds from our Sannago, Bogota, and
Mamla offices, while government bonds are also brokered out of our Bucnos Aires and Lima offices

We support our fixed income product execution services with CreditMatch ®, our electronic brokerage platform that provides trading, trade processing
and STP functipnality to our customers Consistent with our hybrid brokerage model, customers may choose between utilizing CreditMatch ® to trade centain
credit denvative products entirely via an electronic platform or executing the same transaction over the telephone, or via other messaging mediums, with our
brokers In Europe, our customers consistently use CreditMatch ® when using our services to trade certamn credit denvative and bond products Our customers
in the Amencas and Asia are also increasing their use of the matching sessions on CreditMatch ® for the pricing and execution of certain credit denvative and

bond products

We hold an econormuc interest i [CE Trust, a cleannghouse for denvative instruments formed as a result of IntercontmentalExchange Inc s ( ICE™)
March 2009 purchase of The Cleanng Corporation, a company n which we were a minonity shareholder In March 2009, ICE Trust became the first
clearmghouse to clear eredit dervatives We believe that our hybnd electronic brokerage systems and STP capabilities will complement the movement to greater
automation and centralized clearing 1n the OTC credit derivatives markets Ultimately, we believe that centralized clearing may expand the market tor O1C
denvative products through added settlement efficiency and rehability

Through Christopher Street Capital, a division of GF1 Secunities Limited in the UK, we offer tradittonal brokerage services to a broad range of
customers 1n the cash bond markets, including investment grade and eross-over corporate debt, distressed debr, agencies, hugh yield debr, and asset backed
securities

Kyte Capital Management Limited provides capital to start-up trading groups that undertake propnetary trading, market making and liquidity
provider services for futures and options on the major U S, European and Asian exchanges

Financial Producrs We provide brokerage services 1n a range of financial instruments, including foreign exchange options, exottc options, non-
US Dollar mtcrest ratc swaps and options, repurchase agreements, forward and non-deliverable forward contracts, inflation denvatives, and certain
government and municipal bond options Exotic options include non-standard options on baskets of foreign currencies Non-deliverable forward contracts are
forward contracts that settle 1n cash and do not require physical delivery of the underlying asset

We offer telephone brokerage services in our New York, Lendon, Hong Kong, Singapore, Sydney, Santiago, Bogota, Buenos Aires, Lima, and
Nyon offices augmented n select markets with our GFI ForexMatch ® brokerage platform We alse offer a STP capability that automatically reports completed
telephone and electronic transacttons directly to our customers” position-keeping systems and provides position updates for currency option trades executed
through our brokerage desks globally

Our New York office focuses on providing brokerage services for toreign exchange opton trading among the U S Dollar, the Japanese Yen and the
Eure, which are referred to as the G3 currencies, as well as the Canadian Dollar and emerging market foreign exchange options, forward contracts and non-
deliverable forward contracts and non-U S Dollar miterest rate swaps Our New York office also offers bond options, swap options and corporate and
cmerging market repo brokerage services Our London office also covers foreign exchange option trading 1n the G3 currencies along with nearly all European
cross currencies, including the Russian Ruble and Easten European currencies, for which we provide brokerage services for forwards and non-deliverable
forwards In addibion, our London office provides brokerage services for cross currency basis swaps, and non-US Dollar interest rate swaps and options Our
brokers 1 Singapore, Hong Kong and Seoul provide brokerage services for fereign exchange currency options, non-deliverable forwards and non-U § Dollar
interest rate swaps for regional and G3 currencies Qur offices in Santiago, Bogota, Buenos Aires, and Lima focus on local foreign exchange products, interest
rate swaps and government bonds, while our Dubai office focuses on Islamic finance products

In 2011 we opened an office in Nyon, Switzerland that tocuses on the brokening of emerging market products, including foreign exchange options,
forward rate agreements, basis swaps, mterest rate swaps and government bonds in CE3 currencies (Czech Koruna, Polish Zloty and Hungarian Foring),
South African Rand and Turkish Lira  Our brokers 1n our Nyon office are supported by matching sessions run on our GF! ForexMatch ® and
CreditMatch® brokerage platform
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Equity Products We provide brokerage services 1 a range of cash-based and denvative equity products, mcluding U S domestic equity and
mternational equity stocks, Global Depositary Receipts (“GDRs™} Amencan Depositary Receipts (“ADRs ) and equity denvatives based on indices stocks or
custormzed stock structures

We offer voice broker assisted equity execution services from our brokerage desks in New York, Londaon, Dublin, Pans, Tel Aviv, Hong Keng, and .
Sydney and, where appropnate, they are augmented wath clectrome and algonthmi¢ trading capabihiies Through our various offices, we broker trades in the
OTC market, as well as for certain exchange-iraded securities and derivatives

Our New York office provides brokerage services in cash cquities, single stock options index options sector options, equity default swaps
vanance swaps, total return swaps, convertible bonds and ADRs Our London ofTice provides brokerage services in equity index options, single stock
options, GDRs, Pan-European equities, Japanese equity denvanives and structured equities Qur Pans office provides brokerage in Pan-European equinies
structured equines, single stock and equity index options and financial futures Our Hong Kong office provide a varying degree of brokerage services in equity
index and single stock options, while the Hong Kong office also provides brokerage services in ADRs and GDRs Our Dublin and Tel Aviv offices broker
primanly Pan-European and international equities

Through Chnistopher Street Capital Equities, 4 division of GFI Secunities Limited, we operate a cash equities brokerage desk that provides
indepeadent equaty research focused on the relationship between the credit and equity markets Our research analyzes the relanonship between credit default
swap and equity markets usmg our histonic credst defavlt swap data Chnstopher Street Capital Equities focuses, n particular, on situations where credit
default swap spreads and equity prices diverge outside their normal relationship

Kyte Capital Management Limited provides capital to start-up tracing groups that undertake proprietary trading, market making and Lhiquidity
provider services for equity futures and options on the major U S, European and Asian exchanges

Commoduy Products. We provide brokerage services 1n a wide range of cash-based and denvative commodity and energy products, including o1,
natural gas biofuel electnicity wet and dry freight denvatives, dry physical freight, precious metals, coal, propetty derivatives, emissions, ethanol and soft
commodities

We offer telephonic brokerage supported by electronic platforms and post-trade 8TP and confirmation services 1n certain markets Our Trayport
subsidhary 15 a leading provider of electronic trading software and services to the European OTC energy markets, including electricity, natural gas, coal,
emissions and freight Trayport’s GlobalVisionSM platform accommedates electronic trading, informatien shaning, STP capabilines in commodity and
financial instruments and clearing Iinks te NOS Clearing ASA, LCH Cleamet, CME ClearPor, European Commodity Clearing (“ECCO’ ), Mercado
Espafiol de Futuros Financieros (“MEFF ), and the Singapore Exchange (“SGX™) In London, our telephonic brokerage capabilities are augmented with
electrome brokerage capabilines licensed by our wholly-owned subsidiary, Trayport In North America, we offer EnergyMatch ® an electronic brokerage
platform for trading energy denivatives which 15 currently used in varying degrees in certain electricaty natural gas and emissions markets We intend to
continue to expand this platform to other energy markets Through EnergyMatch ®, we offer STP capabilities and cleanng links to CME ClearPort and other
third party cleanng providers

From our New York area offices, we provide brokerage services 1n natural gas, o1l and petroleum products, electricity, ethanol and soft and
agncuitural commodities Through our Amerex subsidiary based i Sugar Land, Texas, we provide brokerage services in natural gas, electricity,
environmental commodities and retail energy management Our London office provides commodity product brokerage services in many European national
markets, ncluding for electnicity, coal, etisstons and gas The London office also provides brokerage services 1 property derivatives, dry and wet frerght
denvanves and dry physical freight Qur Smgapore office brokers dry freight denvatives and dry physical freight Desks 1n our New York, London and
Sydney offices also provide brokerage services for the global precious metal markets

Through collaboration with certain divisions of CB Richard Ellis Group Inc , we provide and continue to develop brokerage services in European
property derivauves The collaborauion in the U K s a leader in the property denvatives market
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Through a joint venture with ACM Shipping Limited, we offer hybnd telephonic and electronic brokerage of wet freight denivatives m London,
Singapore and New York

Clearing and Settlement Services  On July 1, 2010, we acquired a 70% equity ownership interest in each of The Kyte Group Limited and Kyte
Capital Management Limited, and will acquire the remaining 30% equity interest 1n 2013 Kyte, which 1s a member of leading exchanges including NYSE
Euronext, NYSE LIFFE and Eurex, provides clearing, brokerage, settlement and back-office services to propnietary traders, brokers, market makers and
hedge funds In some 1nstances, Kyte provides capttal to start-up trading groups, smal! hedge funds, market-makers and individuat traders We acquired
Kyte because of its expertise 1n histed dervative markets, its risk management platforms and 1ts unique ¢leanng, broking and imvestment services business
model

Software, Analynucs and Market Data. Our Trayport subsidiary hicenses multi-asset class electronic trading and order management software to
brokers, exchanges and traders 1n the commodities, fixed ncome, currencies and equities markets Trayport's GlobalViston SM products have an mdustry
leading position 1n supplying seftware to the European OTC energy markets, incleding electric power, natural gas, coal, emissions and freight Trayport’s
pnmary source of revenue 1s trom recurmng license fees charged to trading and brokerage firms that are calculated by the number of active users Trayport
also recerves consuling and mamienance fees to “white-label” or customize 1ts products according to customer needs Trayport’s products provide customers
with STP capabilities and clearing hinks to multiple clearinghouses, including NOS Cleaning ASA, LCH Clearnet and CME ClearPort

Within foreign exchange opuion markets, our GF1 FENICS € division licenses FENICS® Professional, which provides customers with technology to
centrol and momtor the hfecycle of therr foretgn exchange options trades Sold on a subscnption basis through dedicated sales teams across the globe,
FENICS¥ Professional 1s a sute of price discovery, price distribution, trading, nsk management and STP components This armay of modules permits
customers to quickly and accuralely price and revalue both vamlla and exotic foreign exchange options using math models and independent market data Our
GF1 FENICS® division also provides a service through which users have electronic access to tradable prices for currency denvatives provided by a group of
global dealers using “request for quote™ technology

Through our GFI Market Data diviston, we license market data to third parties in the foltowing product areas foreign exchange options, credit
denvatives, emerging market non-deliverable forwards and interest rale swaps, equuty index volatlihies, iterest rate options and European and North
Amernican energy We make our data available through a number of channels, including streaming data feeds, file transter protocol downloads, directly from
FENICS¥ Professional and 1o data vendors, such as Thomson Reuters and Quick, who license our data for distnbution to their global users Revenue from
market data products consists of up-front license fees and monthly subscription fees, royalties from third party market data vendors who re-license our data
and individual large database sales For detailed discussions of our revenue by product category and geographic regton, see “Item 7—Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ™

Our Customers

As of December 31, 2012, we provided brokerage services, cleanng services and data and analytics products to over 2,600 instituonal customers,
meluding leading investment and commercial banks, large corporations, asset managers, wnsurance companies, hedge funds and proprictary trading firms
Notwithstanding our large number of customers, we primarily serve the wholesale and professional trader commumty that regularly transact in global capatal
markets, including many of the world’s money-center banks and wholesale dealers such as Bank of Amenca, Barclays Bank, BNP Partbas, Catigroup,
Credit Sursse, Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs, JPMorgan Chase, Morgan Stanley and UBS Despite the importance of these large financial institutions to
our brokerage business, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenues from all products and services globally for the year ended
December 31, 2012 Customers using our Fenics branded analytics products and our market data products and services include small and medum sized
banks and wnvestment firms, brokerage houses, asset managers, hedge funds, investment analysts and financial advisers We also heense our Trayport
trading systems to various financial markets partictpants, including our major wholesale brokerage competitors, exchanges and trading firms
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Sales and Marketing

In order to premote new and existing brokerage, data and analytics and software services, we utiize a combination of our brokerage personnel,
internal marketing and public relations staff and external adwisers 1n imnplementing selective advertising and media campaigns Qur brokerage services are
pnmanly marketed through the direct and fairly constant interaction of our brokers with their customers This direct mteraction permuits our brokers to
discuss new product and market developments with our customers and to cross-sell our other products and scrvices We also participate in numerous trade-
shows to reach potential brokerage, data and technology customers and utihize speaking opportunities to help promote market spectahists and trading
technologies in our core products and services

Our data, analytics and trading software products are actively marketed through dedicated sales and support teams, including at our Trayport
subsidiary that market products to customers globally As of December 31 2012, we employed a total of 120 sales, marketng and support professionals

Technology

Pre-Trade Technology Our brokers generally use an intemally developed suite of proprietary market data and analytical software tools 1o assist
customers with their trading decisions This technology 18 often made available directly 10 customers via a license agreement In most cases our brokerage
desks distribute prices and other market data via our proprietary network, data vendor pages, secure websites and trading platforms

Hybrid Brokerage Platform Technology We utilize several sophistuicated proprietary elecironic brokerage platforms to distnibute prices and offer
electronic trade execution to our customers These platforms include our CreditMatch ® GFI ForexMatch® and EnergyMaich® electronic brokerage platforms
Price data is transmitted over these platforms by our proprietary global pnvate network and by third-party prowviders that connect to the financial community
Our hybrid brokerage platforms and systems operate on a technology platform and network that emphasizes scalability, performance, adaptability and
rehabihity, and that provides our customers with a vancty of means to connect to our brokers and brokerage platforms, ineluding dedicated point-to-point data
lines, virtual private networks, proprictary application programming nterfaces and the [nternet We provide customers with propnietary apphication
programming interfaces (*APIs™) that automate customer order flow and trade matching These efforts seek to automate large parts of the trade reporting and
settlement process via STP thereby reducing errors, nisks and costs traditionally associated with post-trade acuivitics

Peost-Trade Technology Our hybnd brokerage platforms automate previously paper- and telephone-based transaction processing, cenfirmation
and other functions, substantially improving and reducing the cost incurred by many of our customers’ back offices and enabling STP In addition to our
own system confirmation and trade processing 15 also available through third-party hubs including Markitwire, Reuters RTNS, CME ConfirmHub,
EFETnet and direct STP in Financial Information eXchange (FI1X) Protocol for vanous banks We have electronic connections to most maimstream
clearinghouses, including The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation {through thurd party cleaning firms), Continuous Linked Settlement, Euroclear
Clearstream, LCH Clearnet, Eurex, the CME Group, Ine (“*CME™), Euro CCP, ECC, SGX, MEFF, and Europcan Multilateral Clearing Facility N 'V
(“"EMCF"} Wc intend to expand the number of cleannghouscs to which we conncet 1n the future

We further provide data communication and STP eonnections with our customers’ settlement, nsk management and compliance operations in order
to better serve thetr needs and to strengthen our relationships with them STP generally involves the use of technology 10 automate the processing of financial
transactions from execution to settlement 1n order to minimize human error, reduce operahonal costs and time, and enhance transaction information and
reporting

Risk Management Platfforms GF1 maintains a proprietary electronic risk morutoring system to momitor and mitigate market nisks, which
provides management with daily credit reports in each of our geographic regions that analyze credit concentration and facihtates the regular monitorning of
transactions against key nisk indicators [n addition, our Kyte subsidiary maintains proprictary nsk management platforms which are used to manage nsk
associated with 1is customers These proprietary risk platforms create nisk profile reports using algonthms that caleulate real time net position reports using
wnformation from exchanges and third-party market data providers, such as Reuters The systems can calculate the net nsk of a customer 5 entire portfolio
covenng a broad range of products, including cash bonds, futures, options, equitics and spot FX
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Systems Archutecture. Qur systems are implemented as a multi-trer hub and spoke architecture comprised of several components, which provide
maiching, credit management, market data chstnbution, position reporung customer display and customer 1ntegration The network currently operates from
concurrent data centers and hub cities throughout the world acting as distnbution points for all network customers

In addition te our own network system, we also receive and distribute secure trading mnformation from customers using the services of multiple,
major Intemet service providers throughout the world These connections enable us to offer our products and services wia the Intemet to our global customers

Technology Development

We employ a technology development philosophy that emphasizes state-of-the-art technology with cost efficiency m both our electromic brokerage
platforms, such as CreditMatch®, GFI ForexMatch® EnergyMatch® and Global Vision®M (a product of Traypont®), and our data and analytics products We
take a flexible approach by developing in-house, purchasing or leasing technology products and services and by outsourcing support and maintenance where
appropriate lo manage our technology expense more effectively For each market in which we operate, we seek to provide the optimal mix of electronic and
telephonic brokerage

Market Data and Analyuics Products Technology Our market data and analytics products are developed mtemally using advanced development
methodologies and computer languages Through years of developig Femics products, our in-house software development team 1s expenienced 1n creating
simple, intuitive software for use with complex derivative instruments

Support and Development. At December 31, 2012, we employed a team of 332 computer, telecommuntcation, network, database, customer
support, quahty assurance and soflware development specialists globally We devote substantial resources to the continuous development and support of our
electronic brokerage capabilities, the introduction of new products and services to our customers and the traming of our employees Our software development
capabilities allow us to be flexible in our decisions to either purchase or license technology from third parties or to develop it internally

Drsaster Recovery We have contingency plans in place to protect against major camer failures, disruption 1n external services (market data and
internet service providers), server falures and power outages All cnitical services are connected via redundant and diverse ctreuits and, where possible, we
employ site diversity Production applications are implemented with a pnmary and back-up server, and all data centers have umnterruptible power source and
generator back-up power Qur servers are backed-up daily, and back-up tapes are sent off-site daily We maimiain back-up facilites for our key personnel to
relocate to in the event that we were unable to use certain of our pnimary offices for an extended penod of tme and we also have a limited number of reserved

seats™ avatlable for business continuity use m the event that certan of our other global offices are adversely impacted by an event We intend to increase the
number of our back-up facilines and reserved seats, some of which may be shared with other companies, as part of our business continuity plans

Intellectual Property

We seek to protect our internally developed and purchased intellectual property through a combination of patent, copynght, trademark, trade secret,
contract and farr business practice laws Our proprietary technology, including our Trayport and Fenics software, 1» generally hcensed to customers under
written license agreements Where appropnate, we also hicense and incorporate software and technology from thurd parties that is protected by intellectual
property nghts belonging to those third parties

We pursue registration of some of our trademarks in the Umited States and 1n other countrics “GFI Group,” “GFInet,” “Fenics,” *CrecitMatch,”
“GF1 ForexMatch,” ‘EnergyMatch,” “Amerex”, “Starsupply”, “Trayport” and “Kyte™ are registered trademarks in eather the United States and/or numerous
overseas yunsdictions

We have filed a number of patent applications to further protect our propnetary technology and innovations, and have received patents for some of
those applications We believe that no single patent or application or group of patents or applications will be of material importance to our business as a whole
Our patents have expiration dates ranging from 2015 to 2028
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Competition

Competition 1 the wholesale brokerage industry 1s intense We encounter competition 1n ail aspects of our businesses, including for customers,
employees and acquisihion candidates

Inter-dealer Brokers QOur pnmary competitors with respect to dealer {o dealer, or “inter-dealer”, OTC brokerage services are currently four firms
ICAP Ple, Tullett Prebon Ple, BGC Partners, Inc (a publicly traded subsidiary of Cantor Fitzgerald) and Compagnie Financiere Tradition (which 1s majonty
owned by Viel & Cie), all of which are currently publicly traded companies We also compete, to a lesser extent, with several electronic brokerage piatforms
and a number of smaller, privately held firms or consortia that tend to specialize 1n niche products or specific geographical areas The current size of the inter-
dealer brokerage market 15 difficult to estmate as there s ittle objective external data on the industry and several participants are private companics that do not
publicly report revenues QOver the past decade, the industry has been charactenzed by the consolidation of well-established smaller firms into the four firms
mentioned above and ourselves We believe this consohidation has resulted from a number of factors, including the consolidation of prmary institutional
dealer customers, pressure to reduce brokerage commussions, particularly in more commeoditized products, greater dealer demand for technological capabiliies
and the need to leverage relatively fixed adrmimistrative and regulatory costs

Historically, the inter-dealer brokerage industry has been charactenzed by fierce competition for customers and brokers Sigmificant factors affecung
competinon m the inter-dealer brokerage industry are the qualitics, abilities and relationships of professional personnel, the depth and level of hquidity of the
market available from the broker, the quality of the technology used 1o service and assist in execution on particular markets and the relative prices of services
and products offered by the brokers and by competing markets and trading processes

In time, our business may face growing competition from businesses that provide execution services directed towards non-dealer institutions
Compames such as Bloomberg, TradeWeb and MarketAxess have substantial customer relatonships with institwtional traders of cash instruments and we
believe thal they will seek to leverage these relationships to further their busimess in executing derivatives transactions We have not fraditionally served such
non-dealer institutions 1n certain of the products that we broker Rather, n such products, we have maintained deep relattonshups with the swaps dealers who
are the pnmary providers of hquidity to such markets We intend to continue to skillfully serve the pnmary providers of hquidity in our markets, while
complying with all regulations, including the Dodd-Frank Act, that require us to provide impartial access to broader categories of market participants

Broker-Dealers. Inbrokenng certain cash equitics and corporate fixed income products, we face competitton from traditional cash product broker-
dealers that include large, medium and smaller sized financial service firms

Exchange and Exempt Commercial Markets In general, we do not compete directly with the major futures exchanges such as CME, the
Chicago Board Options Exchange, Eurex and Euronext, Liffe, and ICE These exchanges allow parucipants to trade standarchzed futures and options
contracts These contracts, unlike the less commoditized OTC preducts that we focus on, typically contam more standardized terms, and are typically traded
n contracts representing smaller notienal amounts Furthermore, the mtroduction of such standardized exchange-traded futures and opuons contracts has, 1o
the past, generally been accompanied by conunuing growth in the corresponding OTC denvanves markets We often cross exchange-traded dervatives as
OTC transactions or block futures trades and the trades are then either exchanged for exchange-traded mstruments, such as a futures contract, or “given up”
for cleanng to one of the exchanges mentiened above or a third-panty CCP or FCM

In a growing number of markets and products, however, our hybnd brokerage platforms are compeung directly with the execution arms of those
same exchanges Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, futures exchanges are authorized to execute swaps transactions, along with swap execution facilines
Accordingly we expeet that in the near future we will compete 1o be the pnmary cxecution venue for swaps transactions with several futures exchanges as well
as our exisung wholesale broker competitors Moreover, duning 2012, as a result of the impact of the Dodd-Frank reform legislation, which made 1t more
costly to trade swaps and other custonuzed denvatives, denvatives exchanges led a general market move in the U § commodities markets toward the use of
futures instead of OTC denvatives contracts This migration (o the use of futures contracts instead of swaps allowed participants to avoid new regulations that
require compames with a certan level of trading volume to register as swaps dealers and that would have forced many of the swaps to be executed through
swap execution facihties and cleared by central cleannghouses We are actively preparing to serve the resuling markets that develop as the new regulations are
implemented For example, subject to the rules and regulations applicable to futures products, we expect
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to centinue to broker all the products that we have customanly brokered as swaps as block futures trades It 1s unclear what impact the transition from QTC
markets to associated exchange and SEF markets will have on the relevant markets or on the demand for our brokerage and trade execution services in these
markets For further information, see the discussion under “Recent Denvative Market Developments™ below and *Ttem 1A—Risk Fagtors

Software, Analytics and Market Data. Several large market data and information providers, such as Bloomberg and Reuters, compete for a
presence on virtually every trading desk 1n our industry Some of these entities currently offer varying forms of electronic trading of the types of financial
wstruments 1 which we specialize In addition, these entities are currently competitors to, and 1n some cases customers of, our data and analytical services
Our Trayport subsidiary competes against several independent providers of advanced financial technology and high-end trading systems Further, we face
competition for certain sales of our data products from our inter-dealer, exchange and wholesale broker competitors and from data and technology vendors,
such as Markat, a consortium of major financial mstitutions In some cascs, we have entered into collaborations or jomnt venture agreements with these other
entities with regard to our software, analytics and market data services 1n order to create a more robust product, increase our distnibution channels or, in some
cases, white label products through our respective distribution channels

Overall, we believe that we may also face future competition from other large computer software companies, market data and technology companies
and securities brokerage firms, some of which are currently our customers, as well as from any future strategic alliances, joint ventures or other partherships
created by one or more of our potential or exssting competitors

Regulation

Certain of our subsidiaries, 1n the ordrhary course of their business, are subject to extensive regulation by government and self-regulatory
organmzattens both 1n the United States and abroad As a matter of public policy, these regulatory bodies are responsible for safeguarding the integrity of the
securitres and other financial markets These regulations are designed primarily to protect the mterests of the investing public generally They cannot be
expected to protect or further the interests of our company or our stockholders and may have the effect of imiting or curtaihing our activities, including
activinies that rmught be profitable

US Regulanon and Certain Clearing Arrangements  In order to conduct our secunfies related business 1n the U § , GFI Secunines LLC, one
of our subsidianies, 15 registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC, and the State of New York, and 15 regulated by the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authonity Inc (“FINRA™) GFI Secunities LLC 1s subject to regulations and industry standards of practice that cover many aspects of s business, mcludmg
imitial licensing requirements, sales and trading practices, safekeeping of customers” funds and secunties, capnal structure, record keeping, supervision and
the conduct of affiliated persons, meluding directors, officers and employees GFI Secunities LLC also operates CreditMatch ®, an electrome brokerage
platform that 15 regulated pursuant to Regulation ATS under the Exchange Act

In our futures and commodities related activibies, our subsidianes are also subject to the rules of the CFTC, futures exchanges of which they are
members and the National Futures Association (“NFA™), a futures self-regulatory orgamization GF1 Securities LLC, Amerex Brokers LLC and GFI Brokers
LLC are each registered as troducing brokers with the NFA and the CFTC The NFA and CFTC require therr members to fulfill certain obligations,
mcluding the filing of quarterly and annual financial reports Failure to fulfill these obligations n a timely manner can result 1n disciplinary actton against the
firm Certain of our subsidianies also operate electromic brokerage platforms that are exempt from CFTC regulation erther as an exempt board of trade (GF!
ForexMatch® and Fenics®) or as an exempt commercial market (EnergyMatch ®)

The SEC, FINRA, CFTC and vanous other regulatory agencics within the United States have stringent rules and regulations with respect to the
maintenance of specific levels of net caprtal by regulated entities Generally, a broker-dealer’s capital 15 defined as 1ts net worth plus qualified subordinated
debt less deductions for certain types of assets The Net Capital Rule under the Exchange Act requires that at least a mimimum part of a broker-dealer’s assets
be maintained 1n a relatively hquid form

If these net capital rules are changed or expanded, or 1f there 15 an unusually large charge against our net capital, our operations that require the
intensive use of capital would be himited A large operating loss or charge aganst our net capital could adversely affect our ability to expand or even maintamn
these current levels of business, which could have a matertal adverse effect on our business and financial condition
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The SEC and FINRA impase rules that require notification when net capital falls below ceriamn predefined critenia These rules also dictate the ratio of
debt 1o equity 1n the regulatory capital composition of a broker-dealer, and constramn the ability of a broker-dealer to expand 1s business under certain
circumstances If a firm fails to maintain the required net capital, it may be subject to suspension or revocation of registration by the applicable regulatory
agency. and suspenstan or expulsion by these regulators could ultimately lead to the fim’s iqudaton Additionally, the Net Capital Rule and certain FINRA
rules impose requirements that may have the effect of prohibiting a broker-dealer from distnibuting or withdrawing capial and requiring prior notice to the
SEC and FINRA for certain capital withdrawals At December 31, 2012 GF1 Securiuies LLC was, and currently 15, in comphance with the net capital
rules and had net capital in excess of the minimum requiremnents

We maintain cleanng arrangements with selected financial institutions m order to setile our principal fransacions and mainiain deposits with such
mstitutions in support of those arrangements

Foretgn Regulanion and Certin Clearing Arrangements  Our overseas businesses are also subject to extensive regulation by vanous foreign
governments and regulatory bodies These foreign regulations, particularly 1n the U K, are broadly simular to that described above tor cur U § regulated
subsidianes

In the United Kingdom, the Financial Services Authonty (“FSA™) regulates GFI Secunities Linted and certan of our other subsidianes These U K
regulated subsidanies are also subject to the Furopean-wide Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (“*MiFID™) Each of our subsidiaries subject to MiFID
has taken the necessary steps in order to comply with these requirements

As with those U § subsidiaries subject to FINRA rules, the ability of our regulated U K subsidiaries to pay dividends or make capital
distnibutions may be imparred due to applicable capital requiremenis Qur regulated U K subsidiaries are subject to “conselidated” prudential regulation, in
addiiion to being subject to prudential regulation on a legal enuty basis Consolidated prudential regulation impacts the regulated entity and its parent holding
companies 1n the U K, including the regulated entity’s ability to pay dividends or distnbute capital ‘We are also subject to the European Union's Capatal
Requirements Directive (“CRD™) This directive requires us to have an  lnternal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ’ as set forth an the CRD. which puts
the responsibility on firms subject 1o the directive to ensure they have adequate capital after considering their nsks

Our regulated U K subsidiarics are also subject to regulations regarding changes in ¢control similar to those described above for GFI Secunties LLC
Under FSA rules, regulated entities must obtam prior approval for any transaction resulting in a change n control of a regulated entity Under apphicable FSA
rules, control 1s broadly defined as a 10% mterest 1n the regulated entity or its parent or otherwise exercising significant influence over the management of the
regulated entity As a result of these regulations, our future efforts to sell shares or raise additional capital may be delayed or prohibited by the FSA

GFI1 Securities Limuted 1s a member of Euroclear for the purpose of clearing certain debt and equity transactions This membership requires GFI
Securities Limited to deposit collateral or provide a letter of credit to Euroclear so that Euroclear will extend a clearing lime to GF1 Securtes Limuted

The Kyte Group Limited and Kyte Broking Limited maintain execuuon and clearing relanionships with Newedge Group, Bank of America Mernll
Lynch, Societe Generale, International and Commercial Bank of China, Deutsche Bank, BGC Brokers and Otkritie Secunities 1n order to provide their clients
with direct market access to a number of exchanges and mulniateral trading facilities (MTFs) These arrangements require the depostt of coilateral to facilitate
market access and clearing

GFI Secunties Limuited’s Dubhn branch was established through the exercise of 1ts passport nght to open a branch within a European Economic Area
state The establishment of the branch was approved by the FSA and acknowledged by the Insh Financial Services Regulatory Authonty ("IFSRA™) n
Iretand The branch 1s subject to all of the conduct of business rules of the IFSRA and 1s regulated, in part, by the FSA

In Panis a branch of GF1 Sccuntics Limited was established through the exercise of its passport nght 1o open a branch in a European Economic Arca
(“"EEA™) state The establishment of the branch was approved by the FSA and
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acknowledged by Banque de France in France The branch 1s subject to the conduct of business nales of the Autonte Des Marches Financiers ("AMF”) when
deating with ressdent customers of France and 1s regulated, in part, by the FSA

GFI Secunities Limited’s Tel Aviv branch 1s registered as a foreign corporation in Israel and 1s conditionally exempt from the requirement to hold a
Secunties License 1n accordance with the Israeli Secunties law The branch s therefore not subject to any capital requirements

GFI! Securittes Limited's Dubai branch 1s registered with the Dubai Financial International Centre and 1s authonzed by the Dubai Financral Services
Authonty { DFSA™) to provide financial service activiies The branch 1s subject to the conduct of business rules of the DFSA and has been granted a waiver
from prudenual regulation by the DFSA

In Hong Kong, the Secuninies and Futures Commussion (“SFC") regulates our subsidiary, GF1 (HK) Securities LLC, as a secunties broker The
comphance requirements of the SFC include, among other things, net capital requirements (known as the Financial Resources Rule) and stockholders” equity
requirements The SFC regulates the activities of the officers, directors, employees and other persons affiliated wnth GFI (HK) Secunties LLC and requires the
registration of such persons

GFI (HK) Brokers Ltd s registered with and regulated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authonity (“HKMA™) As part of this registration, GFI (HK)
Brokers Ltd 1s required 1o mawmntain a mummum level of stockholders’ equity

In Singapore GFI Group PTE Lid 13 subject to the compliance requirements of the Monetary Authonty of Singapore (“MAS™), which includes,
among other things, a stockhelders” equity requirement

In Sydney our brokerage operations are conducted through a branch of GF] Brokers Limited GFI Brokers Limited 15 registered as a foreign
corporation in Australia and 1s conditionally exempt from the requirement to hold an Austraban financial services license under the Australian Secunities and
Investments Commussion Corporatiens Act 2001 1n respect of the financial services it provides i Australia This exemption applies to foreign companies
regulated by the FSA n accordance with UK regulatory standards

In Korea, GFI Korea Money Brokerage Limuted 1s icensed and regulated by the Financial Supervisory Commission to engage in foreign exchange
brokerage business, and 1s subgect to certamn regulatory requirements under the Foreign Exchange Transaction Act and regulations thereunder As a hicensed
foreign exchange brokerage company, GFI Korea Money Brokerage Limited 1s required to mamtamn a munimum requirement of pard-in-capial

In Chile, GF1 Brokers {Chile) Agentes De Valores SpA 1s licensed and regulated by the Supenintendencia de Valores y Seguros de Chile As part of 1ts
licensing requirements, GFI Brokers (Chele} 1s subject to a minmmum capital requirement

In Colombia, GF1 Exchange Colombia 8 A and GFI Secunties Colombia S A are licensed and regulated by the Supenntendencia Financiera de
Colombia

At December 31, 2012, alt of our subsidiaries that arc subject to foreign net capital rules were, and currently are, in compliance with those mles and
have net capital 1n excess of the mimimum requirements We do not believe that we are currently subject to any foreign regulatory mquines that, 1f decided
adversely, would have any matenat adverse effect on us and our subsidraries taken as 4 whole As we expand our foreign businesses, we will also become
subject to regulanion by the governments and regulatory bodies tm other countries The compliance requirements of these different overseer bodies may nclude,
but are not limited to, net capital or stockholders’ equity requiretmnents

Working Capital

For informatton regarding working capial wems, see  Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
—Liquidity and Capita! Resources™ in Part 11, item 7 of this Form 10-K

Emplovees
As of December 31, 2012, we employed 2,062 employees Of these employees, 1,188 are brokerage personnel (consisting of 1,002 brokers and 186

tramees and clerks), 332 are technology and telecommunicatiens speciahists and 120 comprise our sales, marketing and support professionals Approximately
34% of our employees are based i the Americas,
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52% are based m EMEA and the remaining 14% are based in Asia-Pacific None of our employees are represented by a labor umon We consider our
relationships with our employees 1o be strong and have not expenenced any interruption of operations due to labor disagreements

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Business and Competitive Environments

Econonc, political and market factors beyond our control could reduce trading volumes, securities and comnodities prices and demand for our
brokerage and clearing services, which could harm our business and our profitatnity

Difficubt market conditions, economic conditions and geopolitical uncertainties have  the past adversely affected and may 1n the future adversely
affect our business and profitability Our business and the brokerage and financial services industry in general are directly affected by national and
international economic and political conditions, broad trends 1n business and finance, the level and volatlity of interest rates substantial fluctuations in the
volume and price levels of securihies, commodities and financial transactions and changes 1n and uncertainty regarding tax and other laws In each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2012, over 75% of our revenues were generated by our brokerage operations As a result, our revenues and profitability
are likely to deciine significantly during periods of low trading volume in the financial markets in which we offer our services The financial markets and the
global financial services business are, by their nature, risky and volatile and are directly affected by many national and mtemational factors that are beyond
our conirol Any one of the following factors, among others, may cause a substannal dechine 1n the Unsted States and global financial markets in which we
offer our services, resulting in reduced trading volumes These factors mclude

e« economic and peliical conditions 1n the United States, Europe and elsewhere 1n the world,

*  concerns over inflation and wavenng instiutional and consumer confidence levels,

e the availability of cash for investment by cur customers and their chents,

s concerns over the credit default or bankruptey of one or more sovereign nations or corporate entities,
s the level and volanlity of interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates,

»  the level and velaulity of trading 1n cenain equity and commodity markets,

s the level and volatlity of the difference between the yields on corporate securities being traded and those on related benchmark securities (which
difference we refer to as credit spreads), and

- concerns about terronsm and war,

Declines in the volume of trading in the markets in which we operate generally result in lower revenue from our brokerage and clearing businesses In
addition, aithough less common, some of our brokerage revenues are determined on the basis of the value of transactons or on credit spreads Therefore
declines 1n the value of instruments traded 1n certain market sectors or the tightening of credit spreads could result in lower revenue for our brokerage business
Qur profitability 1s adversely affected by a decline in revenue because a poruon of our costs are fixed For these reasons decreases 1n trading volume or
declining prices or credit spreads are hkely to have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations

Because competiion for the services of highly quaiified and skilled brokers is inteuse, we may not be able to attract and retain the brokers we need
to support our business or we may be required to tncur additional expenses to do so

We stnive to provide high-quality brokerage services that allow us to establish and maintain long-term relationships with our customers Qur abality
to continue to provide these services and mantain these relationships depends, 1n large part upon our brokers As a result, we must attract and retam highly
qualified brokerage personnel Competition for the services of brokers 1s intense, especially for brokers wath extensive expenence m the specialized markets in
which we participate or may seek to enter If we are unable to hire highly qualified brokers, we may not be able to enter new brokerage markets or develop
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new products If we lose one ot more of our brokers in a particular market 10 which we participate, our revenues may decrease and we may lose market share
in that particular market

We may not be successtul in our efforts to recrut and retain highly qualitied and skilled brokerage personnel 1f we fail to attract new personnel or to
retain and motivate our current personnel or 1f we incur increased costs associated with attractuing and retaiming personnel {such as sign-on or guarantged
bonuses to attract new personncl or retain existing personnel), our business, financial condinon and results of operations may suffer

In addmon, recruitment and retention of qualified staff could result in substantial addional costs We pursue our nghts through hugation when
competitors hire our employees who are under contract with us We are currently involved 1n legal proceedings with our competitors relating to the recruitment
of employees An adverse settlement or judgment related to these or similar types of claims could have a matenal adverse effect on our financial condition or
results of operations Regardless of the outcome of these claims, we generally meur significant expense and management ime dealing with these claims

We operate it a rapidly evolving business and technological environment and we must adapt our business and keep up with technological
mnovanon i order to compete effectively

The pace of change 1n our mdustry 15 extremely rapid Operating tn such a fast paced business environment involves a high degree ot nisk Our
ability to succeed and compete effechvely will depend on our ality to adapt effectively to these changing market conditions and to keep up with technologicat
innovation

To remain compelitive, we must continte (o enhance and improve the responsiveness, functionality, accessibility and other features of our hybnd
brokerage systems, network chstnbution systems and other technologies and functionahties The financial services industry 1s charactenzed by rapd
technological change, changes in use and client requirements and preferences, frequent product and service introductions employing new technologtes and the
emergence of new and complex regulatory requirements, industry standards and practices that could render our ex:sting practices, technology and systems
absolete In more hqind markets, development by our competitors of new electronic or hybnd trade execution, STP, affirmation, confitmation or clearing
functionahities or products that gain acceptance in the market could give those competitors a “first mover” advantage that may be difficult for us to overcome
Our success will depend, 1n part, on our abtlity to

+  develop, test and implement hybnd or efectronic brokerage systems that meet regulatory and customer requirements, are desired and adopted by
our customers and/or increase the productivity of our brokers,

. enhance our existing services,

*  develop or acquire new services and technologies that address the increasingly sophusticated and vaned needs of our existing and prospective
customers, and

*  respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards and practices on a cost-effecuve and umely basis

T'he development of proprietary brokerage systems and other technology to support our business entails sigmficant technological, financial and
business nisks Changes in existing laws and regulations, including those betng proposed and implemented under the Dodd-Frank Act, may require us to
develop and maintain new brokerage systems, services or functionalities in erder to meet the standards set forth in such regulations or as may be required by
regulators, such as the CFTC or SEC Further, the adoption of new Internet, networking or telecommunications technologies may require us to devote
substanttal resources to modhfy, adapt and defend our services We may not successfully implement new technologies or adapt our hybnd brokerage systems
and transaction-processing systems to meet our clients’ requirements or emerging regulatory or mdustry standards

We may not be able to respond in a timely manner to changmg market conditions or client requirements or successfully defend any challenges to any
technology we devetop If we are unable to anticipate and respond to the demand for new services, functionalities, products and technologies on a imely and
cost-etfective basis, and to adapt to technological advancements and changing standards, we may be unable to compete effectively, which could negatively
affect our business, financial condition or results of aperations
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We face substanual compennon that could negatively impact our market share and our profitalnlity

The finangial services industry generally, and the wholesale and inter-dealer brokerage businesses in which we are engaged in particular, 1s very
competitive, and we expect competition to continue to mntensify i the future Qur current and prospective competitors include

s other large inter-dealer brokerage firms,
s small brokerage firms that focus on specific products or regional markets,
s securites, futures and derivatives exchanges, swap execution faciliies and electronic communications networks,

e inceriam cquity and corporate fixed inceme markets, traditional ¢ash product broker-dealers, including large, mediam and smaller sized
financial service finns,

*  with regard to our Kyte business, futures commussions merchants and other firms providing settlement and cleanng services, and

s other providers of data and analytics products, including those that offer varying forms of eleciromc trading of the types of financial
nstruments 1 which we specialize

Some of our competitors offer a wider range of services, have broader name recognition, have greater financial, techmeal, marketing and other
resources than we have and have larger client bases than we do Some of them may be able to respond more quickly 10 new or evolving opportuniiies
technologies and chient reguirements than we can, and may be abie to undertake more extenstve marketing activities Our competitors oflen seek to hire our
brokers, which could result 1n a loss of brokers by us or in increased costs to retain our brokers in addibion to the competitors described above, our large
mstitutional clients may increase the amount of trading they do direcily with each other rather than through us, or they may decrease their trading of certain
OTC products m favor of exchange-traded products, such as futures contracts In either case, our revenues could be adversely affected If we are not able 10
compete successfully 1n the future, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected

We have experienced miense price competition 1n our brokerage business and cleanng services 1n recent years Some competitors may offer brokerage
or clearing services to chents at lower prices than we are offering, which may force us to reduce our pnces or to lose markel share and revenue In additon, we
focus pnmanliy on providing brokerage services in markets for Iess commeoditized financial instruments As the markets for these mstruments become more
commoditized, we could lose market share to other inter-dealer brokers, exchanges and electromce multi-dealer brokers whe specialize in providing brokerage
services n more commoditized markets

We increasingly compete with exchanges for the execution of trades i certain products 1f a financial instrument for which we provide brokerage
services becomes listed on an exchange or 1 an exchange introduces a competing product to the products we broker 1n the OTC market, the need for our
services in relation to that nstrument could be significantly reduced and our business, financial condition and resulis of operations could be adversely
affected

For example, during 2012, derivatives exchanges and other market participants began nugrating toward alternatives to swaps that are more wadely
used, such as futures contracts, and there was a general market move in the U S commodities markets towards futures contracts instead of OTC swaps

The nugration of OTC swaps to exchange-traded markets may impact volumes, liguidity and demand for our services in certain markets |
New regulation 1n the United States and abroad, including the Dodd-Frank Act, has resulted tn a convergence of the traditional OTC market and the !
exchange traded futures market, as certain OTC products are required 10 and become centrally cleared and traded via an exchange or SEF As the convergence

of the OTC and exchange traded markets continues, the resulting OTC or SEF market for these products may be less robust, there may be less volume and
liquicity in these markets and there may be tess demand for our services In those cases where an OTC swaps market migrates to an cxchange
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traded futures market such as what occurred during 2012 in many U § commodrties markets, our abihty to continue to provide brokerage services for the
resultant futures markets will be subject to the block-trade and other rules of the applicable exchanges If a significant number of the OTC swaps markets 1n
which we provide brokerage services transihon to an exchange traded futures market or 1f the block-trade and other rules of the applicable exchanges are too
restrictive, our business could be significantly reduced and our busimess, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected

Consoltdation and layoffs in the banking and financial services industries could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and
resulrs of operanons

In recent yeans, there has been substantial consolidatton and convergence among companies 1n the banking and financial services industries
Continued conselidation or significant layoffs mn the financial services mdustry could result in a decrease m the number of traders for whom we are able to
provide brokerage services, which may reduce our trading volumes [n addition, continued consohdation could lead to the exertion of additional pricing
pressure by our customers and our competitors, impacting the commussions we generate from our brokerage services Following the enactment of the Dodd-
Frank Act in the United States, many banks have reduced, spun off or are 1n the process of spinning off their propnetary trading operations due to the
mcreased regulations, costs and uncertainty mvolved with such operations 1t 1s not yet ctear what affect this will have on our transaction votumes, revenues
and business or whether we will be able to successfully compete for the business of any new entities created as a result of these spinofTs

Further, the recent consclidation among regulated exchanges, and expansion by these firms into derivanve and other non-equity trading markets, will
increase competition for customer trades and place additional pricing pressure on commussions and spreads These developments have increased compention
from firms with potentially greater access to capital resources than us Finally, consohdation among our competitors other than exchange firms could result 1n
increased resources and product or service offerings for our competitors 1f we are not able to compete successfully in the future, our business, financtal
condion and results of operations could be materally adversely affected

If we are unable to continue to dennfy and explont new market opportunities, our abity to maintain and grow our business may be adversely
affected

When a new intermediary enters our markets or the markets become more liqund, the resuling competition or mcreased hquidity may lead to lower
commuissions This may result 1n a decrease in revenue 1n a particular market even if the volume of trades we handle in that market has increased As a result,
we seek to broker more trades and mcrease market share 1 existing markets and to seek out new markets in which we can charge higher commussions
Pursuing this strategy requires sigmificant management attention and broker expense We may not be able to attract new clients or successfully enter new
markets If we are unable to continue to dennfy and exploit new market opportunities on a timely and cost-effective basis, our revenues may decline, which
would adversely affect our profitability

Financaal or other problems expenenced by our clients or third parties could affect the markets in which we provide brokerage services. In
addinion, any disruption in the key derivatives markets in which we provide services could affect our brokerage revenues

Problems expenenced by third parties could atso affect the markets 1in which we provide brokerage services In recent years, an increasing number of
financial instituttons have reported losses or significant exposures tied to write-downs of mortgage and asset backed securities, government securities,
structured credit products and other denvative instruments and 1nvestments As a result, there 13 an increased risk that one of our clients, counterparties,
third-party clearing firms or reference entities whose secunities we broker could fail, shut down, file for bankneptey or be unable to sansfy therr obhgations
under certam dervative contracts The farlure of a significant number of counterparties or a counterparty that holds a sigmificant amount of denvatives
exposure, or which has sigmificant financial exposure 1o, or reliance on, the mortgage, asset backed, sovereign debt or related markets, could have a matenal
adverse effect on the trading volume and hquidity m a particular market for which we provide brokerage services or on the broader financral markets The
occurrence of any of these events or failures by our customers, clearing finms or reference entities could adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operalions In addition, 1n recent years, a significant percentage of our business, directly or indirectly, results from trading activity by hedge funds Hedge
funds typically employ a significant amount of leverage to achieve their results and, 1n the past, certain hedge funds have had difficulty managing this
leverage, which has resulted in market-wide disruptions Dunng the economec turmot! of the last few years, many hedge funds have sigmficantly decreased
their leverage
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or have gone out ol business Ifthis deleveraging continues or one or more hedge funds that was a significant participant in a derrvaiives market expeniences
problems ini the future that derivatives market could be adversely affected and, accordingly, our brokerage revenues n that market will likely decrease

Qur brokerage, clearing and execution business exposes us to certain chent and counterparty credit resks.

We generally provide brokerage services to our clients 1n the form of exther agency or matched principal transactions In agency transactions, we
charge a commission for connecting buyers and sellers and assisting 1n the negotiation of the price and other matenal terms of the transaction After all of the
matenal terms of a transactton are agreed upon, we identify the buyer and seller to each other and leave them to settle the wade directly We are exposed to eredit
nisk for commussions we bill to chients for our agency brokerage services In executing maiched principal transactions we are exposed 10 the nsk that one of
the counterparties to a transactton may fail to fulfill its obligations, as described in further detail in the Risk Factor captioned “The secunties seitlement
process exposes us 1o nsks that may impact our hquidity and profitabiiity 1n addion hability for unmatched pnincipal trades could adversely affect our
results of operations and statement of financial condition * Qur chents may default on their obligations to us ansing from either agency or pnncipal
transactions due to disputes, bankruptey, lack of hquidity, operational failure or other reasons Any losses ansing from such defaults could have a matenal
adverse eftect on our financial condition or results of operabions

We also have credit and counterparty nisk in certain situations where we provide cleanng and execution services We provide agency clearing services
through our relationships with general cleaning member firms and/or exchanges In these instances, our accounts at such 1nstitutions are used, i our name, to
provide access to clearing services for our customers  Credit nisk anses from the possibiiny that we may suffer losses due to the farlure of our customers or
other counterparties to sausfy thesr financial obligatons to us or 1n a imely manner We may be matenally and adversely affected n the event of a sigmificant
defauli by our customers or counterparties Credit risks we face include, among others

»  cxposurc to a cusiomer's mability or unwallingness to meet obliganions, ncluding when adverse market movements result 1n a trading loss and
the customer’s posted margin 15 insufficient to satisfy the deficit Such margin deficiencies may be caused by a failure to monutor chient
positions and accurately evaluate nsk exposures, which may lead to our failure to require clients to post adequale imitial margin or o increase
varialion margin as necessary, to keep pace with market movements and subsequent account deficits

= exposure to counterparties with whom we place funds including those of our customers, such as when we post margin with exchanges and
clearing members,

*  exposure 10 counterparties with whom we trade and

e market risk exposure due to delayed or failed settlement, which, 1f not corrected, could become our responsibility as an agency cleanng broker
In addition, we have market nsk exposure on maiched and unmatched principal transacuons until offseting trades are executed and settled

Customers and counterparues thal owe us money or secunttes may default on their obligations to us due to bankruptcy, lack of hquidity, operational
failure or other reasons Qur reputation may be damaged 1f we arc associated with a customer or counterparty that defaults, even if we do net have any direct
losses frem such an event For further detail see the Risk Factor captioned * The secunities setilement process exposes us to nisks that may impact our hquidity
and profitability Tn addition, hability for unmatched pnneipal trades could adversely affect our results of operations and statement of financial condition’

We have adopted policies and procedures to identify, monutor and manage our credit r1sk, in both agency and principal transactions, through
reporting and control procedures and by momienng credit standards applicable to our chients These policies and procedures, however may nol be fully
effective Some of our nsk management methods depend upon the evaluation of information regarding markets clienis or other matters that are publicly
available or otherwise accessible by us That information may not, in all cases, be accurate, complete, up-to-date or properly evaluated If our policies and
procedures are not fully effective or we are not always successful in monitoning or evaluating the credit nsks to which we are, or may, be exposed our
financial condition or results of operations could be adversely affected In addibon our insurance pelicies are unhkely to provide coverage for these risks
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In addition, concerns about, or a default by, one mstitution could lead te sigmficant higuidity problems, losses or defaults by other institutions,
whitch i wrn could adversely affect us We may also be adversely affected 1f settlement, clearng or payment systems become unavailable, fail or are subject
to systemic delays for any reason outside our control

In certain instances, we may extend credit to our elearing customers for margin requirements, which subjects us to credit risks, and 1f we are
unable to liqurdate a customer’s position if the margin collateral becomes insufficient, we may sufffer a loss

In certain instances, we may provide credit for margin requirements to custorners, therefore, we are subject to nsks inherent in extending credit Our
credit risks include the nsk that the value of the collateral we hold could fall below the amount of a customer’s indebtedness This nisk can be amplified in
any situation where the market for the underlying instrument 15 rapidly dechning  Agreements with custotners that have margin accounts permit us to iquidate
their positions in the event that the amount of margin collateral becomes msufficient Despite those agreements and our nsk management policies with respect
to margin, we may be unable to liquidate the customers’ positions for varous reasons, or at a pnce sufficient to cover any deficiency n a customer’s account
If we were unable to hquidate a position at a pnice sufficient to cover any deficiency or if a customer was unable to post additional margin, we could suffer a
loss

Certain of eur cleartng customers may choose to obtain a direct relationship with a clearing member, an exchange or a clearinghouse as thewr
operations grow, in which case, we would lose the revenues generated by suckh customers

We market our cleanng services to our existing customers on the strength of our relationshup with certain cleaning members and exchanges and on our
ablity to perform related back-office functions at a lower cost than the customers could perform these functions themselves As our customers’ operations
grow, they may consider the option of obtaining a direct relanonship with a cleanng member, cleannghouse or exchange themselves i an effort 1o save costs If
our customers choose te obtain therr cleaning senvices directly trom a clearmg member or through other means, we would lose thetr revenue and our business
could be adversely affected
Risks Related to Qur Operations
We operate in a hughly regulated industry and we may face restrictions with respect to the way we conduct certain of our operations

Our business 15 subject to increasingly extensive governmental and other regulations and our relationships wath our clients may subject us to
increasing regulatory scrutiny These regulations are designed to protect public interests generally rather than our stockholders The SEC, FINRA, CFTC and
other agencies extensively regulate the United States financial services mdustry, including much of our operations in the United States Some ol our
intermational operations are subject to similar regulations in their respective junsdictions, including regulations overseen by the FSA 1n the United Kingdom,
the AMF n France, the SFC 1in Hong Kong, the MAS 1n Singapore, the Mimistry of Finance and Economy 1n Korea and the SVS in Chile These regulatory
bodies are responsible for safeguarding the integnty of the securities and other financial markets and protecting the mterests of investors in those markets
Mast aspects of our business are subject to extensive regulation, including

¢ the way we deal with chents,

s capital requrements,

- financ1al and reporting practices,

+  required recordkeeping and record retention procedures,

. the hicensing of employees,

e the conduct of dircctors, officers, employecs and affiliates,

*  systems and control requircments,
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¢ restrictons on markcting gifts and enteriamment, and

s client identification and anti-money laundering requirements

If we fail to comply with any of these laws, rules or regulations, we may be subject ta censure, {ines, cease-and-desist orders, suspensian of
business, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, mcluding revacation of our registrations with FINRA, withdrawal of our authorizations from the FSA
or revacation of our registrations with other simlar intemational agencies to whose regulation we are subject For example, several of GFI Secunities LLC s
equity and corporate bond brokerage desks have experienced 1ssues relating to reporiing trades to FINRA on a tumely basis, which 1s required by FINRA rules
This subsidiary has also pard fines for trade reporting 1n recent years and 1s currently being reviewed by FINRA for simular 1ssues relating to trade reporting
For more details on recent discaplmary proceedings, see “ltemn 3—Legal Proceedings ™

Our authonty to operate as a broker 1n a junisdiction 1s dependent on continued regisiration ot authonzation in that jurisdiction or the mainienance of
a proper exemption from such regisiration or authonization Our ability to comply with all applicable laws and rules 1s largely dependent on our comphiance,
crecht approval, audit and reporting systems and procedures as well as our ability to attract and retain qualified comphance, credit approval, audit and nisk
management personnel Our systems and procedures may not be sufficiently effective to prevent a violation of all applicable rules and regulations In addition.
the growth and expanston of our business may create addimonal strain on our comphiance systems and procedures and has resulted, and we expect will
continue to result, in mereased costs to maintain and imptove these systems

In addition, because our industry 1s heavily regulated, regulatory approval may be required 1n order to continve or expand our business actuvities and
we may not be able to obtain the necessary regulatory approvals Even if approvals are obtained, they may smpose restnctions on our business or we may not
be able to continue to comply with the terms of the approvals or applicable regulations The umplementation of unfavorable regulations or unfavorable
mierpretations of existing regulations by courts or regulatory bodies could require us to incur significant compliance costs or cause the development or
continuation of business activities 1n affected markets to become impractical For a further descniption of the regulations which may Limit our activities, see
“Item 1—Business—Regulation ™

Some of our subsidiaries are subject to regulations regarding changes in control of their ownership These regulations generally provide that
regulatory approval must be obtamned i connection with any transaction resultng in a change n control of the subsidiary, which may include changes m
control of GFI Group Inc As a sesult of these regulations, our futurc efforts to sell shares or raise additional capital may be delayed or prohibited i
circumstances in which such a transaction would give nise to a change n control as defined by the applicable regulatory body

Broad changes tn laws or regulations or tn the application of such laws and regulations may have an adverse effect on our ability to conduct our
business

The financial services industry, in general, 1s heavily regulated Proposals for legislation further regulating the financial services industry are
contmually being mtroduced in the Umited States Congress, 1n state legislatures and by foreign governments The government agencics that regulate us
contmuously review legislative and regulatory inibatives and may adopt new or revised laws and regulanons and have broad powers to investigate and enforce
compliance and punish noncomphance with their rules, regulations and industry standards of practice in kight of recent conditions n the global financial
markets and economy, regulators have increased their focus on the regulation of the financial services industry We are unable to predict which of these
proposals will be implemented or m what form, or whether any additional or stmilar changes to statutes or regulations, mcluding the interpretation or
implementation thereof, will occur in the future Any such action could affect us mn substantial and unpredictable ways and could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations

We arc also affected by the policies adopted by the Federal Reserve and internauonal central banking authoriues, which may directly :mpact our cost
of funds for capital raising and mvestment activitics and may impact the value of financial istruments we hold In addition, such changes in monctary
policy may affect the credit quality of our customers or increase the cost for our customers to trade the products for which we provide brokerage scrvices
Changes in domestic and international monetary policy are beyond our control and are difficult (o predict
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Additionally, governments and regulators in both the Umited States and Europe have called for increased regulation and transparency i the OTC
markets As a result, the Dodd-Frank Act was passed in the United States i July 2010 and regulators 1n Europe are working to enact smular legislation Fora
detailed description of the Dodd-Frank Act, see the Risk Factor captioned “Failure to qualhify as a SEF could sigmficantly impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations Even 1f we quahfy as a SEF, we will ncur sigmficant addinonal costs, our revenues may be lower than i the past and
our finaneial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected ™

In September 2010, the European Commussion released a draft propesal referred to as the European Market Infrastructure Regulation (“EMIR™)
requiring that information on OTC denvative contracts should be reported to trade repesitones and be accessible to supervisory authorities, that some
transaction and price related information should be made available to all market parncipants and that standard OTC denvative contracts be cleared through
central counterparties (“*CCPs”) The proposed rules were 1ssued i September of 2012 and, despite delays, ate expected to be operational durmg 2013

It1s difficult to predict the effect these new laws and regulatiens will have on our business, but they may have an adverse effect on our operations or
our ability to maintain our posttion as a provider of executton and brokerage services for many of the OTC products for which we have traditionally acted as
an itermediary

Fatlure to qualtfy as a SEF could significantly unpact our business, financial condition and results of operanions Even if we qualify as a SEF, we
will incur sigmificant addintonal costs, our revenues may be lower than in the past and our financial condition and results of operations may be
adversely affected.

The Dodd-Frank Act created a new type of regulated entity known as a SEF and mandated that certam cleared swaps (subject to an cxemption from
the clearing requirement} trade on erther an cxchange or SEF The hist of swaps that will be required to be cleared and therefore excented through a SEF 15
expected 1o encompass a vast number of swaps that have been traditionally executed OTC by wholesale brokers such as ourselves Certain poruons of the
Dodd-Frank Act were effective immediately, while other pottions will be effective only following rulemaking by the CFTC and SEC and an extended transition
period  Subject to such rulemaking, we currently expect to establish and operate a SEF and a secunity-based SEF

The CFTC and SEC have each 1ssued proposed rules, some of which are now final, relating to the requirements for registening and operating as a
SEF We are in the process of preparing for complance with these rules However, certan of these rules are not yet final and are still subjeet to revision and
therefare, the impact of the rules 1s not able to be predicted The rules relating to SEFs would require, among other things, that an enuty would have to comply
with certain core primciples to maintam registration as a SEF These principles generally relate to trading and product requirements, comphance and audit-trail
obliganions, govemance and disciplimary requirements, operational capabilitics, surveillance obhgations and financral information and resoutree tequitements
In addition, SEFs wall be required to maintain certain trading systems that meet the minimun functionality requirements set by the CFTC and SEC for
trading in certain OTC denvatives that are required to be cleared

While there continues to be uncertanty about the exact impact of these changes, we do know that the Company will be subject to a more complex
regulatory frameweork, and that there will be significant costs to prepare for and to comply with these ongoimg regulatory requirements We will incur increased
legal fees personne! expenses and other costs as we work to analyze and implement the necessary legal structure for registration There will also be sigmificant
costs related to the development, operation and enhancement of our technology relating to trade execution, trade reporting, surveillance, comphance and back-
up and disaster recovery plans designed to meet the requirements of the regulators

In addition, 1t 1s not clear at this pomt what the impact of these rules and regulations will be on the markets v which we currently provide our
services Following the implementation of the Dodd-Frank Act and related rules, the markets for cleared and non-cleared swaps may be less robust, there may
be less volume and liquidity 1n these markets and there may be less demand for our services There may also be a preference of market participants to trade
certan swaps on an cxchange, rather than a SEF, or to trade standardized denivatives, such as futures, in lieu of swaps  For example, during 2012, there was
a general migration in the U 8 commodinmes markets towards the use of futures contracts instead of OTC swaps contracts

Certain banks and other msututions will be limited m their conduct of propnetary trading and wall be further limted or prohibited from trading 1n
certain derivatives The new rules, including the restrictions on the tradmg activities for certain
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banks and large institutions could matenally impact transaction volumes and liquidity in these markets and our revenues, financial condiion and business
would be adversely impacted as a result

If we fail to qualify as a SEF under any of these proposed rules, we will be unable to maintain our position as a provider of execution and brokerage
services n the markets for many of the OTC products for which we have traditionally acted as an intermediary  This would have a broad impact on our
business and couid have a materal adverse cffect on our financial condition and results of operations

QOur regulated subsidiaries are subject to risks associated with net capital requirements, and we may not be able to engage in operations that
requure significant capital.

Many aspects of our business are subyect to sigmficant capital requirements The SEC, FINRA, FSA and vanous other domestic and international
regulatory agencies have stringent rules and regulations with respect to the maintenance of specific levels of net capital by broker-dealers [n addinon there will
be capital requirements for SEFs which will be regulated by the CFTC and the SEC

Generally, a broker-dealer’s net capital 1s defined as 1ts net worth plus qualified subordmated debt less deductions for certain types of assets While
we expect Lo continue to mamtain levels of capital in excess of regulatory mimimums, there can be no assurance that this will be the case in the future If we fail
to mawntain the required capital tevels, we will be required to suspend our broker-dealer operations during any period in which we are not 1n compliance with
capital requirements, and may be subject to suspension or revocation of registration by the SEC and FINRA or withdrawal of authonzation or other
disciplinary action from domestic and internauional regulators, which would have a matenal adverse effect on our business If these net capual rules are
changed or expanded, or 1if there 1s an unusually large charge against nct capital, operattons that require the intensive use of capital would be hmited Also, our
atnlity to withdraw capital from cur regulated subsidianes 1s subject 1o restrictions, which m tum could it our ability to pay dividends, repay debt or
purchase shares of our common stock A large operating loss or charge agamst net caputal could adversely affect our ability to expand or even maintam our
present levels of business, which could have a matenal adverse effect on our business In addition, we may become subject 1o net capital requirements n other
foreign junsdictions in which we currently operate or which we may enter

In addition we arc required to maintain capital with our clearing firms, prime brokers and tuturcs commission merchants and at clcanng
organizations of which we are a member The amount of capial to be mantained 1s dependent on a number of factors, including the rules established by the
clearing organization, the types of producis to be cleared and the volume and si1ze of positions 1o be cleared If we fail to maintain the capital required by these
clearing organizations and firms, our ability to clear through these cleanng organizations and firms may be impaired, which may adverscly affect cur abibty
to process trades

We cannot predict our future capital needs or our ability to obtan additional financing For a further discussion of our net capital requirements, see
“Item 1—Busimess—Regulation™ and Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our risk management policres nuight not be effective, which could harm our business

To manage the sigmificant nisks inherent in our business, we must maintain effective poiicies procedures and systems that enable us (o 1denufy,
momtor and control our exposure 10 financial, market, credit, legal, reputational and operational nsks For a descrnipuen of our risk management approach
see “llem 7A Quantitative and Quahtative Disclosure About Market Risk ™ This nisk management function requres, among other things, that we properly
record and venify many thousands of transactions and events each day, and that we continuously monitor and evaluaie the size and nature of our or our
clients posittons and the associated nisks In light of the high velume of transactions, 1t 15 impossible for us to review and assess every single transaction or o
mortiter at every moment 1 time our or our customers’ positions and the asseciated nisks

We must rely upon our analysis of information regarding markets, personnel, clients or other matters that 1s publicly available or otherwise
accessible to us That information may not in all cases be accurate, complete, up-to-date or properly analyzed Furthermore, we rely on a combination of
technical and human controls and supervision that are subject to error and potential failure, the challenges of which are exacerbated by the 24-hour-a-day,
global nature of our business
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Our risk-management methods are based on internally developed controls, observed histerical market behavior and what we believe to be industry
practices However, our methods may not adequately prevent future losses, particularly as they may relate to extreme market movements or events for which
hittle or no histoncal precedent exists or our risk management efforts may be insufficient Thus, our nisk-management methods may prove to be meffective
because of their design, their implementation or the lack of adequate, accurate or umely information Our risk management methods may also fail to identify a
risk or understand a nsk that might result 1n losses If our nsk-management policies and efforts are ineffective, we could suffer losses that could have a
matenal adverse effect on cur financial condition or operating results Additionally, we could be subject to hitigation, particularly from our chients, and
sanctions or {ines irom regulators

The securinies seftlement process exposes us to risks that may impact our liguidity and profitability In addwon, liability for unmatched principal
trades could adversely affect our results of operations and statement of financial conditon

Through our subsidianes, we provide brokerage services by executing transactions for our clients A sigmficant number of these transactions are
“matched principal transactions” in which we act as a ‘middleman” by serving as a counterparty to both a buyer and a seller 1n matching reciprocal back-to-
back trades These transactions, which generally involve cash equities and bonds, are then settled through clearing instituttons with which we have a
contractual relationship

In executing matched pnincipal transactions, we are exposed to the risk that one of the counterparties to a transaction may fail to fulfill 1ts obligations,
either because 1t 1s not matched immedrately or, even 1f matched, one party fails to deliver the cash or securities 1t 1s obligated to deliver Our focus on less
commoditized markets exacerbates this nsk for us because transactions in these markets tend to be more hikely not to settle on a imely basis Adverse
moyements in the prices of secunties that are the subject of these transactions can increase our nsk In addition, widespread technological or communication
tailures, as well as actual or percerved credit difficulties or the insolvency of one or more large or visible market participants, could cause market-wide credrt
difficulties or other market disruptions  These failures, difficulties or disruptions could result in 2 large number of market participants not setthing
transactions or otherwise not performing their obligations

We are subject to financing risk 1n these circumstances because 1f a transaction does not settle on a tmely basis, the resulung unmartched position
may need 1o be financed either directly by us or through ene of our cleaning orgamizations at our expense These charges may be recoverable from the failing
counterparty, but sometimes arc not Finally, in mstances where the unmatched position or failure to deliver 1s protonged or widespread due to rapid or
widespread declines in hqudity for an instrument, there may also be regulatory capital charges required to be taken by us, which depending on ther size and
duration, could limit our bustness flexibility or even force the curtailment of those portions of our business requinng higher levels of capital

In the process of executing matched principal transactions, miscommumcations and other errors by our clients or us can anse whereby a transaction
15 not completed with one or more counterparties to the transaction, leaving us with esther a long or short unmatched position These unmatched positions are
referred to as ‘out trades,” and they create a potential Liabihty for our subsidiary wnvolved in the trade [f an out trade 15 promptly discovered and there 1s a
prompt disposition of the unmatched position, the nsk to us 15 usually limited If the discovery of an out trade 1s delayed, the risk 1s heightened by the
increased possibihity of intervening market movements prior to disposition Although oult trades usuzlly become known at the time of, or later an the day of,
the trade, 1t 15 possible that they may not be discovered uniil later in the settlement process When out trades are discovered, our policy 1s generally to have the
unmaiched position disposed of promptly {(usvally on the same day and generally within three days), whether or not thss disposition weuld result n a loss to
us |he occurrence of out trades generally nises with increases in the volatility of the market and, depending on their number and amount, such out trades
have the potential 1o have a malenal adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations In additton, the use of our electronic brokerage
platforms for products that we broker on a matched principal basis, such as CreditMatch ®, can present these nisks because of the potential for erroneous
entries by our clients or brokers coupled with the potential that such errors will not be discovered promptly
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We are exposed to market risk from principal transactions entered into by some of our desks.

We generally execute orders on a maiched principal basis by entering into one side of a customer trade and entering into an offsctting trade wath
another pany relatively quickly (often within minutes and generaily on the same tracing day) However, we may take unmatched posinions for our own
account primartly to facilitate the execuuon of existing customer orders or i anticipation that future customer orders will become available to fill the other side
of the transaction While we seek to minimize our exposure to market nisk by entenng into offsetung trades or a hedging transaction relatively quickly (often
within mmutes and generally on the same trading day), we may not always enfer mto an offsetting trade on the same trading day and any hedging transaction
we may enter into may not fully offset our exposure Therefore, although any unmatched positions are intended to be held short term we may not entirely
offset market r1sk and may be exposed to market risk for several days or more o to a partial extent or both Our exposure varies based on the size of the
overall positons the terms and liquidity of the instruments brokered, and the amount of tune the postitions are held before we dispose of the position

Although the sigmficant majonity of our principal trading 15 done on a “matched principal” basis, we have authonzed a hmited number of our desks
to enter mto pnncipal investing transactions 1n which we commit our capital within predefined himuts, either to facilitate customer trading activities or to engage
in principal trading for our own account These principal positions may ulumately be matched agamst a customer order or through a market intermediary,
either m the short term (such as the same trading day) or we may hold these posiuons for several days or more The number and size of these transactions may
affect our results of operations in a given period and we may also incur losses from these tradmg activities due to market fluctuations and volatility from !
quarter to quarter To the extent that we have long positions 1n any of those markets, a downturn 1n the value of those posiions could result in losses from a
decline in the value of those long positions Conversely, to the extent that we have sold assets we do not own (1 e, have short positions) m any of those
markets, an uptum in those markets could expose us to significant losscs as we attempt to caver our shorl positions by acquiring assets in a rising matket In
addition, in the cvent that enc of our desks enters into principal transactions that exceed their avthorized limit and we are unable to disposc of the position
promptly, we could suffer losses that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or operating results

Due to the factors described above, including the nature of the position and access to the market on which i trades, we may not be able to match a
position or effectively hedge our exposure and often may hold a position overnight or longer that has not been hedged To the extent these principal positions arc
not disposed of intra-day, we mark these posihions to market Adverse movements in the securities underlymng these positions or a downtum or disruption in
the markets for these positions could result in a substannal loss In addinon, any prineipal gains and losses resulting from these positions could on occasion
have a disproportionate positive or negative effect, on our financial condition and results of operations for any particular reporting period

We have equity investments or profit shartng interests in enfities whose primary business is proprietary trading These investments could expose
us to losses that would adversely affect our net income and the value of our assets

We have equity investments or profit sharing interests in entities whose pnmary business 1s proprietary trading  The accounting treatment applied for
these mvestments vanies depending on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, our percentage ownership or profit share and whether we have any
mfluence or control over the relevant entity Under certam accounning standards any losses expericriced by these entiies on their investment actvitics would
adversely impact our net mcome and the value of these assets In addition, 1f these entities were to fail and cease operations, we could lose the entire value of
our investment and the stream of any shared profits from trading

Our imvestments in expanding our brokerage and clearing services, hybrid brokerage systems and market data and software businesses may not
produce substantial revenue or profit

We have made, and expect to continue to make, signficant mnvestments in our brokerage, clearing, market data and software services, including
mvestments in personnel, technology and infrastructure, in order to pursue new growth opportumitics With respect to our brokerage services and hybnd
brokerage systems, we may nel receive significant revenue and profit from the development of a new brokerage desk or hybnd brokerage system or the
revenue we do receive may not be sufficient to cover the start-up costs of the new desk or the substanual development expenses associated with creating a new
hybrid brokerage system Even when our personnel lures and systems are ultimately suceessful, there s typically a transition petiod before these hires or
systems become profitable or increase productivity In some instances, our clients may

37
Cowep (R agt M k1T 703 Fa re1t, 0 -r 4 7 .
Tha information contamed herein ma; lnalbecopcod adapted or disiributed and rs ot warranted 1o be accurate complete of mely The uger assuimes aff nsks for ary AIMIGEs or losses 2rigng from ~my ren ol fus
tnformation except [o the extent such damages or losses cannat be Iimred or exciuded by spplicadin law Pest nancal performance 18 No guatsndee of future



Table of Contents

deterrmine that they do not need or prefer a hybrid brokerage system and the penod before the system 1s successfully developed, introduced and adopted may
extend over many months or years The successful introduction of hybnd brokerage systems i one market or country does not ensure that the same system
will be used or favored by clients in similar markets or other countries Qur continued expansion of brokerage personnel and systems to support new growth
oppoertumties results 1n ongoing transition periods that could adversely affect the levels of our compensahion and expense as a percentage of brokerage revenue

With respect to our investment in clearing, scttlement and back-office services, we may not produce significant revenues or profits In additon, any
revenues we do recerve may not be sufficient to cover our invested capital or start-up costs With respect o these services, we may ncur sigmficant costs
developing and maintamning systems for back-office, nsk management and exchange and clearing connections with relevant exchanges and clearing firms In
additron, this busmess may involve significant management effort to expand If we are unable to generate sufficient revenue to cover the fixed costs associated
with this bustness, our financial condition or results ot operations could be adversely affected

With respect to our market data and software businesses, which includes our Trayport and Fenics operations, we may incur substantial
development, sales and marketing expenses and expend significant management effort to create a new product or service Even afler incurning these costs, we
ultimately may not setl any or sell only smail amounts of these products or services Consequently, if revenue does not increase 1n a umely fashion as a result
of these expansion and development inihiatives, the up-front costs associated with them may exceed the related revenue and reduce our working capital and
income

If we are unable 10 manage the risks of internanonal operanons effecuvely, our business could be adversely affected

We provide services and products to clients globally through offices in Europe, the Middle East, Africa, South Amernica and Asia and we may seek
to further expand our operations 1n the future On a geographic basis, approximately 61% and $9% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively, were generated by our operations 1in Europe, the Middle East and Afnca (EMEAY}, 30% and 31%, respectively, were generated by
our operations 1 the Americas, which include operations in South Amenica, and 9% and 10%, respectively, were generated by our operations in the Asia-
Pacific region There are certain additional risks inherent in doing business in mtemanonal markets, particularly 1n the regulated brokerage industry These
risks inelude

e additional regulatory requirements,

s difficulties in recrutting and retaiming personnel and managing the nternational operations,
s  potenbally adverse tax consequences, tanfis and other trade barners,

. adverse labor laws, and

s reduced protection for intellectual property nghts

Our international operations also expose us to the nisk of fluctuations in currency exchange rates For example, a substantial portion of our revenue
from our London office, our largest internatienal office, 1s received in Euros and U § Doltars, whereas many of our expenses from our London operations are
payable in British Pounds Our nisk management strategies relating to exchange rates may not prevent us from suffering losses that would adversely affect our
financial condition ar results of operations

Our mterndational operations are also subject to the political legal and economc nisks associated with politically unstable and less developed regions
of the world including the nsk of war and other international conflicts and actions by governmental authorities, msurgent groups, terronsts and others In
addition, we are required to comply with the laws and regulavons of foregn governmental and regulatory authortties ot each country 1n which we conduct
business These may include laws rules and regulations, including registration requirements  For example, in Europe, the European Commussion published a
tormal proposal for the regulation of OTC denvatives, central clearing parties and trade repostortes in September 2010, which 1s referred to as the European
Market Infrastructure Regulation ( EMIR™) The proposed rules were 1ssued i September ot 2012 and are expected to be operational duning 2013 Cur
compliance with these laws and regulations may be
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difficuli and time consuming and may require sigmficant expenditures and personnel requirements, and our failure to be in compliance would subject us to
legal and regulatory habihities

We may also expenence difficulty 1n managing our intermnational eperanions because of, among other things compeutive conditions overseas,
estahlished domestic markets, language and cultural differences and economic or political nstability  For example, global markets and economic conditions
have been negatvely impacted by the ability of certain E U member states (o service their sovereign debt obhgauons The conunued uncertammty over the
outcome of the E U governments’ financial support programs and the possibality that other E U member states may expenence suular financial troubles
could further disrupt global markets In particular, it has and could in the future disrupt equity markets and result in volatile bond yields on the sovercign
debt of E U members  This has also had an unpact on the credsiworthiness of customers and counicrparties and has and may continuc to limit the number of
customers we are willing to do business with 1n this region  Any of these factors could have a matenal adverse effect on the success of our international
operations or kimit our ability 1o grow our international operations and, consequently on our business financial condition and operating results

We may be exposed to risk from our operations i energing market countries, including counterparty risks exposiere

Our businesses and operations are increasingly expanding into new regions, including emerging markets and we expect this trend to continue. We
have entered into an mereasing number of matched principal transactions with counterparties dormiciled 1n countries i the Mrddle East Latin Amenca
Eastern Europe and Asia Transactions with these counterparties are generally m instruments or contracts of sovereign or corporate 1ssuers located m the same
country or region as the counterparty This exposes us to a higher degree of sovereign or convertibiiity risk than m more stable or developed countries In
addition these nisks may be correlated nsks A correlated nisk arises when the counterparty’s inability to meet 1ts oblhigations will also correspond to a decline
1h the value of the insirument traded In the case of a sovereign convertbility event or outnght default, the counterparty to the trade may be unable to pay or
transfer payment of an instrument purchased out of the country when the value of the strument has dechined due to the default or convertibility event
Various emerging market countries have expenenced severe economic and financial disruptions, ancluding signuficant devaluations of their currencies, defaulis
or threatened defaults on sovereign debt, capital and currency exchange controls, and low or negative growth rates in thewr economies These conditions could
have an adverse impact on our businesses and increased volatility 1n financial markets generally Through our risk management procedures, we monitor the
creditworthiness of emerging countries and counterparties on an ongoing basis and when the risk of inconvertibility or sovereign default 1s deemed to be oo
great correlated transactions or ail transactions may be restricted or suspended However there can be no assurance that our procedures wall be effective in
controlling these risks, which, 1f not successfully controlled, could resuit an a loss that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
operatng results

We may have difficulty managing our expanding operanons ¢ffectively

We have significanily expanded our business activities and operations over the last several years, which have placed, and are expected to continue to
place, a stgnificant stramn on our management and resources Continued expansion into new markets and regions will require continued investment 11
management and other personniel facilities, information technology nfrastructure financial and management systems and controls and regulatory comphance
controls The expansion of our iniernational operanons, particularly our Asta-Pacific and South Amencan aperations, mvolves additional challenges that we
may not be able to meet, such as the difficulty in effectively managing and staffing these operanons and complying with the increased regulatory requirements
assoclated with operating in new jurisdictions

We may not be successful in implementing all of the processes that are necessary Lo support these imtiatives which could result in our expenses
increastng faster than our revenues, causing our operating margins and profitability to be adversely affected, or 1t could result in us having insufficient
controls 10 our operations for a period of time  Accordingly, this expansion, 1f not properly managed, couid result in a loss that could have a matenal adverse
effect on our financial condition and operating results

In the event of employee musconduct or error, our business may be harmed.

Employee misconduct or error could subject us to legal Liability, financial losses and regulatory sanctions and could seriously hann cur repuiatton
and negatively affect our business Misconduct by employees coutd mclude engaging n improper or unauthorized transactions or achivitics, failing to properly
supervise other employees or improperly using confidential information Employee errors, including mustakes 1n executing, recotding or processing
transactions for

39
Snurce GFl Group It 10 K March 13 2013 Poneedbet 2 r1 0 T '
Tha infermation contained heroin ol be copeed. 2020180 o Aalributed and is nol d to be fotw of timely The user s2sumes all risks for sny damages or foxgrs prizing frem oy e=o et s
miormatron, excepd 1o the extent such damages or losses connol be mmied or by i Pgst P 23 00 g of hture sty




Table of Contents

customers, could canse us to enter mto transactions that chents may disavow and refuse 1o setile, which could expose us to the risk of matenal losses even if
the error are detected and the transactions are unwound or reversed If our clients are not able 1o settle their transactions on a timely basis, the ume m which
employee crrors are detceted may be increased and our nisk of material loss could be mncreased The nsk of emplayee error or miscommunication may be
greater for products thal are new or have non-standardized terms It 15 not always possible to deter employee misconduct or error, and the precautions we take
to detect and prevent this activity may not be eftective 1n all cases

Brokerage services mmvolve substantwal risks af habiity, and we therefore may become subject to risks of litigation

Many aspects of our business, and the businesses of our chients, nvelve substantial nsks of liability Dissatisfied clients may make ¢laims
regarding quality of trade execution, improperly scttled mrades or mismanagement against us We may become subject to these claims as the result of failures ot
malfunctions of our trading systems or other brokerage services provided by us, and third parties may seek recourse agamst us We attempt to hmit our
hability to our custemers through the use of wnitten or *chck-through” agreements, but we do not have such agreements with many of our clients We could
incur signeficant legal expenses defending claims, even those without ment An adverse resolution of any lawsuit or claim against us could result m our
obligation to pay substantial damages

If we acquire other companies or businesses, or If we htire new brokerage personnel, we may have difficulty integrating their operations
T'o achieve our strategic objectives, we have acquired or tnvested 1n, and in the future may seek to acquire or invest in, other comparies and

businesses We also may seek to hire brokers for new or existing brokerage desks These acquisinons or new hires may be necessary 1n order for us to enter
into or develop new product areas or trading systems Acquisittons and new hres entail numerous nsks, mcluding

e difficulties 1 the assimulation of acquired personnel, operations, services or products,

+  diversion of management’s astention from other business concerns,

+  assumption of, or exposure fo, known and unknown matenal habiliies of acquired companies or businesses, strategic alliances, coflaborattons

or joint ventures,
¢ Igaton andfor arbitration related 1o the hirmng of brokerage personnel,

*  the decrease in our cash reserves, the increased cost of borrowing funds or the dilution resulting from 1ssuances of our equity secunittes 1n each
case as consideration to finance the purchase price of any significant acquisitions,

s tothe extent that we pursuc business opportunitics outstde the Umited States, cxposure to political, ccononuc, legal, regulatory, operational and
other risks that are inherent in operating 1n a foreign country, including risks of possible natonalization, exprepnation, price controls, capial
controls, exchange contrels and other restrictive governmental actions, as well as the outbreak of hostilities

s the up-front costs associated with recrutting brokerage personnel, sncluding when establishing a new brokerage desk, such as sigmficant
sigming bonuses or contractual guarantees of a minimum level of compensation,

s falure o achieve financial or operating objectives and
*  polential loss of chents or key employees of acquired companies and businesses
In additton, we expect to face competition for acqusition targets and/or yoint venture partners which may limit the number of acquisitons and

growth epportunities and could lead to higher acquisition prices We may not be able to successfully idenufy, acquire or manage profitably additional
businesses or integrate businesses without substantial costs, delays or other operational or financial difficuluies
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1f we faul 1o manage these nsks as we make acquisiions or make new hires, our profitability may be adversely affected, and we may never realize
the anucipated benefits of the acquisitions or hires In addition, entening mto new businesses may require prior approval from regulators Our ability to obtain
nmely approval from applicable regulators may hinder our ability to successfully enter new businesses

Seasonal fluctuations n trading may cause our quarterly operating results to fluctuate

In the past, our business has experienced seasenal fluctuations, reflecting reduced trading activity during summer months, particularly 1in August
We also generally experience reduced activity in December due to seasonal hohdays As a result, our quarterly operating results may not be mdicative of the
results we expect for the full year Our operating results may also fluctuate quarter to quarter due to a vanety of factors beyond our control such as conditions
in the global financial markets, terrorism, war and other economic and poiitical events Furthermore, we may expenence reduced revenues 1n a quarter duc to a
decrease 1 the number of business days in that quarter compared to pnor years

Computer systems fatlures, capacity constrawnts, breaches of security and natural or other disasters could prevent us from operating parts of our
business or otherwise damage our reputation or business

We internally support and maintain many of our computer systems, brokerage platforms and networks OQut failure to monitor, maintamn or 1f
necessary, replace these systems, brokerage platforms and networks in a umely and cost-effective manner could have a matenal adverse effect on cur abiluy to
conduct our operations

We also rely and expect to continue to rely on third parties to supply and maintain vanous computer systems, trading platforms and

communications systems, such as telephone companies, internet service providers, data processors, cleanng organizations, software and hardware vendors
and back-up services Qur systems, or those of our thurd party providers, may fail or operate slowly, causing one or more of the following

. unanticipated disruptions in service to our chients,

s slower response times,

*  delays in our clients’ trade execution,

s failed setilement of trades,

*  decreased chent satisfacthon with our services or brokerage platforms,

e incomplete, untimely or inaccurate accounting, rccording, reporting or processing of trades,

e financial losses,

s lngation or other client claims and

e regulatory sanctions

We may expencnce systems or office failures from power or tclccommumications outages, acts of God, war, terrorism, human crror, naturai
disasters, fire, sabotage, hardware or software malfunctions or defects, computer viruses, tntentional acts of vandalism or simular events Additionally, our
business continuity or disaster recovery plans and related systems may not be effective to deal with such events and the failure of such plans or systems may
have a matenal adverse effect on our business Any system faslure that causes an nterruption in service or decreases the responsiveness of our service,
including failures caused by client error or nususe of our systems, could damage our reputauion, business and brand name In addrtion, 1f security measures
contamed in our systems are breached as a result of third-party actions, employee error, malfeasance, er otherwise, our reputation may be damaged and our

business coutd suffer

If systems mawmtained by us or third parties malfunction, our chents or other third parties may seek recourse agamnst us We could incur significant
legal expenses defending these claims, even those which we may beheve to be without ment
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An adverse resolution of any lawsmts or claims against us could result in our obhigation to pay substantial damages and could have a matenal adverse effect
on our financial condttion or results of operations

If one or more of our offices were destroyed, damaged or unusable for a period of time we may suffer a loss of revenue, experience business
mnterruption in that region or ineur expenses 1o relocate or repair the affected office to the extent not covered by insurance If any of these were to occur, 1t could
have a matenal adverse effect on our financial condetion or results of operations

We may not be able to protect our mtellectual property nghts or may be prevented from using imtellectual property necessary for our business

Our business depends 1n part on whether we are able to mamtam the propnetary aspects of our technology and to operate without nfringing on the
proprietary rights of others We rely pnmarily on trade secret, contract, copyright, trademark and patent law to protect our proprietary technology However,
these protections may not be adequate to prevent third parties from copymg or otherwise obtaining and using our propretary technology without authorization
or otherwise infringing on our rights

We may also face claims ot infringement that could interfere with our ability to use technology that 1s material to our business operations We may
face inntations or restrictions on the distmbution of some of the market data generated by our brokerage desks, which may limit the comprehensiveness and
quality of the data we are able to distnbute or sell

In addition in the past several years, there has been proliferation of so-called “business method patents’™ applicable to the computer and financial
services industries [ here has also been a substantial increase in the number of such patent applications filed Under current taw, Umited States patent
applications remain secret for 18 months and may, depending upon where else such applications are filed, remain secret unti! a patent 1s 1ssued In hght of
these factors, 1t 15 not economically practicable to determine 1n advance whether our products or services may infringe the present or future patent rights of
others [n addition, although we take steps to protect our technology, we may not be able to protect our technology from disclosure or from other developing
technologtes that are similar or supenor to our technology Any failure to protect our mntellectual property nghts could matenally and adverscly affect our
business and financial condition

If we are unable to adequately protect our intellectual property rights or if we infringe on the rights of others, we could become tnvolved tn costly
disputes and may be required to pay ropalties or enter into license agreements with third parties,

In the future, we may have to rely on hitigation te enforce our mtellectual property nghts, protect our trade secrets, determine the vahidity and scope of
the propnietary rights of others or defend against clarms of infringement or mvahdity This lstigation could result from clarms that we are violating the rights of
others or may be necessary to enforce our own nghts Any such litigation would be time consuming and expensive to defend or resolve and would result in the
dhversion of the resources and attentron of management, and the outcome of any such gation cannot be accurately predicted Any adverse determmnation in
such litigation could subjeet us to significant liabilittes or requare us to pay royalties or enter into license agreements with third partics, which we may not be
able to obtair on terms acceptable to us or at all

We depend on third-party software icenses The loss of any of our key heenses could adversely affect our ability to provide our brokerage services

We license soflware from third parties, some of which 1s integral to our execution services, hybrid brokerage systerns and our business These
licenses are generally terminable if we breach our obligations under the licenses or 1f the licensor gives us notice 1n advance of the termination 1f any of these
relationships were terminated, or 1f any of these third partics were to cease domg business, we may be foreed to spend significant time and money to replace the
licensed software These replacements may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all A termination of any of these relationships could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condimon and results of operations
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Risks Related to Our Liquidity and Financing Needs
Our liquadity and financial condiion could be adversely affected by United States and internanonal markets and economic condiions

Liquidity 15 essential to our business and 1s of particular importance to our trading business Any perceived hquidity 1ssues may affect our chients
and counicrparties’ willingness to erigage i brokerage transactions with us In addition our business 1s dependent upon the availability of adequate regulatory
and cleanng capttal Cleanng caputal is the amount of cash, guarantees or sumlar collateral that we must provide or deposit wath our third party clearing
organizations in support of our obligattons under our contractual cleanng arrangements with these organizations Histoncally, these needs have been satisfied
from internally generated funds investments from our stockholders and lines of credit made available by commercial banking institetions

Qur hquidaty could be impaired due to circumstances that we may be unable to control, such as a general market disruption or an operational
problem that affects our clients, third partics or us Further, our ability to sell assets to generate liquidity may be impaired 1f other market participants are
seekiny to sell simular assets at the same tme

Qur abihty to raise capital 1n the long-term or short-term debt capital markets or the equity capital markets has been and could continue to be
adversely affected by conditions n the United States and international markets and economy Global market and economic conditions have been, and continue
to be, disrupted and volattle In particular, our cost and availability of raising debt capital may be adversely affected by ilhquud credit markets and wider
credit spreads  As a result of concern about the stabihity of the markets, the strength of counterparties and other factors, including the impact of the Dodd-
Frank Act and other pending legislation and regulatory proposals, many lenders and nstitutional investors have reduced and, 1n some cases, ceased to provide
funding to borrowers in the financial industry [n addition, our credit rating may 1impact our ability to obtan to raise additional long or short term capital See
the Risk Factor captioned “Our business may be adversely affected by a reduction in our credit ratngs™ To the extent we need to raise additional capital
including for acqisttions or meeting increased capital requirements ansing from growth n our brokerage business, we may not be able to obtain such
additional financing on acceptable termis or on a timely basis, 1f a1 all If we cannot raise additional capital on acceptable terms we may not be able to develop
or enhance our business, take advantage of future opportunities or acquisiiions, respond to competitive pressure or meet contractual, regulatory or other
unanticipated requirements and as a result, our ability to conduct our business may be matenally adversely affected

Gur busutess may be adversely affected by a reduction 1 our credit raiings

There are a number of factors that might contribute to the possibility ot having our credit ranng downgraded by one or more credit rating agencies,
including our profitability and results of operatons and the general condinon of the economy and the global markets in which we provide our services In the
event of a downgrade of our credit rating by one or more credit rating agencies, our business may be adversely affected

A reduction 1n our credit ratings would increasc our borrowing costs under the 8 375% Senior Notes we 1ssued in July 2081 which will mature in
July 2018 (‘8 375% Semor Notes™) In addition, any announcement by a raung agency that our credit ratng 15 being downgraded could have a serious
adverse impact on our business and ultimately, on our operating results and financial condition Moreover, concems aboul our credit ratings may himit our
ability to pursuc acqmsitions and, to the cxtent we pursuc acquisitions that affect our credit raings, our business may suffer To avoud placing our credit
rating ai nsk we may need to Limut the growth of our business, or we may even need 10 reduce our operations or other expenses to improve profitability A
credit-rating downgrade could alse compel us 1o raise additional capital on unfavarable terms, which could result in substantial additional inturest or other
expenses and lower earmings I we were forced to raise equity capital, that action could result in substantial dilution to our existing shareholders

The financial maintenance covenants tn our Credu Agreement could limt the manner in which we conduct eur business, and we may be unable
10 engage 1n favorable business activities or finance future operations or capital needs os a result.

We are party 1o a credit agreement with Bank of Amenica N A and certawn other lenders (the “Credit Agreement™)  Pursuant to an amendment to the
credit agreement entered mnto in March 2013, $18 75 million of the lender commitments marure 1n December 2013 and the remaiming $56 25 mulhon of the
lender commutments mature 1 December 2015 Under our Credit Agreement, we are required to satisfy and maintamn specified financial ratios Our ability 10
meet those financial
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ratios can be affected by events beyond our control, and there can be no assurance that we will meet those ratios An adverse devetopment affecting our
business could require us to seek watvers or amendments of covenants, alternative or addihonal sources of financing or reductions m expenditures We cannot
assure you that such waivers, amendments or alternative or additional financings could be obtained or, 1f obtained, would be on terms acceptable to us A
failure to comply with the covenants contained i our Credit Agreement could result n an event of default thereunder or under other agreements, which, 1f not
cured or waived could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations In the event of any default under our Credut
Agreement, the lenders may not be required to lend any additional amounts to us, or could elect to declare all indebtedness outstanding, together wath any
accrued and unpaid interest and fees, to be due and payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit Such actions by the lenders could cause
cross defaults under our other indebtedness, ncluding the indenture goverming our 8 375% Senior Notes

Risks Related to Owning Our Stock
Jersey Parmers has significant voting power and may take actions that may not be wn the best interest of our vther stockholders

Jersey Partners Inc (*JPI”) in which our executive chatrman and founder Michael Gooch, 1s the controlling shareholder, owns approximately 41%
of our outstanding common stock Qur chief executive officer, Colin Heffron, 15 also a rminonty shareholder of Pl As a result, through JP1, Michael Gooch
has the abihty to exert substantial influence over all matters requiring approval by our stockholders including the election and removal of directors and any
proposed merger consoltdation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets and other corporate transactions Thes concentration of control could be
disadvantageous to other stockholders wath interests different from those of Michael Gooch This concentration of voting power may have the effect of delaying
or impeding actions that could be beneficial to our other stockholders including actions that may be supported by our Board of Directors The trading price
tor our common stock could be adversely affected 1f investors perceive disadvantages to owning our stock as a result of this sigmficant concentration of share
ownership

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, agreements to which we are a party, regulations to which we are subject and provisions
of our equity incentive plans could delay or prevent a change in control of our company and entrench current management

Our second amended and restated certificate of meorporation and bylaws may be deemed to have an anti-takeover effect and may delay, deter or
prevert a change of control of us, such as a tender ofier or takeover proposal that might result in 2 premium over the market pnce for our common stock In

addition, certamn of these provisions make 1t more difficult to bring about a change in the composition of our board of directors, which could result 1n
entrenchment of current management For example our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws

»  provide for a classified board of directors,

. do not permut our stockholders to remove members of our board of directors other than for cause,

*  do not permit stockholders to act by written consent or to call special meetings,

. require certain advance notice for director nominations and other actions to be taken at annual meetings of stockhelders,

*  require supermajonty stockholder approval with respect to extraordmary transactions such as mergers and certain amendments to our certificate
of incorporation and bylaws {including n respect of the previsions set forth above), and

+«  authonze the 1ssuance of ‘blank check™ preferred stock by our board of directors without stockholder approval, which could discourage a
takeover attempt

Under our Credit Agreement and our 8 375% Semor Notes, 2 change 1n control may lead the lenders to exercise remedies such as acceleration of the
loan and, 1n the case of the Credit Agreement, termunation of thesr obligatiens to fund additenat advances
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Our brokerage businesses are heavily regulated and some of our regulators require that they approve transactions which could result in a change of
control, as defined by the then-applicable rules of our regulators The requirement that this approval be obtained may prevent or delay transachions that would
result in a change of control

In addition, our equity incentive plans contain provisions pursuant 1o which our Board may, 1n its discretion determime to accelerate the vesting of
outstanding options or restricted stock units n the event of a change of control If the Board determines 1o aceelerate the vesting of these unvested prants it
could have the effect of dissuading potential acquirers from pursuing merger discussions with us

If we fail to mainiain effective internal contrel over financial reporting as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 1t may have an
adverse effect on our business

We are subject to the requiremenis of Seclion 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ( SOX™) and the applicable SEC rules and regulations that
require gur management fe conduct an annual asscssment and to report on the effectivencss of our internal controls over financial reporting In addiion, our
ndependent registered public accounting firm must 1ssue an attestation report addressing the operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting

While our internal controls over financial reporting currently meet all of the standards requured by SOX, failure to maintain an effective miemal
control environment could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, financial conditien and results of operations We cannot be certain as (o our abiity
to continue to comply with the requirements of SOX 1f we are not able to continue to comply with the requirements of SOX 1n a imely manner or with
adequate compliance, we may be subject to sanctions or investigation by regulatory authonties, including the SEC In addition should we 1denuty a matertal
weakness, there can be no assurance that we would be able to remediate such material weakness in a umely manner in future periods Maorcover 1f we are
unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting 13 effective 1n any tuture peried (or 1f our auditors are unable to express an opinion on the
cffectiveness of our mternal controls), we could losc investor confidence n the accuracy and completencss of our financial reports, and mcur significant
expenses (o restructure our internal controls over financial reporting, which may have a matenal adverse effect on our Company

We cannot provide assurance that we will continue to declare and pay dividends at all or in any particular amounts and we may elect not to pay
dividends n the future.

Our Board of Dircetors has approved a policy of paying quarterly dividends, subject to available cash flow from operations other considerations
and the determuination by our Board of Directors of the amount However, there 15 no assurance that we will conuinue 1o declare and pay dividends at all orm
any particular amounts and we may elect not to pay dividends in the future Our dividend policy may be affected by, among other things, our earnings
financial condition, future capital requirements, level of indebiedness, contractual restnetions with respect to the payment of dividends, the 1ssuance of special
dividends from time to nime, changes 1n fax rates and our determinanon to make certain mvestments or acquisibons Our ability to declare a dividend 15 also
subject to the himuts imposed by Delaware corporate law and our Credit Agreement

The market price of our common stock may fluctuate in the future, and future sales of our shares could adversely affect the market price of our
comunon stock.

The market price of our common stock has fluctuated in the past and may fluctuate in the future depending upon many tactors, including our actual
results of operations and perceived prospects and the prospects of the financial marketplaces i general, differences between our actual financial and operatng
results and those expected by 1nvestors and analysts, changes in analysts recommendations or projections, seasonality, changes i general valuations for
companies m our business segment, changes in general economic or market conditions and broad market fluctuations

Future sales of our common stock also could adversely affect the market pnice of our common stock 1f our existing stockholders scll a large number
of shares or 1l we 1ssue a large number of shares of our common stock 1n connection with future acquisitions, strategic alhances, new or amended equity
mcentive plans or otherwise, the market price of our common stock could decline sigmficantly Moreover, the perception i the public market that our
stockhalders, including JPI might sell shares of common stock could depress the market price of our common stock

As of December 31, 2012, we had registered under the Securiues Act of 1933, as amended (the  Secunities Act ), an aggregate of 552,064 shares of
our common stock which are reserved for 1ssuance upon the exercise of outstanding options
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under our 2000 and 2002 Stock Option Plans In addition, as of Decemnber 31 2012, we had registered under the Secunuies Act an aggregate of 37,400,000
shares of our common stock available for 1ssuance under our 2008 Equity Incentive Plan in connection with existing and new grants of restncted stock umts,
stock options or similar types of equity compensation awards o our empleyees Based on cuistanding grants at December 31, 2012, there are 11,200,233
shares of our commeon stock available for future grants of awards under the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan These shares can be sold 1n the public market upon
tssuznce subject 1o any vesting requirements and restrictions under the secunties laws apphcable to resale by affiates These sales might impact the hquidity
of our commeon stock and might have a dilutive effect on existing stockholders making 1t more difficult for us to sell equuty or equity-related secunties n the
furure at a ime and price that we deem approprrate

We may be required to recoghize imparments of our goodwill or other intangible assets, which could adversely affect our results of operations or
financral condition ‘

Accounting standards require periodic testing tor the tmpairment of goodwill and intangible assets While we have not recogmized any impairment of
goodwi1l and intangible assets to date, any such non-cash charges 1n the future could have a material tmpact on our stockholders equity and our resulis of
operations

The determination of the value of goodwi!l and intangible assets requires management 10 make estimates and assumptions that affect our consolidated
financial statements We are required to test goodwill for impairment annually, or in interim pernods 1f certam events occur indrcating that the carrying value
may be impaired We assess potenhial impairments 1o sntangible assets when there 1s evidence that events or changes 1n circumstances indicate that the carryng
amount ot an asset may not be recovered Our judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators and future cash flows related to goodwill and
imtangible assets are based on several factors which include the operational performance of any sequired busingsses, management’s current business plans
which factor 1n current market conditions, market capitahzation, the trading price of our common stock and trading volumes, as well as other factors
Management uses discounted cash flow analysis in thewr impairment assessments, which involves the subjective selection and interpretanon of data inputs, !
and given market conditions at the testing date can include a very limited amount of abservable market nputs available in determuning the model

Changes to our business plan, mereased macroeconomic weakness, declines m operating results and decreased market capitalization may result in
our having to pcrform an intenim goodwill impaiement test or an intangtble asset impairment test These types of events and the resulting analysis could result
m goodwill or intangible asset imparrment charges 1n future penods

ITEM IB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None
ITEM 2 PROPERTIES

We have offices in the United States Europe, Latin Amenca, Asia, the Middle East and South Afnica Our executive headquarters are located at 55
Water Street, New York New York 10041, where we occupy approximately 89 000 square feet of leased space, pursuant to a lease that expires in
December 2027 Qur largest office outside of the New York metropobitan arca 1s our U K headquarters, which 1s located i London at 1 Snowden Street,
EC2 2DQ where we occupy approximately 44 000 square feet pursuant 1o a lease that expires in March 2025

Cur US operanens also lease office space in Los Angeles, Sugar Land (TX) and 1selin (NJ) Our foreign operanons lease office space in London,
Paris, Nyon, Madnd, Hong Kong, Seoul Singapore, Manita, Sydney, Cape Town, Santiago, Bogota, Buenos Arres, Lima, Dubai, Dubhn and Tel Aviv. We
believe our facilines will be adequate for our operations for the next twelve menths  The properties we oceupy are used across all of our business segments, as
well as for corporate purposes
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ITEM3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the normal course of business, we are and have been party to, or otherwise involved 1n, linganons, claims and arbitrations that invoive claims for
substantial amounts These proceedings have generally mvolved either proceedings against our competitors in connection with employee hires, or clams from
former employees in connection with the termunanon of their employment from us There 15 also potential for chient claims alieging the occurrence of errors 1n
the execution of brokerage transachons We are also currently and will, i the future, be involved, 1n cxanunations mvesuigations or proceedings by
government agencies and self-regulatory organizations These examinations or investigations could result i substanual fines or administrative proceedings that
could result in censure, the 1ssuance of cease and desist orders, the suspension or expulsion of a broker dealer and 1ts affihated persens, officers or employees
ot other similar consequences

Several of our European subsidiaries are currenily defending a clam that they improperly hired a number of employees of a competiter over the
course of several months The claim was filed almost a year after we hired the employees and notwithstanding that none of the employees breached their
emplayment agreements with the competitor Although the case 15 m 1ts preliminary stages, the claimant 1s seeking a multi-mmillion dollar award We intend to
vigorously defend against this action and believe that we have substantial defenses to the claims asserted agawnst us

Based on currently available information, the cutcome of the Company’s outstanding matters are not expected 1o have a material adverse impact on
the Company’s financiak position However, the outcome of any such matters may be matenai to the Company’s results of operations or cash flows in a given
period 111 not presently possible to determine the Company’s ultimate exposure to these matters and there 1s no assurance that the resolution of the
Company’s outstanding matters will not sigmficantly exceed any reserves accrued by the Cempany
ITEM 4 MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEMS MARKET FOR REGISTRAN IS COVMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market informatron
Common Stock

On October 5 2010 we transferred the listing of our common stock trom the Nasdaq Global Select Market ( *Nasdag™) to the New York Stock
Exchange Euronext { NYSE Euronext’) Qur commeon stock 1s traded under the symbol * GFIG,” the same symbel that was used on the Nasdaq since our
wnitial public oftering on January 26, 2005 The closing share price for our common stock on February 28, 2013, as reported by NYSE Euronext, was
$3 51

As of February 28, 2013, we had approximately 44 holders of record of our common stock

Set forth below, for cach of the last eight fiscal quartets, 15 the low and high sales prices per share of our common stock as reported on NYSE
Euronext i the first quarter of 2011 through the fourth quarter of 2012

Cammon Stock Cash
Price Ranges Dividend
High Low Declared
Year Ended December 31, 2012
First Quarter g 493 % 31cd % 005
Second Quarter 379 220 005
Third Quarter 360 269 005
Fourth Quarter 340 238 010
Year Ended December 31, 2011
First Quarter $ 575§ 440 § 005
Second Quarter 530 427 005
Third Quarter 480 368 0as
Fourth Quarter 494 364 0os

Dividend Policy

Prior to 2008, we retained all earmings for investment in our busimess In February 2008, our Board of Directors approved a policy of paying
quarterly dividends subject to available cash flow from operations, other considerations and the determination by our Board of Directors of the amount

Any declaration and payment of dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things, our
earmings financial condition, caprtal requirements level of indebtedness, contractual restrictions with respect to the payment of dividends, and other
considerations that cur Board of Directors deems relevant The Board s ability to declare a dividend ts also subject te lints inposed by Delaware corporate
law In addition, our subs:diaries are permtied to pay dividends to us subject to (1) certain regulatory restrictions related to the mamienance of mimmum net
capital 1n those of our subsidiaries that are subject to net capital requirements imposed by applicable law or regulatton, and (1) general restrictions imposed on
dividend payments under the junsdiction of incorporation or organizatton of each subsidhary Fally, our Credit Agreement limtts our ability to pay dividends
n certam cireumstances without the approval of our lenders and any instruments governing our future indebtedness may also contain vanous covenants thai
hinut our abhty to pay dividends
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Performance Graph

The following performance graph shows a comparison from December 31, 2007 through December 31, 2012, of the cumalative total return for our
common stock the NYSE Composite [ndex, the Nasdaq Other Financial Index and our peer group The peer group 1s comprised of I[CAP Plc Tullet
Prebon Ple, Compagnie Financiere Tradition, MarketAxess Holdings Inc , BGC Parmers Inc, Deutsche Boerse Group, ICE and the CME Group Inc

The performance graph assumes that the value of the imtial investment n the Company $ commen stock, each index and the peer group was $100
on December 31, 2007 and that all dividends have been remvested Such retums are based on histoncal results and are not intended to suggest future
performance The returns of each company within the peer group have been weighted according to their respective stock market capitalization for purposes of
arriving at a peer group average

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return
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Purchase of Fquity Securnes

The tabte below sets torth the informatton with respect to purchases made by the Company of 11s common stock during the quarterly penied ended

December 31 2012

Perlod

Issuer Purchases of Equity Secunties

Approxtmate

Total Number of Number of Shares

Tatal Shares Purchased that May Yet Be

Number of Aversge Price As Part of Publicly Purchasced Under
Shares Paid Per Announced Plans the Plans or
Purchased Share or Programs Programs(d)

October
Stock Repurchase Program(a) —
Employee Transacttons(b) 47,928

— — 11,049,885
316 N/A N/A

“

November

Stock Repurchase Program(a) —
Employee Transactions(b) 7.940

— 11,049,885
279 N/A N/A

L7

December
Stock Repurchase Program({a) — 5 — —_ 11,049 885
5

Zmployee Transactions(b) 38,212
1 otal
Stock Repurchase Program{a) —

324 N/A N/A

o

— 11,049 885

Employee Transactions(b) 94,080 $ 316 N/A N/A
Other Stock Repurchases(c) 993,377 § 302 N/A N/A

(2)

]

()

(d)

In August 2007 the Board of Directors authonized the Company to implement a stock repurchase program to repurchase a hmited number of shares
of the Company’s common stock on the open market mn such amounts as determined by the Company’s management The authonzation provides
that such amounts are not to exceed during any calendar year the number of shares 1ssued upon the exercise of stock options plus the number of
shares underlying RSUs that are granted or which management reasonably anticipates will be granted tn such calendar year Any repurchases are
also subject to comphance with certain covenants and limits under the Company's Credit Agreement

Under our 2008 Equity Incentive Plan we withheld shares of commen stock to satisfy mimimum statutory tax withholding obhgations ansing on
the vesting and settlement of restricted stock units When we withhold these shares, we are required to remit to the appropriate taxing authorities the
market price of the shares withheld, which could be deemed a purchase of the shares of our common stock by us on the date of withholding

In December 2012, the Company and Jersey Partners Inc {* JPI") entered mto a stock purchase agreement pursuant to whech the Company
purchased 993,377 shares of common stock held by JPI at a price of $3 02 per share JP!1s the largest stockholder of GF1 and Michael Gooch
GF! s Executive Chairman 1s the majonty sharehelder of JPI The review and approval of the stock purchase agreement was delegated by the
Company's Board of Directors to its Audit Commuttee, compnsed of selely independent directors, which approved the stock purchase agreement

Amounts disclosed i this column include the number of RSUs granted by the Company and the number of shares 1ssued upon the exercise of
stock options less the number of shares repurchased by the Company on the open market for the current calendar year through December 31, 2012
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ITEM 6 SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth sclected consohdated financial data for the five ycars ended December 31 2012 This selected consohdated financial
data should be read m conjunction with *Item 7-—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and with our
consolidated financial statements and the noles thereto contained in Part 11-ltem & in this Form 10-K

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data
Revenues
Agency commissions
Prncipal transactions
Tatal brokerage revenucs
Cleanng services revenues
Interest income from cleanng services
Equity m net carmuings (losses) of unconsolidated businesses
Software, analytics and market data
Other income
Total revenues
Total interest and transaction-hased expenses
Rey enues, net of inlerest and iransaction-based expenses
Fxpenses
Compensation and employee benefits
Other expenses (1)
Total other expenses
(L oss) iIncome before provision for income taxes
Provision tor income taxes
Met (loss) inceme before attribution te nan—<ontrolling
stockholders
Less Net income attributabie to nen-controlling mterests
GFI's net {loss) income
karmngs Per Share
Bastc (loss) eamengs per share available 10 common stockholders
Diluted (loss) earmungs per share avaifable to common
stockholders
Weighted average number of shares cutsianding
Basic
Miluted
hvidends declared per share of common stock

Y ear ended December 31,

2012 201 2010 2009 2048
(1n thousands, except share and per share data)

484,386 $ 561,026 3§ 534 239 481,326 5 757,310
211,159 235,580 215,563 270,378 206 669
695,545 796,606 749,802 751,704 363,979
118,011 112,735 41,87% — —_
1,964 2,300 671 — —
8 569 10,466 3974 1574 (209
84,153 73620 60 637 54,347 51250
16,345 19 746 5,640 12,656 274
524 587 3 LOL5.473 g B62 602 R20 281 s 1 015294
137 542 134 702 67 558 30 354 43 420
787.045 880 771 795 044 789 927 971,874
546,501 627 368 558,248 583,315 665973
241,801 253,321 204 993 183 342 222924
788,302 B8O 689 763,241 760,657 RE&K §97
{1,257, 82 31,803 23270 82,977
8,387 2,647 5,884 6,982 29,871

(9 644) (2,565 25919 16,288 53 106
309 616 34 — —
(9,953 § {3,181y § 25,615 16,288 $ 53,106
(009 § (603 § 021 014 § 045
09 3 003 § 020 013 s 044
116,014,202 118,334 995 120,275,918 [18 178 493 117 966 596
116014 202 118,334,995 125522 128 121 576 767 119,743,693
025 3 020 $ 43 020 b) (245
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Consohdated Statements of Financial Condition
Data

For the Yiar Ended December 31,

2012 2011

2010 1009 I8

(In thousands except hesdeount data)

Cash and cash equivalents S 227441 8 245879 $ 313,875 ¢ 342,379 % 342,375
Total assets(2) 1,180,061 1,190,549 1,273,804 954,874 1,088,691
Total debt including current portion 250,000 250,000 192,446 173,688 223,823
Total stockholders’ equity 425,082 447212 494,111 487,502 480,363
Selected Statistical Data
Brokerage personne! headcount(3) 1,188 1,271 1,161 1,082 1,037
Employee headcount 2,062 2,176 1,990 1,768 1,740
Brokcr productivity for the penod(4) S 562 8§ 647 § 669 § 705 S 910
Brokerage Revenues by Geographic Regron
Americas S 274498 % 311,519 § 203344 § 325,359 § 385,854
Europe, Middle East & Africa 345,069 392,895 379,660 364,752 4856 517
Asta 75,978 92,192 76,798 61,593 88,608
Total 5 695,545 § 796,606 S 749,802 % 751,704 % 963,979
[£)] Other expenses 15 Total other expenses excluding Compensation and employee benefits
2) Total assets included reccivables from brokers, dealers and clearing orgamzations of $252 7 million, $251 8 mullion, $270 7 millton,

$98 8 million and $158 1 nullion at December 31,2012, 2011 2010 2009 and 2008, respectively These receivables pnimanly represent secunties

transacuons entered 1nto wn connection wrth our matched principal business which have not settled as of their stated settlement dates, as well as
balances with cleanng orgamzauons These receivables are substantially offset by the corresponding payables to brokers, dealers and cleaning
orgamzations and to clearing customers, for these unsettled transactions

3 Brokerage personnel headcount includes brokers tramnees and clerks As of December 31 2012, we employed 1,002 brokers and 186 trainees and
clerks
(4) We are presenting broker productivity to show the average amount of revenue generated per broker Broker productivity 1s caleulated by dividing

brokerage revenues by average brokerage personnel headeount for the perod
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ITEM 7 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operanons should be read tn conguncion with our consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereof in Part H-liem 8 hereof This discussion contamns forward-looking statements Actual results could differ matertally
from the results discussed in these forward-looking statements Please see  Forward-Looking Statements  and ‘Risk Factors  for a discussion of
some of the uncertainties resks and assumptions associated with these statements

Business Environment

As a leading provider of wholesale brokcrage services, cleanng services and electronic execution and trading support preducts for global financial
markets our results of operations are impacted by a number of external market factors, mcluding market volatility and transactional volumes the orgame
growth or contraction of the denvative and cash markets in which we provide our brokerage services, the particular mix of transactional activity in our
various products, the competitive and regulatory cnvironment in the vartous jurisdictions and markets in which we operate and the financial condition of the
dealers hedge funds traders and other markel paricipants to whem we provide our services Outlimed below are management s observations of these extemal
market factors during the most recent fiscal period The factors outhned below are not the only factors that impacted our results of aperations tor the most
recent fiscal period, and additional or other factors may impact or have different degrees of impact, en our results of operations in future periods

Market Volatity

As a general rule, our business typically benefits from volatility in the markets that we serve, as pertods of increased volatility often comeide with
more robust trading by our clients and a higher volume of transactions However, periods of extreme volatility may result in sigmificant market dislocations
that can also lead clients to reduce therr trading activity

Market volaulity 1s dniven by a range of external factors, some of which are market specific and some of which are correlated to general macro-
cconenuc conditions Volatility, as measured by The Chicago Board Opuons Exchange Volatihity index (“VIX™), on average, was lower lor ¢ach quarter during
the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to (he same periods in 2011 During 2012, many of the markets in which we operate continued 1o expenence
low trading volumes resulting from sluggish global cconomic conditions, regulatory, tax, political and marke? uncertamty and the continuing sovereign debt
1ssues in the Eurozone

Recent Activity in Underlying Markets

Our business has historically benefited from growth i the over-the-counter (*OTC } denvatives markets due to esther the expansion of existing
markets, ncluding 1ncreased notronal amounts outstanding or mcreased transaction volumes, o the development of new products or classes ot products The
level of growth 1n these markets is difficult to measure on a quarterly basis as there are only a few independent, objective measures of growth 1n outstanding
notional amount of OTC denvatives all of which are published retrospectively and do not measure transactional velumes Therefore, to help gauge growth in
any particular quarter, management also looks to the published resuits of large OTC denvatives dealers and certam futures and denivative exchanges as
potential indicators of transacuonal activity in the related OTC denvative markets

Futures and derivatives exchanges, 1n most cases reported declines 1n average daily volume (* ADV ") for the year ended December 31 2012 as |
compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 The CME Group Inc {(“CME™) reported a 15 0% decrease n ADV of us fitures and options products while |
IntercontinentalExchange, Inc (“1CE”) reported a 9 7% increase 1n 113 ADV of 1ts futures and option producis  Revenues from ICE’s eredit default swap rade
execuiion, processing and clearmg businesses declined 13 8% 1n 2012 compared to 2011 CME’s interest rate futures and options products ADV declimed
19 8% n 2012 compared to 2011 NYSE Euronext reported ADV declines of 22 0% and 12 3% i its fixed income denvative and equity denvative products
respectively, for 2012 compared to 2011 Based on the published resulis of other wholesale market brokers, we believe that the broader OTC markets have
also expenenced sigmficant declines in volumes year over ycar

According 1o BIS the size of the global OTC denvative markets as measured by nouonal amounts outstanding was $638 ¢ tnilhion as of June 30
2012, the latest period reported, compared to 3647 8 trilhon and $706 9 tnilhon as of December
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31 2011 and June 30, 2011 respectively The size of the global OTC derivatives markets as of June 30 2012 decreased by $8 9 trillion, or | 4%, and $68 0
nllion or @ 6% when compared 10 the notional amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2011 and June 30 2011 respectively

The [nternational Swaps and Denvatives Assoctanon ( ISDA’ ) produced a market analysis report from 2007 through June 2012 based on the above
BIS figures reducing nottonal outstanding to mclude one side of two-sided cleared transactions and excluding foreign exchange contract volumes  Foreign
exchange contracts typically reach matunity within a few months while other OTC denvatives mature over a longer pencd of time  The 1SDA report also
quannfied the effect of compression, which involves the teanng up of matched trades or trades that do not contnibute nisk to a dealer’s portfolie, on the size of
the OTC derivatives market The adjusted notional amount outstanding of $416 9 tnllion as of June 30, 2012 indicates mereased cleanng and compression
of OTC denvatives resulbing, in part 1n the $23 2 inllton, or § 3%, decline tn the total nottonal amounts outstanding when compared to December 31, 2611
and the $73 7 tnillion, or 15%, decline when compared to June 30, 2011  ISDA believes that the adjusted numbers provide better msight to underlying
market actrvity and trends by showing the impact of cleanng, netting, compression and collateral on notional amounts outstanding in the OTC denvanives
market

In the interest rate derivatives market, adjusted notional amounis outstanding decreased to $341 2 trillion as of June 30, 2012 as compared (0 $362 4
tnllion and $405 | tnlhon as of December 31, 2011 and June 30, 2011, respectively This was a decrease of $21 2 trllion, or 5 9%, and $63 9 inllion, or
15 8% when compared to December 31, 2011 and June 30, 2011, respectively  The decline in adjusted nononal amounts outstanding was attnbuted to the
cffects of compression and lower interest rate denvative activity  1ISDA estimates that 54 2% of adjusted interest rate swap volumes were centrally cleared as of
June 30 2012, up from 21 3% as of December 31, 2007 1SDA estimates that 43 2% of torward rate agreements were centrally cleared as of June 30, 2012, up
from 0 0% at December 3t 2010

In the credit default swaps market, adjusted notional amounts outstanding decreased by $1 6 tnllion, or 6 2%, 1o $24 3 tihon from $25 9 tnllion
as of December 31, 2011, the lowest reported level since 2006 due to the substantial effects of compresston and lower credit denvative activity  1SDA
cstimates that 10 7% of crednt default swaps were centrally cleared as of June 30, 2012, up from 7 9% as of December 31, 2010

Competitive and Regulatory Environment

Another major external market factor affecting our business and results of operations 1s compet:tion, which may take the form of competitive
pressure on the commissions we charge for our brokerage services or competition for brokerage and technology development personne! with extensive
expertence 1n the specialized markets we serve We currently compete for the services of productive brokers with other wholesale market participanis While the
demand tor preductive brokers has remamed strong over the last few years we beheve such demand has begun to lessen as the wholcsale brokerage industry
has been mmpacted by lower trading volumes and sluggish trading conditions in certain maskets we serve However, the consohdation and personnel layoffs by
dealers, hedge funds and other market partictpants over the last few years, as well as dealers exiing proprietary trading operattons, has increased competifion
to provide brokerage services to a smaller number of market participants in the near term

[n addition, we believe that the ongoing global regulatory overhaul of many of the markets in which we provide our services has led to continued
uncertainty in 2012 and resulted in tower trading volumes and fewer participants tn these markets Regulators and legislators in the U § and abroad have
proposed and, 1n some nstances, adopted a slate of regulatory changes that cab! for, among other things, central cleaning of certain denivanves, greater
transparency and reporting of derivatives transactions mandatory tradimg of certain derivatives transactions on regulated exchanges or swap execution
facihities (“SEF") and increased use of electronic trading system technologies We believe that these new and proposed regulations have not yet elimtnated the
unceriainty that has persisted in many OTC derivatives markets since the start of the financial cnsis

During the third quarter of 2012, 1CE announced that all cleared swaps in energy products would be converted to regulated futures contracts on
October 15 2012 on the basis that trading those products as futures would present significant advantages to custorners seeking to avoid the impact of the
Dodd-Frank Act CME also announced that certain contracts atready hsted as futures on CME ClearPort would be made available for trading on CML Globex
on October 12 2012 with more to be added in the future Subject to the rules and regulations applicable to tutures products including with respect 1o
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block trades, we expect to continue to broker all the products that we have customanly brokered as swaps prior to October 12, 2012 without regard to whether
thosc products arc now traded as futures

We remain optimistic that pending regulatory reform, including requirements for enhanced regulatory transparency, central clearing and efficient
execution, will benefit and eventually grow the global denvatives markets We remain confident that our business will qualify nthe U S as a SEF, and in
Europe as an Orgamized Trading Facility We are also actively prepaning to meet all regulatory requirements necessary o support the brokerage of U S energy
future contracts, as well as other futures contracts thal migrate over from the swaps market Over the past year we have continued to expand our proprietary
elecironic trade execution capabilities as well as the number of users of our hybnid electromic trading platforms We believe that this technological capabihity
wil] positien us well in the future as regulatory rules are finalized and implemented

Financial OQverview

Qur results for the last three years continue to reflect the challenging economic and market conditions that have exisied tollowing the late-2000 s
financial crisis, during which many market participants, including many of our key customers, had to deal with reduced hiquidity, credit contraction, market
consolhidation and market participant bankruptcies  Our geographic and product diversity enabled us to take advantage of areas of market strength over this
period, even as several OTC denvative markets in which we provide our services were impacted by economic and regulatory uncertamnty As more fully
discussed below, our results of operations are sigruficantly impacted by the amount of revenues we generate and the amount of compensation and benefits we
provide to our employees The following factors had a sigmficant impact on our revenues we generate and employee cosis dunng the three year period ended
December 31, 2012

Our total revenues decreased 9 0% to $924 6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $1 02 billion for the year ended December 31
2011 The main factors contribuhing to this decrease 1n our revenues were

e Decreased trading activity in many of the dervative markets in which we provide our services due to (1) sluggish global economic conditions,
(u) fiscal, 1ax, political and market unceniainty, and (i) sovereign debt 1ssucs in the Eurozone,

¢ Regulatory uncertainty as it relates to market structure and operations in OTC derivative markets, especially in North America and Europe,
including the uncertamty resulting from the conversion of OTC swaps to exchange-traded futures contracts in many North Amencan cnergy
products,

e Lower market volatility in many derivative markets dunng the year compared to the prior year, including in many fixed income and equity
dernivanves,

¢ Lower trading volumes in many of the emerging markets globally in which we provide brokerage services,

¢+  Lower trading activity in the U $ 1 the fourth quarier of 2012 due to Humeane Sandy and its effecis on customer rading operasions,
L] The weakening of the Euro relatve to the U S Dollar and its effect on the translation of brokerage revenues in EMEA, and

s The closure of certain unprofitable brokerage desks globally

Offsetting the above factors were the following facters that affected our brokerage and other revenues including

Contnibutions from investments tn new brokerage busimesses n certan financial produets in France and Switzerland,
s The continued strong performance of our Trayport subsidiary, which led to an increase in our software, analytics and market data revenue,

Increased cleaning services revenucs due to a variation i the nux of products and exchanges utihzed by our new and existing clearing service
customers at Kyte, and

»  Increased use of our electromic matching sessions and hybnd electronic trading systems by our customers

The main factors contrbuting to our increase in total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011 from the year ended December 31 2010 are set
forth below under “Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2610°
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The most significant component of our cost structure 15 employee compensation and benefits, which includes salanes, sign-on and retention
bonuses mcentive compensation and related employee benefits and taxes  Our employee compensation and benefits expense decreased 12 9% to $546 5
mullion for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $627 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011

Our compensation and employee benefits for all employees have both a fixed and a vanable component Base salaries and benefit costs are primarly
fixed tor all employees while pertormance bonuses constitute the vanable portion of our compensation and employee benefits Sign-on and retention bonuses,
when granted also increase the fixed component of our compensation and employee benefits for the remainder of the term over which such bonus 1s earned by
the employee Within overall compensatron and employee benefits, the employment cost of our brokerage personnel 1s the key component Bonuses for
brokerage personne! are primanily based on individual performance and/or the operating results of their related brokerage desk Additionally a portion of our
bonus txpense 15 subject to contractual guarantees that may require us to make bonus payments te brokers regardless of their performance in any particular
pertod For many of our brokerage employees, bonuses constitute a sigmficant component of their overall compensanon Broker performance bonuses
decreased 10 $170 4 million tor the year ended December 31, 2012 from $244 0 million for the year ended December 31, 2011

Further, we may pay sign-on bonuses ta certain newly-hired brokers and retention bonuses to certamn of our existing brokers who agree to long-term
employment agreements These bonuses may be paid in the form of cash or restricied stock units * RSUs ") and are typically expensed over the term of the
related employment agreement for cash bonuses and the related service penod for RSUs, which 1s generally two to four years These employment agreements
typreally contamn provisions requinng the repayment of all or a portton of the cash payment and forferture provisions for vnvested RSUs should the employee
voluntanly termunate his or her employment or 1f the employee’s employment 1s terminated for cause during the mitial term of the agreement Compensation
expense resulting from the amortization of broker sign-on and retention bonuses was $34 6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, as compared to
$41 6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011
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Results of Consolidated Operations

The following 1able scis forth our consolidated results of operations for the periods indicated

% ear ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(dollars in thousands)
Revenues
Agency commissions b 484386 § 561,026 S 534239
Principal transactions 211,159 235,580 215,563
Tolal brokerage revenues 695,545 796,600 749,802
Clearing scrvices revenucs 118,011 112,735 41,878
Interest income from cleanng services 1,964 2 300 671
Equity m nct carmings of unconsolidated businesses g,569 10 466 3974
Software amalyncs and market data 84 153 73.620 60 637
Other income 16,345 19,746 5,640
Total revenues 024,587 1,015,473 862 602
Interest and transaction-based expenses
Transaction fees on clearing services 113,726 108,283 39,918
Transaciion fees on brokerage services 22,843 24,541 27213
Interest expense from cleanag services 973 1,878 427
Total interest and transaction-based expenses 137,542 134,702 67,558
Revenues, net of interest and transaction-based expenses 787,045 880,771 795,044
Expenses
Compensation and employee benefits 546,501 627,368 558,248
Communications and market data 60,760 60,728 49,579
Travel and promotion 35,850 40,011 37 5§17
Rent and occupancy 23,667 24,664 22,413
Depreciation and amartization 36,624 38,943 34 431
Professional fees 23,238 27,413 25949
Interest on borrowings 26,885 25,759 11 063
Other cxpenscs 34,777 15,803 24,041
Total other expenses 788,302 880,689 763,241
(Loss) income before provisien for income taxes (1,257) 82 31,803
Provision for income taxes 8,387 2,647 5,884
Net (loss) income befere attribution to non-controliing stockholders (9,644) (2,565) 25919
Less Net income attnbutable to non-controlling interests 309 616 304
GFY¥’s net (loss) tncome g (9,953} § (3,181} § 25,615
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The following table sets forth our consohdated results of operations as a percentage of our revenues, net of interest and transaction-based expenses for
the pertods indicated

Year ended December 31,

012 2011 2010
Resenues
Apency commissions 61 5% 63 7% 67 2%
Principal transactions 268 267 271
Total brokerage revenues 883 on4 943
Clearing services revenues 150 128 53
Interest income from clearing services 02 03 0l
Equity 1n net earnings of unconsolidated businesses 11 12 05
Software, analytics and market data 107 84 76
Other income 21 22 07
Total revenues 117 4% 115 3% 108 5%
Interest and transaction-based expenses
Transaction fees on clearing scrvices 144 123 50
Transactuion fees on brokerage services 29 28 34
Interest ¢xpense trom cleanng services 01 02 01
Total interest and transactron-based expenses 17 4% 15 3% 8 5%
Revenues, net of mterest and transaction-based expenses 100 0% 100 0% 100 0%
Expenses
Compensatton and employee benefits 69 4 712 702
Communications and market data 77 69 63
Travel and promotion 46 46 47
Rent and occupancy 30 28 28
Depreciation and amortization 47 44 43
Professional fees 30 31 33
Interest on borrowings 34 29 14
Qther expenses 44 41 30
Total other expenses 100 2% 100 0% 96 0%
(Loss) income before provision for income taxes (02)% 00% 40%
Provision for income Laxes 11 03 07
Net (loss) income before attribution to non-controlling stockhelders (1% 03)% 33%
Less Netncome attnibutable to non-controlling interests 00 01 00
GFI’s net (loss) income (1 3)% 0% 33%

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2011
Net (Loss) Income

GF1 s net loss for the year ended December 31, 2012 increased $6 8 million to $10 0 mullion from a net loss of $3 2 mubhon for the year ended
December 31 2011 Total revenues decreased by $90 9 mullion, or 9 0%, to $924 6 million in the year ended December 31, 2012 trom $1 02 billion 1n the
prior year The decrease 1n total revenues was primartly due to Yower brokerage revenues, which decreased $101 1 million, or 12 7%, partially ofiset by a net
increase 1n “Other Revenues,” as descrnibed 1n more detail below

Total mterest and transaction-based expenses increased $2 & milhon o $137 5 nullion in 2012 from $134 7 million 1 2011 The increase resulted

Irom higher transaction fees on clearing services at our Kyte subsidiary primanly due to the mix of products and exchanges unlized by existing and new
customers

Total expenses, excluding mterest and transactton-based expenses decreased by $92 4 nutlton, or 10 3%, to $788 3 mullion for the year ended
December 31, 2012 trom $880 7 milhion for the year ended December 31, 2011 The decrease in total other expenses was largely attributable to a decrease in
compensation and employee benefits expense which resulted pnmanly trom (1) lower performance bonus expense as a result of lower brokerage revenues and
{(n) imitratives implemented dunng the latter part of 2011 and throughout 2012 to reduce our aggregate compensalion expense  The decrease was also due to
lower travel and promotion expenses and professional fees
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Revenues

The following table sets forth the changes in revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012, as compared to the same penod in 201 1{dollars in
thousands, except percentage data)

For the Year Ended December 31,

Increase

2012 %* 2011 Yo ¥ (Decreasc) Ya**
Revenues
Brokerage revenues
Fixed income 5 188,328 239% $ 234,498 26 6% § (46,170) (19 )%
Equity 135,826 172 174,862 199 (39,036) (223)
Financial 185,062 235 191 689 218 (6.627) 35
Commodity 186,329 237 195,557 222 (9,228) 47
Total brokerage revenues 695,545 883 796,606 90 5 (i01,061) (127
Clearing Services revenucs 118,011 159 112,735 128 5276 47
Other revenues 111,031 141 106,132 120 4,899 46
Tetal revenues 924,587 117 4 1,015,473 i153 (80.835) [C2U]
Interest and transaction-based expenses 137,542 17 4 134,702 153 2,840 21
Revenues, net of interest and
transaction-based expenses % 787,045 1000% $ 880,771 1000% § (93,726) (10 6%

Denotes % of revenues, net of interest and transaction-based expenses
hid Denotes % change 1n 2012 as compared to 2011

Brokerage Revenues—We offer our brokerage services 1n four broad product categories fixed income, equity, financial, and commeodity Below 1s
a discussion of our brokerage revenues by product category for the year ended December 31, 2012

»  Broker productivity (defined as total brokerage revenues during the period divided by average monthly brokerage personnel headeount for the
period) across all product categones decreased by approximately 13 1% for 2012, as compared to 2011

. Fixed income product brokerage revenues decreased $46 2 mullion, or 19 7%, for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the same
period for the prior year  Revenues from fixed mcome denvative and cash products decreased approximately 34 4% and 5 9%, respectively as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 This decrease was partially due to lower trading volumes attributable wn part to pending
reform in the swaps market, as well as poor glabal economic conditions, continued low interest rates market uncertamnty and the angoing
sovereign debt sssues 1n the Eurozone Qur fixed income product brokerage personnel headcount decreased by 35 1o 308 employees al
December 31, 2012 from 343 employees at December 31, 2011

¢  Equity product brokerage revenues decreased $39 0 muilion, or 22 3%, for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the same period for
the prior year The decrease was primanly attributable to reduced cash equity and equity derivauve trading volumes i the U § and Europe
This decrease was consistent with the decline 1n equity volumes reported in the broader exchange-traded cash and dervatives markets OQur
equity product brokerage personnel headcount decreased by 34 to 200 employees at December 31, 2012 from 234 employees at December 31
2011

s  Fmancial product brokerage revenues decreased $6 6 million, or 3 5%, for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the same period in
the prior year The decrease was primarily due to slow trading conditions 1n emerging markets in Laun America and Asia, partially oftset by
revenues from our new brokerage desks i France and Switzerland, which commenced operations i October of 2011 Our financial product
headcount mcreased by 2 to 380 employees at December 31, 2012 from 378 employees at December 31 2011
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*  Commodtty product brokerage revenues decreased 89 2 million, or 4 7%, for the year ended December 31 2012 compared to the same penod
m the prior year We beheve that this decrease was largely attnbutable to regulatory uncestamty as it relates to the U S nergy markaets and the
conversion of OTC swaps to exchange-traded futures contracts in many North American energy products during the fourth quarter of 2012
Partially offsetting this decrease was an mcrease 1n commodity brokerage revenues due to growth 1n certain energy and metals businesses and the
addition of new desks tn the U S and Europe Our commodity product brokerage personnel headeount decreased by 16 to 300 employees at

December 31 2012 [rom 316 employees at December 31, 2011

Clearing Services Revenue

e Clearning scrvices revenucs increased by $5 3 million, or 4 7%, for the year ended December 31, 2012 10 $118 0 mallion from $112 7 mullion 1n
the same pertod 1 2011 duc to a variation 1n the nix of products and exchanges utihzed by our new and existing cleaning service customers
partially offset by a decrease 1n the number of trades cleared by our Kyte subsidiary Cleanng services revenues are related solely to the
operations of Kyte and constst of fees charged to our cleanng service customers for clearing, settlement and other services Kyte also incurs
cxchange fues on behalf of its customers, which Kyte then charges 1o 1ts customers, and are therefore included m equal amounts 1n both

revenuces and CXNCnscs

Other Revenues

¢« (Other revenues were compnsed of the following (dollars 1n thousands)

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2012 0

Software, analytics and market data 3 84,153 % 73,620

Equity in net earmings of uncensohdated businesses 8,569 10,466 .
Remeasurement of foreign currency transactions and balances (3,635) (2200

Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) from foreign currency hedges 2,011 (415)

Interest income o short-term investments 801 1,310

Interest iIncome from clearing services 1,964 2300

Other 17,168 19,071

Total other revenues 3 111,031 % 106,132
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Other revenues increased by $4 9 milhion 10 $111 0 omllion for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $106 | nullion for the year ended
December 31 2011 This increase was largely related to an inercase in our software analytics and market data revenues of $10 5 muliion which
was primanly atinbutable to an increase n software revenues at our Traypon subsidiary due to growth 1n their customer base as well as new
product offenngs  Other revenues also increased due to a $2 4 million increase 1o net realized and unrealized gains related to foreign currency
forward contracts used to hedge certam non-U S dollar assets and revenues Partially offsetting these increases was a 83 4 nullion net decrease n
Other revenues related 1o the remeasurement of foreign currency transactions and balances and a net decrease of $1 9 nudlion 1n net earnings of
unconsohdated businesses The toreign cutrency remeasurement gains and losses result from the remeasurement of asset and Liability baiances that
are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the business unit involved in such transactions

Interest and Transaction-Based Expenses

*  Theincrease 1n total interest and transaction-based expensces of $2 8 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the same
period 1n 2011 was due to an increase in transaction fees on clearing services of $5 4 million which are enuirety related to the cleanng operations
of our Kyte subsidiary This increase was pnimanly due to a vanation 1n the mix of products and exchanges utilized by our new and existing
cleanng service customers partially offsct by a decreasc in the number of trades cleared Kyte pays to use the services of third partics who aci as
general clearing members of clearing houses in order 1o clear cash and demvative products for its custamers Kyte also incurs exchange fees on
behalf of its clients, which are mostly pass-through costs and are therefore included i equal amounts in both revenues and expenses This
increase was partially offset by a decrease in transaction fees on brokerage services of $1 7 mullton due to a decrease i brokerage revenues
executed on a matched principal basis, {for which we typically incur transaction-based expenses, such as clearing tees

Expenses

The following table sets forth the changes 1n expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the same pertod i 2011 (dollars in
thousands, except percentage data)

For the ¥ car kaded Deccmber 31,

Increase
2012 %% * 2011 Yo {Decrease) Yot *
Expenses
Compensation and employee benefits % 546,501 69 4% § 627,368 2% % (B0O.R67) (129%
Communications and market data 60,760 717 60,728 69 32 01
Travel and promotion 35,850 46 40,011 46 4.161) (104)
Rent and occupancy 23,667 30 24 664 28 (997) (40)
Depreciation and amortizatton 36,624 47 38,943 44 (2319 60)
Professional fees 23,238 30 27413 3l (4,175) (152)
Interest in borrowings 26,885 34 25,759 29 1126 44
Other expenscs 34,777 44 35,803 41 (1,026) (29)
Total other expenses $ 788 302 100 2% % 880 689 1000% $ (92.387) (10 5)%
* Denotes % of revenues net of interest and transaction-based expenses
* Denotes % change 1n 2012 as compared to 2011
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Compensaton and Employee Benefits

L

The $80 9 milhon decrease 1n compensation and employee benefits expense for the year ended December 31, 2012 was primanly due to lower
broker pertormance bonus expense resulting from lower brokerage revenues and imtiatives implemented in the lauer part of 2011 and throughout
2012 to reduce our aggregate compensation expense Compensation expense was also higher m 2011 due to a $19 4 million charge taken n that
year related to severance and other restructuring expenses

Total compensation and employee benefits as a percentage of revenues net of mterest and transaction-based expenscs, decreased o 69 4% n
2012 from 71 2% 1n the prior year

Performance bonus expense represented 36 7% and 43 3% of total compensation and employee benefits expense for the year ended December 31,
2012 and 2011 respectively A portion of our bonus expense 1s subject to contractual guarantees that may require us to make bonus payments to
brokers regardless of thewr perfermance 1n any particular peniod  Additionally, sign-on and retention bonus expense, which includes the
amortization of cash sign-on and retention bonuses mitially pard in prior periods, represented 7 0% and 7 7% of fotal compensation and
employee benefits expense for the years ended December 31, 2¢12 and 2011, respectively

All Other Expenses

The decrease m travel and promotion expense of $4 2 million was due, 1n large part, to the low volume trading environment that persisted
throughout 2012 and a reduction in brokerage personne! headcount, as well as cost savings mitiatrves implemented in 2011 and 2012

The decreasc in rent and occupancy expense of $1 ¢ million was pnmanly due to a gamn of $3 2 milhon related to an adyustment of a loss
accrual on a sublease of our former headquarters, partially offset by the renewal of our office lease i the U K in the fourth quanter of 201) ata
higher runt Sce Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part [H-Item 8 for further mformation related to a sublease loss accrual

I'he decrease 1n professional fees of $4 2 mullion for 2012 as compared 1o 201 | was partially due 1o a decrease n our global audit fee 1n the
current year as well as lower consulting fees assoctated with regulatery comphiance m the UK

The increase n interest on borrewings of $1 1 milhon was due to the July 2011 1ssuance of $250 0 mullion of 8 375% Semor Notes ( 8 375%
Scmor Netes ), which led to an increase in borrowings outstandmng and a ugher average effective nterest rate on long-term debt borrowings
dunng the year ended December 31, 2012 This increase was largely offset by $6 0 rmllion m bond redemption costs recogmzed m the third
quarter of 2011 assoctated with our July 2011 redemption ot the entire $60 0 milhon principal amount of our then-outstanding 7 17% semor
secured notes, whtch were due 1n January 2013 (*7 17% Senior Notes™)

Our provision for imcome taxes increased to $8 4 mullion 1n 2012 compared to $2 6 million n 2011 primanly due to (1) addiional U S 1ax
expense related to certan mlernational profits and (1) the establishment of valuation allowances agamst deferred tax assets in jurisdictions where
we have determined they are unlikely to be utidized The increased tax rate was partially offset by (1) the impact of a decrease in the statutory
corporate tax rate m the U K, (11) a release of an unrecognized tax berefit from 2008, 2009, and 2010 where the position has now been resolved
with the relevant tax authonty and (1) a reconciliation of prior ycar cstimates agatnst tax return filings

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Vet (Lows) Income

GFI s net loss for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $3 2 million as compared to nct income of $25 6 rmllion for the year ended December 31,
2010, a decrease of $28 8 milbion Total revenues increased by $152 9 milhen, or 17 7%, to 31 02 billion fer the year ended December 31, 2011 from

$862 6 million for the same penod in the prior year The increase m total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011 was due, n large part, to the
inclusion of a ful! year of revenue for our

62

i

€ raloten IROT FUFCITNaY | Of De cogved odipled o
e

. s e [ ' ' |

iely T user assumies all sk s 1or Sny damages or o350s 3rr5ng o <y Uan OFE s
A2t orn 1 Luch dan Jges o [ocEos cannot be Lmitsd o c::mrhd oy mpdt..nb Low Pact Lnancial p«fnrm.mu O QUSFSNID of fulire su'ts




Table of Contenis

Kyte subsidiary, which we acquired on July 1,2010 For the year ended December 31, 2011, as compared ta the year ended December 31, 2610 Kyte's
operations contribuled an merease of $70 § millien te our cleanng services revenue as well as increases to our brokerage revenues and to our equity 1 net
eamings of unconsolidated businesses The increase in tota} revenues was also due w (1} a $46 8 million increase 1n our brokerage revenues, as descnibed
below and (1) an increase of $35 2 million i Other revenues, which 1s discussed in more detail below under the sectien “Other Resenues

Total interest and transaction-based expenses increased by $67 1 mllion, to $134 7 million for the year ended December 31 2011 from
%67 6 mullion for the year ended December 31, 2010 The increase was primanly due to the inclus:on of a full year of revenue for our Kyte subsidiary Kyte
incurs exchange, clearing and execution costs n order 1o provide clearing services Lo its customers

Total expenses other than interest and transaction-based expenses increased by $117 5 milhion or 135 4%, 10 $880 7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011 from $763 2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 The increase in total other expenses was largely attribniable to (1) increased
compensalion and benefits expense, which resulted from a $19 4 nullion charge taken 1 2011 related to severance and other restructuning expenses,

() increascd salary expense related to an mereased headeount in brokers, back office and Trayport empioyces (i) increased interest on borrowings duc to the
July 201t 1ssuance of $250 0 million of 8 375% Senior Notes and bond redempuion costs associated with the July 2011 redemption of eur 7 17% Semor
Notes, (1v) $8 8 million of impairment charges taken related 1o certain equity method investments and (v) an increase 1n expenses related to the inclusion of a
fulk year of operations for our Kyte subsidiary, including increased expenses relaung to compensation and employee benefits, communications and market
data, and depreciation and amoruzation

Revenues

The following table scts forth the changes 1n revenues for the year ended December 31 2011 as compared to the same pened in 2010 (dollars in
thousands, except percentage data)

For the Year Ended December 31

Increase

2011 Yot 010 Ye* (Decrease) Yot
Revenues
Brokerage revenues
Fixed income 5 234,498 266% § 237,681 299% § (3183) (13)%
Equity 174,862 199 173,519 218 1343 08
Financial 191,689 218 155,945 196 35744 229
Commodity 195,557 222 182,657 230 12900 71
Totai brokerage revenues 796,606 90 s 749 802 943 46,804 62
Cleaning services revenues 112,735 128 41,878 53 70,857 169 2
Other revenues 106,132 20 70,922 89 35,210 49 6
Total revenues 1,015,473 1153 R62 602 108 5 152 871 177
Interest and transacuion-based expenses 134,702 153 67,558 83 67,144 99 4
Revenues, net of interest and transaction-
based expenses $ 880,771 1000% $ 795,044 1000% $ 85,727 10 8%

Denotes % of revenues, net of interest and transaction-based expenses

b Denotes % change 1n 2011 as compared to 2010

Brokerage Revenues—We offer our brokerage services 1n four broad product categones fixed income equity, financial and commodity Below s
a discussion of our brokerage revenues by product category for the year ended December 31 2611

s Broker productivity (defined as total brokerage revenues during the period divided by average monthly brokerage personnel headcount for the
penod) across all product categones decreased by approximatety 3 3% for 2011 as compared to 2010

63

Coue SFGecc e IDE Wack 17 2003 be oot N

Tha infonmation conteimed hergin mng nol be copied stdapted or distributed and is ntol warrentod ta be l:curlrn compma of tmely The usar assumes all nigks for any dimoages or loxs¢a ersng (e o0y L el s
miprmatian except fo the exfent such damages or loases cannol be limited or erciuded by app law isnop of fituie Foknts




Tablc ot Contents

The decrease i fixed mcome product brokerage revenues of $3 2 milhion or 1 3%, m 2011 as compared with 2010 was pnmanly attnibutable
to a deerease 1n revenues from fixed income denvative produets of approximately $ 0% This deereasc 1n revenues from fixed inceme derivative
products was due 1n large pant 1o lower revenues in Europe partially offset by the inclusion of a full year of revenues at Kyte Offsetung the
decrease 1n fixed income dertvatives revenues was a 2 3% 1ncrease 1n our cash fixed income busihesses in 2011 as compared to 2010 Cash fixed
mcome product revenues ncreased, n large part, to the acquisition of a cash fixed income brokerage firm m the fourth quarter of 2010 Qur
fixed income product brokerage personnel headcount increased by 18 to 343 employees at December 31, 2011 from 325 employees at
December 31, 2010

The increase 1 equity product brokerage revenues of 31 3 million, or 0 8%, 11 2011 as compared with 2010 was pnmanly attnbutable 1o
higher revenues in Europe The growth in revenues from equity products in Europe was due, m-part to the heightened volatility caused by the
ongoimg soverctgn debt and economic concerns as well as incremental revenues from Kyte This merease was partially offsct by lower revenues
from cash and denvative equity products in the U S Our equity product brokerage personnel headcount decreased by 13 to 234 employees at
December 3t 2011 from 247 employees at December 31 2010

The increase 1n financial product brokerage revenves of $35 7 milhon, or 22 9%, n 2011 as compared to 2010 was pnimanly attnbutable to
improved market conditions and significant trading in emerging markets 1n Latin Amenca Eastem Europe and Asia as well as increased usage
of GFI s ForexMatch® electronic trading platfortn - The opemung of our offices in Colombia and Switzerland also contributed to mcreased
financial product brokerage revenues in 2011 Qur financial product brokerage personnel headcount increased by 83 to 378 employees at
December 31 2011 from 295 employees at December 31, 2010

The increase in commodity product brokerage revenues of $12 9 million, or 7 1%, 11 2011 as compared to 2010 was pnmanly attributable to
mncreased volauhty and demand for certain commodity products, such as power, natural gas, emissions and metals, as well as the contribution
from new desks 1n the Americas and Europe Shightly ofTsetting this increase was a decrease in o1 and freight revenues due 1o the closing of
several desks 1n this product area Our commodity product brokerage personnel headcount increased by 22 to 316 employees at December 31,
2011 from 294 employees at December 31 2010

Clearing Services Revenue

Clearing services revenues increased by $70 8 nullion for the year ended December 31, 20! 1 1o $112 7 nullion from 341 9 mullton in the same
period in 2000 These revenues are entirely related to the operations of Kyte, which we acquired on July 1, 2010 and which are theretore only
partially reflected i the year ended December 31, 2010 Kyte uses the services of third parties whe act as general clearing members of clearing
houses 1n order o clear cash and dervative products for 11s customers  Kyte charges a fee to 1ts customers for cleanng, settlement and other
services agamst which customer negotiated rebates may be apphed Kyte also incurs exchange, clearing and executton costs on behalf of its
clients, which are fully reimbursed and are therefore included 1n both revenues and expenses

Other Revenues

Other revenues were compnsed of the following (dollars i thousands)

For the Year Ended
December 31,

' “ora

2012 2011
Software analytics and market data g 73,620 § 60,637
Equity 1 net earnings of unconsohdated businesses 10,466 3974
Remeasurement of foreign currency transactions and balances {220) (6,770}
Net realized and unrealized (losses) gains from toreign currency hedges (415) 3,529
Intcrest inceme on short-term investments 1,310 1,334
Interest income from cleanng services 2,300 671
Other 19,071 7,547
Total other revenues g 106132 § 70,922
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Other revenues increased by $35 2 nrulhon for the year ended December 31, 201 1 10 $106 1 million from $7¢ § rmllion for the year ended
December 31 2010 This wincrease was largely related to (1) an increase in our software analytics and market data revenue of $13 0 milion which was largely
atinbutable to an increase 1n software revenues at our Traypert subsidiary (1) a net increase of $11 5 milhon 1n Other, which was due 10 pant toa 869
mulhon gain refated 1o the fair value mark-to-market on the future purchase commitment to acquire the residual 30% equity inierest in Kyte compared 1o a gan
of $0 2 million 1 2010, (1) an increase of $6 5 million 1n equity in net earmings of unconsalidated businesses, which was pnimanty related to equuty method
tnvestments in certain Kyte backed traders and brokerage operations acquired on July 1 2010 and (1v) a net increase of $6 6 mullion related to the
remeasurement of foreign currency transactions and balances Foreign currency remeasurement gains and losses result from the remeasurement of asset and
ilabihty balances that are denomimaied 1n currencics other than the functional currency of the business unit involved in such transactions These increases n
Other were slightly offset by a net decrease of $3 9 mullion in net realized and unrealized losses related to hedges of certain non-U S dollar assets as well as
hedges of current and anticipated revenucs denominated in forcign currencies

Interest and Transaction-Based Expenses

»  Transaction fees on cleanng services increased by 368 4 million to $108 3 nullion 1n the year ended December 31, 2011 from $39 9 million
in 2010 Thesc costs are entirely refated to the clearing operations of Kyte, which we acquired on July 1, 2010 and which are therefore only
partially reflected 1n the year ended December 31, 2010

*  Transactions fees on brokerage services decreased by $2 7 nullton to $24 5 mullion an the year ended December 31 2011 from 327 2 mullion
or 9 9%, in 2011 as compared 10 2010 Transaction fees on brokerage services as a percentage of our total revenues from pnncipal transactions
decreased 10 10 4% for 2011, from 12 6% 10 2010, as revenues from our cash equities businesses decreased refative to revenues from our cash
fixed incomc businesses Principal transactions are generally seitled through third party clearing organizations that charge us a fee for their
services Transaction fees for cash fixed income prancipal transactions tend to be lower than for cash equity principal transachions  We also use
the services of stock exchanges and floor brokers to assist in the execution of transactions Fees paud to floor brokers and executien fees paid 1o
exchanges 1n these circumstances are inciuded in clearing fees In addition transaction fees alse include fees incurred i certain equity
transactions executed on an agency basis

Expenses

The following table sets forth the changes in expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 as compared to the same penod 1 2010 (dollars in
thousands, except percentage data)

For the Y ear Ended December 31,

Inerease
01 Ya* 010 Yot (Decrease) Yar*
Expenses
Compensation and employee benefits $ 627,368 712% § 558 248 02% $ 69 120 12 4%
Communicabiens and market data 60,728 69 49,579 63 11,149 225
Travel and promotion 40,011 46 37517 47 2,494 6 6
Rent and occupancy 24,664 28 22,413 28 2,251 100
Depreciation and amortization 38643 44 3441l 43 4,512 131
Professional fees 27,413 3] 25,949 33 1,464 56
Interest 1n borrowings 25 759 209 11063 14 14,696 1328
Other cxpenses 35,803 41 24,041 10 11,762 489
Total other expenses 3 380,689 1000% 3 763,241 9% 0% $ 117 448 15 4%
* Denotes % of revenues net of interest and transaction-based expenses
** Denotes % change in 2011 as compared to 2010
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Compensation and Employee Benefits

s The increase 1n compensation and employee benefits expenses of $69 1 mitlion m the year ended December 31, 20t 1 was due, 1n large part, to
(1) ncreased headcount in brokers, back office and Trayport employees, (11} hrgher compensanon expense related to Kyte, which we acqurred on
tuly 1, 2010 and which 1s therefore only partially reflected in the vear ended December 31, 2010, and (11) a $19 4 million charge taken in 2011
related to severance and other restructuning expenses and (1v) higher broker performance bonus compensation due to higher brokerage revenues

s  Total compensation and employee benefits as a percentage of revenues net of mterest and transaction-based expenses increased to 71 2% mn
2011 from 70 2% 1n the prior year The higher compensation expense as a percentage of net revenues for 2011 was due to the charge for
severance and other restructuring expenses in 2011

. Performance bonus expense represented 43 3% and 46 0% of tetal compensation and employee benefits expense for the vear ended December 31
2011 and 2010 respectively A portion of our bonus expense Is subject to contractual guarantees that may require us to make bonus payments to
brokers regardless of their performance n any particular period Additionally, compensation expense resulting from the amortization of sign-on
and retentton bonuses paid 1n prior periods represented 7 7% and 6 7% of total compensation and employee benefits expense for the years ended
Dccember 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

All Other Expenses

¢  The ncrease 1n communications and market data of $11 1 mullion m 2011 was due, 1n large part, to a $7 3 nmllion merease related to the
inclusion ot a tull year of results for our Kyte subsidiary, which we acquired on July 1, 2010 and whach 1s therefore only partially reflected in
the year ended December 31, 2010 The remaining ncrease was pnmarnly due to increased brokerage headcount and upgrades to existing
systems

¢ The mcrease in depreciation and amortization of $4 5§ mllion was primanly due to the mclusion i 2011 ot a full year of amortization of
intangibles related to our acquisition ol Kyte and other entities in the second half of 2010

& The mcrcase mn interest on borrowings of $14 7 million was due 1 large part, te the July 2011 1ssuance of $250 6 million of 8 375% Semor
Notes which led 1o greater borrowings outstanding and a higher average effective iterest rate on term debt borrowings, dunng the year ended
December 31 2011 The mcrease was also due, 1n part, to $6 0 million 1n bond redemption costs associated with the July 2011 redemption of
the entire $60 0 nullion principal amount of our then-outstanding 7 17% Senior Notes

e Other expenses mereased $11 8 mullion m 2011 from 2010 primartly due to 38 8 milhon of unpairment charges taken 1n 2011 related to certan
equity method mvestments

*  Qur provision for income taxes was $2 6 million in 2011 compared 10 $5 9 million in 2010 Our low Jevel of profitability 1 2011 caused non-
deductible expenses to have a disproportionate eftect on our tax provision in 2011
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Results of Segment Operations

Based on the nature of our operations products and services in each geographic region we deternuncd that we have five operating segments
(1) Amenicas Brokerage (1) Europe Middle East and Afrtca ('EMEA ) Brokerage, (11} Asia Brokerage (1v) Cleaning and Backed Frading and (v) All Other
Qur brokerage operations provide brokerage services in four broad product categones fixed income, financial, equity and commodity Our Cleanng and
Backed Trading segment encompasses our clearing, risk management, scttlement and other back-office scrvices as well as the capital we provide 1o start-up
trading groups small hedge funds, market-makers and 1ndividual traders Our All Other segment captures revenues and costs that are not directly assignable
to one of the brokerage or cleanng and backed trading operating business segments, pnmanly consisuing of our corporate business activities and operations
from software analytics and market data

The following tables summarize our Total revenues, Revenues, net of interest and transaction-based expenses, Other expenses and Income (foss)
before mcome taxes by segment

For the Year Ended December 33, 2012

Clearing
Americas EMEA Asia and Backed
Brokerage Brokerage Brokerage Trading All Other Total
Total revenues $ 276,350 % 338,504 § 71,927 % 159,877 § 77929 % 924,587
Revenues net of interest and transaction-
based expenses 262,560 328 722 71,813 44 597 79 353 787 045
Other expenses 192,912 245,388 56,738 37,909 255,355 788,302
Income (loss) before income taxes 69,648 83,334 15,075 6,688 (176,002} (1.257)
Eor the Year Ended December 31, 2011
Clearing
Americas EMEA Aua and Backed
Brokcrage Brokerage Brokerapge Trading All Oiher Total
Total revenucs g 313,483 § 386,012 % 82,903 § 164882 § 68,193 § 1,015,473
Revenues net of interest and transaction-
based expenses 299,590 374,802 82,839 54 104 69,436 880 771
Other expenses 218,282 286,680 67,306 44 908 263,513 880 6R9
Income (loss) before income taxcs 81,308 88,122 15,533 9,196 (194 077 82
For thc Y car Ended December 31, 2010
Clearng
Americas EMEA Asia and Backed
Brokcrage Brokerage Brokerage Trading All Other Total
Total revenues $ 294,910 § 379,033 S 74,945 § 53,129 § 60 585 S 862 602
Revenues, net of interest and transaction-
based expenses 278,553 367,494 74,875 12 149 61,982 795 044
Other expenses 212,154 252,457 59,061 15,181 224388 763,241
Income (loss) before tincome taxes 66,399 115,037 15,814 (3041} (162 406) 31.803

Segment Results for the Year Ended December 31,2012 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2011

Total Revenues

¢ Total revenues for Americas Brokerage decreased $37 | mullion, or 11 8%. 10 $276 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from
$313 5 million for the year ended December 31 2011 Total revenues for EMEA Brokerage deercased $47 5 milhon or 12 3% to
$338 5 mllion for the year ended Decemnber 31 2012 from $386 0 mullion for the year ended December 31 2011 Total revenues lor Asia
Brokerage decreased $11 0 million, or 13 3%, to $71 9 mithon for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $82 9 millian for the year ended
December 31,2011 Tolal revenues for our three brokerage segments decreased by $95 6 mullion, or 12 2%, to $686 8 million lor the year
ended December 31 2012 from $782 4 nullion for the year ended December 31 2011 The decrease in total revenues for our brokerage scgments
was primarily due to the factors described above under *Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to the Year Ended December 31 2011
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s Total revenues for Cleanng and Backed Trading decreased $5 0 millton, or 3 (% to $159 9 million for the year ended December 31, 2012
trom $164 9 mullion for the year ended December 31 2011 The decrease was due, 1n large part, to a decrease 1n equity earnings of
unconsolrdated businesses, a decrease 1 brokerage revenues at Kyte, lower cleanng services revenues due to a vanation m the mix of products
and exchanges utthzed by our new and existing cleaning service customers and a decrease in the number of trades cleared by our Kyte
subsidiary

e Total revenues for our All Other segment pntmanly consisted of revenues generated from sales of software, analytics and market data Total
revenues from All Other increased by 89 7 mullion, or 14 2%, to $77 9 rullion for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $68 2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2011 This increase was due, m large part, lo an increase in software, analytics and market data revenues al our
Trayport substidiary due to growth in 1ts customer base as well as new product offerings

Total interest and transacnon-based expenses

. I otal interest and transaction-based lees tor our three brokerage segments decreased by 31 5 million, or 6 0%, to $23 7 million for the year
ended December 31 2012 from $25 2 milhon for the year ended December 31, 2011 Thrs decrease was pnmanly due to a decrease in
brokerage revenues executed on a matched principal basis for which we ncur transaction-based expenses

s Total interest and transaction-bascd tees tor our Clearing and Backed Trading scgment increased by $4 5 muilion te $113 3 mullion tor the year
ended December 31 2012 from $110 & mullion the prior year primanly due to vanations in the mix of products and exchanges utihzed by
existing and new clearing service customers partially offset by a market-wide decrease n trading volumes

Other Expenses

s Other expenses for Amencas Brokerage decreased $25 4 million, or 11 6%, to $192 9 malhion for the year ended December 31, 2012 from
$218 3 mullion for the year ended December 31, 2011 Other expenses for CTMEA Brokerage decreased $41 3 mutlion, or 14 4%, 10 $245 4
milhon for the year ended December 31, 2012 trom $286 7 mulhon for the year ended December 31, 2011 Other expenses lor Asia Brokerage
decreased $10 6 million or 15 8% to 56 7 mullion for the year ended December 31, 2012 from 367 3 million for the year ended
December 31 2011 Total Other expenses for our three brokerage segments decreased by $77 3 mullion, or 13 5%, to $495 0 milhion for the year
ended December 31, 2012 from $372 3 mullion tor the year ended December 31, 2011 The decrease was primanly due to lower broker
pertormance bonus expense resulting from lower brokerage revenues and imitiatives implemented n the Jatter part of 2011 and throughout 2012
to reduce our aggregate compensation expetise The decrease was also due to a $19 4 millon charge taken in 201 ( related to severance and other
restructunng expenses

. For our brokerage segments, we record certan dircet expensces, includmg compensaton and employce benefits, however, we do not allocate
certain expenses that are managed separately at the corporate level to these operating segments The unallocated costs including rent and
occupancy, depreciation and amortization, professional fees, interest and other expenses are mcluded m the expenses for All Other descnbed
below Management does not believe that allocating these costs to our brokerage segments 15 opttmal for evaluating the performance ot tts
brokerage segments

®  Other expenses for Cleaning and Backed Trading decreased $7 0 mullion to $37 9 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $44 9
million for the year ended December 31, 2011 This decrease was due, 1n large pan, to a decrease in compensation and employee benefits due to
lower variable compensation expense

®  Other expenses (or our All Other segment decreased by $8 | million or 3 1% 1o $255 4 mullion for the year ended December 31 2012 from
$263 5 mulhon for the year ended December 31 2011 The decrease was due, n large part, to a decrease 1n compensation and cmployee benefits
due to lower vanable compensation expense for back office personnel and a decrease 1n professional fees for 2012 as compared to 2011,
pnmanly due to a decrease 1n our global audit fee 1 the current year, as we!ll as lower consulting fees associated with regulatory comphance in

the UK
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Segment Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to the Year Ended December 31,2010

Total Revenues

Total revenues for Americas Brokerage increased $18 6 million or 6 3%, 10 $313 5 mallion for the year ended December 31 2011 trom

$294 9 miilion for the year ended December 31 2010 Total revenues for EMEA Brokerage increased 87 ¢ nullion or 1 8% to $386 0 million
for the year ended December 31 20H from $379 0 mullion for the year ended December 31 2010 Total revenues for Asia Brokerage increased
$7 9 million or 10 5% to 582 9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $75 0 million for the year ended December 31 2010
Total revenues for our three brokerape segments increased by $33 5 mullion, or 4 5%, to $782 4 rmlhion tor the year ended December 31 2011
from $748 9 mullion for the year ended December 31 2010 The increase i to1al revenues for our brokerage operations was primanly due o
increases in brokerage revenues m financial and commodity products resulting from the factors described above under “Year Ended

December 31, 2011 Compared to the Ycar Ended December 31, 2010 °

Total revenues for Cleaning and Backed Trading increased $111 8 to $164 9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from 853 1
mulhon for the year ended December 31,2010 These revenues are entirely related to our Kyte operations, which we acquired on July 1 201¢
Accordingly the year ended December 31, 201 1 15 not directly comparable to the year ended December 31 2010 Total revenues for Clearing and
backed trading for the year ended December 31 2011 consist pnmanly of clearing services revenues of $112 7 mullion brokerage revenues
from principal transactions of $16 2 mullion, equity n earmings of unconsolidated subsidiartes of $14 7 mullion and other income of $19 0
miliion

Total revenues for our All Other segment prnimanly consisted of revenues generated from sales of software analytics and market data Total
revenucs from All Other increased by §7 6 million, or 12 5%, to $68 2 million tor the year ended December 31, 2011 from $60 6 million for
the year ended December 31 2010 The ierease was primanly related to a $12 9 mullien increase 1n soflware, analytics and markel data
primanly attnbutable to an mcrease v soflware revenues at our Trayport subsidiary partially offset by a §3 9 mifhion decrease in equity in net
losses of unconsohdated business

Total interest and transaction-based expenses

Total miterest and transacton-based fees for our three broketage segments decreased by $2 8 mullion or 10 0%, from $28 0 mulhion for the year
ended December 31 2010 to $25 2 mullion for the year ended December 31 2011 The decrease was related to the decrease 1n ransaction fees
paid for brokerage services by our Americas and EMEA brokerage segments, which decreased by $2 5 mulhion, or 15 1% and 30 3 mitlion or
2 9%, respectively

Total mterest and transaction-based fees for our Clearing and Backed Trading segment increased to $110 8 nullion for the year ended
December 31, 2011 from $41 0 mullion the prior year All of these expenses were icurred by Kyte following the acquisition on July 1 2010 and
are primarnily due 1o transaction fees on clearing services of $108 3 million and $39 9 mullion m the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010
respectively

Other Expenses

Other expenses for Amencas Brokerage increased $6 1 mullion, or 2 9%, to $218 3 mullion for the year ended December 31 2011 from

$212 2 mullion for the year ended December 31, 2010 Other expenses for EMEA Brokerage increased $34 2 mullion, or 13 5%, to $286 7
milhion for the year ended December 31 2011 from $252 5 mullion for the year ended December 31, 2010 Other expenses for Asia Brokerage
increased $8 2 melhion, or 13 9%, to $67 3 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 from $59 1 nullion for the year ended December 31,
2010 Total Other expenses for our three brokerage segments increased by $48 5 milhion, or 9 3%, to $572 3 milhion for the year ended
December 31, 2011 from $523 8 m:llion for the year ended December 34, 2010 The mcrease was primarily due to a $41 5 nullion increase (n
compensauon and employee benefits as well as increases in communications and market data, travel and promotion, interest on botrowing
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expenses and the other factors descnibed above under *Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2010

For our brokerage segments, we record certain direct expenses, including compensation and employee benefits, however, we do not allocate
certain expenses that are managed separately al the corporate level to these operating segments The unallocated costs 1ncluding rent and
occupancy, deprecration and amortization, professional fees, interest and other expenscs arc inctuded in the expenses for All Other described
below Management decs not believe that allocating these costs to our brokerage segments 18 optimal {or evaluating therr pertormance

Other expenses for Cleaning and Backed Trading increased $29 7 million to $44 9 million for the year ended December 31 2011 from $15 2
million for the year ended December 31, 2010 These expenses are entirely related to the operattons of Kyte, which we acquired on July 1, 2010
Accordingly, the year ended December 31, 2011 15 not directly comparable to the year ended December 31, 2010 Total expenses lor Clearng and
Backed trading for the yecar cnded December 31 2011 are compnised of, in large part compensation and employee benefits expense of 18 4
milhon communicanons and market data expense ol $10 7 mullion and depreciation and amorttzatton of §5 2 mithon

Other expenses for our All Other segment increased by $39 1 mulhion, or 17 4%, to $263 5 mitlion for the year ended December 31, 2011 from
$224 4 mutlion for the year ended December 31, 2010 The increase was largely due 1o a $14 4 mullion increase in compensation and employee
benefits an $11 5 million increasc 1n interest on borrowings and a $10 1 mulhion increase m other expenses These factors are discussed above
under “Year Ended December 31 2011 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2010
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Quarterly Resalts of Operations

The following table sets forth, by quarter, our unaudited Statement of Operations data for the period from lanuary 1 2011 to December 3| 2012
Results of any period are not necessanly indicative of results for a full year and may, in certain periods, be affected by seasonal fluctuations in cur business

Quarter Ended
December 31 September 30, June 30, March 31, December 31 Scptember 30 June 30, March 31
1012 1012 2012 2012 2011 1 2011 2011
(dollars En thousands)
Revenues
Agency commissions b3 104,110 § 112239 § 123457 § 144,580 S 125,584 § 151,446 136,513 S 147,483
Principal fransaclions 46,329 50,278 51,964 62,588 48,907 61,711 54,475 7O 4R7
Total brokerage
revenues 150 439 162 517 175 421 207 168 174 491 213157 190 988 217970
Cleaning senices revenues 29,704 30,545 29 635 28127 25513 31872 27 680 27670
Interest income from
clearing services 639 422 382 521 682 606 670 342
Equity in net eamings of
unconsolidated
businesses (1) 2,327 2,344 2,478 1,420 523 4,260 4,757 926
Software, analytics and
market data 22,482 21,204 20,468 19 999 19 292 18 837 18,403 17 088
Other meome (loss) 1,703 2 356 9,346 2,940 13,829 7 230 1,233 {2,546\
Total revenues 207,294 219 388 237730 260 175 234,330 275962 243 131 261,450
Interest and transaction-based
axpenses
Transaction tees on
clearing services 28 738 29 420 28 606 26,962 24 074 30,388 26 752 27 069
Transaction fees on
brokerage senices 4,831 5734 6153 6,125 5,184 6,673 6079 6 605
Intcrest expense from
¢learing serveces 293 82 158 440 496 439 617 326
Total interest and transaction-
based expenses 33 862 35,236 34,917 131527 29 754 37.500 33,448 14 000
Revenues, net of interest and
transaction-based
expenses s 173432 § 184 152 § 202813 § 226648 § 204576 § 238 462 210283 8§ 227450
Expenses
Compensation and
employee benefits 124 574 130,499 135,650 155 778 161 068 159 980 146,839 159 481
Communications and
market data 14,131 15,269 15,694 15,666 15 364 15,187 §5,106 15,071
Travel and promotion 8,503 7,973 9,285 10,089 9,887 9,723 10 198 10 203
Rent and occupancy 2908 7 083 6,884 6,792 6,481 6322 5 988 5873
Depreciation and
amortization 9,122 5.246 9108 9148 9,278 9660 9 801 9874
Professtonal tees 5,768 5925 5377 6 168 1772 6.865 5,672 7103
Interest on borrowings 6,805 6 738 63527 6,815 7512 12 035 3276 2916
Other expenses(1) 11,047 8,586 6671 8473 14,244 9353 557 6633
Total other expenses g [82,858 § 191319 § (95196 $ 218929 § 231606 $ 129 456 202453 § 27173
{Loss) income before
provision for {bencfit
from) income taxes (9.426) (7,167) 7617 7719 (27 030y 9 006 7 830 10276
Provisian for (benefit from)
income axes 1,688 1638 2282 2,779 {4,945 2 884 2,036 2672
et (loss) tncome befare
attribution to non-
controlling steckholders (1i,114) (8,805) 5,335 4,940 (22,085) 6122 5794 7 604
Less Netincome (toss)
attributable o non-
conteolling inierests 258 (112) 15 148 58 57 (357} 858
GFI's net (loss) income 3 (11372) § (8,693 § 5,320 % 4,792 % {22 143) § 6 065 6151 § 6 746
71
Srpre GFIGrrg k- IDF Hach 13 2073 [ t

Tho intormalon cantainod horoin ma) x
information excep! 10 the sxtent sue

P e 1200 0

of hururs results

not be copled cd=ptod or distributed and 13 not warrontod o be sccurota conmplete of mely The usor sssumes alf risks for any damaney ¢1 102204 *1t vy freon amy ¢
dymages or foasea eannot be Imuied or d by faw Past

'
-



Table of Contents

The tollowing table sets forth our quarterly results of operations as a percentage of our Revenues, net o! interest and transaction-based expenses, tor

the indicated penods

Revenues
Agency commisstons
Pnncipal transactions
Total hrokcrage rexenues
Clearing s lues révenues
Intetest income trom eanng sunaces
Fquity n net carmings of
unconsolidated businesses (1)
Software analyues and market data
Other income (loss)

Toral revenues

Interest and Lransaction-baved expenses
Transacnion fues an eleanng services
Transaction fees on brokurge sen e
Interest expense from clenning senaces

Total inierest and transaction-based
expemes

Revenues, net of interest and
transaction basid expenses
Fxpenses
Compensation and employee benetits
Communicanons and market data
Travel and promonon
Rent and osceupancy
Depreciation and amortteation
Trofcasional fees
Inleresl un borros ngs
Othur expenses(1)

Total ather expenscs

{1 ass) income before provision for
{henefit from) income taxes
Provision frorm {benc it from} income taxces

Nt {Joss) meeme before attribution
to non-contralling stockholders
Less Net income (loss) attnbutable to
nun-ontrelling inerests

Uy et (loss) income

Quarter Ended
December 31, September 30 June M, March 31, December 11, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 011
50 0% 60 5% 609% 63 3% 61 4% 63 5% 64 9% 64 8%
267 273 256 276 239 259 259 310 |
86 7 RR 2 86 35 914 853 89 4 90 & 958 !
171 166 146 124 125 134 132 122 I
04 02 0z 02 03 03 03 01 |
13 13 12 06 03 18 23 4
130 115 101 88 o3 T8 87 73
10 13 46 14 68 30 06 (11) |
1195 1191 1172 1148 114 5 1157 1159 1149 |
16 6 160 141 19 1§ 127 127 19
2R 31 30 27 25 38 29 29
01 00 01 02 02 02 03 01
195 191 172 148 143 157 159 149
100 0% 100 0% 100 0% 160 0%, 100 0% 100 0% 100 0% 100 0%
718 709 669 687 787 671 69 8 701
8t 83 77 69 75 64 72 66
49 43 46 45 43 a1 48 45
17 38 34 30 32 27 28 26
53 50 45 10 45 42 47 44
33 32 27 27 38 29 27 31
39 37 32 30 37 50 16 13
64 47 13 38 70 39 27 29
105 4% 103 $% 96 3% 96 6% 113 2% 96 3% 96 3% 95 5%
G4 39 37 34 (3D 37 37 43
10 09 11 12 (24) 12 10 12
(64 (48 26 22 (og) 25 27 31
02 0 1) 00 01 00 00 (02) a
(6 6)% (4 71% 2 6% 21% (10 8)% 2 5% 2 9% 2 9%

L

Certain amounts related to equity tn net earmings (losses) of unconsolidated businesses totaling ${1 448) for the three months ended March 31 2011 was previously

presented in the “Other expenses  hing stem an the Consolidated Stalements of Opemtions 1o order 10 ¢shance transparency 1n the presemation of the Consolidated Staements
of Operatiens these amounts have been reclassified to the  Equntv 1n net earmings (fosses) of unconsohidated businesses e item
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The tables below detail our brokerage revenues by product category in dollars and as a percentage of our total brokerage revenues for the indicaled perieds

Quarter Ended
December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31, December 31 September 30, June 30 March 31
2012 2012 2012 2012 2051 2011 2011 2011
{dollars En thousands)
Brokerage revenucs
Fixed income b3 9090 0§ 43823 § 43904 § 61511 % 47,222 8§ 62585 % 53184 % 71 507
Equity 30,780 30,868 36,645 37,533 36,715 45 785 44 108 48,157
Financial 41,627 45,303 47 977 50155 41016 52 571 49 597 48 505
Commodity 18 642 42521 46,895 57 969 49,538 52216 44 002 49 80i
Total brokerage revenues $ 150436 § 162517 § 175421 S 207168 $ 174 491§ 213157 S 190988 5 217970
Brokerage revenues
Fixed income 26 0% 26 9% 250% 29 7% 27 1% 29 4% 27 9% 12 8%
Equity 204 190 209 1R 1 210 215 231 21
Fanciai 277 279 273 242 2315 246 260 213
Commodity 259 262 268 280 28 4 245 230 228
Total brokerage Ty enues 100 0% 100 0% 100 0% 100 0% 100 0% 1060 0% 100 0o 1M 0°s

Liguidity and Caputal Resources

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid mvestments with maturiues, when purchased, of three months or less At December 31
2012, we had $227 4 million of cash and cash equivalents compared to $245 ¢ million at December 31, 2011 Included in this amount are 165 1 mullion
and $187 1 mullion of cash and cash equivalents held by subsidianies outside of the United States at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively We have historically asseried the intent 1o indefinitely reinvest with very himuted exceptions, the unremtied profits of our foreign subsidiaries
We continue to assert that our historie profits earned in foreign subsidiaries are indefinitely reinvested However, management has concluded that profits
eamed 1n certain overseas subsidiaries commencing from January 1, 2013 will ultimately be repatnated 1 the United States and we wall acerue additional

income taxes 1f any on such international profits We do not expect 2 matenal United States tax charge to arise on the repatnation of these profils

In addiion included within Recervables from brokers, dealers and clearing ergamzations are cash balances which represent amounts clearing
customers have on deposit with Kyte, our cleanng affihate, and which Kyte then deposns with third parues who act as general clearing members of clearing
houses in order to clear cash and dervanve products for Kyte's customers  These amounts, while due to us from the general clearing members ulumately
represent cash payable to our cleanng customers  Also included within Recervables from brokers dealers and cleaning organizations are cash including
deposits, held at clearing orgamzations and exchanges to facilitate settlement and clearance of matched principal transachions and spreads on matched
We esiimate that cash held at cleaning orgamzations net of
amounts owcd to our cleanng customers and net of cleanng cusiomer cash inctuded within Cash and cash equivalenis, was 319 6 million and 341 6 million

principal transactions that have not yet been remitted from cleanng orgamizations and exchanges

as of December 31, 2012 and 201 1, respectively

The following table summarizes our cash position as of December 31, 2012 and 201 1, respectively

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash held at clcanng orgamizations nct of customer cash

Total balance sheet cash

December 31

2012

2011

{dellars in thousands)

3 227441 § 245,879
19,636 41 646
$ 247077 § 287,525

We believe that, based on current levels of operations, our cash from operations, together with our current cash holdings and available borrowings
under our credit agreement with Bank of America N A and certain other lenders (the * Credit Agreement ), will be sufficient to fund our operations for at icast
the next twelve months Poor financial results, unanticipated expenses or unantieipated acquisthons or strategic investments could give nise e additional
financing requirements sooner than we expect There can be no assurance that equity or debt financing will be available when needed or, if available that the
financing wail be on terms satisfactory to us and not difutive to our then-current stockholders
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Sources and Uses of Cash

The toliowng table sets forth our cash flows trom operating activities investing activiies and financing activities for the indtcated penods

For the Y ear Ended December 31,
2012 2011 010
{dollars in thousands)

Cash provided by operating activities S 48,665 § 4579 § 96,106
Cash used 1n investing activities (15,505) {46,245) (58,774)
Cash used i financing activities (55,070) (26,423) (68,107)
Eftects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

equivalents 3,472 93 2,271
Decrease 1n cash and cash equivalents g (18,438) § (67,996) 3% (28,504)

Nct cash provided by operating actuvities was $48 7 miltion for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared with $4 6 million for the year ended
December 31 2011, a net increase of $44 1 mulion The increase in cash provided by operating activities 15 due 1o a reduction in working capital employed n
the bustness for the year ended December 31, 2012 relative 10 the same pentod in 2011 The decrease m working capital employed n the business was
primanly due to (1} a $130 4 mulhion decrease related 1o changes in net receivables from and payables to brokers dealers and cleaning organizations, (11} a
$12 9 million decrease related to the change 1n commussions receivable and (111} a net decrease n the change 1n other assets and other habiliies of $9 1 million
targely attributable 1o a decrease 1n cash sign-en and retention bonuses paid of $16 4 million These decreases i working capital requrements were partially
offset by a $74 2 millien increase in workmg capital used in the business related to the net changes in acerued compensation and accounts payable, a net
increase of $15 0 milion related 10 tncreases 1n each of cash and secunties segregated under tederal and other regulations and payables to cleanng service
customers Offsetting this net reduction 1 working capital was a decrease of $7 1 million 1n net loss before attnbution to non-controlling stockholders from
$2 6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 to 39 6 million for the year ended December 30, 2012

Net cash provided by eperating activities tor the year ended December 31, 2011 was $4 6 mullion, as compared to $96 1 million tor the year ended
December 31, 2010 a decrease of $91 5 mullion This decrease was due, 1n part, to a2 $28 5 mulhon decrease 1n net income before attribution to non-
controlhing stockholders from $25 9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 10 a loss 0 $2 6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 The
decrease 1s also attnibutable to 2 $109 6 million increase 1 working capital employed in the busimess for the year ended December 31, 2011 relative to the
samt period n 2010 The increase n working capital employed in the business was primanily due to a $112 2 million nerease related 10 changes i net
receivables from brokers, dealers and cleanng orgamzations, a net increase m the change 1n other assets and other liabihities of $26 § mullion, largely
attributable to an increase in sign-on and retention bonuses paid of $12 5 rillion in 2011 as compared to 2010 These increases 1n working caputal
requirements were offsct by a $10 8 mallion deercase refated to accrued compensation and accounts payable and a net decrease of $14 6 nillion related to
decreases n each of segregated cash and payables 1o cleaning services customers Offsetung the decrease in net income and additional working capital
employed i the business was a 346 6 mulhon net change tn 1tems which reconeile net income 1o net cash used m operating activities, such as depreciation and
amortization, share-based compensation expense, amortization of sign-on and retention bonuses and benefit from deferred taxes, as compared to the year ended
December 31 2010

Changes 1n working capttal are oflen related to the uming of settlement of matched principal trades While our net exposure 1o these trades ts mimima!
(since we simultanceusly agree to buy mnstruments from one customer and sell them to another customer), there 18 sometimes a shight lag in the scttlement of
these oftsetting trades that results 1n us mamtammg a receivable or payable positions for a short period of time, tymically overnight Substantially all fait 1o
deliver and fail o receive balances at December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, have subsequently settled at the contracted amounts

Net cash used 1n mvesting activities for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $15 5 millton compared to $46 3 nullion for 2011 The decrease in
«ash used for investing activities was related to (1) a decrease of $9 | mullien in net payments due to the settlement of foreign exchange denvative hedge

contracts (n) a decreasc 1n purchases of cost and cquity
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method investments of $8 2 mullion, (in1) a decrease in purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements of §4 8 million (1v) the 1ssuance of notc
receivables of 55 ¢ rillion in the year ended December 31, 2011 and (v} the purchase of $3 3 milhion of imangible assets in the year ended December 31
2011

Net cash used in mvesting acuvines for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $46 3 nullion compared to $58 8 mullion for 2010 The decrease in
cash used for investung activities was pnmarily attributable to a $25 4 million decrease 1n cash used in business acquisiions net of cash acquired and
purchases of mtangible and other assets and a $13 3 mullion decrease in purchases of cost and equity method investments These decreases were shightly offset
by an increase of $12 2 mullion in net payments due to the settlement of foreign exchange derivative hedge contracts and an increase 1n purchases ol property,
equipment and leasehold improvements and payments for internally develeped software of 510 | mullion

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31 2012 was $55 1 mullion compared to $26 4 mmilion in 2081 Thas increase
was pramanly duc to the net procceds ot $250 0 million trom the 1ssuance of our 8 375% Senior Notes in July 2011, net ot $8 8 millien 1n debt sssuance
costs, and nct of the repayments of all outstanding amounts under our Credit Agreement and all aggregate principal amounts of our then-outstanding 7 17%
Semor Notes This increase was also due 10 an increase of $5 4 nullion 1n cash dividends paid due to the accelerated dividend declared and paid in
December 2012 These increases were offset by net decreases of $22 9 mullion 1n purchases of treasury stock See Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements in Part 1l-ltem 8 for further discussion of our short-term borrowings and long-term obligations

Net cash used n financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $26 4 million compared to $68 1 million 1n 2018 The decrease was
due 1n large part to (1) proceeds of $250 0 milhien aggregate principal related to the ssuance of our 8 375% Senior Notes net ot $9 1 mullion 1n debt 1ssvance
costs and (1) decreases of $30 5 mitlion n cash dividends paid This decrease was oftset by (1) the use of $195 0 mullion of the net proceeds trom the ofturing
to repay ail outstanding amountis under our Credit Agreement and all aggregate principle amounts of our then-cutstanding 7 17%Scnior Notes, (1) nut
increases of $13 3 muilion 1n purchases of treasury stock and (1) $2 4 mullion in cash paid for taxes on the vesting of RSUs Sec Note 8 to our Consohdated
Financial Statements in Part II-Item 8 for further discussion of our short-termn borrowings and leng-term obligations

Regulatory Requurements

Our Liquidity and available cash resources are in part restricted by the regulatory requiremnents of certan of our material operating subsidianes
ncluding GFI Secunties LLC, GFI Securities Limited, GF1 Brokers LLC, Amerex Brokers LLC GFi Brokers Limited The Kyte Group Limited Kyte
Broking Linuted, GFT (HK} Securities LLC, GFI (HK) Brokers Ltd, GFI Group PTE Lid and GFI Korea Money Brokerage Limited These operating
subsidianies are subject to mmimum captial requirements and/or heensing and financial requirements imposed by their respective market regulators that are
ntended to ensure general financial soundness and liquidity based on certain mmmmum capital hicensing and financial requirements US and UK
regulations prohibit a registered broker-dealer from repaying borrowings of ts parent or affiliates, paying cash dividends, making loans to a1s parent or
affiliates or otherwise entering into transactions that result in a significant reduction in 11s regulatory net capilal position without prior nouification or approval
from 1ts principal regulator Sec Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II-ltem 8 for further details on our regulatory requirements

Short and Long Term Debt

Our outstanding debt at December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 consists of our § 375% Senior Notes During the year ended December 31,
2011, we used $135 3 mullion and $67 8 mallion of the net proceeds trom the 1ssuance of the 8 375% Sentor Notes to repay all outstanding amounts pursvant
to the Credit Agreement and 10 repay all of the outstanding principal and interest to redeem the 7 17% Senior Notes, respectively as well as to pay all
premiums and transaction expenses associated therewith Tollowing the 1ssuance of the 8 375% Senuor Notes the available borrowing capacity under the
Credit Agreement decreased trom $200 million to approximately $129 5 miliion In March, 2013, we entered mto an amendment to our Credit Agreement,
which decreased the maximum borrowing capacity to $75 millien unul December 2013 at which time $18 75 mullion of the lender commutments mature
The remaining $56 25 million of the lender commitments mature 1n December 2015 See Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements i Part [I-ltem 8 for
further details on the Credit Agrecment, our 8 375% Semor Notes and our 7 17% Semior Notes
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Credir Rutings

As ot December 31, 2012, we maantained the following public long-term credit ratings and associated outlooks

Rating Outlook
Moody’s Investor Services Ba2 Stable
Standard & Poer’s BB- Negative
Fitch Ratings Inc BBRB- Stable

Credit ratings and outlooks can be revised at any time 1f such rating agency decides the circumstances warrant a revision  [n addition, a reduction
our rang may affect the availability ot future debt financing and the terms that are available tous  1f our credit rating 1s further downgraded by any of the
rating agencics our apphcable per annum interest rate on our outstanding 8 375% Sentor Notes could mcrease up to a maximum of 200 basis points over the
origmal interest rale

On Apnl 23 2012 Standard & Poor’s ( ‘S&P™) lowered 1ts credit rating on our 8 375% Senior Notes one notch to BB+, which increased our
apphcable per annum interest, effective July 19 2012, by 25 bases points, equating to 80 6 milhon 1n additronal imterest expense per annum On July 6,
2012, Fiich Raungs Inc ( INitch™) lowered its credit rating on our 8 375% Senior Notes one notch to BBB-, which did not have any impact on the applicable
mnterest rate related to the 8 375% Senior Notes as Fitch’s rating did not go below the base rating On December 21, 2012, S&P further lowered 1ts credit rating
on our 8 375% Senmior Notes two notches to BB-, which will increase our apphicable per annum mterest, effective January 19, 2013, by an additional 50 basis
points cquatmg to $1 25 mullion i additional nterest expense per annum On January 18, 2013, Moody's Investor Scrvices lowered 1ts credit rating on our
8 375% Secnior Notes two notches to Bl, which wall increase our applicable per annum interest, effective January 19, 2013, by an additional 50 basis points,
equating to $1 25 mullion in addinonal mierest expense per annum

The agpregate eflect of these downgrades to our credit rating by the various rattng agencies equate to $3 1 mullion m addional interest expense per
dnnunt

Drwidends Peaid

Prior to 2008 we retamed all eamings for investment m our business In February 2008, our Board of Directors approved a policy of paying
quarterly dividends subject to available cash flow from eperations other considerations and the determunation ef the amount by our Board of Directors In
Decomber 2010 1 addinon o the quarterly dividends declared by our Board of Directors, our Board also declared a special cash dividend of $0 25 per share
In December 2012, our Board of Directors declared a fourth quarter dividend that was declared and patd on an accelerated basis, in December 2012 Cash
dividends pa:d 1n 2012, 2011 and 2010 were approximately $29 6 million $24 2 nullton and $54 7, respectively

Comnron Stock
it 15 our expectation that we may purchase additional shares of our common stock on the open market from time to time 1n accordance with a stock

repurchase program authonzed by our Board of Directors See Note 10 to our Consolidated Financial Statements tn Part [I-ltem & for further discussion of the
stock repurchase program
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Contractual Obhgations and Commitments
The following table summanzes cenam of our contractual obligations as of December 31 2012

Payments Due by Penaod
1 ess than More than
Total L year ]-3years 3 -5years S vears

{1n thousands) '

Contractual Obligations

Operating leases(1) $ 141,283 % 14850 § 23558 § 19821 § %3 054
Interest on Long-term obligations(2) 143,126 22,813 48,125 48 125 24.063
Long-term obligations 250,000 — — — 250 000
Purchase obligations{3} 29,504 22,750 5,618 1,136 —
Total $ 563,913 § 60413 § 77301 § 69,082 § 357 117
mn The amounts listed under Operaung leases include the future minimum rental comnutments relating to a twenty-year [case that we entered 1nto for our

current pnmary U S office space in June 2007 At December 31, 2012 the total minimum rental commutinents under this leasc totaled $73 9
emillion, with $4 5 rmillion due 1n less than one year, $8 9 mullion due within one 1o three years, $9 0 mallion due within three to five years and
$51 5 mullion due in more than five years See Note 13 to the Consoldated Financial Statements in Part [l—Item & tor further details

(#))] The amounts listed under Interest on Long-term obligattons include increases to our applicable per annum mterest on our 8 375% Scnior Notes that
were effective as a result of downgrades to our credit rating by the vanous credit agencies in 2012 and 2013 In the event that our credit ratings are
subsequently changed, the apphcable per annum interest could mcrease or decrease and the amounts disclosed n this table would also change See
Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part l1—Item 8 for further details

3 The amounts listed under Purchase Obiigations include agreements for quotes with various information service providers Addiionally such
amounts nclude purchase commitments for capital expenditures See Note 13 to our Consohidated Financial Statements i Part 1l—Item 8 for further
discussion

As disclosed 1 Note 9 1o the Consolidated Financial Statemenis in Part [l—Iliem 8 we have unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $9 0 milhon
excluding interest of $1 0 milhon Duc to the uncertanty of the amounts to be ulimately pand as well as the nming of such payments, all Labshties for
uncertam 1ax posiiions which have not been paid are excluded from the Contractual Obligauons and Comrmutments lable

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements at December 31, 2012
Cnical Accounting Policies and Estimates

General

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses our consolidated financial statements
which have been prepared 1n accordance with U § generally accepted accounting principles which requice us to make estimates judgments and assumpiions
that affect the reported amounts of assets habilites net revenue and expenses and the dhsclosure of conungent asseis and habiliies We base our estimates
and judgments on historical experience and on vanious other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances We beheve that the accounting
estimates employed and the resulting balances are reasonable, however, actual results may differ matenally from these estimates under diffurent assumpuons
or conditions

An accounting policy 15 deemed to be eritical 1f 1t requires an accounting esimate to be made based on assumptions about matiers thai are highly
uhcertaim al the time the estimate 1s made, 1f different estimates reasonably could have been used, or 1f changes n the estimate that are reasonably hikely to
occur penodically could matenally tmpact the financial
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statements We believe the following cntical accounting policies reflect the sigmficant esiimates and assumptions used tn the preparation of our Consohdated
Financial Statements

Farr Value of Financial Instruments

Certain of our assets and habilitics are carmied at fair value or contracted amounts that approximate fair value Assets and hiabalities that are recorded
at contracted amounts approximating fair value consist primanly of recesvables from and payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations and payables
to clearing services customers These receivables and payables to brokers, dealers and cleanng organizations are short-term 1n nature, and substantially al
have settled at the contracted amounts following December 31, 2012 Our marketable equity secunties ncluded in Other assets are recorded at fair value
based on thetr quoted market price Qur i estments that are accounted for under the cost and equity methods are investments n companies that are not
publicly traded and tor which no established market for their securities exists The fair value of these investments 1s not estrmated 1 there are no identified
evenls or changes 1n circumstances thal may have a sigmficant adverse effect on the fair value of the investment Qur debt obligations are carmed at stonical
amounts

Our financial assets and liabihties recorded at fair value have been categonzed based upon a fair value hierarchy in accordance with ASC 820-10 In
accordance with ASC 820-10, we have catcgonzed our financial asscts and habilitics based on the prionty of the inputs 1o the valvation techmque, into a
three-level tair value hierarchy as set forth below

Level {—Financial assets and habilities whese values are based on unadjusted quoted prices for identtfiable assets or habihties 1n an active market
that the company has the abthty to access at the measurement date {examples include active exchange-traded equity secunties, histed denvatives, and
most U S Government and agency secunttes)

Level 2—Fmancial assets and habilities whose values arc based on guoted prices in markets where trading occurs infrequently or whose values are
based on quoted prices ot instruments with stmilar attributes 1n active markets Level 2 inputs include the following

& Quoted pnces for identifiable or similar assets or iabiliies 1n non-active markets (examples include corporate and municipal bonds
which trade mifrequently)

e«  Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for substantially the full term of the asset or hability (examples include interest rate
and currency swaps), and

Level 3—Fmancial assets and habihties whose values are based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable and
significant to the everall far value measurement These inputs reflect management’s own assumptions about the assumptions a market participant
would use 1n pricing the asset or hability

Valuation Techmqgues

A desenption of the valvation technigues apphied to our majer categorics of assets angd liabilities measured at fair value on a recurnng basis are as
tollows

U'S Tieasurv Securities - U S Treasury secunties are valued using quoted market prices Valuation adjustments are not apphied Accordingly,
U S Treasury securities are generally categonzed in Level | of the fair value hierarchy

Equity Securtties - Equity secunties include mostly exchange-traded corporate equity secunities and are valued based on quoted market prices
Accordingly exchange-traded equity secunties are generally categorized 1n Level | of the fair value hierarchy  Non-exchange traded equity secunties
are mcasured pnmarily using broker quotations pricing service data from external providers and prices observed for recently executed market
transactions Non-exchange traded equity securities are gencrally categerized within Level 2 of the fair value hterarchy

Corporate Bonds — Corporate bonds are measured pnmanly using broker quotations, pricing servtce data from external providers and prices
observed for recently executed market transactions Corporate bonds are generally categonzed i Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy
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Foreign government bonds — Foreign government bonds are mostly valued using quoted market prices Accordingly, toreign government bonds are
generally categonzed in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy

Derwvative Contracts — Denvalive contracts include instruments such as foreign exchange, commodity, fixed income and equity denivative
contracts

Listed Dertvanve Contracts - Listed derivatives that arc actively traded are valued based on quoted prices from the exchange and arc calegonzed
m Level i of the fair value hierarchy

OTC Dervative Contracts - OTC denvanve contracts nclude forwards, swaps, and options contracts related to foreign eurrencies Depending
on the product and the terms of the ransaction, the fair value of OTC derivative products can be exther observed or modeled using a senes of
techniques and model inputs from comparable benchmarks, including closed-form analytic formulas, such as the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, and simulauon models or a combination thereof Many pricing models do not entail matenial subjectivity because the methodologies
employed do not necessitate sigmificant judgment and the pricing inputs are observed from actively quoted markets In the case of more
established denvanve products, the pncing models used by us are widely accepted by the financial services industry OTC denvative producis
valued by us using pricing models generally fall into this category and are categarized 1n Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy

Egquity warrants - Non-exchange traded equity warrants arg classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and are measured using the Black-
Scholes model with key tnputs impacting the valuation including the underlying secunty pnice ymphed volanlity dividend yield mierest rate cune
strike price and matunity date

Convernble note receivable, avalable-for-sale -—— As discussed m Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 1n Part Ii-item &, the Company
exchanged 1ts membership interest 1n a third party brokerage firm for a convertible semor secured promissory note m that company This security
was previously measured using valuation techniques involving quoted prices of or market data for comparable companies ncluding credit ratings,
peer company ratios and discounted cash flow analyses As the nputs used i estimanng the fair value of this convertible debt secunty were both
unobservable and sigmificant to the overall fair value measurement of this assel, the asset was categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
During the three months ended September 30, 2012, the third party brokerage firm notified the Company that they had immediate hquidity concerns
and that there was the prospect of insolvency in the near future Based upon this mformanon, the Company determined 1ts estimated fair value of
the convertible semor secured promissory note to be zero  See Note 7 for further details

Future Purchase Commutment - In connection with the acquisitien of 70% of the equity ownership interests m Kyte we agreed to purchase the
residual 30% equity interest in Kyte for an additonal cash payment 1n an amount to be determimed pursuant to a formula based on Kyie s earnings
such payment to be made following June 30, 2013 In applying the income approach, we assumed a 15 5% and 16 0% discount rate as of
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respecuively, and used forecasted financial information for Kyte for the remaiming penod ended June 30
2013 As the inputs used n estimating the fair value of this future purchase commiiment are both uncbservable and significant to the overall far
value measurement of this hability the hatihity 1s categonzed in Level 3 of the tair value hierarchy

Conungent Consideratton —The category consists primanly of contingent consideration related to the acquisition of a retanl energy brokerage
business, completed on November 1, 2009 This contingent hiability 15 remeasured at fawr value and 15 based on estimated future collections of
accounts recervable of the business through October 31, 2013 As the inputs used 10 estimating the fair value of this contingent consideration are
both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement of this hability, the liabulity 15 categonized in Level 3 of the fair value
tuerarchy

In the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have any matenial transfers amongst Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3
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Varable Interest Entities

We deternune whether we hold any mterests i entities deemed 10 be a vanable interest entity ( VIE™) A VIE 15 an entity that lacks one or more of the
foltowing charactenstics (1) the total equity investment at nisk 1s sufficient 1o enable the entity to finance its activities independently and (1t) the equity holders
have the power to direct the activities of the entity that most sigmificantly impact 1ts economuc performance, the obligatton to absorb the losses of the enuty and
the nght to recerve the residual retums of the entity We have a controlling financial nterest and will consolidate a VIE if we are the pnimary beneficiary

The primary beneficiary 1s the party that has both (1) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the economrc
pertormance of the enitty and (i) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could be potennally significant to the VIE or the night te receive benefits from
the cntity that could be potenitally sigmificant

As of December 3L, 2012, we hold mterests n certain VIEs One of these VIEs 15 consohdated because tt was determined that we are the prrmary
beneficiary of this VIE because (1) we provided the majoritv of the start-up capita! and (2) we have consent nghts on activities that we believe would most
sigmiticantly impact the economic performance of the entity The remaiming V1Es are not consolidated as 11 was determined that we are not the primary
benettciary most commonly due the determination that we lacked signeficant equity ownerstip and vouing power We reassess our imtial evaluation of whether
an enuty 1s a VIE when certain events occur, such as changes in econgmic ownership and voting power We reassess our determination of whether we are the
primary beneficiary of a VIE on an ongoing basis based on current facts and circumstances

Software Development Capitahzatton—Internal-Use Software

We capitalize certain costs of software developed or obtained for internal use 1n accordance with ASC 350, fntangibles—Goodwill and Other We
capitahize software development costs when apphication development begins and it 1s probable that the project will be completed and the software wall be used
as intended Costs associated with preliminary project stage activities, maintenance and all other post implementation slage activities are expensed as incurred
Our pohicy provides for the capatalization of certain payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly asscciated with intenal use computer
software projects, as well as external direct costs of matenals and services associated with developing or obtaining internal use software Capitalized personnel
costs are lmited to tme directly spent on such projects Capitalized costs are ratably amortized, using the straight-hne method, over the estimated useful fives,
which are typically over three years Our judgment as to which costs to caputalize, when to begin capitahizing such costs and what penod to amortize the costs
over may matenally affect our results of operations If management determtnes that the fair value of the software 15 less than the carrying value, an
impatrment loss would be recogmized 1n an amount equal to the difference between the faw value and the carrying value

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Under ASC 350, /ntangtbles—Goodwill and Other management ts required to perform a detailed review, at least annually, of the carrying value of
our intangible assets which includes goodwill In this process management 1s required to make estimates and assumptions 1n order to determine the fair value
of our assets and habilives and projected future earnings using vartous valuation techniques, incleding a discounted cash flow model Management uses its
best judgment and information available to 1t at the time to perform ths review Because management’s assumptions and estimates are used in projecting future
earnings as part of the valuation, actual results may differ 1f management determines that the fair value of the intangible asset with an indefinite life 1s less
than 1ts carrying value an impairment loss would be recogmized 1n an amount equal to the difference between the tair value and the carrying value

In 2011 the Company early adopted Accounting Standards Update No 2011-08 * Intengtbles — Goodwill and Other (Topie 350)° (* ASU 201 1-
08™) In accordance with the amended guidance prescnbed by ASU 2011-08 we first assess qualutatiy e factors to determine whether 1t 15 more likely than not
(a hkelihood of more than 50 percent) that the fair value of a reporting umt 15 less than its carrying amount The gualitative assessment is based on reviewing
the totality ot several factors mcludmg macrocconomic conditions, industry and market considerations  cost factors overall financial pertormance, other
entity specific events (for example, changes in management) or other events such as sclling or disposing of a reporting unit. After assessing qualitative factors,
it we deterrine that 11 1s more likely than not that the fair value of the repotting unit 1s greater than 1ts carrying amount, no further testing 1s necessary It we
determune that 1t 1s more hkely than not that the fair value of the reporting umit 1s less than its carrying value or the Company elects to bypass the qualtlative
assessment for any reporting unit, then a two-step goodwill impairment test, prescrtbed by ASC 350, must be performed, whereby management
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first compares the fair value of each reporting unit with recorded goodwil 1o that reporting unit's book value if management determines, as a result of this first
step that the fair value of the reporting unit 1s less than 1ts carrying value a second step m the impairment test process would require that the recorded
goodwill at that reporting umit be wrtten down to the value implied by the reporting umit's recent valuaton and the cstimated fair value of the assets and
lizlities

For the reporting umits where a two-step goodwill impairment test, s performed, the primary valuation methods used by us to estimate the fair value
of its reporting units are the income and market approach In applying the income approach, projected cash flows available for distribution and the terminal
value are discounted to present value to derive an indication of fair value of the business enterpnse The market approach compares the reporting unit 10
selected reasonably simiar publicly-traded companies Trading and transaction comparables are used as general indicators to assess the general
reasonableness of the estunated far values

Goodwill 1s required 1o be tested for impairment at least annually and more frequently when indicators ot imparmment exist All ot our geodwall 1s
allocated to 1ts reporting units and the goodwill impairment tests are performed at the reporting unit level Based on the results of the annual impaimment tests
pertormed as of November | 2012 and 2011 respectively no goodwiil impairment was recogmzed during the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011

In 2011 we performed a qualitative assessment on the Trayport Fenics, and Amenicas Brokerage reporting umits and noted that it 1s more hkely
than not that the fair value of each reporung unit 15 greater than 1ts carrying amount However, for the EMEA Brokerage and Clearing and Backed Trading
reporting urits, we elected to bypass the qualitative assessment and perform a two-step goodwill impairment test As aresult of the two-stup Impairment test,
the fair value of EMEA Brokerage and Cleanng and Backed Trading were substantialiy in excess of their respective carmying values

In 2012, we performed a qualitative assessment on the Trayport and Fenues reporting units and noted that it 1s more likely than not that the fair value
of each reporting unit 1s greater than 1ts carrying amount However, for the Amenicas Brokerage, EMEA Brokerage, and Cleaning and Backed Trading
reporting umits, we elected to bypass the qualitative assessment and perform a two-step goodwill impairment test As a result of the twe-step impairment 1est
the fair value of the Americas brokerage and EMLA brokerage reporting umts were substantially tn excess of their respective carrying values

The Cleaning and Backed Tradtng reporting unit’s fair value exceeded its carrying value by approximately 2 5% We estimated the fair vaiue of our
Clearing and Backed Trading reporting unit using a weighted average of both the market and income approaches Under the market approach the tair value
ot the reporting umt was based on applying market multiples to uts estimated projected revenues and earnings Key assumptions mcluded management s
budgeted statement of operations for the year ended December 31 2013 and estimated growth rate assumptions tor fulure periods a range ot forward market
multiples of comparable compantics and a reasonable control premuum to apply to the denved market muluples  The applicable multiples were sclected based
on the similanties and differences between cur Clearing and Backed Trading reporting unit and gudeline companies in the same sector including
profitability, growth prospects, size, as well as overall risks The estimated control premium was determined based upen general consideration of premiums
paid in dividual transacuions over a period of time  Under the income approach the fair value of the reporting umit was based on the present valuc of
estimated future cash flows Key assumpitons used in esimating these cash flows included applying business growth rate assumptions to future cash flows
over a period of ime and an estimated termunal value thereafter We discounted the resulting expected cash flows using an estimated weighted average cost of
capital 1o arrive at a present value amount that approximates fair value Changes in these estimates and assumptions could matenally affect the determination
of fair value and/or goodw1ll impairment evaluation for the Clearing and Backed tradimg repotting scgment

As a result of continued economic uncertainty and current market dynamics, determining whether an impainment of the goodwll asset exists 1s
wcreasmgly difficuls and requires management to exercise significant judgment  In addition, to the extent that secuniues valuations or trading volumes arg
depressed for protonged penods of ume and market conditions stagnate or waorsen as a result of local or global economic conditions the revenues and
profitability of our Clearing and Backed Trading reporting unit may be adversely affected In addition, control premms industry earnings multiples and
discount rates are impacted by economic conditions  As a resuit subsequent impairment tests may be more frequent and be based upen more negative
assumptions and future cash flow projections, which may result m an impairment of our Clearing and Backed Trading reporting umit at such ime - Any
impairment could reduce matenally the recorded amount of goodwill with a corresponding charge to our camings
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Contingencies

In the normal course of business, we hayve been named as defendants 1n vanous !awsuits and proceedings and have been involved in certain
regulatory examinations Additional actions, investigations or proceedings may be brought from time to time n the future We are subject to the possiblity of
lowses from these vanous contingencies Considerable judgment 1s necessary to estimaie the probability and amount of any less from such contingencies An
accrual 1s made when 1t 15 probable that a hiabtlity has been tncurred or an asset has been impaired and the amount of loss can be reasonably estmated We
acerue a hability for the estimated costs of adjudication or settlement of asserted and unasserted claims existing as of the balance sheet date We have recorded
reserves for certain conutngencies to which we may have exposure such as reserves for cerlam income tax and hiigation contingencies and contingencies related
to the employer portion of National Insuranee Contributions in the U K We disclosc asserted claims when it 15 at Icast reasonably possible that an assct had
been impaired or a liability had been incurred as of the date of the {inancial statements and unasserted claims when it 1s considered probable that a claim will
be assented and there 15 a reasonable possibility that the outcome wili be unfavorable

Income Taxes

In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, (| ASC 740 ) we provide for income taxes using the asset and hability method under which deferred
mcome taxes are recogmized for the estimated future tax effects attnbutable to temporary differences and carryforwards that result from events that have been
recogmzed either 1n the financial statements or the income tax returns, but not both The measurement of curtent and deferred 1ncome tax lrabihities and assets
15 based on provisions of enacted tax laws Vatuaton allowances are recagmized 1f, based on the weight of avarlable evadence, 1t 1s more hkely than not that
some portion of the deferred tax asseis will not be realized Our interpretation of complex tax law may impact our measurement of current and deferred income
Laxes

We are subject to regular examinations by the Internal Revenue Service taxing authorities 1n foretgn countries, and states in which we have
significant business operations We regularly assess the likelthood of additional asscssments in each taxing junisdiction resulting from on-going and
subsequent years” examimations We record uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740 on the basis of a two-step process whereby (1) we determme
whether tt1s more likely than pot that a tax position will be sustained based on the techntcal ments of the position, and (2} for those tax positions that are more
likely than mot to be sustamed, we recogmze the largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50% likelthood of being realized upon ultimate settlement
with the relevant taxing authonty

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) 1ssued ASU No 2011-04 Farr Value Measurement (Topie 8200 Amendment:
10 Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in US GAAP and IFRSs (“ASU 2011-04") ASU 2011-04 amends current
guidance to result in common fair value measurement and disclosures between accounting principles generally accepied tn the United States and International
Financial Reporting Standards The amendments result 1n a consistent defimtion of fawr value and common requirements for measurement of and disclosure
about tair value hetween U § GAAP and IFRS The amendments in ASU 2011-04 are effective for interim and annual pertods beginning after December |5,
2011 The adoption of ASU 2011-04 did not have a matenal impact on our Consohdated Financial Statements and we have included the disclosures required
by this guidance 1n Nete 16 to the Censohdated Financial Statements

In June 2011, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2011-05 Comprehensive Income (Topie 220) Presentation of Comprehensive Income (“ASU 2011-
05™) The main objecttve of ASU 2011-05 15 to umprove the comparabihity, consistency, and transparency of financial reporting and increase the prominence
of items reported n other comprehensive income (“*OCI' ) by chrmnating the option to present components of OC) as part of the statement of changes in
stockholders’ equity The amendments n this standard require entities to report the components of comprehensive income in esther (1) a single continuous
statement of comprehensive income or (2) 1n two separate but consecutive statements The amendments in this standard do not change the items that must be
reported n OCI The amendments in ASU 201105 are effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011 and are to be apphied
retrospectively The adeption ot ASU 201 1-05 did not have a matenal impact on our Consolidated Financtal Staternents

In September 2011, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2011-08 fntangibles — Goodwill and Gther (Topic 350) (* ASU 2011-087) ASU 2011-08 amends
current gutdance to allow entimes to first assess qualitatve tactors to determime whether 1t 15 more likely than not (a likelthood of more than 50 percent) that the
farr value of a reporting unit 1s less than 1ts carrying amount Afler assessing quahitative factors, 1f an entity determines thal 1t 1s not more likely than not that
the tarr value ot the
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reporting unit 1s less than 11s carrying amount, no further testing 1s necessary  If an entity determmes that 1t 18 more likely than not that the farr value of the
reporting umit 1s less than its carrying value then the tradinonal wo-step goodwill impatrment test must be performed The amendments in ASU 2011-08 are
effective for intenm and annual goodwiil impaimment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011 wath early adoption permitted We
early adopted ASU 201 1-08 effective the fourth quarter of 2011 The adoption of ASU 2011-08 did not have a matenal impact on cur Consohidated Financial
Statemients as we were previously in comphance with the presentation requirements of this ASU

In December 2011, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2011-11 Balance Sheet (Topie 210 Disclosures about Offseting Assets and Lightlizes (“ASU
2011-11") ASU 2011-11 requires additional disclosure about financial instruments and denivatives instruments that are subject to netting arrangements to
assist users of the financial statemenis 1n understanding the effect of those arrangements on its financial posiuon In January 2013 the FASB 1ssucd an
amendment to ASU 2011-11, ASU No 2013-01 Balance Sheet (Topic 210} Clarifyung the Scope of Disclosure about Offsetting Assets and Liabilittes
(“ASU 2013-01™ ASU 2013-01 clanfies that the scope of ASU 2011-11 applies to denvatives accounted for in accordance with ASC 815- Dertvatives and
Hedging, including bifurcated embedded denvatives, repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements, and secunities borrowing and secunties
lending transaction that are cither offset in accordance with Balance Shect (Topic 2103 gurdance, Dervatives and Hedging (Topte 815) guidance or subject to
an enforceable master netting arrangement or simular agreement  The new disclosures are required for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013,
ncluding retrospecuvely for all comparative pertods presented We are evaluating the effect of this guidance and we do not expect the adoption of ASU 2013-01
1o have a material impact on our Consclidated Financial Statements

In July 2012 the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2012-02 Futangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topie 350)  Testng Indefinite-Lived Intangible Avsen
for impairment (*ASU 2012-02 *) The amended guidance simphifies how entities test for impairment of indefinite-lived iniangible assets The amendments
permit an entity to first assess qualitative fackors to determine whether it 1s mote likely than not that the fair value of the asset 1s less than its carrying amount
as a basis for determining 1f performing a quantitative test 1s necessary The amendments do not change the measurement of impairment lesses The
amendments are effective for annual and intenm impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginming after September 15, 2012 with early adoption
permitted We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2012-02 1o have a matenial impact on our Consoludated Financial Statements

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Risk Management

In the normal course of busincss, we arc exposed 1o vanious nsks, meluding foreign currency exposure nisk, inlerest rate nisk, credit risk, market
nisk and operational sk Top-level oversight of our nsk management resides wath the Risk Palicy Committee of the Board of Directors We also utilize several
management committees made up of key executives with responsibility for identifying and managing sk Specialized risk functions, such as our credit nsk,
compliance internal audit and Sarbanes-Oxlcy comphance depariments perform regular monstoring and testing procedures to provide management with
assurance tegarding the design and operating cffectivencss ot nisk control policies and procedures Mnally business managers play an integral role in nsk
management by mamtaining the processes and coatrol acuivities designed 1o identify mitigate and report nsk

The various nsks that may impact the Company, certain ot our nsk management procedures, and a sensitvity analysis estimating the eflects of
changes i [air values for exposures relating to foreign currency and inierest rate exposures are outlined below
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Foreign Currency Exposure Risk

We are exposed (o risks associated with changes n foreign exchange rates related to our international operations As foreign currency exchange rates
change, the U S Dollar equivalent of revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currenctes change Our U K operations generate a large majonty of their
revenues i U S Dollars and Euros but pay a sigmficant amount of their expenses in British Pounds We enter mto foreign exchange forward contracts
( Foreign Exchange Denvative Contracts °) to rmitigate our exposure 1o foregn currency exchange rate fluctuations At December 31, 2012 and 201 1, we had no
Foreign Exchange Derivative Contracts that were designated as foreign currency cash flow hedges We do not use denvative contracts for speculanive purposes

We are also exposed 1o counterparty credit nsk for nonperformance of Foreign Exchange Derivative Contracts and 1 the event of nonperformance, to
market risk for changes 1n currency rates The counterparties with whom we execute foreign exchange denivanve contracts are major intemational financial
istitutions We monitor our positions wath, and the credit quahity of these financial institutions and we do not anticipate nonperformance by the
counterparties

While our international results ot operanons, as measured 1n U S Dollars, are subject to foreign exchange rate fTuctnations, we do not consider the
related sk to be matenial to our results of operations If the Euro strengthened against the U S Dollar by 10% and the Britsh Pound Sterling weakened by
10% against the U S Dellar the net impact to our net income would be a reduction of approxtmately $2 6 million as of December 31 2012

Interest Rate Risk

We are uxposed to changes i market interest rates that impact our vanable-rate short-term borrowings that may be outstanding under our Credit
Agreement from time to ime As of December 31, 2012, we had no amounts outstanding under our Credit Agreement As of December 31, 2012, the interest
rate on our entire $250 million long-term debt was compnised of a fixed-rate  Fluctuations in market interest rates will have no impact on the amount of interest
we must pay on these tixed-rate debt obligations

Credit Risk

Credit nsk anses from potentizl non-pertormance by counterparties of our matched pnncipal business, as well as from nenpayment of commissions
by customers ol our agency brokerage business We also have credit and counterparty nsk in certan situations where we provide clearing and execution
services We provide agency cleaning services though our relationships with general cleanng member firms and/or exchanges In these instances our accounts
at such institutions are used, 1n our name, to provide access to clearing services for our customers Credit nsk arises from the possibthity that we may sufter
tosses due 1o the failure of our customers or other counterpanies to satsfy theiwr financial obligations to us or in a imely manner

We have established policies and procedures to manage our exposure 1o credit nsk We mamtain a thorough credit approval process to linut our
expasure to counterparty risk and employ stringent momnitoring to control the market and counterparty nsk from our matched pnineipal business Our brokers
may only execute transactions for clients that have been approved by our credit commuttee following review by our credit department Qur credst approval
process mcludes venfication of key financial information and operating data and anti-money laundenng verification checks Qur credit review process may
nclude consideration of independent credit agency reports and a visit to the entity’s prenises, if necessary We have developed and utilize a propnctary,
electrontc credit nsk monitonng system

Credit approval 15 granted by our credit commuttee, which 1s compnised of senior management and representatives from our compliance, finance and
legal departments Credit approval 15 granted subject to certain trading lirmts and may be subject o additional conditions such as the receipt of collateral or
other credit support Our credit nisk department assists the credit committee in the review of any proposed counterparty by conducting dihigence on such party
and by continuing to review such counterparties for continued credit approval on at least an annual basis These results are reviewed by the credit commttee
Maintenance procedures include reviewing current audited financial statements and publicly available information on the chient, collecting data from credit
rating agencies where available and reviewing any changes 1n ownership, title or capital of the client For our agency bustness, our approval process includes
the requisite anti-nmoney laundering and know-your-customer venfications
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Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk associated with our principal transactions and 1n ceriawn nstances n the provision of cleaning senvices Through our
subsidianes we conduct both matched pnncipal and pnncipal trading businesses primanly 1nvolving fixed mcome and equity secunties but also for certain
l1sted denvative products

In matched principal transactions, we act as a “muddleman’ by serving as counterparty on one sude of a customer trade and entering into an
offsetting trade with another party relatively quickly (often within minutes and generally on the same trading day) These transactions are then setiled through
a third- party cleanng orgamization Settlement typically occurs within one to three busimess days after the trade date Cash settlement of the transacuion occurs
upon recerpt or delivery of the underlying mstrument that was traded In a imited number of circumstances, we may settle a principal transaction by physical
delivery of the underlying instrument

In exccuting matched principal transactions, we arc exposed to the nisk that enc of the counterpartics lo a transacon may fail to fuifill 1ts obligations
either because 1115 not matched immediately or, even if matched, one party fails to deliver the cash or secuntues 11 15 obhgated to delver Certain of the less
liquid or OTC markets in which we provide our services exacerbate this nsk for us because transactions in these markets are less likely to settle on a imely
basis Adverse movements 1n the pnces of secunties that are the subject of these transactions can increase our sk In addition, widespread technological or
communication failures, as well as actual or perceived credit difficulues or the msolvency ot one or more large or visible market parucipants could cause
market-wide credit difficuiues ar other market disruptions These failures, difficulties or disruptions could result in a large number ol market participanis not
setthing transactions or otherwise not performung their obligations

We are subject to financing nsk in these circumstances because if a transaction does not settle on a imely basis the resulting unmatched position
may nced to be financed erther directly by s or through one of our clearing orgamzations at our expense These charges may be recoverable from the lailing
counterparty, but sometimes are not Finally in instances where the unmatched posihon or faslure to deliver 1s prolenged or pervasive due to rapid or
widespread dechnes i Lquidity for an instrument, there may also be regulatory capatal charges required to be taken by us, which depending on their size and
duration, could limit our business flexibility or even force the curtailment of those portions of our business requiring higher levels of capital Credit or
settlement losses of this nature could adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations

In the process of executing matched principal transactions, miscommunications and other errors by us or our clients can arise whereby a transaction
15 not completed with one or mare counterparties to the transaction, leaving us with either a long or short unmatched posshen  Ihese unmatched posibons are
referred to as “out trades,” and they create a potential iabihity for us If an out trade 15 promptly discovered and there 15 a prompt disposition of the unmaiched
postion, the risk 1o us 15 usually hmited If the discovery of an out trade 1s delayed, the risk 1s heightened by the increased possibility of intervening market
movements pnor to dispasiion Alithough out trades usually become known at the ume of, or later on the day of the trade, 1115 possible that they may not be
discovered until later 1n the settlement process When out trades are discovered, our policy 1s generally to have the unmatched position disposed of prompily
(usually on the same day and generally within three days), whether or not this disposition would result in a loss to us The occurrence of out trades generally
rises with increases in the volauhity of the market and, depending on their number and amount, such out trades have the potential to have a matenial adverse
effeet on our financial condition and results of operations

Liability for unmatched trades could adversely affect our results of operations and balance sheet Although the significant majonity of our principal
trading 15 done on a “matched prineipal” basis, we may take unmatched positions for our own account generally in response to customer demand, primanly
1o facilitate the execution of existing customer orders or 1n anticipation that future customer orders will become available to fill the other side ot the transaction
While we <eek [o minimize our exposure to market risk by entermg into offsetting trades or a hedging transaction relauvely quickly (oflen within minutes and
generally on the same trading day), we may not always enter into an offsetting trade on the same trading day and any hedging transaction we may enter into
may not fully offset our expesure Therefore although any unmaiched positions are ntended to be held short term, we may not enurely offset market nsk and
may be exposcd to market nsk for several days or more or to a partial exient or both

Addimonally, we have authonized a limuted number of our desks to enter inlo principal investing transactions in which we commit our capital within
predefined Limits, either to facilitate customer trading activitics or to engage in principal
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trading for our own account These principal posttions may ulumately be matched against o customer order or through a market mtermediary, either mn the
short term (such as the same radmg day) or we may hold these positions for several days or more The number and size of these transactions may affect our
results of operations i a given period and we may also incur losses from these trading activities due to market fluctuations and volatility from quarter to
quarter We are currently subject to covenants in our Credit Agreement, which generally limit the aggregate amount of secunties which we may trade for our
own account to 7 5% of our consolidated capital To the extent that we own assets, 1 ¢, have long positions, 1 any of those markets, a downturn 1n the value
of those assets or 1 those markets could result 1n losses from a declne in the value of those long posittons Conversely, to the extent that we have sold assets
we do not own 1¢ have short positions, in any of those markets, an upturn 1 those markets coutd expose us to sigmficant losses as we attempt to cover our
short positions by acquinng assets in a nsing market To the extent these securtties posttions are not disposed of intra-day, we mark these positions to market

In certain instances, we may provide credit for margin requirements to customers, secured by collateral in a customer’s account In such cases, we
are exposed to the market nisk that the value of the collateral we hold could fall below the amount of a customer's indebtedness This nsk can be amphified n
any situation where the market for the underlying secunty 1s rapidly dechining  Agreements with customers that have margin accounts permit us to hquidate
their securities in the event that the amount of margin collateral becomes msufficient Despte those agreements and our nsk management policies with respect
to margin we may be unable to liquidate a customer’s positions for vanous reasons or at a price sufficient to cover any deficiency 1n a customer s account If
we were unable to lquidate a posivion at a price sufficient to cover any deficiency or tf a customer was unable to post additional margin, we may suffer a loss

Adverse movements in the securities underlying these positions or a downturn or disruption 1n the markets for these positions could result in a
substantial foss In addition, principal gamns and losses resuling from these positiens could on occasion have a disproportionate effect, positive or negauve, on
our financial condition and results of operations for any particular reporting penod

in addivion 1o entertng 1nto offsettng irades or a hedging transaction, we also momtor market risk exposure from our matched principal and pnncipal
trading business, mcluding regularly monitormg concentrat:on of market risk to financial mstruments, countries or counterparties and regularly monitoring
trades that have not settled wathin prescnibed settlement penods or volume thresholds Additionally, market risks are momitored and mutigated by the use ot our
proprietary, clectronic nsk momtoring system, which provides management with daly credit reports 1n each of our geographie regions that analyze credit
concentration and facilitates the regular monitering of transactions against key nsk indicators

Operational Risk

Opcrational risk refers 1o the nsk of financial or other loss, or potential damage to our reputatron resulting frem madequate or failed internal
process.s people resources, systerns or trom external exents We may incur operational risk across the full scope ot business activities and support
functions We have operational nisk polices that are designed to reduce the likelihood and impact of operational incidents as well as to minigate legal, regulatory
and reputational risk Pnmary responsibihity for the management of operanonal risk resides with the business managers, risk and control functions, and
vanous management commutiees through the use of processes and controls designed to wdentify assess, manage, mitigate and report operattonal nisk For
additional discussions ot our operational risks, see  Item 1A—Rusks Related to Cur Operations
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board o1 Directors and Stockholders of
GTI Group Inc

[n our opimon  the accompanying consolidated statement of financial condition and the related conselidated statements of operantons, comprehensive (loss)
income, cash flows and changes i stockholders’ equity present farrly, m all matenal respecls, the financial positton of GFI Group Inc and 1ts subsidianes at
December 31, 2012 and the results of their operations and therr cash flows for the year in the period ended December 31, 2012 1n conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted 1n the Umited States of Amenca  Also i our opinion, the Company maintamned 1n al! matenal respects effective internal control
over finanaial reporung as of December 31, 2012, based on critena established 1n Intemal Control - Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Commutce ot
Sponsonng Organizations of the Treadway Commusston (COS0) The Company's management 1s responsible for these financial state ments, for mamtaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for 1ts assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, appeanng under Itern
9A, Management’s Report on Internal Contrel over Financial Reporting  Our responsibility 1s to express opinions on these financial statements and on the
Company’s internal conltrel over financal reporting based on our integrated audit We conducted our audit 1n accordance with the standards ot the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Those standards require that we plan and perform the andit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective 1nternal control over financial reporting was maintained 1n all material
respects ‘Our audit of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting primciples used and sigmficant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation  Our audit of internal control over financial reporting mcluded obtammng an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the nsk that a matenal weakness exists, and testing and evaluaung the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed nsk Our
audit also meluded purforming such other procedures as we considered necessary (n the circumstances We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinions

A company s imternal control over financ:al reporting 1s a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability ot financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles A company's temnal coatrol over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company (1) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financral statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only 1 accordance with authenzations of management and directors of the company, and {m) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection ot unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a matenal cffect on the financial statements

Because of 1ts inherent himitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements  Also, projections of any evaluation of
eflectiveness to future penods are subrect to the nisk that controls may become mnadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the polictes or procedures may deteriorate

fs/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
March 12 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directars and Stackholders of
GF1 Group Inc
New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidzated statement of financial condition of GF1 Group lnc and subsidiaries (the Company ) as off
December 31 2011 and the related consohdated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, cash flows and changes in stockholders® equity for
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 Cur audits also included the financial stalement schedule fisted 1n the Index at liem 15 for the penods ended
December 31 2011 and 2010 These consolidated financial statements and finangial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company s management
Our responstbility 1s to express an opiruon on the consolhidated financial statemenis and the financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits 1n accordance wath the standards of the Public Company Accountng Oversight Board (Unuted States) Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audut to abtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial siatements are free of material misstatement An audi
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements  An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluaung the overall financial sialement presentation We belteve thal
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opimon

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, 1n all matenal respects the financial pesiion of GFI Group Inc and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, 1n conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also, 1n our opinton such financtal statement schedule when considered in
relation 10 the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, 1n all matenal respects, the information set forth therein

s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York

March 15 2012 (March 12 2013 as to Note 2 Summary of Stgmficant Accounting Policies - Recent Accounting Pronouncements - ASU No 2011-05
Presentanon of Comprehensive [ncome)
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDAIED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDIIION

{Dollars in thousands except share and per share amounts)

December 31,
2012 2011
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 27441 § 245,879
Cash and sccuntics scgregated under federal and other regulations 47,494 12,756
Commussions receivable net 73,930 94,971
Receivables trom brokers, dealers and cleaning orgamzations 252,696 251,794
Property equipment and leasehold improvements, net 58,835 61,947
Goodwill 267,977 266,506
Intangible assets net 48,492 58,027
Other assets 203,196 198,669
TOTAL ASSETS 3 1 180061 § 1,190 549
Liabilities and stockholders” equity
LIABILITIES
Accrued compensation 3 79,195 8 127,089
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 36,674 56,547
Payables to brokers dealers and clearing organizations 164,935 89,529
Payablcs to clcanng services customers 139,627 120,909
Long-term obligations 250,000 250,000
OGther habihities 83,574 97,563
Total Liabilities 754,005 741,637
Commitments and contingencres (Note 13}
STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
Preferred stock S0 01 par value, 5,000 000 shares authorized, none outstanding at December 31, 2012 and
2011 — —
Common stock $0 0! par value, 400,000,000 shares authonzed and 134,689,148 and 131,669,676
shares 1ssued at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively 1,347 1,317
Addiional paid in capita! 374 798 365 835
Retatned carmings 121,415 160,934
Treasury stock, 17,313,686 and 14,145,038 common shares at ¢ost al December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively (75 0209 (73,919
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 2,542 (6,955)
Total Stockholders” Equity 425,082 447212
Non-controlling mterests 974 1,700
Total Lquity 426,056 448,912
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 1,180,061 § 1,190,549
See notes to consohdated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Y ear Fnded December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Revenues
APEncy cOmmissions S 484,386 561,026 S 534 239
Principal transactions 211,159 235,580 215,563
Total brokerage revenues 695 545 796,606 749 802
Cleanng services revenues 118,051 112,735 41,878
Interest income from clearing services 1,964 2,300 671
Equuty 1n net eamings of unconsolidated businesses 8 569 10,466 3674
Softwarc, analytics and market data 84,153 73.620 60 637
Other income 16,345 19,746 5,640
Total revenues 924,587 1015473 862 602
Interest and transaction-based expenses
‘I'ransaction fecs on cleanng services 113,726 108,283 39918
Transaction fees on brokerage services 22,843 24 541 27213
Interest expense from cleanng scrvices 973 1.878 427
Total interest and transaction-based expenses 137,542 134,702 67,558
Revenues, net of interest and transaction-based expenses 787045 880,771 795 044
Expenses
Compensation and employee benefits 546,501 627,368 558,248
Communications and market data 60,760 60,728 49 579
Travel and promotion 35,850 40,011 37,517
Rent and occupancy 23,667 24,664 22,413
Depreciation and amortization 36,624 38943 3443
Professional fees 23,238 27,413 25,949
Interest on borrowings 26,885 25,759 11,063
Other expenses 34,777 35,803 24,041
Total other expenses 788 302 880 685 763 241
(Loss) income before provision for income taxes (1,257) 82 31803
Provision for income taxes &,AR7 2647 5,884
Net (loss) income before attribution to nen-controlling stockheolders (9,644} (2,5635) 25,919
Less Net income atiributable to non-controlling interests 309 6l6 04
GFI’s net (loss) income 3 (9,933) (3,181) § 25,615
(Loss) eamnings per share available to common stockholders
Basic $ (009) o3y § 021
Dibuted $ {0 09) @o3) §$ 020
Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic 116 014,202 118,334,995 120 275,918
Diluted 116,014,202 118,334,695 125,522,128
Dividends declared per share of common stock 5 025 020 § 45
Sce notes to conselidated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Net (loss) income before attmbution to non-controlling stockholders $ {(9.644) § (2,565) $ 25,919
Other comprehensive income {loss)
Coreign currency translation adjustment 9,196 (3,201) 2,123
Unrealized gam (loss) ot available-for-sate secursties, net of tax (1) 253 (1,486) 183
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 9,449 (4,687) 2,306
Comprehensin ¢ (loss) mcome cluding non-controlhng stockholders {195) {7,252) 28,225
C'omprehensive income attributable to non-controlling stockhotders 261 465 374
GFI « comprehensn e (loss) income g (456) S (7,717) S 27,851
(8] Amounts are net of (provision for) benefit from income 1axes of $(69) $547 and $(71) for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
respectively
See notes to conselidated financial statements
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 010
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net {loss) income before atinbution to non-controlling stockhoelders by (9,644) % (2,565) 25916
Adjustments to reconcile net {loss) income 10 net cash provided by operating activitics
Depreciation and amortization 36 624 38,943 34,431
Share-based compensation 32,404 32,972 26 674
Tax expense related to share-based compensation 2,213 1,764 2042
Amortization of prepaid bonuses and forgivable loans 26,549 13,652 25,7107
Benefii from deferted taxes (3.3110) (4 866) (22 632)
(Gains) losses on foreign exchange denvative contracts, net (2,011 415 (3.529)
{Gains) losses from equity method 1nvestments, net (575) (1,223) 29
Amortization of loan fees 2,175 1 709 939
Provision for doubtful acceunts 319 250 (829
Loss en disposal of fixed assets 155 590 121
[mpatrment of investments 5362 8,829 —
Mark-to-market of future purchase commitment (9,545) (6,941) (200}
Mark-to-market of equity warrants 2,475 — —
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest 215 —_ (3.695}
Other non-cash charges, net 269 617) (358)
(Increase) decrease (n operating assets
Cash and secunties segregated under federal and other regulations (26,572) 12,171 (16,841)
Commissions receivable 20,726 7.847 4222
Receivables trom brokers dealers and cleaning organizations (9,068) 18,862 (56,116)
Other assets {46,513) (44 956} (34 368)
Increase (decrease) in operating hiabihities
Accrued compensation (47,894) 14 554 6 069
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (19.881) (8 125) (10473)
Payables io brokers dealers and cleaning orgamizations 75,406 (82,889) 104 287
Payables to clearing services customers 18,718 (5,044) 9 345
Other habilities 71 (10,553) 51362
Cash provided by operating activitics 48,665 4,579 96,106
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired, and purchases of intangible and other
assets (3,300} (28.655)
Proceeds from other investments 1,106 1,062 662
Procceds frem notes recewvable — 882 1 600
Purchases of other investments 3,121 (11.,300) (24.647)
Purchase of property, equipment and leasehold improvements {5.907) {10,694) (8 536)
Payments for internally devefoped software (11,394) (12,663) (4.678)
Proceeds on foreign exchange dervative contracts 6480 5,893 13 575
Payments on foreign exchange denvative contracis (2,669) (11,172} (6 695)
Issuance of notes receivable — (4,953) {K00)
Cash used 1n 1nvesting activities {15 505) (46,245) (38 774)
See notes to consolidated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(In thousands)

CAS11 FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Procieds from short-term borrowings

Repayments of short-term borrowings

Proceeds from long-term obligations

Repayment ot long-term obligations

Purchases of treasury stock

Cash dividends paid te common stockhelders

Payment of debt issuance costs

Proceeds trom exercises ot stock options

Cash paid for taxes on vested restricted stock umts

Payment of contingent consideration habihities

Tax expense related 1o share-based compensation

Cash used 1 finanuing activities

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASI AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for mcome taxes
Cash received from meome tax refunds

Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities

Year Fnded December 31,

2012 2011 pil 1]
195,000 55,000 60 000
(195,000) {190,000) (40,000)
— 250,000 —
— (60,000) —
(12,939) (35,868) (22,609)
(29,566) (24,180) (54,658)
(138) (8,891) (2.719)
10 73 645
(9,479) (9,102) (6.724)
(769) (1,693) —
(2,213) (1,764) {2,042)
(55,070) (26,423} (68.107)
3472 93 2,271
(18,438) (67,996) (28,504)
245,879 313,875 142 379
3 27441 § 245879 S 313.875
$ 25240 § 17,525 8 11,391
$ 15024 § 23948 § 23,998
8 2,131 § 8,539 8 4,491

Dunng 2012, the Company did not have any non-cash investing and financing activity  During 2011, the Company recorded a $1,084 debit to Additional
paid in capital with respect to the cancellation 0f 276,625 shares of the Company's common stock in connection with the exchange of the Company s
membership interest i an equity method investment for a convertible semuor secured pronussory note During 2010, in connection with the business
combinations descnbed in Note 5, the Company recorded 820,604 within Other habilities and recorded the following items within Stockholders’ Equity
$20,08R related to the 15suance of 3,492,095 shares of the Company’s common stock and $15,558 related to 3,682,916 of contingenily 1ssuable shares of
the Company s common stock Additionally, the Company recorded $1,627 with respect to the i1ssuance of 414,938 shares of the Company’s commaon stock

n connection with an equity method imvestment during 2010

See notes to consohdated financial statements
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

Balance, December 31 2009

Purchase of treasury siock

Issuance of reasury stock

Common stock 1ssued and issuable
for acquisitions

Issuance of common stock for
exercise of stack oplions and
vesting ol restricted stock units

Withholding of restncted stock units
n sabisfacton of tax requirements

Tax expense assoctated with share-
based awards

Foreign currency translaton
adjustment

Unrealized gain on available-for- sale
secunlies net of {ax

Dhvidends to stockholders

Share-based compensatien

Non=conlroliing Inturusts from
bustness acquisitions

Net incame

Balance Decumber 31, 2010

Purchase of treasury stock

issuance of treasury stock

Common stock wsued (cancelled) sn
connection with an mvestment

Issuance of common stock for
cxcrewse of stock options and
vesting of restricted stock unuts

Withholding ot restricted stock umts
in satisfachon of tax requirements

Tax expense assoctated with share-
based awards

Foteign currency transiatton
adjustment

Unrealized loss on available-for- sale
securities, net of tax

Dividends to stockholders

Share-based compensanon

Net (loss) income

Balance, December 31 2011

Purchase of treasury stock

Issuance of treasury stock

Issuance of common stock for
exercise of stock ophions and
vesting of restnicted stock umits

Wathholding of restncted stock units
1n sausfaction of 1ax requirements

Tax expense associated with share-
based awards

Forcign currency translation
adjustment

Unrealized loss on available-for- sale
secunties, net of tax

Dividends to stockholders

Share-based compensation

Adjustment 1o non-contralling
interests {rom business
acquisitions(1)

Other capital adjustments

Net (loss) mcome

Balance, December 31 2012

(In thousands)

Saurce GFE Growp Irr

The information conisined horwin m net bo copad
information. except o tha ertent 2

Accumulated
Addlilonzl Other Teial \on-
Common Paid [n Treasury Retained Comp. Stockholders Controlling Total
Stock Capiial Stack Earmings Income (loss) Equity Interests E quity

b3 1209 § 296430 § (22901 § 217,338 & 4574y § 487,502 § — § 4R7502
- — (22 609 — - (22 609) —_ (22 609)
— 20 2,077 —— — — — —_

57 17214 — —_ — 37,271 — 3721

2i 624 —_ —_ —_ 645 — 645
— 6724 — — — (6 724) — (67248)
_ (2,042) —_ — — (2042 — (2042
- — —_ — 2123 2123 70 2103
— — — —_ 183 183 — 183
— — — (54 658) — (54 658) — {54658
—_ 26 ROS — — — 26 805 —_ 26 803
— — — — — - 737 737
— — — 15615 — 25615 04 25919

i 287 350 230 (43 433 188 295 (2 268) 494 111 1HH 495222
— — (35.868) —_ — (35 B6R) — (35 868)
— {5379 5382 — — 3 —_— k)
1 {1,084) — —_ — (1,080) — (1 083

29 46 — — — 75 — 75
- (9 102) — — — {9 102) — (9 102
—_ (1 764) — — — (1 764) — {176
—_ — — —_ (3200 3201 (27) (3228)
— — — — (1 486) {1 486) — (1486
— — — (24,180) — (24 1830 — (24 180y
_ 32 BB — —_ — 32 888 — 32 B8R
— — {3 18D — (3 181 616 (2 565

1317 365,835 (73919 160 934 (6,955} 447,212 1700 448 912
(12,939 — _— {12,939 — (12939

—_ (F1 828) 11 838 —_ — 10 — 0
30 (8 — — — 22 — 22
— (%479 — — — (9 479) — (9479
—_ (2213 — — — {2210 — (22E3)
— — — — 9244 9 244 (483 9196
— — — — 253 253 — 253
— — (29 566) (29 566) — (29 566)
— 32 49| — — — 32 491 — 32491
— - — — — — (945} (945)
— — et — — — (42} 42)
— —_ — {9950 — (2 953) 300 (9 644

3 1,347 § 374,798 8 (750200 § 121415 8§ 2,542 8§ 425,082 % 974 § 426 056

v rtn - " »

16-k March 13 203
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(1) See tootnate 6 10 the notes 1o consohdated financial statements tor discussion

See notes 10 consolidated financial statements
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES FO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENIS
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

I ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS

The Consolidated Financiat Staterments mclude the accounts of GFI Group Inc and its subsidianies (collectively, GFI or the * Company ) The
Company, through its subsidiaries, provides wholesale brokerage and trade execution scrvices, clearing services and irading system software products to
institutional chents 1n markets for a range of fixed income financial, equity and commodity instruments The Company complements its brokerage and trade
execution capabilities with value-added services, such as markel data and analytical software products for trader and back-office support which it licenses
primarily to companies in the financial services industry As of December 31, 2012, Jersey Partners Inc ( JPI" ) owned appreximately 41% of the Company s
outstanding shares of common stock The Company's executive chairman, Michael Gooch, 1s the controlling shareholder of JP1

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentanon—The Company’s Consolidated Financial Staiements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepled in the Unuted States of America, which require management (o make estimates and assumptions that aftect the reported amounts ef assets and
inabihties, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure ot conungencies i the Consolidated Financial Statements Certam estimates and assumptions relate to the
accountmg for acquired goodwill and intangible assets fair value measurements compensation accruals tax habilines and the potenual cutcome of hiigaion
matters Management believes that the estimates utilized i the preparation of the Consohdated Financial Statements are reasonable and prudent Actual resulis
could differ matenally from these estimates

Certain amounts in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 2011 and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
year cnded December 30 2011 and 2010 have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation

During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company corrected an crror related to an estimated loss acerual on a sublease of the Company’s former
headquarters that onginated i 2008 The Company has evaluated the effects of this error and concluded that it 1s immatenal to the Company’s previously
1ssued quarterly and annual Consohidated Financial Statements The Company alse determined that the cumulauve effect of this error 1s immatenial to the
current year Consohdated Financial Statements The adjustment was therefore corrected, on a cumulative basis 1n the curtent year The cumulalive pre-tax
adjustment recorded m 2012 was a reduction to both Accounts payable and accrued expenses and Rent and occupancy expense of $3 215 of which
approxumately $335, $160 and $160 related to 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively The remaning $2,560 related 1o years prior to 2010

During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company 1dentufied an etror 1n 1ts Consolhidated Financial Staiements for the years ended December 31 2041
and 2010 related 1o the 2610 acquisition of Kyte Sec Note 6 for further informaton

Consolidation Polictes

General— The Consohidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company, 1hs whally-owned subsidiaries and subsidvaries that are
treated as such and other entities tn which the Company has a controlhing financial interest For consolidated subsidianies that are less than whelly-owned,
equuty interests that are not owned by the Company arc referred 1o as non-controlling interests The portion of net income attributable to non-contrelling
interests for such subsidiaries 1s presented as Net income attributable to non-centrolling interests on the Consohidated Statements of Operations and the
portion of the stockholders’ equity of such subsidiaries 1s presented as Non-controlling nterests i the Consolidated Statements of Financial Conditon and
Consohdated Statements of Changes m Stockholders’ Equuty  All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated

See notes (o consolidated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

Variable Mierest Entittes—The Company determines whether it holds any interests in entities deemed to be a vaniable interest entity (‘VIE") A VIE
ts an entity that lacks one or more of the following charactensncs (1) the total equity investment at nsk 1s sufficient to enable the ennty to finance its actvines
independently and (1) the equity holders have the power to direct the activities of the entity that most sigmificantly impact its economic performance, the
obligation to absorb the losses of the entity and the night to recerve the restdual retumns of the eniity The Company has a controlling financial mierest and wall
conschdate a VIE 1f 1t 1s the pnmary beneficiary

The primary beneficiary 1s the party that has both (1) the power to direct the activitres of the VIE that most significantly impact the econonmie
performance ot the entity and {n) the obhgation to absorb losses of the entaty that could be potenually sigmficant to the VIE or the night to receive bencefits from
the entity that could be potenually sigmificant

As of December 31 2012 the company holds inlerests i certain VIEs One of these V1ks 15 conschdated because 1t was determmed that the
Company 1s the pnmary beneficary of this VIE because (1) the Company provided the majonty of the VIE’s start-up capital and (2) the Company has
consent nghts regarding those activities that the Company believes would most significantly impact the econemic performance of the entity The remaining
VIEs are not consolidated as 1t was determined that the Company 1s not the pnmary beneficiary due to the level of equity ownership and voting power The
Company reasscsses its imtial evaluation of whether an eatity 18 a VIE when certain events ocear, such as changes i economic ownership and voting power
The Company reassesses its determnation of whether 1t 1s the primary beneficiary of a VIE on an ongoing basis based on current facts and circumstances
See Note 18 for disclosures on Vanable Interest Entities

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly hquid investments with matunties when purchased of three
months or less

Cash and Securities Segregated Under Federal and Other Regulattons —The Company helds cash and secunities representing tunds received
n connection with customer trading activities The Company’s subsidiarzes are required to satistv regulations mandated by their pnmary regulators to
segregale or set aside cash or equivalent secunties to satisfy regulations, promulgated 1o protect customer asseis

Commussions Recervable—Commissions recenable represents amounts due from brokers, dealers banks and other financial and nonfinancial
institutions for the execution of securities, commodities foreign exchange and other dervative brokerage transactions [n estimating the allowance for doubtful
accounls management censiders the length of time receivables are past due and historical expenence In addition, if the Company 1s aware of a chent’s
inability to meet 1ts finaneial obligations, a specific provision for doubtful accounts 15 recorded m the amount of the estimated losses that will result from the
1nability of that client to meet 1ts financial obligation Commuissions receivable are presented net of allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately $t,710
and 81 453 as of December 31,2012 and 2011 respectively

Receivables from and Payables to Brokers, Dealers and Clearing Orgamizanoens —Receivables from and payables to brokers, dealers and
clearing organizalions primarily represent (1) principal transactions for which the stated settlement dates have not yet been reached, (1) principal transactions
which have not settled as of their stated settlement dates (1) cash, including deposits held at cleanng orgamzations and exchanges tn support of the
Company s clecaning business and 1o faciliate settlement and clearance of matched prineipal transactions and (1v) the spread on matched principal transactions
that kave not yet been remitted trom/to clearing organtzations and exchanges

Property, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements —Property equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost, less accumulated
depreeiatton and amortization Depreciation and amortizaton are calculated using the straight-line method generally over three to seven years Property and
cquipment are depreciated over there estimated useful hives Leaschold improsyements are amortized over the sharter of the remaimng term of the respeetive lease
to whtch they relate or the remaining usc ful lete of the leasehold improvement Internal and external costs incurred 1n developing or obtarming computer software
for imternal use are capitalized 1n accordance with Accounuing Standards Codfication (*ASC™} 350 [ntangibles—Goodwil and Other ( *ASC 3507), and are
amortized on a strasght-line basiy over the estimated useful hife of the software, generally three years General and adrministrative costs related to developing or
obtaiming such software are expensed as incurred

Goodwill and Intangible Assets—-Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pnce allocation over the fair value of tangible and idennfiable
intangible net assets acquired The goodwill associated with each business combmation 1s

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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GFI1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TC CONSOLIDATED FEINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

allocated to the related reporling umits, which are determined based on how the Company’s businesses are managed and how they are reviewed by the |
Company’s chief operating decision maker Other miangible assets are recorded at therr fair value upon completion of a business combinatien or certain other
transactions

In accordance with ASC 350 goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized, but instead are pertodically tested for
impairment The Company reviews goodwill and other intangible assets with indefimte lives for impairment on an annual basis as of November 1 of each
fiscal year or whenever an event oceurs or circumstances change that could reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below tts carrying amount

in 2011, the Company early adopted Accounting Standards Update No 2011-08 friangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 356)  ( ASU 201 1-
08 } In accordance with the amended guidance prescnibed by ASU 2011-08, the Company first assesses qualiative tactors to determung whether it 1s more
hikely than not (a likelihood of more than 50 percent) that the fawr value of a reporung unit 1s less than its carrymng amount The gualitative assessment s |
based on review ing the Lotality of several factors, including macroeconomic conditions industry and market consideratons, cost factors overall financial !
performance, other entity specific events (for example changes in management) or other events such as selling or disposing ot a reporting unit. Afier assessing
qualitative factors, 1f the Company determines that 1t 1s more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting umit 15 greater than 1ls camying amount no
further testing 15 necessary  |f the Company determines that 1t 18 more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit 15 less than 11s camying value or
the Company elects to bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting uni, then a two-step goodwill impairment test, prescnbed by ASC 350 must be
performed, whereby management first compares the fair vatue of each reporting unut with recorded goodwill 1o that reporting unit s book value If management
determimes, as a result of this first step, that the fair value of the reporting unit 1s less than 1ts carrying value, a second step n the impairment test process
would require that the recorded goodwill at that reporting unit be wniten down to the value implied by the reporting umit’s recent valuation and the esumaled
farr value of the assets and ltabihines

For the reporting umits where a two-step goodwill impairment test 1s performed, the pnmary valuation methods used by the Company to esumate the
fair value of s reporting unuts are the income and market approach In applying sthe income approach, projecied cash flows available for distnbution and the
terminal value are discounted to present value to derive an indication of fair value of the business enterprise The market approach compares the reporting unst
1o selecied reasonably stmilar publicly-traded compames Trading and transachion comparables are used as general indicators to assess the general
reasonableness of the estimated fair values

Intangible assets with definite Lives are amortized on a steaight-line basis over their esumated usetul lives See Note 6 for further information

Prepaid Bonuses and Forgivable Employee Loans —Prepaid bonuses and forgavable loans to employees are stated at historical valuc net of
amortization w hen the agreemeni between the Company and the employee provides for the return of proportionate amounts of the bonus or loan outstanding 1f
employment 1s terminated :n certain caircumstances prior to the end of the term of the agreement Amortization 15 caleulated using the straight-line method over
the term of the contract, which 1s generally two to four years, and 15 recorded 1n Compensation and employee benefits The Company generally cxpects to
recover the unamortized portion of prepaid bonuses and forgivable loans when employees voluntanily terminate theiwr employment ot 1f thesr employment 15
termunated for cause prior to the end of the term of the agreement The prepaid bonuses and forgivable loans are included in Other assets 1n the Consohdated
Statements of Fimancial Conditions At December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company had prepaid bonuses of $31 847 and $36 797 respecuively At
December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company had forgivable employee loans and advances 1o employees of $31 655 and $23 909, respectively Amortization
of prepaid bonuses and forgivable employee loans for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $26 549, $33 652 and $25 707
respectively and 1s included within Compensanion and employee benefits

Investments—When the Company does not have a controliing financial interest in an entity but can exert significant influence over the entity’s
operating and financial pehcies the ivestment 1s accounted for under the equity method of accounting 1n accordance with ASC 323-10  [nvesiments—LEquan
Method and Jomnt Ventures( ASC 323-10™) Sigmficant mfluence generally exists when the Company owns 20% to 50% of the entity s common stock or in-
substance common steck The Company sunially records the investment at cost and adjusts the carrying amount each period 1o recognize 1ts share of the
earmings and losses of the invesiee based on the percentage of ownership See Note 19 for further information  Investments for which the Company does not
have the ability to exert signuficant influence over operatimg and financial

See notes to consohdated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

policies are generally accounted for using the cost method of accounting in accordance with ASC 325-10  Investments—COther (“*ASC 325-10™) Au
December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company had cost method mvestments ot $4.671 and $4.059, respectively mcluded within Other assets  The fair value
of the Company’s cost method investments are not esimated 1f there are no 1dennified events or changes 1n circumstances that may have a significant adverse
effect on the far value The Company monitors 1ts equity and cost method mvestments for indicators of impairment each reporting penod

The Company accounts for its marketable equity secunihes and 11s debt secunties 1n accordance with ASC 320-10, [nvestments—Debt and Equuty
Securiies Investments that are owned by the Company’s broker-dealer subsidiartes are recorded at farr value with realized and unrealized gains and losses
reported 1n net tncome  Investments designated as available-for-sale that are owned by the Company's non broker-dealer subsidianes are recorded at farr value
with unrealized gains or losses reported as a separate component of other comprehensive income, net of tax - The fair value of the Company’s avatlable-for-sale
securittes was $3 355 and 88,263 as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, included within Other assets

Farr Value of Frnancial Instruments—In accordance with ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (¢ ASC 820-10”) the
Company cstumates tair v alues of financial instruments using relevant market information and other assumptions Fair value estimates involye uncertainttes
and maticrs of signtficant judgment 1n interpretimg market data and accordingly changes i assumptions or in market conditions could adversely affect the
estimates The Company also discloses the fair value of is financial instruments in accordance with the farr value hierarchy as set forth by ASC 820-10 Sec
Note 16 {or further information

Fair Value Option—In accordance with ASC 823-10-25, Fancial Instruments - Recogmition, the Company has elected the fair value opion to
account for its future commitment to purchase the remaining 30% equity interest in The Kyte Group Limited and Kyte Capital Management Limited
(collectively ‘Kyte™) See Note 5 for further discussion regarding this future purchase comrtment

The fair value optien election allows companies 1o urevocably elect fair value as the 1mbal and subsequent measurement attribute for certamn financial
assets and liabilities Any change 1o fair value for assets and liabihiies for which the election 1s made 1s 10 be recognized wn earnings as they occur The farr
value option election 15 permitted on an instrument by mstrument basis at initial recogmition of an asset or hability or upon an event that gives nse to a new
basis of accountmg for that instrument

The primary reason for electing the fair value option on the future commttment to purchase the remaining 30% equity interest in Kyte 15 te timely
rellect economic events 1n eamings, as management s assessment of the future purchase commument value 15 driven by Kyte's eamimgs subsequent to the
inthal acquisttion date and net present value at a specific pont in trme

Derrvative Financral Instruments—The Company enters into denvative transachions for a vanety of reasons, including managing 1ts exposure 1o
risk arring from changes m foreign currency facilitating customer trading activities and, 1n certain nstances, to engage 1 principal tradmg for the
Company s own account Denvatne assets and habilities are camed on the Consclidated Statements of Financial Condition at fair value, with ¢changes n the
fair value recogmzed 1in the Conschdated Statements of Operations Contracts entered into to manage risk ansming from changes m foreign currency are
recognized in Other income and contracts entered into to factlitate customer transactions and principal trading are recognized 'n Principal transactions
Dernvatves are reported on a net-by-counterparty basis when management believes that a legal and enforceable night of offset exists under these agreements See
Note 17 {or turther information

Payables to Cleartng Services Customers —Payablcs to clearing services customers include amounts duc on cash and margin transactions,
mncluding futures contracts transacted on behalf of customers

Brokerage Tramsactions—The Company provides brokerage services to its chents m the form of either agency or principal transactions

Agencv Comnussions—In agency transactions, the Company charges commuissions for executing transactions between buyers and scllers Agency
commission revenues and related expenses are recognized on a trade daie basis

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

Principal Transactions—Principal transactions revenue 1s pnmanly denved from maiched principal and principal trading transactions Principal
transactions revenucs and refated expenses are recognized on a trade date basss The Company carns revenue from principal transactions on the spread between
the buy and sell price of the security that 1s brokered In matched pnneipal transactions, the Company simultaneously agrees to buy instruments [rom one
custormner and sell them to another customer

[n the normal course of 11s matched principal and principal wading businesses, the Company may hold secunty positnons overnight These positions
are marked to market on a daily basis

Clearing Services Revenues—The Company charges fees to customers for clearing services provided for cash and derivative transactions
Clearing services revenues are recorded on 2 trade date basis as customer transactions occur and are presented net of any customer negotiated rebates

Software, Analyues and Market Data Revenue Recognition -~ Softwarg revenue consists pnmanly of fees charged for Trayport electronic
trading software which are typically billed on a subscription basis and are recognized ratably over the term of the subscription period which ranges trom one
to five years Analytics revenue consists pnmanly of software license fees for Femes pricing tools which are typically billed on a subscription basis and 1s
recogmized ratably over the term of the subscription period which 1s generally three years Market data revenue primanly consists of subscription fecs and
fees from customized one-time sales Market data subscription fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the subsenption period which
ranges from one to two years Market data revenue from custormzed one-time sales 1s recognized upon delrvery of the data

The Company markets its software analytics and market data products through its direct sales force and 10 some cases indirectly through
resellers In general, the Company’s license agreements for such products do not provide for a nght of return

Other Incone—Included within Other income on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations are revaluations of foreign currency
denvative contracts, realized and unrealized transaction gains and losses on certan foreign currency denotmnated 1tems and gains and losses on certain
mvestments and wnterest income eamned on short-term nvestments

Compensation and Employee Benefits—The Company s compensation and employce benefits bave both a fixed and sanable component Base
salanes and benefit costs are primanly fixed for all employees while bonuses constitute the vanable portion of compensation and employece benefits The
Company may pay certain performance bonuses 1n restricted stock umts (“RSUs™) The Company also may grant sign-on and retention bonuses for certain
newly-hured or existing employees who agree to long-term employment agreements

In 2011, the Company recorded a charge of $19,443 to Compensation and employee benefits that primarily related to severance costs and the
restructuring of certain employment agreemenits

Share-Based Compensation—The Company’s share-based compensation mainly consists of RSUs The Company accounts far share-based
compensation in accordance with ASC 718 Compensation—Stock Compensation (“ASC 718™) This accounting guidance requires measurement of
compensation expense for equity-based awards at fair value and recognition of compensation expense over the service period, net of esumated fortertures In all
periods presented the only share-based compensation expense recogmzed by the Company has been RSUs The Company determines the tair value ot RSUs
based on the number of umts granted and the grant date fair value of the Company’s common stock, measured as of the closing price on the date of grant See
Note 12 for further information

Income Taxes—In accordance with ASC 740 /ncome Taves the Company provides for income taxes using the asset and habihty method under
which deterred income taxes are recogmzed lor the estimated future tax effects attributable to temporary differences and carrytorwards that result from cvents
that have been recognized either in the financial statements or the income tax retums but not both The measurement of current and deferred 1ncome tax assets
and Liabilities 1s based on provisions ot enacted tax laws Valuation allowances are recognized if based on the weight of avarlable evidence 1t 15 more Tikely
than not that some portion of the deferred tax assets wail not be realized Management applees the more hikely than not cniena prior to recognizing a linanciat
statement benefit for a tax position taken (or expected 10 be taken) in a tax

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Conttnued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

retern The Company recognizes interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in intercst expense and other expense respectively See Note 9 for further
information

Treasury Stock—The Company accounts for Treasury stock using the cost method Treasury stock held by the Company may be reissued wath
respect Lo vested RSUs 1n qualified yurisdictions The Company’s policy 1s to account for these shares as a reduction of Treasury stock on a first-in, first-out
basis

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments and Transactions— Asscts and habilities of foreign subsidianics having non-U $ dollar functional
currencies are translated at the perod end rates of exchange, and revenue and expenses are translated at the average rates of exchange for the period Gains ot
losses resulting trom translating toreign currency financial statemments are reflected 1n foreign cumency translation adjustments and are reported as a separate
component ot comprehensive (loss) income and included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 1n stockholders™ equity Net losses resulting from
remcasurement of foreign currency transactions and balances for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 were $(3,635) $(220) and $(6,770),
respectively and are included 1 Other income 1n the Consohdated Statement of Operations

Recent Accounning Pronouncements—In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB™) 1ssued Accounting Standards Update
{ ASU }No 2011-04 Fair Falue Measurement (Topie 826) Amendments to Achieve Common Fawr Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements
i US GAAP and IFRSs (| ASU 2011-04™) ASU 2011-04 amends current gurdance to result in common farr value measurement and disclosures between
accounting principles generally accepted 1n the United States and Intemational Financial Reporting Standards The amendments result m a consistent
defimuion of farr value and common requirements for measurement of and desclosure about fair value between U S GAAP and IFRS The amendments !
ASU 2011-04 are effective for intenm and annual periods beginming afler December 15, 2011 The adoption of ASU 2011-04 did not have a material impact !
on the Company's Consehidated Financial Statements and the Company has mcluded the disclosures required by this guidance in Note 16 :

In June 2011, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2011-05 Comprekensive Income (Topic 220) Presentation of Comprehensive Income (“*ASU 2011-
05™) The main ebjective of ASU 2011-05 1s to improve the comparability consisiency and transparency of financial reporting and increase the prominence
of 1tems reported 1n other comprehensive income { OCI ) by eliminating the option to present components of OCI as part of the statement of changes 1n
stockholders cquity The amendments in this standard require entitics to report the compenents of comprehensive income in either (1) a single continuous
statument of comprehensive income or (2) 1n two separate but consecutive statements The amendments n this standard do not change the items that must be
reported in OCl The amendments in ASU 201 1-05 are effective for intertm and annual pertods beginning after December 15, 2011 and are Lo be apphed
retrospectively The adoption of ASU 2611-05 did not have a matenal impact on the Company's Consolidated Nnancial Statements as the Company was
previously m comphiance with the presentaiion requirements of this ASU

In Scptember 2011, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2011-08 Inrangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) (“ASU 2011-08") which amends current
guwdance to allow entities to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether 1t 15 more hkely than not (a hkelihood of mere than 50 percent) that the fair
value of a reporting unit 15 less than its cammying amount  Afler assessing qualitative factors 1f an entity determines that 1t 1s not more hikely than not that the
farr value of the reporting unt 1s less than 1ts carrying amount, no further testing 1s necessary [fan entity determines that 1t 1s mere likely than not that the
fair value of the reporting umit 1s less than 1ts carrying value, then the tradiional two-step goodwill impairment test must be performed The amendments in
ASU 2011-08 are effective for interim and annual goodwill mpairment tests performed tor fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011, with early
adoption pernutted The Company earty adopted ASU 201 1-08 effective the fourth quarter of 2011 The adoption of ASU 2011-08 did not have a matenal
impact on the Company s Conschdated Financial Statements

In December 2011 the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2011-11 Ralance Sheet (Topic 210) Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabthties (“ASU
2011-11 ) ASU 2011-11 requires additional disclosure about financial instruments and dertvatives instruments that are subject to netting arrangements to
assist users of the financial statements in understanding the effect of those arrangements on 1tts financial posttion  In January 2013, the FASB 1ssued an
amendment to ASU 2011-11 ASU No 2013-01 Balance Sheet (Topee 210) Clarifiung the Scope of Disclosure about Offsetting Assets and Liahtltes
{ ASU 2013-01") ASL 2013-0! clanfies that the scope of ASU 2011-11 applies to detivatives accounted for 10 accordance with ASC 815-  Derivatives and
Hedging wcluding bifurcated embedded dervatives repurchase agreements and reverse

See notes te consohdated financial statements
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued}
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

repurchase agreements, and securities borrowing and securities lending transaction that are either offset in accordance with Balance Sheet (Topic 210)
guidance Denivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) guidance or subject 1o an enforceable master netng arrangement of similar agreement The new disclosures
are required tor reporung periods beginning on or after January 1 2013 including retrospectively tor all comparative penods presented The Company 15
valuauing the effect of this guidance and does not expect the adoption of ASU 2013-01 to have a matenal impact on the Company's Conschdated Financial
Siatements

In July 2012, the TASB 1ssued ASU No 2012-02, fntangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350} Tesung Indefinite-Lived Intangible Avets
for impairment ( ASL 2012-02' ) The amended guidance simplifies how entities test for impairment of indefimte-hved intangible assets The amendments
permit an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it 1s more likely than not that the fair value of the asset 15 less than its carrying amount
as a basis for determining 1f performing a quantitative test 1s necessary The amendments do not change the measurement of impairment losses The
amendments are effective for annual and intenm impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginming after September 15, 2012, with early adoption
permitted The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2012-02 to have a materal impact on 1ts Consolidated Financial Statements

3 RECEIVABLES FROM AND PAYABLES TO BROKERS, DEALERS AND CLEARING ORGANIZATIONS

Amounts receivable from and payable to brokers dealers and cleaning orgamzanons consisted of the following

December 31,
2012 2011
Recewvables from brokers, dealers and cleanng organizations !
Contract value of fails to deliver S 164,090 § 86 097 |
Recevables from and deposits with cleanng orgamzations and financial institutions 87,348 165 303
Net pending trades 1,258 194
Total 8 252696 % 251 794
Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Contract value of fauls to receive $ 158,256 § 87,254
Payables to cleaning organizations and financial institutions 6,679 2,275
Total $ 164,935 § 89 529

Substantially all fai 1o deliver and fail to receve balances at December 31, 2012 and 2011 have subsequently settled at the contracted amounts
In addition 10 the balances above, the Company had Payables 10 clearing services customers of $139,627 and $120,909 at December 31 2012 and
2011, respectively These amounts represent cash payable 1o the Company s clearing customers that s held at the Company’s third party genceral clearing

members and are included within Cash and cash equivalents, Cash and secunties segregated under federal and other regulations or Recervables trom brokers
deaters znd clearing organizations

See notes to consolidated financial siatements !
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4 PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS

Property equipment and leasehold improvements consist of the following

Deeember 31,

2012 2011

Software, including software development costs b 122,252 3 110,402
Computer equipment 36,890 34314
Liasehold improvements 38,152 37,925
Communications equipment 20,125 19,528
Furnture and fixtures 10,350 061!
Automobiles 729 717
Total 228,498 212,797
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (169,6631) (150,850)
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements less accumulated depreciation

and amortization 3 58,835 3§ 61,947

Depreciation and amortization expense on property equipment and leasehold improvements for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
was 520 207, $21.476 and $21,235 respectively

§ ACQUISITIONS
The Kvie Group Limued and Kyte Capuial Management Limited

On July | 2010 the Company acquired a 70% equity ownership interest 1n each of The Kyte Group Limited and Kyte Capital Management Limited
(celtectinely *Kyte™) The Company wall acquire the residual 30% equity interest in Kyte for an additional cash payment to be made in or about the third
quarter of 2013 1n an amount to be deternuned pursuant to a formula based on Kyte s post-acquisiion earmings Kyte has been included m the Consolidated
Financial Statements as a wholly-owned subsidsary since the acquisition date, with a habibity recorded for the future payment to be made 1n 2013 Included as
part of the purchase price 15 £5 000 (or approximately $7 592} that was deposited into an escrow account with a third-party escrow agent and 1,339,138
contingently 15suable shares of the Company’s common stock, all of which will be delivered to the selling shareholders of Kyte upon the satisfaction of certain
condittons related to one of Kyte s mvestments in a third party As part of the puschase agreement, over the penod from imtial acquisition to when the
Company will acquire the residual 30% equnty 1nterest in Kyte, the Company agreed to make up to £20,000 available to Kyte Capital Management Limited for
investments 1n new trading entitics subject to certain approvals

The future purchase commitment requires the Company to pay an addiignal cash payment based on the performance of Kyte during the three year
penod ending Junc 30, 2013 The Company elected the farr value option for this purchase commitment as of the date of acquisition and deterrined the fair
value ustng the income approach Subsequent changes n the tair value of the tuture purchase commitment are recorded 1n Other income 1n the Consolidated
Statements of Operations The fair value ot the future purchase commutment at the acquisition date was $19,264, which assumed a 17 7% discount rate and
was recorded as a hability within Other liabilines In applymg the income approach, the Company used forecasted financral information for Kyte for the
remaiming penod ending June 30, 2013

The fair value of the future purchase commttment and the discount rate used n 1ts estimated fair value as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 were as

tollows
December 31,
2012 2010
Fatr Value of Future Purchase Commitment (included within Other habihties) 3 3209 % 12,562
Discount Rate 15 5% 16 0%

See notes to consohidated financial statements
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The amount of the future purchase commitment accrued 1n the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at December 31 2012 deercased from
December 31, 2011, primanly due to differences between previous forecasts and actual results for 2012 as well as changes 1o the forecasied performance for
Kyte tor the remaiming penod ending June 30 2013, slightly offset by an increase in the net present value ot the ability due to the passage of time

6 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwili—Changes 1n the carrying amount ot the Company's goedwill for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 were as lollows

December 31, Goodwill Forexgn currency Iecember 31,
21 acquired Adjustments translation 2412
Goodwill
Amenicas Brokerage 3 831289 § — 8 — 8 — 8 %3 289
EMEA Brokerage 13,851 — — 546 14,397
Asia Brokerage —_ — — —_ _
Cleanng and Backed Trading 40,675 — (945) 1.870 41,600
All Other 128,691 — — — 128 691
§ 266,506 % — S (945) § 2416 8§ 267,977
December 31, Goodwill koregn currency December 31,
2010 acquired Adjustments translation 2014
Goodwill
Amcricas Brokerage S 83,289 § — & — 3 — 8 83 289
EMEA Brokerage 13 895 — — (44} 13,851
Asia Brokerage — — — — —
Cleanng and Backed Trading 42,413 — (1,546) (192) 40 675
All Other 128 691 — — — 128 691
S 268,288 § — 8 (1,546} § (236) § 266 506

Dunng the second quarter of 2011, the Company recorded adjustments to its purchase price allocation during the 1mitial measurement peniod for
Kyte i the net amount of $1,546

During the tourth quarter of 2012, the Company identified an error in 1is consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31 2011
and 2010 related to the 2010 acquisition of Kyte The adjustment was based on information available to management during the imtial measurement period
but was not correcied during that period The error resulted 1n an overstatement of both goodwill and non-contralling interesis In accordance with anthontative
guidance 1ssued by the FASB the Company corrected this error 1n the current penod by adjusting both goodwiil and non-controlling nteresis by 3945 Ihe
Company believes this error was immaterial to all periods affecied

Goodwill 1s required to be tested for impairment at least annually and more frequently when indicators of impairment exist All of the Company «
goodwill is allocated to 115 reporting umits and the goodwill impasrment tests are performed at the reporting unit level The Company determincd Amernicas
Brokerage, EMEA Brokerage Asia Brokerage, Cleanng and Backed Trading, Trayport, and Femies to be 1ts reporung unuts Based on the resulls ot the
annual impairment tests performed as of November 1, 2012 and 2011 respectively, no goodwill impairment was recogmzed during the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011

In 2011 the Company performed a qualitative assessment on the Trayport, Fenies and Americas Brokerage reporting units and noted that 11.1s
more hikely than not that the fair value of each reporting unut 15 greater than us carrying amount However for the EMEA Brokerage and Clearing and Backed
Trading reparting units, the Company elected to bypass the quahitative assessment and perform a two-step goodwill impairment test As a result of the two-step

impatrment test, the fair value of EMEA Brokerage and Ciearing and Backed Trading were substanually 1n excess of their respective carrying values

In 2012 the Company performed a qualitative assessment on the Trayport and Femics reporting units and noted that it 1s more hikely than not that
the tair value of each reportmg umt s greater than its carrying amount However, for the

Sec notes to consolidated financial statcments
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Amernicas Brokerage, CMEA Brokerage, and Cleanng and Backed Trading reporting untts, the Company elected to bypass the qualitative assessment and
perform a two-step goodwi!l impairment test As a result of the two-step imparrment test, the fair value of the Amencas brokerage and EMEA brokerage
reporting units were substantially 1in excess ol their respective carrying values

The Clearing and Backed Trading reporting unit’s fair value cxceeded 1ts carrying value by approximately 2 3% The Company esumated the fair
value ot the Cleanng and Backed Trading reporting umt using a weighted average of both the market and mcome approaches Under the market approach, the
fair value of the reporting unit was based on applying market multiples to its estimated projected revenues and earnings Key assumptions included
management s budgeted statement of operations for the year ended December 31 2013 and esumated growth rate assumptions for future periods, a range of’
torward markct multiples of comparable companics and a reasonable control premuum to apply to the denved market multiples  The applicable multiples were
selected based on the similanties and difterences berween the Company s Clearing and Backed Trading reporting unit and gunideline companies in the same
sector, including profitability, growth prospects size as well as overall nsks The estimated contro] premium was determimed based upon general
consideration of premiums paid 1 individual transactions over a period of tme Under the tncome approach the fair value of the reporung wnit was based on
the present value of estimated future eash flows Key assumptions used tn estimating these cash flows included applying business growth rate assumptions to
tuture cash flows over a period of time and an estimated terminal value thereafter The Company discounted the resulting expected cash flows using an
estimated wetghted average cost of capital to armve at a present value amount that approximates fair value Changes 1n these estimates and assumptions could
matcrally affect the determination of fair value andfor goodwill impairment evaluation for the Cleaning and Backed trading reporting segment

As a result of contineed economic uncertainty and current market dynamies determuning whether an impawment of the goodwill asset exists 15
mcredsingly difficuit and requires management to excreise significant judgment  tn addiion to the extent that securnties valuations or trading volumes are
depressed tor prolonged penods of time and market conditions stagnate or worsen as a result of local or global economic condttions, the revenues and
protitability of the Company s Cleanng and Backed Trading reporting unit may be adversely affected  In addition, contro! premiums industry earnings
multiples and discount rates are impacted by cconomic condihons  As a result subsequent impatrment tests may be more frequent and be based upon more
negateve assumptions and future cash flow projections, which may result in an impairment of the Company's Clearning and Backed Trading reporting unit at
such time Any impaiment could reduce materially the recorded amount of goodwall with comresponding a charge to the Company’s earmings

Intangible Assets—Imangible assets consisted of the following

December 31, 2012 December 31 2011
Accumulated Accumulated
amartization amortization
and forcign Net und forcign Wel
Gross cUrrency carrang Gross ctirreney earming
amount translarion value amount translation value
Amaortized intangible assets
C ustomer relatonships $ 77,426 § 35,597 § 41,826 § 77,151 § 27,606 § 49 545
Trade names 8,051 6,181 2,710 8,951 5,719 3,232
Core technology 6,400 5,835 565 6,400 4,777 1,623
Non-compclc agreements 3,874 3,656 218 1,874 3,463 411
Favorable lease agrecments 620 500 120 620 420 200
Patcnts 3,131 723 2,408 3,131 225 2 906
Licenses 537 65 472 — — —
Unamortrzed intangible assets
Propnietary knowledge 110 — 110 110 —— 110
Total b 101,040 S 52,557 & 48,492 § 100,237 § 42210 $ 58,027

In July 2011, the Company completed an asset purchase of certan patents from a third party for consideration in the amount of $3,100 The patents
havc a worghted-average useful hfe of approximately 6 years

Sce notes to consohdated financial statements
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Amortization expense for the years ending December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $11,293, $12 190 and $7.815, respectively

At December 31, 2012 expected amortization cxpense for the definite lived intangible assets 15 as follows

2013 S 9.465
2014 R714
2015 8618
2016 6,592
2017 3204
Thercafter 11 789
Total $ 48 382

7 OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES
Other assets consisted of the following

Deecember 31,

2012 i1
Prepaid bonuses 3 31847 § 36,797
Deterred tax asscts 41,567 47617
Investments accounted for under the cost method and equity method 31414 35 960
Forgivable employee loans and advances to employees 31655 23909
Software inventory, net 4615 6 909
Financial instruments owned 25,250 6.864
Deferred financing fees (1} 8.074 16,290
Ozher (1) 28,774 30323
Toltal Other assets S 203,196 8 198,669

(1) Balances as of December 31, 2011 have been reclassified for comparative presentation

Duning the third quarier of 2611 the Company determuned that its equity method mvestment in a third party brokerage firm with a propnelary
trading platform was other-than-temporanly impaired and, m accordance with ASC 323-10, the investment was writien down (o s estumated fair value The
impaimment recogrized 1 the third quarter of 2011 was $2,255 Duning the fourth quarter of 2011 the Company exchanged its membership interests 1o thas
investment for a convertible senior secured promissory note {the “Note”) due in 2016 with a face value of $14 059 Upon the exchange of its membership
interests, the Company recognized a loss of $4,094 for the difference between the book value of the membership interests and the fair vaiue of the Noie

During the second quarter of 2012 the Company modified the Note by reducing 1its face value trom $14,059 to $5,000 and increasing the
percentage of membership interests into which the Note 1s converuible to 55% The Company accounted for the Note as an available-for-sale secuny  Due 1o
these modifications the Company recorded a $2.700 impasrment charge n the first quarter of 2012 1 accordance with ASC 310-40 Trouhled Deby
Resiructurings by Creduors During the third quarier of 2012, the third party brokerage tirm notitied the Company that they had immediate hguidity
concemns and that there was the prospect of inselvency 1n the near future In accordance with ASC 320-10 fnvesiments—Debt and Equaty Securiies  the
Company determimed that the Note had further been impaired and, therefore, the Note was written down 10 1ts estimated fair value, which was concluded 1o be
zero The impairmeni recogmized in the third quarter of 2012 was 352,662

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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I'he Company recorded the following impairment charges related to 1ts investment m this third party brokerage firm

Year Fnded
December 3,
2012 2011
Impairment charges (Inctuded within Other expenses) S 5,362 § 6,349
Other habilities consisted of the following
December 31
2012 2011

Delerred revenues g 7,247 8§ 16,879
Pavrell related habilities 15418 16,364
Future purchase comnitment and contingent consideratien habilines 3,727 13,681
Deterred tax habilies 7,943 14,962
Unrecognized tax bunefits 8,957 11,187
Financial imstruments sold, not yet purchased 1,481 976
Other 38,801 23,514
Total Other liabilitics 3 83574 § 97,563

8 SHORT-1ERM BORROWINGS AND LONG-T1ERM OBLIGATIONS

The Company had outstanding Long-term obligations as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 as follows

December 31,
Maturity Date 2012 2011

Long-term obhigations
8 375% Semor Notes luly 2018 g 250,000 § 250,000

& 375% Sentor Notes

In July 2011 the Company 1ssued 5250 000 1n aggregate principal amount of & 375% Sentor Notes (the **8 375% Semor Notes™) due 2018 n a
private oflering (the Oftering”) to qualified mstitutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A and to certain persons in offshore transactions pursuant to Regulauon
S cach under the Sccunties Act of 1933 as amended (the * Securities Act’) The notes were pniced to investors at 100% of their pnincipal amount and mature
in July 2018 Interest on these noles 15 payable, semi-annuallv 1n arrears on the 19 ™ of January and July Transaction costs of approximately $9,!00 related to
the 8 375% Sentor Notes was deferred and 15 betng amortized over the ferm of the notes  On December 21 2011 the Company compleied an exchange offer
tor the 8 375% Scrior Notes whereby 1t exchanged $250.000 1n ageregate principal amount of the 8 375% Sentor Notes for 8 375% Senior Notes that are
registered under the Secunties Act On Apnl 23, 2012, Standard & Poor s (*S&P”) lowered 1ts credit rating on the Company’s 8 375% Senior Notes one
notch to BB+ which pursuant to the terms of the & 375% Sentor Notes, increased the applicable per annum nterest rate, effective July 19, 2012 by 25
basis pomts equating to an addiional $625 of interest per annem On December 21, 2012, S&P further lowered 1ts credit rating en the Company « 8 375%
Sentor Notes two notches to BB-, which, pursuant to the terms of the 8 375% Semior Notes increased the applicable per annum interest rate, effective
January {9 2013 by an additional 50 basis ponts, equating to an additional S1 250 of interest per annum On January 18, 2013, Moody’s Investor
Services lowered s credit rating on the Company’s § 375% Senior Notes two notches to B1, which  pursuant to the terms of the 8 375% Semor Noles
creased the applicable per annum interest rate, effective January 19, 2013, by an additional 50 basis points, equating to an additional $1.250 of interest per
annum  $he aggregate effect of these downgrades to the Company’s credit ralmg by the vanous rating agencies equate to $3 125 in addinonal interest expense
per annum

Sce notes to consehdated financial statements
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In theusands except share snd per share amounts)

At December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 unamortized deferred financing tees related 1o the 8 373% Senior Notes ot 37 205 and S8 552
respectively were recorded within Other assets and the Company was in comphiance with al! applhicable covenants

Credit Agreement

In March 2013, the Company entered into an amendment to 1ts second amended and restated credit agreement (as amended the  Credit Agreement )
with Bank of Amenca, N A and certain other lenders The Credit Agreement provides for maximum revolving loans of up to $75,000 until December 2013
at which ume $18 750 of the lender commitments mature  The remaining $56,250 of lender commitments mature i December 2015 The Credit Agreement
provides for up to $50,000 for letters of credit Revolving loans may be either base rate loans or Eurocurrency rate loans Eurocurrency rate loans bear interest
at the annualized rate of one-month LIBOR plus the application margin and base rate loans bear mierest at a rate per annum equal (o a pnime rate plus the
applicable margin Letter of credt fees per annum are equal o the applicable margin umes the outstanding amount drawn under such letter of credit As long as
no default has occurred under the Credit Agreement, the applicable margin for base ratc and Eurocurrency rate loans and letters of credit 15 based on a matrx
that varies with a ratio of outstanding debt 1o EBITDA as defined 1n the Credit Agreement

In July 2011 the Company used $135 319 ot the net proceeds from the Offering of the 8 375%5 Semor Notes to repay all then outstanding amounts
under the Credit Agreement including accrued and unpaid 1nterest

As a result of the Offering the available borrowing capacity under the Credit Agreement decreased from $200 000 to approximately $129 500 In
March 2013 the borrowing capacity was towered to §75 000 as discussed above

The Company had outstanding borrowings under 1ts Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 as follows

Dicember 31,
2012 2011
Loans Available(l) g 129500 § 129.500
Loans Quistanding $ — 3 —

(1) Amounts available include up to $50 000 for letters ot credit as of December 31 2012 and December 31, 2011

At December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 unamertiized deterred financing tees related to the Credit Agreement of $869 and $1,738
respeetively, were recorded withun Other assets

The Credit Agreement contains certain financial and other covenants The Company was i compliance wiith all apphicable covenants at
December 31 2012 and 2011

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
{In thousands except share and per share amounts)
9 INCOME TAXES

The provision for iIncome taxes consists of the following

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 00
Current provision (benefit)
Federal 8 — 3 (7o01) 8 5,501
Loreign 11,119 13,935 22,256
State and local 579 579 759
T'otal current provision 11,698 7513 28,516
Deterred (benefit) proviston
Federal 1,158 (3,681) (20,505)
1 orcign (4 469) (1749) 1,987
State and Jocal — 564 (4,114)
Total deferred (benefit) (3311) (4,866) (22,632)
Total provision for mcome taxes ) 8,387 § 2,647 % 5,884

The Company had pre-tax income trom foreign operations of $31 571 $37,589 and $81,768 tor the years ended December 31 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively Pre-tax (loss) from domestic operations was $(32,828), $(37,507) and $(49,965) for the years cnded December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010 respectively

Defcrred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences betw een the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and habiliies and are
measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that wall be in edfect when such differences arc expected w reverse Sigmficant components of the Company's

uross deterred tax assets and habihities are set forth below

December 31

2012 2011

Deferred tax assets
Sharc-bascd compensation ] 16,718 8 19,246
Net operating loss carryforwards 43,631 40,391
Forcrgn deferred items 1,791 3,398
Capitalized R&D expenses 8,56! —
Foreign tax credits 10,944 1192
General business credit 3,485 3,020
Accrued resene 3337 5,274
Prepaid expenses 496 4,076
Unrealized loss on investment( 1) 6,626 969
Onher, net(1) 1,829 1,715
Valuation allowance (29.435) (15,677)

Total deferred tax asscts 3 67,983 % 63,604
Deferred tax habihties
Depreciation and amortization ] (13247) § (10,009)
Intangble amortization (21,113) (20,940)

latal deferred tax habihties 5 (34,360) 3 (30 949)
Net deferred tax assets $ 33,623 8§ 32,655

(1) Balances as of December 31 2011 have been reclassified for comparative presentation

As a result of centain realization requirements of ASC 718 the table of deferred tax assets and habilities shown above does not include certain
duterred tax asscts as of Docember 31 2012 and 2011 that arose dircetly from tax deduchons related to cquity compensation in excess of compensation exXpense
recogmized for financial reporting purposes Stockholders  Equity will be increased by $2,213 when such deferred tax assets are ultimately reahzed The
Company uses tax law ordening when determining when excess tax benefits have bren reahzed

Sce notes 1o consohdated financial statements
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GFL GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIFS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
{In thousands except share and per share amounts)

Cumulative undistributed earnings of toreign subsidianes were approximately $330 108 at December 31, 2012 U S income and foreign withholding
1axes have not been recognized on the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of investments in foreign subsidianes that are essentialiy
permanent in duration This amount becomes 1axable upon a repatriation of assets from the subsidiary or a sale or hiquidanon of the subsidiary  To the extent
these earmngs are repamated, the Company does not expect a matenal U S tax charge to arise  The Company considers the histonc undistmbuted earnings of
our foreign subsidiaries to be indefimitely reinvested and, accordingly no U § income taxes have been provided thereon Management has concluded that
certain carnings commencing from January 1, 2013 wall ulimately be repatnated and will provide U S tax on those amounts

The deferred 1ax assets relaung to foreign deferred items histed above consist primanly of depreciation and amortization and deterred compensation
The valuation allowance relates primanly to the inability to utihize net operating losscs and forcign tax credits  various tax junisdictions At December 31
2012 the Company cstablished a valuation allowance for the current year's state and local net operating loss to the extent that it 1s more likely than not
unrealizable The Company had U S federal net operating loss carryforwards of 357 341 U S state and local net operating loss carryforwards of 395 587
and foreign net operating 1oss carry torwards of $52 314 The 'S amounts are subject to annual limitations on utilizatien and will begin to expire in 2018
The loreign amounts are subject to annual limitations on utilization and will generally begin o expire 1n 2013 Further he Company has $10 944 ol foreign
tax credit carrylorwards at December 31, 2012 that will begin to expire 1 2013 The Company continues to menitor the realizability of these losses and
believes it 1s more likely than not that the tax benefits associated with these losses will be realized to the extent a valuation allowance has not been establhished
In assessing the realizabiity of deferred tax assets, management considers whether 1t 1s more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets
will be reahized and, when necessary, a valuation aliowance 1s established The ult:mate realization of the deferred tax assets 1s dependent upon the generation
of future 1axable income during the periods in which temporary differences become deductible  Management considers the following posstble sources of
taxable income when assessing the realization of deferred tax assets

s future reversals of existing 1axable temporary differences,

s future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards
» taxable incomce in prior carryback years and

* (ax planning strategies

The assessment regarding whether a valuation allowance 1s required or should be adjusted also considers all available pesitive and negative evidence
including but not hinuted te the following

» the naiure frequency, and seventy of any recent losses

o the duration of statutory carvyforward peniods,

* historical expenence with tax attnibutes expiring unused and

& the Company s esumated near- and medium-term financial outlook

In making the determinanion of the realizability ol these deferred tas assets the Company has idenntied certain prudent and teasible 1ax planning
strategics that the Company will implement unless the need to do o 1s cluminated i the future However this determination 1s a judgment and could be
impacted by further market fluctuations

See notes o consolidated financial statements
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GF1I GROUP INC AND SLBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

The corporale statutory U S tederal tax rate was 35 0% for the three years presented A reconciliation ot the Company’s provision tor income fax and
the statutory tax rate 1s as follows

December 31,
2012 011 pinly

Federal income tax provision (benefit) at statutory rate b (@40) $ 29 8§ 11,131
U S state and local mcome taxes net of federal tax benefit (1.616) (1951 (2353)
U S wvaluanen allowance (1) 4344 3,094 —
1 oruign operations (2) (1,988) {992) (6,146)
Non-deductible expenses 1,643 1,991 2,045
U S tax on foreign profits (3) 9 752 — 710
General busimess credit (464) (464} (402}
(Diercases) increases m unrecogmzed lax benelits net {2230) (663) 1,077
Net adjustment related to the reconcihation of income tax

provision (benelit) accruals 1o tax reterns (614) 1,428 (357)
Other — 175 179
Proviston lor income 1axes $ 8387 § 2,647 % 5 884

(1} Valuation allowance provided for deferred taxes related to state and local taxes, capital loss and chantable contribution carrytorwards
(2) Foreign rate difterential adjusted for non-deductible expenses and valuation allowance
(3) US taxes associated wath actual and deemed repatmations of earnings from our non-U S subsidianes

Income tax expense of approximately $2,213 S1 764 and 52 042 from the exercise ol stock options and the vesting of RSUs was recorded directly
10 additional paid-in capital mm 2012 2011 and 2010 respecuvely

T'otal unrecogmzed tax benetits (net of the federal benefit on state tax pasitions) as of December 31 2012 were approximately $10,007, sncluding
imterest of 31 050 all of which could aftect the effectine mcome tax rate in future perrods A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount ot
unrecogmzed tax benefits showing only items of mosyement, 1s as follows

Liabilits for
Unrecogmzed
Tax
Bencflts

Unrecogzmzed tax benefils balance at December 31, 2009 $ 10,773
Gross Increases—current period tax positions 1,076
Lapse of statute of limitations —
Unrecognized tax benefits balance a1 December 31 2010 b 11 849
Gross increases—current period tax positions —_
Lapsc of statute of limitations (662)
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31 2011 g 11,187
Gross increases—current period tax positions —
Lapse of statute of limitations (2,230)
Unrecopmized 1ax bend fits balance at Deccmber 31 2012 $ 8 957

The Company 1s under continuous examinatton by the Internal Revenue Service (the * IRS”) and other tax authonties in certan countries, such as the
U K , and states in which the Company has significant business operations, such as New York The Company 1s currently under exammation by the {RS
covering tax vears 2004 — 2009 Also the Company 1s currently at various levels of field examination with respect to audits with New York State and New
York City for tax years 2006 — 2008 The Company has substantially concluded all U S federal, state and local income tax matters for years prior to 2004

See notes 1o consohdated financial siatements
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEVIENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

Inthe U K the Company 1s in discussion with tax authonnes regarding whether cerain compensauon ex penses were deductible by the Company in
prior years A portion of the compensation payment 1s held by a trusiee and the Company may request, but not compcl, the trustce to usc the money to offsct
the cost to the Company of the potential tax bability 1f any ansing from the disallowance of the deduction

The Company believes that the resojuuion ot 1ax matters will not have a material eftect on the consehdated statements of financial condstion of 1he
Company although a resolution could have a matenal impact on the Company s consolidated statements of income for a particular future peniod and on the
Company’s effective income tax rate for any period 1n which such resoiution occurs The Company has esiablished a habihiy for unrecognized tax benefits
that the Company believes 1s adequate in relation to the potential for addinonal assessments Once established, the Company adjusts unrecognised tax benefits
only when more information 1s available or when an event occurs necessitating a change

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income tax matters in 1nterest expense and other expense respectively As of December 31
2012 and 2011 the Company had approximately $1,050 and $834 respectively of accrued interest relaied t0 uncertam tax posilions

10 STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Shares of
Cammon Stech

Authonzed (at December 31 2012) 400,000 000
Outstanding

December 31 2010 122 125 491

December 31 2011 117 524,618

December 31, 2012 117 375462

Par value per share S 001

Share Issuance

Duning 2012 and 2011, the Company 1ssued 3,952,172 and 3,142,758 shares of common stock respectively, in connection with the excrcise ol
stock options and vesung of RSUs The Company recerved total cash proceeds of $30 and $75 1n 2012 and 201 |, respectively 10 connection with the
exercise of stock options In 2011, i connection with an mvestment, the Company 1ssued 138 313 shares of common steck as part of the purchase price

Common Stock

Each holder ol the Company < common stock 15 entitled 1o one vote per share on all matiers subnutied to a vole ot stockholders Subgect to the nights
ot holders of the Company  preterred stock 1f any the holders of shares of the Company s common stock are entitfed to receive dividends when as and 1t
declared by the Company s Board of Directors

On each of March 30, May 31 August 31, November 30 and December 27 2012 the Company patd a cash dividend of $0 05 per sharc which
bascd upan the number of shares outstanding on the record date for such dividends, totaled §5,897, 5,991 35873 $5.901 and 55,904 respectively
On each of March 31, May 31, August 31 and November 30, 2011, the Company paid a cash dividend of 30 05 per share which based upon the number ot
shares outstanding on the record date for such dividends, totaled $6,100, 36,205 $5,955 and 55 920, respectively
Preferred Stock

As of December 31 2012 and 2011, the Company had one class of preferred stock with 5 000,000 shares authorized and nonc issucd
I'reasury Stock

in August 2007 the Company s Board of Dircctors authonzed the Company to implement a stock repurchase program to repurchasc a hmited
number of shares of the Company s common stock Under the repurchase plan the Board of Directors authenized the Company 1o repurchase shares of the
Company s common stock on the open market in such amounts

See notes to consohidated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO COMNSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

as determined by the Company s management provided, however, such amounts are not to exceed, duning any calendar year, the number ot shares 15sued
upon the exercise of stock options plus the number of shares underlyng grants of RSUs that are granted or which management reasonably anticipates will be
granted in such calendar year Duning the year ended December 31,2012 the Company repurchased 3,107,469 shares of 11s common stock on the open
market at an average price of 83 17 per share and for a total cost of $9 939 including sales commissions During the year ended December 31, 2011 the
Company repurchased 5 650 000 shares of 1ts common stock on the open market at an average price of $4 55 per share and for a total cost ot $25 868
including sales commissions These repurchased shares were recorded at cost as treasury stock in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition

On December 28 20£2 the Company and JPl entered tnto a stock purchase agreement pursuant to which the Company purchased 993 377 shares
of common stock held by IPT at a price of §3 02 per share for a purchase price of $3,000 On November 15 2011, the Company entered 1nto a stock
purchase agreement with Michae] Gooch and JPE pursnant to which the Company purchased 1,053,746 and 1,163,548 shares of the Company s commeon
stock held by Mrchael Gooch and JPL, respectively at a price of $4 51 per share for an aggregate purchase pnice of $10 000 The review and approval of these
stock purchase agrecments was delegated by the Company's Board of Directors to 1ts Audit Commuttee, compnised of solely independent directors which
approved such stock purchase agreements These repurchased shares were recorded at cost as treasury stock 1n the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Condition

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 the Company reissued 932,198 and 300,089 shares of its Treasury stock, respectively, in
relation 1o the settlement of vested RSUs  The rewssuance of these shares 1s accounted for as a reduction of Treasury stock on a first-n, first-out basts The
total amounts reduced trom Treasury stock relating to the settlement of RSUs duning the years ended Decerber 31, 2082 and 2011 were $11 839 and
$5 382 respecinely

11 (1 OSS) FARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic (lossy carnings per share lor common stock s calculated by dniding net (loss) income avatlable to commen stockholders by the weighted
average number ol shares of common stock outstanding duning the period Diluted (loss) earnings per share 1s caleulated by dividing net {loss) income by the

sum of (1) the weighted average number of shares outstanding (1) outstandmg stock options and RSUs (using the * treasury stock™ method when the impact
of such opuians and RSUs would be dilutive), and (111} any contingently 1ssuable shares when dilutive

Basic and diluted (loss) earmimgs per share for the years ended December 31, 2012 2011 and 2010 were as follows

December 31,

2012 2011 010
Basic (loss) earnings per share
T s net (Toss) income $ (9,953) $ (3,181} § 25,615
Weighted average common shares outstanding 116,014,202 118,334,995 120,275 918
Oastc (loss) camings per share $ (009) S o3 $ 021
Diluted (loss) earmings per share
GF o~ net (loss) imcome S (9933 § (3181) § 25615
Waghted avemge common shares outstanding 116,014,202 118,334,995 120,275,918
Lilect of diletive options RSUs and other contingently 1sseable shares — — 5,246,210
Weighred average shares outstanding and common stock equivalents 116,014,202 118 334 995 125 522 128
Diluted (loss) eamings per share $ ©09) $ 0e3) S 020

Excluded from the computation of diluted (loss) eamings per share because their effect would be ant-dilutive were the following (1) 7 195,315
RSUs and 206 826 stock options for the year ended December 31 2012 (1) 2 437 984 RSUs and 96,752 stock options for the year ended December 31,
2011, and () 1 643 217 RSUs and 56 033 stock options tor the year ended December 31, 2010

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMIENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

Included in the computation of diluted (loss)} earmings per share but not in the computation of baste {loss) eamings per share as the conditions for
1ssuance were not satisfied as of the respective reporting period were 1,414 644 contingently 1ssuable shares for the year ended December 31 2010

As a result of the net loss for the year ended December 31 2012, the following were exciuded from the computation of diluted loss per sharc tor that
period commion shares underlying options 10 purchase 48,431 shares of common stock 3 709,611 RSUs, and 3 682 916 shares that were continguntly
155uable

As a resull of the net loss for the year ended December 31 2011 the tollowing were excluded from the computation ol dituted loss per share tor that
period common shares underlying opuons to purchase 146,257 shares of commeon stock, 4,191,049 RSUs and 3 936,047 shares that were contingently
1ssuable

12 SHARE-BASED COMPENSA1ION

The Company 1ssues RSUs to 1ts employees under the GF1 Group Inc 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, which was approved by the Company s
stockholders on June 11 2008 (as amended the “2008 Equity Incentive Plan™) The 2008 Equity Incentive Plan w as subsequently amended at each ot the
Company s annual stockholders meetings since the Plan was ininially 2pproved 1n order to increase the number of shares of commion stock availabie for grant
under the Plan Prior to June 11, 2008 the Company 1ssued RSUs under the GFI Group Inc 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2004 Equity [ncentive Plan }

The 2008 Equity Incenuve Plan permits the grant of non-qualified siock options incentive stock options stock appreciation nghts, shares ot
restricted stock restnicted stock units and performance uiits to employees, non-employee directors or consultants The Company 1ssues shares from
authonzed but umssued shares and authonzed and 1ssued shares reacquired and held as treasury shares, which are reserved tor 1ssuance upon the vesting ot
RSUs granted pursuant to the 2008 Equity Incenuve Plan As of December 31 2012, there were 11,200 253 sharcs of common stock available tor tuture
grants of awards under this plan The fair value of RSUs 1s based on the closing price of the Company s comumon stock on the date of grant and s recorded
as compensation expense over the service period net of estimated forfeitures

The following 1s a summary of RSU transactions under both the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan

Weighted-As crape
Grant Date

RSLs Fair Value
Outstanding December 31, 2009 10,208,185 S 557
Granted 8128 286 5350
Vested (3075 790} 746
Cancelled (715 544) 550
Outstanding December 31 2010 14 545,137 514
Granted 9 250 544 474
Vesled (5,095 883) 538
Cancelled (742 072) 3 69
Outstanding December 31, 2011 17,957,726 4 84
Granted 8354,723 355
Vested (6,476 243) 487
Cancelled (482 824) 4 84
Qutstanding December 31, 2012 19.353 382 § 427

The weighted average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted duning 2012 was $3 55 per umt, compared with $4 74 per umt for the same peniod in
the prior year Total compensation expense and related income tax benefits recogmzed 1n relation to RSUs 1s as tollows

For the Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010
Compensation expense $ 32385 § 32772 % 26 674
Income tax benefits b 9838 S Ioti S 4926

See notes 1o consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

I he Company has modified the vesting terms of RSU grants tor certain employees 1n connection with the termuination of their employment Asa
result of these modiftcations the Company recorded incremental compensation expense totaling $255, $2.210 and $66 dunng 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respeetinely

At Dicember 31 2012 total unrecognized compensation cost related to the RSUs prior to the consideration of expected forfestures was approaimately
$56 873 and 1s expected 10 be recognized over a weighted-average penod of 1 74 years The total fasr value of RSUs that vested during the vears ended
December 31, 2012 2011 and 2010 was $31,514 $27.407 and $22 950 respectively

As ol December 31 2012 the Company had stock options outstanding under two plans the GF! Group 2002 Stock Option Plan (the  GFI Group
2002 Plan } and the GFInet Inc 2000 Stock Option Plan {the "GFlnet 2000 Plan”) No additional grands will be made under these plans Under each plan
options were granted to employees, non-employee directors or censultants to the Company, both incentive and non-qualified stock options were avmlable lor
grani options were ssued with terms up to ten vears from date of grant, and options were penenlly 1Ssued with an exercise price equal to or greater than the
fatr market valuc at the time the option was granted In addition to these terms both the GFE Group 2002 Plan and the GFlnet 2000 Plan contamned events that
had to occur prior o any options becoming exercisable Under both plans, the opttons became exercisable upon the completion of the Company's imtial public
oftering which occurred in Janvary 2005 Options outstanding under both plans are exercisable for shares of the Company’s common stock The Company
1ssues shares {rom the authonized but unissued shares resenved for 1ssuance under the GFI Group 2002 Plan or the GFlnet 2000 Plan respectively, upon the
extreise of option grants under such plans

The following 15 a summary of stock options outstanding under both the GFI Group 2002 Plan and the GFnet 2000 Plan

C F1 Group 2002 Plan GEInel 2000 Plan
Weighted W\ eighted W elghted Weiphted
Arerape Arerage Average Average
Fxerene Contractual T xercise Contractual
Options Price Term Options Price Ferm
Outstanding December 31, 2009 641,436 S 331 313,572 % 319
Cxercised (30 420) 297 (205,960} 2 69
Cancelled {4,212) 297 (11 364} 568
Outstanding December 31 2010 606 8§04 333 096,248 395
Exercised {4,212) 297 (23,884} 262
Cancelled (16,844) 525 — —
Ixpired — — (55,520} 482
Outstanding December 31 2011 585 74R 328 16,844 297
Fxercined {10,528} 297 — —
Outstanding December 31 2012 575,220 § 329 113 16,844 § 297 099
Fxercisable at December 31 2002 575220 S 329 113 16,844 § 297 099

As of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options

The total intrinsic value of options cxercised for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $2 $52 and $661 respecuvely
Addiuenally the total intnnsic +alue of options ousstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2012 was §13%

See notes to consolidated Mnancial statements
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13 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operanng Leases—The Company has non—cancelable operating leases, principally for office space, that expire on varous dates through 2027 At
December 31 2012, the fumure minimum rental commitments under such leases are as follows

2013 5 14,850
2014 12,346
2015 11,212
2016 10117
2017 9 704
Thereafter 83054
Total by 141,283

Many of the leases for office space contam escalation clauses that require payment of additional rent to the extent of increases in certain operating and
other costs In addition, certam of the Company's leases grant a free rent period, which is amortized over the lease term The accompanyang Consolidated
Statements of Operations reflect all rent expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases Rent expense under the leases tor the vears ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was 313 465 $15,252 and $13 797, respecuvely

In connection with moving the Company’s headquarters m 2008 the Company terminated a portion of the former facility lease with respect o
approximately 51 000 squarc fcet cffcctive June 30 2008 The Company remains liable tor all of the obligations under the lease for the remaming
approximately 37,000 square feet In January 2009, the Company entered into a sublease for approximately 23 000 square feet of the remaining leased space
The Company will receve monthly payments of $55 unul the sublease expires in September 2013 See Note 2 for discussion regarding the correction of an
crror in 20i 2 related to the Company's estimated loss accrual for this sublease

Purchase Obligations—The Company has vanous unconditional purchase obligations These obligations are for the purchase of market data trom
a number ot mtormation service providers during the normal course of business As of December 31 2012 the Company had total purchase commtments for
markel data of approximately $22,879 with $19,589 due wuthin the next twelve months and $3,290 duc between one to three years Addionally the
Company had other purchase commitments of $6,135, pnmanly related to network implementations inthe US and U K and $490 primanly related to
hosung and software license agreements Of these other purchase commitments approxmmately $3 161 are due within the next twelve months

In connection with the acquisition of 70% of the equity ownership interests in Kyte the Company agreed 1o purchase the residual 30% cquity interest
1in Kyte for an additional cash payment in an amount 10 be determuned pursuant 10 a formula based on Kyle's camimgs such payment to be made following
June 30 2013 Sce Note § to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information

Contingencies—in the normal course of business the Company and certain subsidiaries included in the conselidated financial statements are and
have been tn the past involved in vanous lawsuits and proceedings and are and have been i the past, involved i certam regulatory examinations These
legal procecdings are at varying stages of adjudication, arbitration or investigation and involve a wide vanety of claims  In view of the inherent difficulty of
predicting the outcome of such liigation and regulatory matters particularly where the claimants seck very large or indeterminate damages or where the matters
present novel legal theonies the Company generally cannat predict what the eventual cutcome of the pending matters will be what the unung ol the ulimate
resolution ot these matters will be, or what the eventual loss, fines or penalues, if any, relating to each matier may be

The Company 15 subject to the possibility of losses from these various contingencies Considerable judgment 1s necessary Lo esiimate the probabiliy
and amount of any loss from such contingencies In accordance with apphicable accounting gindelines, an accrual 15 made when 1t 1s probable that a habihity
has been incuired or an asset has been impared and the amount of loss can be reasonably esimated  Where a loss contingency 15 not boeth probable and
estimable, the Company does not establish an accrued hability Severai of the Company s European subsidianes are currently defending a claim that they
improperly hired a number of employees of a compettor over the course of several months  The clam was

Scc notes to consohdated financial statements
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fited almost a year afler the Company hired the employees and notwithstanding that none of the employees breached their employment agreements with the
competitor Although the case 1s in 1ts preliminary stages the claimant 15 seeking a multi-million dollar award The Company ntends to vigorously defend
agamst s action and believes that 1t has substantial defunses to the claims asserted agaimnst 1t

The Company 1s subject 1o regular examinations by vartous tax aathorities in junsditions in which the Company has sigmficant business
operations The Company regularly assesses the hkehihood of addittonal tax assessments that may result from these examinations in each of the tax
jurisdictions A tax accrual has been established, which the Company believes to be adequate m relation to the potenua) for additiona) tax assessments Once
tstablished, the accrual may be adjusted based on new information or events The tmposition of additional tax assessments, penalties or fines by a tax
authority could have a matenal impact on the Company’s effective tax rate

Additionally the Company has recorded reserves for certain contingencies to which 1t may have exposure, such as contingencies refated to the
emplover portion of National Insurance Contnbutions in the U K

Based on currently available information the outcome of the Company ’s outstanding legal proceedings are not expetted to have a matenal adverse
mpact on the Company’s financial statements HHowever, the cutcome of any such matters may be material to the Company’s results of operations or cash
flows 1ir a given period It 15 not presemly possible to determine the Company’s ultimate exposure to these matters and there 15 no assurance that the resolution
of the Company s outstanding matiers will not sigmificantly excecd any reserves acerued by the Company

Rusks and Uncertainties—The Company pnmanly gencrates 1ts revenucs by exccutmg and facilitating transactions for counterpartics Revenues
for these sen ices are transaction based A< a result, the Company's revenues will hikely vary based upon the rading volumes of the vanous sccurities,
commodities foretgn cxchange and other cash and denvative markets in which the Company provides its services

Guurantees— L he Company through its subsidiaries 1s a member ot certain exchanges and cleanng houses Under the membership agreements,
members are generally required 1o guarantee certain obligat:ons To mitigate the performance nisks of 1ts members, the exchanges and cleanng houses may,
from tme to ime requite members to post collateral as well as meet certain mumimum financial standards The Company’s maximum potential hability
under these anangements cannot be quantified Howcver management believes that the potential for the Company to be required to make payments under these
arrangements s unhikely Accordingly no contingent hiability 1s recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition for these arrangements

14 RETIREMENT PLANS

In the United States the Company has established the GFI Group 401(k) plan pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code [t |
15 available 1o all ebgible U § employees and 1s subject to the provistons of the Emplayee Retirement Income Secunity Act of 1974 Employees may voluntanly \
contribute a portion of their compensation, not to exceed the statutory hmits The Company did not make any contributions to the plan for the years ended |
December 31,2012 2011 or 2010

In the U K the Company has establhished three defined contribution plans pursuant to the apphicable laws in the U K Employees of certain U K
subsidiarics may voluntarily designate a portion of their monthly compensation to be contributed, which the Company matches up to a certain percentage The
Company has made aggregate contributions of 81,859, $1.461 and $1,316 m 2612, 2011 and 2010, respectively, for these defined contnbution plans,
recorded in compensation and employee benefits

15 MARKFT AND CREDIT RISKS
Market Risk

The Company, through 11s subsidiaries, operates as a wholesale broker The Company provides brokerage services to 1ts customers through agency
or prncipal transactions  Agency brokerage transactions factlitated by the Company are settled between the counturparties on a give-up basis In matched
principal (ransactions the Company 15 interposed between buvers and sellers and the transactions are cleared through vanous cleaning organtzations In the
event of counterparty nonperformance, the Company may be required to purchase or sell finaneial instruments at unfavorable market prnices which may
result I a loss to the Company The Company does not anticipate nonpertormance by counterparties The Company

Sec notes to consohdated financal statements
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monitors 1ts credit nisk daily and has a pelicy of regularly reviewing the eredit standing of counterparties with which 1t conducts business The Company
may also cnicr mto principal investing transactions 1n which the Company commuts its capital within predefined Iimuts erther to tacilitate customer trading
activities or Lo engage in principai trading for the Company s own account To the extent that the Company owns assels (1¢ has long posittons} in flucisating
markets, a downturn in the value of those assets or 1n those markets could result 1n losses from a declime in the value of those long posiiens Conversly 10
the extent that the Company has sold assets that the Company does rot own (1 e has short positions) in any of those markets an uptum 1 those markets
could expose the Company to signiticant losses as the Company attempts to cover short positions 1n a nsing market

Unsetiled transactions (1 ¢ securities failed-to-receive and securities tailed-to-deliver) are attributable to matched principal ransactions executed by
subsidianes and are recorded at coniract value Cash settlement 1s achieved upon receipt or delivery of the secunty !In the event of nonperformance the
Company may purchase or sell the securily in the market and seek rermbursement for losses from the contracted counterparty

[ certain instances the Company may provide credit for margin requirements to customers, secured by collateral 1n a customer s account In such
cases the Company 15 exposed to the market risk that the value of the collateral the Company holds could fall below the amount ot a customer s indebtedness
This risk can be amplified in any situation where the market for the underlying instrument 1s rapidly declining A greements with customers that have margin
accoumts permit the Company to hquidate their positiens in the event that the amount of margin collateral becomes sufficient Despite those agreements and
the Company’s risk management policies with respect 1o margin, the Company may be unable to liquidate a custamer's posiLions for varnous r¢asons ot at a
price sufficient to cover any deficiency 1n a customer’s account If the Company were unable 1o liquidate a position at a price sutiicient to cover any deliciency
or if a customer was unable 10 post additienal margin, the Company may sufter a loss

Credit Risk

Credit risk anses from potcntial non-performance by counterpartics of our matched prineipal business as well as trom nonpayment of commissions
by customers of our agency brokerage business The Company also has credit and counterparty risk in certain situations where it provides ¢learing and
execution services The Company provides agency cleaning services through 11s relationships with general clearing member firms and/or exchanges In these
nstances the Company’s accounts al such institutions are uscd, 1 1ts name, to provide access to clearing services forits customers Credit nisk anscs from
the possibility that the Company may sufler losses duc to the faifurc of its customers or other counterpartics to satsfy thewr financial obhigations to the
Company or in a timely manner

The Company has established policies and procedures to manage 1ts exposure to credit sk The Company mamntains a thorough credit approval
process 1o Lumit its exposure to counterparty risk and employs stringent monttoring to control the market and countemarty nisk trom 11s matched principal
business The Company's brokers may only execute transactions for chients that have been approved by the Company s credit commitice following review by
the Company's credut department The Company s credit approval process includes venfication of key financial information and operating data and ann-
money laundening vernification checks The Company's credit review process may include consideration of indupendent credit agency reports and a visit to the
entity s premises, H necessary The Company has developed and utilizes a proprietary electronic credit risk monionng system

Credit approval 15 granted by the Company s credit commttice wlhich 1s comprised of sentor management and representatives trom its compliance
finance and legal depariments Credit approval 1s granted subject to certain trading Limits and may be subject to additional conditions, such as the receipt of
collateral or other credit support The Company s credit risk depariment assists the credit commattee in the review of any proposed counterparty by conducting
diiigence on such party and by continuing to review such counterparties for continued credit approval on at least an annual basis These results are reviewed
by the credit commuttee Maintenance procedures include reviewing current audited financial statcments and publicly available information on the client
collecting data from credit rating agencics where available and reviewing any changes in ownership, utle or capital of the chent For the Company s agency
business the approval process includes the requisite anti-money laundening and know-your-customer venfications

Sec notes 1o consohdated financial statcments
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16 FAIR VALLF OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Cenain ol the Company s assets and habilhities are carried at fair value or contracted amounts that approximate farr value Assets and liabihities that
are recorded at contracted amounts approximating fair value consist primarnly of receivables from and payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizatons
and payables to clearing services customers These receivables and payables to brokers dealers and clearing organizations are short-term i nature, and
follow ing December 31, 2012, substantially all have settled at the contracted amounts The Company 's marketable equity securities, included in Other assels,
ar¢ recorded at fair value based on their quoted markcet price The Company’s mvestments that are accounted for under the cost and equity methods are
mvestments in compantes that are not pubhcly traded and for which no established market for their securities exists The far value of these investments 1s
only cstimated of there are identified events or changes 1n circumstances that may have a sigmificant adverse effect on the carrying value of the investment

The Company's financial assets and habilites recorded at fair value have been categonzed based upon a fair value herarchy in accordance with
ASC 820-10 In accordance with ASC 820-10 the Company has categonzed its financral asscis and habilitics, based on the pnionty of the puts to the
valuation technique into a three-level fair valuc hierarchy as sct forth below

Level J-—TFmancial asscts and habilittes whose values are based on unadjusted quoted prices for identifiable assets or ltabilities tn an active market
that the company has the ability to access at the measurcment date (examples include active exchange-traded equity secuntics, listed derivatives, and
most U 8 Government and agency securtties)

Level 2—IMnaneal assets and habalities whose values are based on quoted prices in markets where trading oceurs infrequently or whose values are
bascd on quoted prices of mstruments with similar altnibutes 1n active markets Leve! 2inputs melude the following

e Quoted prices lor identitiable or semilar assets or habilities 1n non-activ e markets {(examples include corporate and municipal bonds
which trade infrequently)

*  Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for substantially the full 1erm of the asset or hatnlity (examples include interest rate and
currency swaps), and

! evel 3—Fmancial assets and Babihities whose values are based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable and
stgmificant to the overall tair value measurement Thesc inputs reflect management's own assumptions about the assumptions a market participant
would use in pricing the asset or hability

The Company’s debt obligations are carnied at historical amounts The fair value of the Company’s Long-term obligations categonized withen Level
2 of the tair value huerarchy and measured pnimanly using pneing service data from external providers as of December 31, 2012 and December 31 2011, was
as follows

December 31,
2012 2011

Long-term obligations at estimated fair valuc
8 375% Semor Notes $ 20720 8% 231,250

Valuation Techmgues

A descniption of the valvanion techmques applied to the Company s major categonies of assets and habihities measured at far value on a recurnng
basis are as follows

US Treasurv Sectrinies - U S Treasury securities are valued using quoted market prices Valuation adjustments are not applied Accordinglv
U'S Treasury securttics are gencrally categorized in Level { of the tair value hierarchy

Equun Securties - Cquity secunties include mostly exchange-traded secunittes and are valued based on quoted market prices Accordingly exchange-
traded equity securittes are generally categonzod in Leve! 1 of the tair value

Sec notes to consolidated Mnancial statements
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hierarchy  Non-exchange traded equity securities are measured pnmanly using broker quotations pricing service data from external providers and
prices observed tor recently executed market transactions Non-exchange traded equity secunties are generally categorized within Level 2 of the tar
value herarchy

Corporate Bonds — Corporate bonds are measured primarily using broker quotations pricing service data from cxternal providers and prices
observed for recemily exceuted market transactions Coerporate bonds are gencrally categonized in Level 2 of the tair value lucrarchy

Foreign government bonds — Foreign government bonds are mostly valued using quoted market prices Accordingly foreign government bonds are
generaily categonized in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy

Dernamme Contracts — Donvative contracts include mstruments such as foreign exchange commadity fixed income and equity dermative
contracis

Listed Dervauve Contracty - Lasted denvatives that are actively traded are valued based on quoted prices from the exchange and are calegonzed
in Level i of the fair value merarchy

OTC Dervvanve Contraces - OTC dervative contracts include forwards swaps, and optiens contracts refated to foreign currencies Depending
on the product and the terms of the transacuon, the fair value of OTC derivantive products can be either observed or moedeled using a series of
techniques and model inputs from comparable benchmarks ncluding closed-form analytic formulas such as the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, and simulation models or a combination thereof  Many pnicing models do not entail matenal subjectivity because the methodologres
employed do not necessitate significant judgment, and the pricing 1nputs are observed trom actively quoted markets Lo the case of more
cstablished denvative products the pricing models used by the Company arc widely accepted by the financial services industry OTC
denvauve products valued by the Company using pricing modcels generally fall into this category and are catcgonzed in Love) 2 of thy fair value
hicrarchy

Equin wairanis - Non-exchange traded cquity warrants are classified within Level 3 of the tair value hierarchy and arc measured vsing the Black-
Scholes model with key mputs smpacting the valuation including the underlying secunity price implied volatiiity dividend yaeld interest rate cunve
strike price and maturity date

Convertble note recetvable available-for-sale — As discussed 1in Note 7, during the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company exchanged its
membership mierest 1 a third party brokerage firm for a convertible senior secured promissory note n that company This security was previously
measured using valuation techmques mvolving quoted prices of or market data for comparable compames including crecht ratings peer company
rattos and discounted cash flow analyses As the inputs used in estmaung the fair value of this convertible debt securiiy were both unobsen able and
sigmficant to the overall fair value measurement of this assel, the asset was categorized withia Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy During the three
months ended September 30 2012, the third party brokerage firm noufied the Company that they had mmmediaie hquidity concems and that (here
was the prospect of insolvency i the near future  Based upon thus imformatton the Company determined 1ts estimated tair value of the comvertible
senior secured pronussory note to be zero  See Note 7 for further detals

Future Purchase Commitment - In conncction with the acquisition of 70% of the equity ownership interests 1n kyte the Company agreed to
purchase the restdual 30% equity interest in Kyte lor an addiuonal cash payment 1 an amount to be determined pursuant to a lormula based on
Kyte s carmings such payment 1o be made following June 30 2013 In applying the income approach the Company assumed a 15 5% and 16 0%
discount rate as of December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 respecuvely and used torecasied financial information for Kyie for the remaming
period ended June 30 2013 As the inputs used 1n estimating, the fair value of this tuture purchase commitment are both unobscrvable and significant
to the overall far value measurement of this hability, the hability 1s categonzed in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy

Contingent Consideration —The category consists primanly of contingent consideration related to the acquisiion of a retail encrgy brokerage
business, completed on November 1, 2009 Thus contingent Liability 1s remeasured at fair value and 1s based on estimated tuture collections of

accounts receivable of the business through October 31, 2013

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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As the inputs used 1n estimating the fair value of this contingent consideration are both unobsen able and significant to the overall fair value
measurement of this hability the hability 15 categonized in Level 3 of the farr valuc hierarchy

In the vear ended December 30, 2012 and 201 1, the Company did not have any matenal transfers amongst Level 1 Level 2, and Level 3
See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Financial Assets and Liabilines measured at fair value on a recurmning basis as of December 31 2012 are as follows

Assels
Other assets Financial instruments owned
Equity secunities
Denvauve contracts
Foreign exchange denivative contracts
Fixed income denvative contracts
Equity dernative contracts
Commodity dervatve contracts
Netting (1)
lotai derivative contracls
Total financial instruments owned
Other assets Other
Equity sccurity, available-for-salc
Convertible note recervable, available-for-sale
Total

Liabihities
Other habibiies Financial instruments sold not yet purchased
Equaty securities
Denvatve contracts
Foreign exchange derivative contracts
Fixed income derivative contracts
Equity denvative contracts
Commodity denvative contracls
Netting (1}
Total denivative contracts
Total financial nstruments sold not yel purchased
Other habiliies Future purchase commiiment
Other Liabilities Contingent consideration
Total

(1} Represents the impact of netting on a net-by-counterparty basis

Quoted Prices in Significanr Other Signaficant
Active Varkets for Observable Unobservuble Balance at
Tdentical Assels Inputs inputs December 11
(Level 1) (Level 2) {Level 3) 2012

3 1223 § 199§ — 5 1422
£ — 3 182 343 ) — h) 182 343
394 — — 394

40,578 — 28 40 606

— 1 401 — 1 401
(17 961) (182,955) — (200 916)

$ 23011 % 789 § 28 8§ 23 828
$ 24234 % 988 3 28 S 25250
$ 3,356 % — S — 3 3336
$ 27,500 § 988 § 28 3 28,606
$ 205 % — & — 5 205
$ 14§ 182,573 § — 8 182 387
595 — — 595

i7 567 — — i7 567

— 1 400 — 1 400
(17,961 (182 912) — {200 873)

$ 215 % 1061 § — 8 1276
$ 420 8§ 1061 8§ — S5 1 481
$ — 3 — 5 3209 S 3209
$ — 3 — 3 518 8§ 518
3 420 § 1,061 § 3,727  § 5 208

Excluded trom the table above 1s vartation margin on net long derivative contracts related to exchange traded tutures in the amount ot $49 and net

short denvative contracts related to exchange traded fumres 1n the amount ot $14 986 These amounts were included withm Recuivables from brokors dealers

and cleanng organizations

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Financial Asscts and Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurming basis as of December 31 2011 are as follows

Quoted Prices 1 Significant Other Sigmficant
Active Yiarkets for Obserable Unobservable Balance at
Identical Assets Irputs Inputs December 31,
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2011
Asscts
Recen ables trom brokers dealers and clearing orgamizations
U S Treasury securities S 500§ — 5 —  § 500
Other assets inancal instruments owned
kquily steurities g 4R0  $ 208 § — & 688
Dervative coniracty
Foreign exchange demvative contracts 5 16 8 185933 3§ — 185,949
Fixed income derivative contracts 1,628 — — 1628
Fquity dertvative contraets 1,453 —_ 1,937 3,390
Nettng (1) (1,210) (183,581) — (184,791)
Total derivative contracts < | 887 % 2,352 % 1,937 ¢ 6,176
Total financial instruments owned S 2,367 § 2,560 § 1937 § 6,864
Other assets Other
Equty security available-lor-sale 3 2901 § — 3 — % 2,901
Convirtible note recervable avatlable-for-sale g — 8 — 5 5362 $ 5,362
Total S 5,768 % 2,560 § 7,299 § 15,627
Liabilities
Other liabithties Finaneial instruments sold, not yet purchased
Cquily sccunties $ 129§ 22 3 — 3 151
Derivative contracts
Foruign exehinge demsatne contracts S 7 S 1841354 § — 3 184 361
Fixed meome denvative contrag ts 384 — — 384
Fgudty dernative contracts g9 — — 819
Netung (1) (12100 (183,529 — {184,739}
Total derivative contracts S —  § 825 § — % 825
{otal financial mstruments sold not yet purchased b 129§ 847 3§ - 3 976
Other habilines Tuture purchase commitment S — 5 — 8 12,562 § 12,562
Other liabthties Contingent consideration 5 — § — 1,119 § 1,119
Tatal by 129 § 847 § 13681 § 14,657
(R)] Represents the impdct of netting on a net-by-counterparty basis

Fxcluded from the table above 15 varmation margin on long and short denvative contracts related to exchange traded futures m the amount of $1,125
which are included within Recervables from brokers dealers and clearing organizations

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

Changes n Level 3 Financial Assets and Liabilines measured at fair value on a recumng basis for the year ended December 31 2012 are as follows

fotal realised
and unrealtzed
gains {losses)
inefuded in
Income (1N

Beginning
Balance

Unrealizcd pains
{lasses) included
n Ciher
comprehensive
{Incame) lass

Purchases

Lnrealired pans
(losses) for | ol
3 Assets /

1 rabihines

Balance at CGuistanding at
December VM December 31
Scttlemcnts 2012 012

Ending

Issuances Sales

Assels
Other assets
Financial
Instruntents
owned
Equuty
denvatve
contracts 3
Other assets
Other
Caonvertible note
receivable
available-for-
sale $

1937 § (2,475} $

5362 % (5,362) %
Liabiliies
Other hiabilities
Futurc purchase
commiiment
Other liabilities
Contimgent
consideration $

§ 12,562 § 9,545 8

1,119 § (168)

(192) S

— 3

§ 566 8

— §

— 8

(2 475)

(5 362)

— 3 3,200 § 9 545

(769 8 5i8 § (168)

(n Reahzed and unreahized gains (losses) are reported in Other income 1 the Consolidated Statements ot Operalions

Sec notes 1o consolidated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

Changes m Leve 3 Financial Assets and Liabihiies measurcd at fair value on a recurnng basis for the year ended December 2011 are as follows

Unrealized gakns

Taotal realised {lowses) for Level
and Unreatized gains 3 Assets f
tnrealircd {losses) included Ending Laahlitaes
guns(losses) In Other Balance at Qutstanding at
RBeginning included in comprehenvive Decoember 31, December 31,
Balance Income (1) (incame) loss Purchases Tssunnces Sales Settlemunts 2011 201
Assets
Other assets
Financial
Imstrumnents
owned
Equity detivative
contracts g — § —_— 8 — $ 1,937 % — 5 — 3 — 5 1,937 § —
Other assets
Other
Convertible note
recesvable
avallabl-tor-
sal ) — 8 — 8 — § 5,362 8 —3 — 3 — 8 5362 8 —

Liabilities
Othcr habilenes
Future purchase
commitment S 19,603 § 6,941 § 100 $ — 3 —% — 3 — % 12,562 § 6,541
Other babihitics
Contingent

consideration § 2812 % — 8 — 8 — § — % —§ (16933 1,119 § —

(h Realized and unrealized g uns (fosses) are reported in Other income 1n the Consohdated Statements of Operations
Sce notes to consohdated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts}

Quantitative [nformation about Level 3 Fair Value Vieasurements

The tollowing table presents quaniitative information about the significant unobservable inputs unlized by the Company in the tair value
measurement of Level 3 Assets and Liabihities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Assets
Equity denvative contracts

Convertible note receivable available-for-sale

Liabihities
Future purchase commiiment

Fair Valuc as of

December 31 VYaluatlon Range (W cighted
2012 Technique(s) Unabservable Inpui(s) Average) (a)
$ 28  Black-Scholes-Merton Expected volatihity 55%
Viodel
Fstimated share price S 001
$ —  Diuscounted cash flow LCstimated credit spread 19%,
Black-Schales-Merton _xpected volatility 15%
Model
Estimated price pur convertible (b}
unit
) 3209  Present value of Discount rate 15 5%
expected payments
Forecasted financial ()
information

{(«) Asof December 31 2012 each asset and hability type con<ists of one security

(b} To determine the estimated price per convertible unit the Company estrmated the fmr value of a non-controlling nterest in the entity utihzing a
discounicd cash flow appropriate discount rate and combined discount for lack ot control and markctability

{c) The Company s future purchase commitment 1s based on Kyte s projected earmings through June 30 2013 Inestimating the fair value the Company
utihized post-1ax projected eamings tor the remaining penod through June 30 2013

Valuation Processes—Level 3 Measurements—Depending on the instrument, the Company utihizes a valuation techmique including discounted
cash flow methods, option pricing methods and present value methods, as indicated above Valuations arc generally conducted by the Company. with
consultatton of a third-party valuation expert 1o develop the valuation model when the asset or hability 1s mitally recorded Each reperting penod the
Company updates unobservable inputs utilizing relevant published information, where applicable The Company has a formal process to review changes in

fasr value for satisfactory explanation

Sensitivity Analvsis—Level 3 Measurements

Equiny dernaine contracts - The significant unobservable inpuis used 1n the fair value of the Company s equity derivative contracls are the
cxpected volatility and an estimated share price: Sigmificant increases (decreases) i expected volatlity or estimated share pnice would resultin a

hgher (lower) fair value measurement

Com.eruble note recewvable available-for-sale - The sigmificant unobsenvable mputs used o the fair valu of the Company « convertible note
receivable available-for-sale are an cstimated credit spread cxpected volaulity and the cstimatd price per cenvertible umit Significant imcrcases
{decreases) in expected volatihty or estimated price per convertible unit would result 1 a mgher (lower) fair value measurement Sigmificant increases
(decreases) n the estimated credit spread would result in a lower (higher} fair value measurement

Sce notes to consolidated financial statuments
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GHFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOIES 10 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEVIENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

Future purchase commutment - The aignuficant unobscn able inputs wsed 1n the fairvalue of the Company s future purchase commument for the
residuad 30% cquity 1nterest i Kyte are the discount rate and forecasted financial information Sigmificant increases (decreasces) in the discount rate
would resultin a lower (higher) fair value measurement Significant increases (decreases) in the forecasted financial information would result i a
higher (lower) fair value measurement

For all sigmticant unobseryable mputs used in the fair value measurement of all Level J assets and liabilities, a change 1 ene of the inputs would not
necessarly result in a directtonally simular change in the other

Assers and Liabnltites Measured ar Fan Value on a Non-recurring Basis

The Comp iny has cost and cquity method nvestments which are monuitored for indicators of impatrment each reporting peniod 1t the Company
determunes that an other-than-temporary imparment has occurred  the mvestment will be written down 1o 1ts estimated far value There were no assets or
Tabihitics me sured at Jair value en a non-recurning basis at December 31 2012

For the yearended December 31 2011 1 accordance with the provisions of ASC 323-18 the Company determined that cortain equaty method
v cstments wore other-than-temporanly impaired and were wntten down to their estmated fairsalue The Company primanly utilized the income approach
by assunung an estimated discount rate and lorceasted financial informanion to determine 118 estmated {air value The Company measured this equity method
mvestment at fair value on a non-recurmng basis and 1t 1s not included m the tables above

The tollowing table presents the balance of the equity method investments at December 31, 201! that have been measured at fatr value on a non-
recurring basiy using the process descnbed above and the impairment charges recorded duning the year ended December 31, 2011

Slgn:ficant

Quoted Prices in Other Significant
Bxalance at Actwe Markets for Observable Unohservable Total I osses (or
December 3t 1dentical Asscts Inputs Inputs the Year knded,
2011 (Level 1) (level 2) (Level 3) 2011
Othor Asscts [nvestments accounted for
under the cost method and equity
method (1) S — 8 — — 5 — 3 4.717)

(1) Impairment losses are recorded within Other expenses in the Consohdated Statements of Operations for the year ended Decemnber 31 2011
There werc no habilitics measured at fair value on a non-recaming basis at Decemnber 31,2011
17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company uscs toreign exchange dervative contracts, including lorward contracts and foreign currency swaps, to reduce the etfects ot
fluctuations in certan assets and habehites denominated in foreign currencies The Company also hedges a porteon of its foreign currency exposures on
anticipated foraign currency denominaied revenues and expenses by ¢ntening into torward foreign exchange contracts As of December 31, 2012 and
December 31 2011 none of these contracts were designated as foreign currency cash flow hedges under ASC 815-10, Dervanves and Hedging ( ASC B15-
10

The Company provides brokerage scrvices to 1ts costomers for cxchange-traded and over-the-counter dernative products which include tutures
torw irds and options contracts The Company may enter into principal transactions tor exchange-traded and wver-the-counter deriy aune products 1o faciluate
customer irding actinaties or 1o engage in principal trading for the Company s own account

The Company monitors market risk exposure from its matched principal bustness and pnncipal trading business by regularly monitoning 11s
concentrauon ot market risk to financial instruments  countries or counterparties and regularly monitoring trades that have not settled within prescribed
stitlement pertads or volume thresholds Additionally market risks

Sce notes 1o consolidated financial statements
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIFS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

are monnored and nnnigated by the use of the Company’s proprietary electronic nsk monitoring system which prosides daily credit reports 1n each of the
Company s geographic regions that analyze credit concentration and tacilitates the regular meniionng of transactions agaimst key nisk mdrcators

For certain derivative contracis, the Company has entered nto agreements with counterparties that allow tor the netung of posisons The Company
reports these dervative contracls on a net-by-counterparty basis when management believes that a legal and entorceable nght ot oftset exists under thuse

agreements

Tair values of derivative contracts on a gross and net basis as ot December 31, 2012 and December 31 2011 arc as tollows

December 31, 2012 December 31 2011
Dernatives not designated as hedping Dernvative Derivatine Dernvatine Dersatne
instruments under ASC 815-10 Assets (1} Luubilities (2) Assets (1} | labilisies (1)
Toreign cxchange derivative contracts 5 182,388 % 182,628 % 185984 § 184,387
Commodity dermvative contracts 23 656 23 680 13178 12 190
Fixed income denvative contracts 2,990 3420 4113 2904
Equity denvative contracts 42,811 34,460 3 600 R66
Total fair value of denvative contracts B 251,845 8§ 244,188 % 206,875 S 200 347
Counterparty netung (227.968) (227 925) (199 574} (199 522)
Total fair value S 23877 8 16263 % 7301 § 823

(n Reflects futures and options on futures centracts within Receivables from brokers dealen and clearing orgamzauens and options and forw ards
centracts within Other asscts

) Reflects futures and options on futures contracis within Payabies 10 brokers dealers and cleanng orgamzations and eptiens and forwards
contracts withen Other habilities

In addition as of December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 the Company had outstanding torward Ioruign exchange contracts with a combined
notional value of $96 234 and $128,197, respectavely Approximately 526,390 and $32 743 of these forward foreign exchange contracts represents a hedge
of euro-denonunaied balance sheet positions at December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 respectively The remaining contracts are hedges of anticipated
future cash flows

In addition 10 the Company s outstanding forward foreign exchange contracis the toliowing table includes the outstand:ng long and short nouonal
amounts on a gross basis of dertvative financial instruments as ot December 30 2012 and December 31 2011

December 31 2012 December 31 2011
1 ong Short Long Shorl
Foreign exchange denivative contracts $ i3131,184 8 13,116,622 % 9,967,442 & 9976475
Commueduty derivative contracts 592,686 592 923 5i2233 513 245
Fixed tncome denvative coniracts 5,949,603 6,057,524 3119363 3,195 603
Equuity dervative coniracts 81 g4t 430,899 31 959 6 605

The following 15 a summary of the eftect of derivative contracts on the Consolidated Staternents of Operations for the year ended December 31 2012
and 2011

1 ocation of Gamn (Loss) Amaanl of Gain (1 0ss) Recogrized m Income on Dern atin e
Derivatives not designated as hedging Recngnized 1n [ncome on For the Year F nded December 315
instruments under ASC 815-10 Dervatives W12 2011
Foreign exchange denvative contracts (1) $ 6 344 5 4 090
Commodity denvative contracts Principal transactions 16 182 14 188
Fixed income denvative contracts Principal transactions 9048 10 636
Equity denvative contracts (2) (1155 4 885

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEVMIENTS (Continued)
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

(!} Forthe ycarended December 31 2012 approximately $2,011 of gains on foraign exchange denivative contracts were included within Other income and
approximaltely $4 333 of gamns on foreign currency options were included within Total brokerage revenues For the vear ended December 31 2011
approxtmately $415 of losses on forergn exchange denvative contracts were included within Other income and approximately $4,505 of gams on foreign
currency options were included within Principal transactions

(2) For the ycar ended December 31 2012, approxmmately $2,475 of losses on equity denvative contracts were meluded within Other income and
approximatcly S1 324 of gains on equity dens ative contracts were included within Principal transactions For the year ended December 31 2011
approxinuately $4 8RS of gans on cquity der ative contracts were included within Principal transactions

See notes to censohidated Mnancial staiements
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GFJ GROUP INC AND SLBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Centinued)
(In thousands evcept share and per share amounts)

i8 VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES
Non-consolidated VIE

The Company holds interests in certain VIEs that 1t does not consohidate The Company has determened that 3t 1s not the primary benefictary mostly
duc to a lack of sipmiicant ccononuic micrest voting power and/or power ta direct the activities that would most sigmificantly impact the ccononue performance
of the V11

As of December 31 2012 and December 31, 2001 the Company had certain vanable inierests i nen-conselidated ViLs 1n the form of direct equity
mterests and a convertible note The carrying amount of these VIEs was 54,438 and $10 640 respectively and was recorded within Other assets These
VIEs include an independent brokerage firm with a proprietary trading platform, trading entities 1n which the Company has provided mitial capital to tund
trading acivitics a commedity pool operator and an ivestment fund manager The Company also provides cleaning and other administrati e services to
cerlain of these non-consolidated VIEs The maximum exposure to loss on these VIEs was $4 438 and $10 640 as ot December 71 2012 and December 31
2011, respecuvely

As of December 31 2012 the Company had certain vanable interests in non-consolidated VIEs 1n the form of trading margin accounts i which the
Company has an econamic mterest in profits and losses and has provided initial capital to fund trading activities The Company atso provides clearing and
other admimistrative services 1o these non-consohidated VIEs The carrying amount of these VITs was $9 784 and was recorded within Receivabics um
brokers dealers and clearing orgamizations  The maximum exposure to loss of these VIEs was $10 703 as of December 31, 2012

The Company has not recorded any liabihities with respect to non-consohidated VIEs
Consolidated VIEs

In December 2050 Kyle invested in a limited company that s focused on developing a proprictary trading busingss The limited company ty a Vil
and 1t was determined that the Company 1s the pnimary beneficiary of tus VIE because the Campany, through Kyte was the provider of the majonity of this
VIE's start-up capital and has the power to direct the acuvities of this VIE that most sigmficantly impact 1s cconomie performance primartly through s
voting percentage and consent rights on the activities that would most sigmficantly influence the entity The consohdated VIE had total assets of 56 428 and
$5.618 at December 31, 2012 and December 31 2011 respectively which primanly consisied ot clearing margm There were no matenal restrichons en Lhe
consolidated VIE s assets The consolidated VIE had total habiliies of $1,558 and $1 154 at December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 respectively

Sec notes to consohidated financial siaiements
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOITES 10 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
(In thousands except share and per share amounts}

19 EQLITY METIIOD INVFSTVMENTS

The Company has investments accounted tor under the equity method (sec Note 2) with an aggrogate carrying value of $26 743 and $28 997 at
December 31 2012 und 2011 respectively and which are meluded m Other assets Included within Equity 1 net earmings of unconsolidated businesses s as
$8 569 $10 466 and 33 974 10 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively refated to these snvestments The Company also provides clearing and other
adrmnistrativ e services to cenaun of these equity method imestments

Investments accounted tor under the equity method included the tollowing

. Invistments it a number of unconselidated U K brokerage and trading operations acquired in the July | 2010 acquisition of Kyte and mvestments
made by Kvie subsequent to the Company s acquisition and

e Investments ina number of U S based brokerage trading and investment firms

For matenal insestments accounted for under the equity method which wnclude certam brokerage businesses located in the U K | total revenues
gross profit net income and the Company s contractual share of affiliates operating results on an aggregate basis for the vear ended December 31 2012 were
$70277 548 558 33k 742 and $6 798 rcspeetively The aforementioned investees report on s different fisea! year end than the Company  Therefore, the
Company has made cortam estimates wath the summanzed financial information provided by management of these equity method 1nyestments 10 ahign the
fiscal yuar-ends Total assets and total liabiliies on an aggregate basis for these material investments were $14 558 and $7 299 at December 31 2012
respectnedy  The summarized financial information was prepared 1n accordance with U K GAAP, whrch the Company has determined 1 not materially
difterent than 1f these amounts were prepared 1 accordance with U S GAAP

As ot December 31 2612 the Company also bad 13 investments accounted for under the equity method, which were not icluded i the paragraph
above as management had determined these ivestments to be immaterial individually and in the aggregate

Durmmg the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded a $1,863 loss related to the accounting mmpact of an increased ownership stake 1n
an equity method im estment previously accounted tor under the cost methed During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded $521 of pre-
Ly income representing the Company < share of equity in prior pertod carnings of an cquity-method investee

The Company reviews 1ny estments accounted for under the equity method for decline invalue that may be other than temporary  During the year
wnded December 31 2002 the Company did not record any write-downs related to equity method investments  During the year ended December 31, 2011 the
Company recorded wirte-downs of 34 717 related 10 equity method investments that were determined to be ympaired on an other-than-temporary basis The
value ol the Company s owncrship interest m these entities was wvaluated in hight of recent and projected operating losses of these investees A decline in current
and projected cash flows resulted in the value of the Company « ownership micrests buing less than the carrying amount of these investments These write-
dow ns are included in Cther expenses in the Consohdated Statements of Operations
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOIES 10 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

20 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

The lollowing matenal operating subsidiartes of the Company are required to mamntan rinimum levels ol tegulatory capital pursuant 1o applicable
regulations

GF1 Secunities LLC 1s a registered broker-dealer with the SEC and FINRA GF1 Securiies LLC 15 also a regisiered introducing broker with the
National Futures Association (* NFA™) and the Commodity Futures Trading Comnussion (* CFTC') Accordingly GFI Sccunties LLC 15 subject to the net
capital rules under the Exchange Act and the Commodity Exchange Act Under these rules GFI Securnities LLC ts required to matntam mimimum Net Capital
as defined by applicable regulations of not less than the greater of $250 or 2% of aggregate debus as defined by applicable regulations

In January 2013 GFI Brokers LLC and Amerex Brokers LLC were registered as introducing brokers with the NFA and €1 TC - A~ introducing
brokers, GF1 Brokers LLC and Amerex Brokers LLC are also subject to the applicable CFTC muimimum capital requirement which s to maintam Adjusted
Net Capiial equal to the greater of (1) $45 (11) for introducing brokers wath less than 81 660 m Adjusted Net Capital $6 per office or 83 pur Assouiated
Person whichever is greater or (11) tf the inroducing broker 1s also a broker-dealer, the SEC requirement apphicable to broker-dealers

GF1 Brokers Limited GEl Securities Limited The Kyte Group Luruted and Kyte Broking Limited are subject to the capiial requirements of the
Financial Services Authority in the Unied kingdom { FSA ) In addinon GF1 Secunities Limsted and |he Kyte Group Limited are subject Lo the FSA
consobdated capital requirements

GF1 (HK) Securnities LLC 1s subject to the capial requirements of the Securittes and Futures Commussian in Hong Kong (the SFC 3

The follow ing table sets forth information about the mimimum regulatory capital that certain of the Company’s subsidiaries were required to maintain
as ol December 31 2012

GFI GFI Brokers GF1 Securitics The Kyte Group kit Broklng Cil(llh)
Securities LLC L emvited | imied 1 inuted 1 1meted Securries 1LIC
Regulatory cap:tal 3 12476 § 48430 S 50758 § 16,907 $ 6088 § 2 689
Minimum regulatory capital
required 250 4] 383 59 338 11053 2457 87
Excess regulatory capital $ 12,226 § 7047 § 4120 § 5854 % 3631 8§ 2302

Centaun ot the Company « material operating subsidianes are subject to other financtal requirements as set forth below

GF1 (HK) Brokers Ltd 15 registered with and regulated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authonty As part of this registration GFT {HK)} Brokers Lid s
required to maintain stockholders® equity of 5 000 Hong Kong dollars (or approximately $645) At December 31 2012, GFI (HK} Brokers Lid had
stockholders’ equity ot 37 291 Hong Kong dollars (or approximately $4 811), which exceeded the munmimum requirement by 32 291 Hong Kong dellars (or
approximately $4,166)

GF1 Group Pte Lid 1s subject to the compliance requiresnents of the Monetary Authonty of Singapore which requires that GFI Group Pt Lid
among other things, maintain stockholders’ equity of 3 000 Singapore dollars (or approumately $2 4643 At December 31 2012 GFI Group Pte Ltd
exceeded the mimimum requirement by approximaiely i8,277 Singapore dollars (or approximately $15 012)

GFi Korea Money Brokerage Lumited 1s hcensed and regulated by the Ministry of Finance and LCeonomv to engage an Joreign vxchange brokerage
business and 1s subject 10 certain regulatory requirements under the Foreign Exchange Transachion Act As a licensed foreign exchange brokerage company
GFI Korea Money Brokerage Limited 15 required to mamtam rimmum paid-in capital of 5 000 000 Korean Won (or approximalely 84 700) At December 31
2012 GF1 Korca Money Brokcerage Linited excceded the mimmimum requiremint tor paid-in-capital by approximatcly 5 606 378 Korcan Won (or
approximately $5 270)
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES 10 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

These regulatory rules may restrict the Company’s abtlity to withdraw capital from 1s regulated subsidiaries In addibion to the requirements set forth
above certin ot (he Company s other subsidianes are subject to minmum net capital minmmum stockholders’ equity or similar requirements ot the
junsdicuons in which they operate The Company believes 1t was in compliance with all ol these requirements at December 31 2012 and 2011

21 SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORVIATION

In accordance with ASC 280-10 Segment Reporung ( ASC 280-10°) and based on the nature of the Companvy's operations, preducts and services
n cach geographce region the Company determined that 1t has five operating segments (1) Amencas Brokerage, (1t) Curope Middle East and Africa
{ LMLA ) Brokerage (m) Asia Brokerage, (n) Clearing and Backed Trading and (v) All Other The Company’s brokerage operations provide brokerage
stnaces 0 four broad product eategonies fixed income financial equity and commodity 1 he Cleanng and Backed Trading segment encompasses the
Company’s clearmg nisk management settlement and other back-office services as well as the capital we provide to start-up trading groups, small hedge
tunds market-makers and indi tdual traders The All Other segment captures revenues and costs that are not directly assignable to one of the brokerzge or
clearmy and backed trading operating segments, primanly consisting ol the Cempany’s corporate business activities and operations from soflware analytics
wnd markct data

The accounting polictes of the segments are the same as those described above in Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies The
Company evaluates performance of the operating segments hased on income (loss} betore income taxes which 1t defines as revenues less direct expenses
Revenues within cach brokerage segment imclude res enues ihat are directly retated to providing brokerage semvices along with interest and other income {loss)
directly atiributable to the operating segment Revenues within the Clearing and Backed Trading segment primanly include revenucs that are directly related 10
providing cleaning services along with the Company’s share ot profit (loss) on trading activity from capital mvestments The Company s Clearing and
Backed Trading segment meurs cxchanges fies on bohalt of 1s chents, wheeh are reflected within Interest and transaction-based expenses The retmbursement
of these tees trom the Company’s chients 1s reflected within Total Revenues [herefore the Company e aluates the top-line performance of 1ts Clearng and
Backed Trading scgment using Revenucs net of interest and transaction-based exponses Direct expenses of the operating scgments are those expenses that arc
directlv related to providing the brokerage or cleaning services and trading actin iies of the operating segments and include compensation expense related to the
scgment management and stafl commumication and market data, travel and promotion and certam professional fees and other expenses that are directly
incurred by the operating scgments Howeser the Company does not allocale to 1ts brokerage operating scgments certam expenses which it manages separately
At the corporate level The unallocated costs include rent and occupancy deprecration and amoruzation, professional tees interest on barrowings and other
cxpenses and are meluded i the All Other operating segment Management gencrally does not consider the unallocated costs n 1ts performance measurement of
() Americas Brokerage (1) Europe Middle East and Atnica ( EMEA ) Brokerage {111) Asta Brokerage and (1v} Cleanng and Backed Trading
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Selected tinancial informatton for the Company $ reporable segments is presented below for periods indicated

Total revenues

Revenues, net of mterest and transaction-
based uxpenses

Income (lass) before income taxes

Total revenues

Revenues net of interest and transaction-
based expenses

income (loss} betore income taxes

Toial revenues

Revenues net of interest and transaction-
based expenscs

Income (loss) betore ibcome tases

For the Year knded December 31 2012

Clearmmg
Americas LMEA A<ia and Backed
Brokerage Brokerage Brokerage Trading All (Mher Total
s 276,350 $ 338,504 S 71927 8§ 159 877 § 77929 % 924 587
262,560 328722 71813 44 597 79 35% FR7 045
69 648 83 334 15075 6 688 {176 002) (1257)
For the Y ¢ar Fnded December 31 2011
Cleaning
Americas FMEA Asia and Backed
Brokerage Brokerage Rrokerage Trading All Other Lotal
) 313483 § 386,012 § 82,903 § 164,882 § 68,193 § 1 15,473
269,590 374 802 82,839 54,104 69,436 880 771
81,308 88,122 15,533 9196 (i94 077) 82
For the Y ear Faded December 35 2010
Clearing
Amcritus FMFA Asia and Backed
Brokerage Brokerage Brokerage 1rading Al Other Total
$ 294910 S 3790313 § 74945 8§ 53129 % 60 585 3 862 602
278,553 367,494 74 875 12140 61 982 795 (M4
66 399 115,037 15814 (3041) (162 4006) 31803

In additien with the exception for goedwill the Company docs not identify or allocate asscts by eperating segment hor does 11s ¢hiet operaung
dectsion maker cvaluate operaung segments using discrete asset intormation See Note 6 for goodwill by reportable sepment

For the years ended December 31 2012, 2011, and 2010, the U K 1s the only individual foreign country that accounts for 10% or more of the Loial
sales and total long-hved assets Information regarding revenue for the years ended December 31 2012 2011, and 2010 and information regarding long-hved
agsets (defined as property, equipment, leasehold improvements and software inventory) w1 geographic areas as of December 31 2012 and 2011 are as

follows
For the vear ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Revenues
Linited States S 271038 § 303508 S 290 053
United Kingdom 456,801 492,204 398.020
Other 196 748 219 761 174 529
Total S 324 587 % 1015473 § 862 602
Far the vear ended December 31
2012 2011 10
Revenues, nct of intercest and transaction-based
expenses
Umited States 8 262,962 S 295212 § 278 686
United Kingdom 337 440 376 809 348,895
Other 186 643 208 750 167 463
Total $ 787045 S 880 77F & 795 044
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GF1 GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOIES 10 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

As of December 11,

2012 2011
Long-lned Assets, as defined
Lonted Stites 8 47,675 S 50,993
Umited Kingdom 10,536 12,018
Other 5,239 5.846
lotal 3 63450 S 68,857

Ruvenues are atnibuted 10 geographic areas based on the location of the parucular subsidiary of the Company which generated the revenues
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SIATEMENTS (Contunued)

{In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

22 PARENT COMPANY INFORMATION

The toltowing presents the Parent company only s Condensed Statements ol Financial condiien Operations and compreiensive {loss) income and

LCash flows
Parent Company Onlv
Condensed Statements of Financial Cendition
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments in subsidiaries, cquity basis
Advances to subsidiaries
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Liahilities and stockholders’ equity
LLIABILITIES
Long-term obligations
Other Liabilities
Total Liabilittes
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, $0 01 par value, 5,000 000 shares authonized none outstanding at December 31, 2012 and
2001
Common stock 80 01 par value, 400,000 000 <hares authorized and 134,689 148 and 131 669 6706
shares 1ssued at December 31 2012 and 2011 respecuvely
Additional paid 1n capatal
Retained carnings
Treasury stoch 17,313 686 and 14 145,038 common shares at cost at December 31 2012 and 2011,
respechively
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total Stockholders” Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
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Decembur 31
2012 2011

216 127

453 186 414 021
189 189 258 951
37 758 33 857
680,349 706 956
250,000 250,000
5,267 9 744
255 267 259 744
1347 1317
374 798 365 835
121415 160 934
(75 020 (73919)
2542 (6955)
4125 082 147212
680 349 706 956
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Parent Companv Only
Condenscd Statements of Operations and Comprehensave (Loss) Income
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Revinues

Interest mgomc 3 39 S8 1¢ s 3
Evpinses

INTLresT LXPense 24,968 22618 9210

Other expenses 1,284 996 1,028

Totu expenses 26,252 23614 10,238
Less bulore buncht from income taxes and equity i earmings of subsidianes (26,213} (23,504} (10,234)
Renctit Irom income taxes 6,097 8,226 1,892
Loss betore cquity tn camings of subsidiaries (20,116} (15,278) (8,342}
Lauity i carmngs ot subsidianes net of tax 10,163 12,097 339857
GF! s net (loss) income 3 (9,953) § (3,181) § 25,615
Other comprehensive (loss) income net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustment 9,244 (3,050} 2,054

Unrcaltecd gatn{loss) on available-for-sale securnttes net of tax 253 (1 486) 182
Gl s comprihensise (loss) income S (456} § (7717 S 27,851
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
{In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Parent Company Onh

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Y ear knded December 31

2012 2011 010
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
GFI'S net (loss) income by (9,953) S (3181) § 25615
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used n operaiing actn 1lies
[ncome trom equity method mnvestments (10 163) (12097) (33957
Amortization of loan fees 2175 {709 939
Share-bascd compensation 386 449 315
Changes in operating assets and lrabilities
Other assets {5 942) (8 338) {1 880)
Other lbilities (4 477) 5 6K3 01
Cash used 1n operating activities (27 974) (15 775) (8 767)
CASH FLOWS [ ROM INVESTING ACTIVITICS
Investments 1n subsidiaries 684 138 963
Receipts trom subsidianes 69 988 28 R76 $9 745
Cash provided by 1nvesting activities 70,672 29014 60 708
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayments of short-term borrowings 195,000 (190,000} (40 000)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings (195 000) 55 000 60000
Praceeds from long-term obligations —_ 250 000 —
Repayments of long-term obligations — (60 000) —
Purchases ot treasury siock (12 939) (35 868) (22 609)
Cash dividends paid (29,566) (24 180} (54,658)
Payment ot loan tces (134) (8891) (27200
Proceeds from excrcise of stock options 30 75 645
Cash used m financing activitics (42 609) (13 864) (39 342)
Increase (decrease) 1n cash and cash cquuivalents 89 {625) (7401)
Cash and cash equivalents, begimning of year 127 752 R1s3
Cash and cash equivalents, end o year S 216§ 127 S 752
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
Interest pad 3 22845 8 12614 S R778

Guarantees

From ume 1o ume, the Company provides guarantees on behalf of its subsidianies to clients for the purpose of providing credit enhancement tor
such clients Such guaraniees generally provide that the Company will guarantee the performance of all liabihties obligations and undertakings owed by such
subsidiary with respect to matched principal transactions entered into by such subsidiary with the relevant chient These guarantees are generally temimabic on
less than 30 days notce The Company has not recorded any contingeni Liability n the condensed financial statements for these guarantees and believes that
the occurrence of any events that would tngger payments under these guarantees 1s remote

Advances to Subsidiaries
As of December 31 2012 201 and 2010, the Parent company had receivables from subsidiaries of $189 189 $258 951 and $302 079
respectively related pnimarily to the allocation of funds received from notes payable and the 1ssuance of cquity sceurities to subsidiaries to tund working

capital
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GFI GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES 10 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTIS {Continued)
(In thousands. except share and per share amounts)

23 SLBSFQLFENT FVENTS

On January I8 2013 Moody s Investor Senvices lowered 115 eredit rating on the Company s 8 375% Semor Noles two nelches to B! Sec Note 8 for
1 lurther discussion of this downgrade and the unpact on the Company s per annum nlerest expensc

In March 2013 the Company entered nto an amendment te s Credit Agreement which decreased the maximum borrowing capacity to §75 000
unnit December 2013, at which tme $18 750 of the lender comnutments mature - The remaiming $56 250 of lender commitments mature 1in Decomber 2015
Sce Nuote 8 {or turther details on the Credit Agreement

In March 2013 the Company repurchased $10 000 principal amount of its 8 375% Sentor Notes on the open market lor an aggregate purchasc price
ot §9,602 including accrued interest and sales commissions The Company funded the repurchase ot these notes with borrowings under s Credit
Agreemocent

Substguent events have been evaluated tor disclosure 1n the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements through the filing date ot this Form 10-K
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ITFM 9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISC1 OSLRF
None
ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company s management carmied out an evaluation under the supers iston and with the
participation of our Chiet Execunve Officer and our Chiet Financial Officer of the etiectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) Based on the foregomg our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Otficer concluded that !
our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the peniad covered by this Form 10-K

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of the Company 1s responsible tor esiablishing and mamtaining adequate intemal control over financial reporting as defined m
Rules 13a-15(1) and 15d-15(1) under the Secunues Fxchange Act ot 1934 Internal control over financial reporing 15 a process designed under the
superyision of the Company s principal exccutive and pnncipal financial officers to provide reasonable assurance regarding the rehability of fnancial
reporting and the preparation of the Company » financial stalemenis for exiernal purposes 1n accordance with genurally accepied accounting principles

The Company’s iniernal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the mamtenance of records that
m reasonable detail, accurately and tairly reflect the transactions and dispositions ot the assets of the Company (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions arc rccorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 1n accordance with gencrally accepled accounting principles and that
receipts and expenditures of the Companv are being made oniy m accordance with authorzations of management and directors ol the ¢ ompany and
(3) previde reasonabie assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthonized acquisiion use or disposition of the Company s assets that could
have a matenal eftect on the financial statemenis

|

Because of us inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Projections of any evaluation of !

cffectiveness to future penods are subrect to the risk that controls may become inadequate because ot changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance I

with the pohcies or procedures may deteriorate |
|

The Company s management assessed the effectveness of the Company s internal control aver {financial reporting as of December 31 2012 In

mak:ng this assessment the Company s management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisaon

(COSO0) 1n Internal Control-Integrated Framework  B3ased on 1is assessment and the COSO erniteria management believes that as of Dueember Y1 2012 the

Company manmuaned efiective ternal control over financial reporting

The Company s independent registered public accounting tirm has aud:ted and 1ssued their auditor s report on management s asscssment ot the
effectiveness of the Company s ternal conirol over financial reporting as ol December 31 2012 That report appears on Page 88 ot this Form 10-K
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Change n Inwernai Controls

In additien: the Company < management ncluding the Company « Chiet Executive Otficer and Chiel Financial Officer has evaluated the
Company ~ internal controls over tinancial reparting (as detined in Rule |3A-15(1) of the Exchange Act) and determaned that there have been no changes in our
tiernal controls over financal reporting during the founh quarter of 2012 that has matenatly affected or 1s reasanably likely 1o matenally affect, our imteenal
controls vver financial reporting
ITFM 9B OTHLR INFORMATION

None
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PARI I
ITEM 10 DIRECIOQORS EAECUIIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required to be furmished pursuant to this siem wall be set forth under the captions * Election of Directors  and * Cxecutive Officers
the regisirant s provy stalement {the  Proxy Statement ) to be furnished to stockholders in connection wuth the 2013 Annual Mewting of Stockholders winch we
expect will be held on June 6 2013 and s incorporated herein by reterence

The information required to be furmished pursuant to this item with respect to compliance with Section 16(a} of the Exchange Act will be st lorth
under the caption * Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Comphance 1 the Proxy Statement and is incorporated heren by reterence

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Lthics that applies to all directors officers and employees We have also adopted a Code of
Business Conduct and Ethues that 1s applicable to the Company's senior financial and accounung officers (including the chief executive officer chied
financial efficer and corporate controller) A copy of these codes are posted on the Company s website www gfigroup com under the scchion Tns cator
Relations—Corporate Governance * In the cvent the Company substantively amends or waives a provision of its Codes of Business Conduct and TMhses the
Company intends 1o disclose the amendment or waiver on the Company s website as well

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The intormaton required to be furmished pursuant to thss item will be set forth under the caption  Exccutive Compensatien 1 the Proxy Staiement
and 1s incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12 SECLRITY OWNERSHIP OF CER1AIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMLENL AND RELATLED SIOCKHOLDLR
MATTERS

The formation required 1o be furmished pursuant to this stem wall be sct forth under the captions “Secunity Ownership o Certam Bencficial
Owners  *Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Otticers and Equiiy Compensation Plan inlormation i the Proxy Statcment and s
meorporaied herein by reference

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The mformation required to be. furnished pursuant te this stem will be set forth under the caption Certain Relationships and Related Panty
Transacttons and Director Independence in the Proxy Statement, and ts incorporated hercmn by reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNITANT FEES AND SFRVICFS

The informatan required to be furmnished pursuant te this ttem will be set forth under the caption *Fees Paid to indepundent Auditors 1 the Proxy
Statement, and 1s incorporated herein by reference
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PART 1V

ITEM 15 ENHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) N'inancial Statements  See Index 10 Fingncial Statements on page 87

(«)(2) Financial Statement Schedules  We have included Schedule [1—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts on page 147 All other schedules are
omutted as they iee not apphicable or the imtormation required 15 :ncluded 1n the Financia! Statements or notes thereto

(a)}(3) Exhabits The lollowing Exhibits arc filed as part of this Report as required by Regulation S-K - Exhibits 10 2 through 10 22 are management
Lontracts or compens Hory plans or arrangements

Number

Descnption

11*

310k

41

43*

44

4 5%

1n1*

102+

10 3

Second Amended and Restared Cernficate of Incorporation of the Registrant (Filed as Exhubtt 3 1 10 the Company « Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2005, File No 000-51103)

Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporatien (Fifed as Exlubit 31 i to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
February 29 2008, INie No 000-51103)

Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Remstrant (Filed as Exhibit 3 2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
I chruary 13 20H3)

Sce Lxhibis 31 3 1 1 and 3 2 for provisions of the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Third Amended and
Restated Bvlaws of the Registrant defimng the nghts of holders of Common Stock of the Registrant

Specimen Stock Cerbficate (Filud as Fxhibit 4 2 to Amendment No S to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed on
January 24 2005 File No 333-116517)

Indenture, dated as of July 19, 2011 by and between GFT Group Inc as Issuer and The Bank of New York Metlon Trust Company
N A, as T'rustee relating to the 8 375% Semor Notes due 2018 of GF1 Group Ine (Filed as Exhibit 4 2 to the Company™s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on July 22 2011 File No 001-34897)

Registration Rughts Agreement dated as of July 19, 2011 by and between Gl Group Inc and Jetferies & Company Inc  relating to the
GF! Group Inc s R 375% Scaior Netes duc 201R (Filed as Exhebit 4 3 1o the Company s Current Report on Ferm 8-K filed on July 22
2011

Form o! Exchange 8 375% Scnior Note duc 2018 (Filed as Exhibit 4 4 to Amendment No ! to the Company’s Registration Statement on
I orm 5-4 filed on November 14 2011 File No 333-177459)

Seeond Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated December 20 2010 among the Registrant and GFI1 Holdings Limited as
borrowery subsidiarics of the Registrant named theremn as guarantors Bank of Amenica, N A as adnurustrative agent, Barclays

Bank Plc and The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC as co-svndicanon agents the other lenders party thereto and Memill Lynch Pierce
Fenner & Smith Ineorporated and Barclays Bank PLC, as joint lead arrangers and joint book running managers (Fited as Cxhubit 101 10
the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Docember 22 2010 Fiie No 006-51103)

Insability Agreement dated as of December 30 2004 bemween the Registrant and Michael A Gooch {Fited as Exhibat 10 4 to Amendment
No 5 to the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on January 24, 2005 Fule No 333-116517)

Fmployment Agreement dated as of November 18 2002 between the Repistrant and  James A Peers ([Mled as Eximbit 10 6 to Amendment
No 2o the Company’s Regstration Statement on Form S-1 filed on September 17 2004 File No 333-116517)
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“umber Descnption
10 4% Guardtan Trust of GFI Brokers Lumited (Filed as Exhibit 10 10 10 Amendment No 2 to the Company s Registration Statument on Form 5-
I file don September 17 2004 File No 333-116517)
10 5* Employment Agreement dated as of August 20 2008, between GF1 Group Inc and Ronald Damel Leva (Fiied as Dxhubit 10 | to the
Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 22 2008 Mile No 000-51103)
10 6* Employment Agreement dated March 26 2007 between GHi Group Inc and Scott PintofT (Filed as Exhibat 10 16 to the Company «
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10 2007 File No 000-51103)
10 7* Employment Agreemen: dated March 26 2007 between GH Group Inc and ] € hnsiopher Giancarlo (Filed as Exlubiat 10 16 10 the
Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10 2007 File No 000-51103)
10 8* tmployment Agreement dated Aprl 30 2007 between GFI Group Inc and Colin Heflron (Filed as Cxhibit 10 1 to the Company s current
report on Form 8-K filed on May 2 2007, File No 000-51103)
10 9* GF! Group Inc 2008 Lquity Incentive Plan (Filed as Cxhabit 1022 to the Company s Quarterly Ruport en Form [0-Q [ilud on August 8
2008 File No 000-51103)
10 10* GF1 Group Inc 2008 Scnier Annual Bonus Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10 23 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
August 8 2008 File No 000-51103)
1011* Amendment No | to Disability Agreement dated December 31 2008 between GE1 Group Inc and Michael Gooch (Filed as Exhibat 10 25
to the Companv s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2 2009 File No 000-5110%)
10 12* Amendment No 1 to Employment Agreement dated December 24 2008 between GF1 Group Ine and James Pecrs (Filed as Pxlubit 10 26
to the Company s Annual Report on Form F0-K filed on March 2 2009 File No 000-51103)
10 13* Amendment No | to Employment Agreement dated December 31 2008 beiween GF1 Group [nc and Colin HefTron (Frled as
Exhibit 10 27 to the Company’s Annual Report on I'orm 10-K filed on March 2 2009 File No 000-51103)
10 14* Amendment No ! to Employment Agreement dated December 31, 2008 between GFI Group Inc and Ronald Levi (Filed as Exhibit 10 28
to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2 2009 Tilc No 000-51103)
10 i5* Amendment No 1 to Employment Agreement dated December 31 2008 butween GE I Group Ine and Scott Pintoff (Filed as
Fxhibit 10 29 to the Company < Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2 2009 ftle No 000-51103)
10 16* Amendment No 1 to Employment Agreement dated December 5 2008 between GFT Group Ine and ] Chirstopher Grancarlo (Filed as
[xhibit 10 30 to the Company s Annual Repori on Form 10-K {iled on March 2 2009, 11le No 000-51103)
1017 Amendment No 2 to Cmployment Agicement dated March 30 2009 buwewn GFI Group Inc and Ronald Levi (Filed as Cxhibia 10 1 1o
the Company s Quarterly Ruport on Form 10-Q filed May 11 2609, Fide No 000-5110%)
10 18* First Amendment to the GF1 Group Inc 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibut 101 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q filed on August 10 2009 File No 000-51103})
16 19* Second Amendment 1o the GF1 Group Inc 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Cxhubit 10 1 to the Company « Quarterly Report on

Fom 10-Q filed on August 9, 2010, File No 000-51103)
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Suiibier Description

10 20+ Third Amendment to the GFI Group Inc 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (Filedon Exhibut 10 20 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-
K filed on March 15 2012 File No 000-51103)

121 Fourth Amendmcnl to the GFL Group Inc 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (Filed on Exinbit 10 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q filed on August 9 2012 Filg No 000-51103)

F022* GFl Group Inc Delerred Cash Award Program (Filed as Exhitbit 10 1 to the Company ~ Current Report on Form §-K, filud on
February 14 2013 File No 001-34897)

10 23* First Amendment to Credit Agreement and Consent dated as of March 6 2013 among GFE Group Ine and GFI Holdmgs 1 muted as
Borrowers certamn subsidiaries of the Company as Guarantors vartous Lenders and Bank of America, N A as Administrative Agent
(Filed as Exhibat 10 1 to the Company » Current Repert on Form 8-K, filed on March 7 2013)

12 Computation of Rato ot Earmings to Fixed Charges
211 List of subswharics of the Registrant
231 Conscnt of Independent Registered Public Accounting FNirm- PnicewaterhouseCoopers LLP

232 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm- Delottte & Touche LLP

311 Ceortsfication of Principal Executive Officer

312 Ceruficauon of Principal Financeal Officer

321 Written Statement of Chict Cxecutin e Officer Pursuant to Scetion 9 06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U S C Section 1350)

322 Written Statement of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 9 06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 US C Scction 1350)
101 INS** ABRL Instance Document
108 SCH** XBRL Iaxonomy Extension Schema Document
101 CAL*- XBRI. Taxenomy kxtension Calculation Linkbase Decument
101 DLF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Defininon Linkbase

LO1 LaB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101 PREI** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
(*) Prosiousiy filed
(**) Furnshed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K and included tn Exinbit 101 to this report are the following documenis tormatted in XBRL

(Extensible Business Reporting Language) (1) the Consohdated Statements of Financial Condition as of December 31 2012 and December 31 2011
(a1} the Consohdated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2012, 2011, and 2010 (1) the Consohidated Statements of
Comprchensve Income for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 (1v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows tor the years ended
Peeember 31 2012, 2001 and 2010 (v) the Consohdated Statements of Changes in Stockholders® Cquity for the years ended December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010 and (v1) Notes 1© Consohdated Hinancial Statements tagged as blocks of text As provided 1n Rule 406T of Regulaton 8-T, this
miormation 15 furmished and not filed * for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the Secunties Act of 1937 and Secuion 18 of the Secunties
Fxchange Act of 1934 Such cxhibit will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference 1nto any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the
Sceurites | xehange Act of 1934 unless GEL Group Inc speeifically incorporates it by reference

145

, il - ooatre b Bl 0 s JBBA K20 D ECTR by TR0 U R Gl it b M Py BTG OF Jien Mt o G
-t b se bem s3uOIEB? YR N R REE RS L L R TN W P L R 1ot




Table of Contents
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or i5(d) o1 the Sccuriiies Exchange Act ol 1934 the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on
Form 10-K far the fiscal year ended December 31 2012 1o be signed on its behall by the undersigned  thereunto duly authonized on the 13th day of March,
2013

GH GROUP INC

By  /isTJAMES A PEERS

Nane James A Peers
Title Chief Fimancrad Ofheer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secunities Exchange Aet of 1933 this report on Formy 10-K has been signed by the following persons i the
capacitics and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Daic

/s{ MICHAEL GOOCH Executive Chairman ot the Board March 13 2013
Michael Gooch

/sf COLIN HEFFRON Chiet Executnve Ofticer (principal exciuine March [Y 2013
Colin Hetfron officer) and Director

/sf JAMES A PEERS Chicf Financial Qlficer (principal financial March 13 2013
James A Pecrs and accounung otficer)

is/ JOHN W WARD Dirceter March 13 2013

John W Ward

/sf MARISA CASSONI Dhrector March 13 2(H3
Marisa Cassoni

/s FRANK FANZILLI, JR Director March 13 2013
Frank Fanzilli Jr

i~/ RICHARD W P MAGEL Dircetor March 13 2013
Richard W P Magee
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Scheduld 11

GFI1 CROUP INC AND SURSIDIARIES
SCHEDLLE [T—\ ALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNIS

Balance ut Charged (o Charged to Balance at
Regannimg of Cost! Other Ead ol
Puriod Expense Accounis{n} Dcductions(b) Period
(In thousands

Alow e tor Doubtiul Actounts
Y car unded December 31 2012 $ 1453 % 9§ (5y S 5§ 1710
Year ended December 31 2011 1,591 250 1 (389) 1,453
Year ynded December 31, 2010 4099 (829 (31} (1 648) 1591
(a) Forall periods it includes the eftects for cxchange rate changes

(]

Nel adjustments to the reserve accounts for write-ofts and credits 1ssued during the vears
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COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNNGS TO FINED CHARGES

(In thousands except ratios)

A car Ended Decomber 3

Fxhint 12

1012 1t 2010 2009 20y

Earnings

Income before provision to1 iIncome taxcs ) (1257) % g2 s 31803 S 23270 S 82 977

Lessiadd Equity in net earmings {loss) of unconsolidated

businesses 8,569 10 466 3974 1 574 (209)

Add Fixed charges 31373 30 R43 15 662 I4 911 21012

Add Distributed income of unconsolidaled businesses 11,294 I1 590 4 427 1,826 503

Total earmings before mcome taxes and fixed charges $ 32841 8§ 32,049 S 47918 S 39431 § 105 203

Fixed charges

Interest on borrowings S 26,885 % 25,759 % 11,063 § 10540 8 14334

Interest component of rent expense (1) 4 488 5084 4,599 4 371 6 778

Tolal fived charges S 31373 % 30843 § 15662 S 14911 8§ 21112

Rato of earmings (o fixed charges 1 Ox i Ox 3 1x REON RN

(1 Amount represents those portions of rent expense that are reasonable approximatiens of nterest costs
I
I
|
|
|
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Naihe of Subsaban

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES O GFI GROUP INC

Exhibst 211

Jurisdiction of Formation

GT1 Sccunnes {(SA)

KU MA Holdmgs Pty Limited

G Brokors (€ hile) Agentes De Valores SpA
GF! Advisory (China) Co Limited

GFY Exchange Colombia (SA)
GFL Secunnes Cotombna (SA)

GFI(HK) Brokers Limited
GIT Emance Sa rd
GFL Group Sarl

GF1 Group Mexico S A de OV

GFI Group Moateo Servicos S de RL de CV

G D PeruS A C

GH Group Pte D imited
GEL TP Holdmgs Pty Ltd
Trayport Ple Limaited

GF ) Sceunties (SAY(PTY) Limated
GF Kore s Moncy Brokerage Thimited

GFI Sccunties Nyon Sarl
Bramns Inc Limited

Cuntury Chartering (U K ) Ltd

Christopher Street Capital Linnted

dVega Limited

Femes Limated

Femies Software Limited
GF1 Brokers Limited

GEHE Group Services Lux Limited

G Holdimgs Timud
OGP Markers Lud

GHEMarkets Tnsestments Limized

Gl lner T wope Dimited
G locs UK Loated
GIT New g e Linmined
OFHE Seeunties Lmted
GFETP Limited

GM Capital Markcets Limited

Kvte Broking Limned

Kyt Capital Managemens Limited

The Kyte Group Linited
Trayport Limted

Ameres Brokes T1C
Fontes Sehware Inc

GF1 Brokars LLC

Gl L Group LLC

GH K ) Seeuntes LIC
Gl Inerine

GH Seounnes LLE

Gl Markets TTC

GFIN LLC

GF1 Futures Exchange £LC
GE Swaps Exchange LLC
Kyle Secuntes LLEC
Trayporl Inc

Argentina
Australia

Chile

Chma

Coloma
Colombta

Hong Kong
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Mexica

Mewico

Peru

Singapore
Singapore
Singapore

South Atrca
South Korea
Switzerland
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Untted Kingdom
United Kingdom
Umted Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom:
Unttee! kingdom
Umited Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United States
United States
Unned States
United States
United States
United States
United States
United States
United States
Uimted States
United States
United States
United States
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Fahibit 23 1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
i

We consent to the incorporation by referenice in Registration Statemnents No 333-122905 No 333-152027 Mo 333-160344 No 333-167678 No J33-
175271 and No 333-182438 on Form S-8 of our repors relateng to the consohidated financial stateynents and financial staiement schedules ot GFI Group Inc
dated March 15 2012 (March 12 2013 as 10 Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Palicies - Retent Accounting Pronouncements - ASU Neg 20 .05
Presentation of Comprehensive Incame) appearing in the Annual Report en Form 10-K of GH Group Inc for the year ended Decembor 31 2012

s/ Delontie & Touche LLP
New York New York
March 12 2013
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Exhibit 232
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING I'IRM

We herehy consont to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on No 333-122905 No 333-152027, No 333-160344 No 333-167678,
N0 333-175271 and No 333-182438 on Form S-8 of GI'l Group Inc of our report dated March 12 2013 relaung to the financial statements and the
cifectnencss of internal control over financial reporting which appears i this Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2012

f~ ProccwatethouseCoopers LLP
New York New York
March 12 2013
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Exvhibit 31 1

Certification
I Colm Hettron certity that
1 I have reviewed ihis Annual Report on Form [0-K of GFI Group Inc
2 Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material lact or omit to state a material fact necessary te make the
statements made, 1n hight of the circumstances under which such staiements were made not misleading wath respect to the pertod corered by thie
report,
3 Based on my knowledge the tinancial statemenis and other tinancial information included 1n this report tairly present i all matcnal respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the penods presented in this report

4 The registrant s other ccrtitying officer and 1 are respansible for stablishing and maintaiming disclosurc controds and proceduris (as defimd n
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal conirel over financial reporting (as defined 1n Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(t) and 15d-
15(0)} for the registrant and have

a) designed such disclosure controls and procudures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures o be designed under cur
supervision to ensure that matenal mformanton refaung to the registrant including i« consolidated substdiaries is made known 1o us by
others within those entines, particularly during the period i which this report 15 buing prepared

b} designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such iniemai control over financial reporting (o be designed under our
supervisien, to provide rcasonable assurance regarding the relrability of financial reporung and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes 1n accordance with generally accepted acceunting principles

c} cvaluated the cffectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the peniod covered by tlus report based on such evaluation and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registramt s internal control ever financial reporting that occurred during the registrant s mosl
recent fiscal quarter that has matertally affected or s reasonably Likely 10 materially affect the registrant™s imternal control over financial
reporuing and

5 The rugsstrant « other ecrtitying officer and | have disclosed based on our most recunt evaluation ol internal control vver financnl reporting 1o the
registrant » auditors, and the audit comumittee of the registrant s board ol dircetors {or persons pertormung the cquivalent functions)

a) all sigmficant deficiencies and matersal weaknesses in the design or operation ot internal conkrol oser financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record process, summanze and report financial information and

b) any fraud whether or not matersal that involves management ot other employees whe have a significant role in the registrant s internal
control over financial reporting

Date March 13 2013

/s/ COLIN HEFFRON
Celin Heftron
Chief Executrve Officer
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Exhibit 312

Crurification

I Junes A Poos cortidy tha

[ O]

I have revicwed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of GIT Group Inc

Based on my knowlcdge this report does not contain any untruc staiement of 2 matenal fact or omit to state a matenal fact necessary to make the
staternents made, 1n light of the circumstances under w hich such statements were made not musleading with respect te the pertod covered by this
report,

Hased on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial mformation included i this report farrly present in al! matertal respects the
financial condinion, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the perods presented in this report

The regstrant s other certitvang officer and [are responsible for cstablishing and mamainimg disclosure controls and procedurcs (as defined n
Lxchange Act Rules 13a-15(c} and 15d-15¢e)) and internal conirol over {inancial reporting (as detined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(1)) for the registrant and have

1) dusigned such disclosure controls and procedures or causced such disclosure controls and procedures 1o be designed under our
supen tsion 1o ensure that matenal nformation relating w the registrant incluchng 1ty consohidated subsidiaries 15 made known to us by
othure within those cnuties particularly during the penod i which this report 1s being prepared,

b} designed such intemal controf over financial reporiing or caused such intemnal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the rehability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes m accordance wath generally accepted accounting princeples

9] evaluaiud the eftectiveness of the registrant s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
efccinentss of the disclosure controts and procedures as of the end of the penod covered by 1ty report based on such evalvauon and

d) disclosed 1 this report any change i the regastrant s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant s most
reeent fisc st quarter that has matentally affccted or s reasonably hikely to maternally affect, the registrant’s inteenal control over financial
reporting and

Tho registrant » other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed based on our most recent cvaluanon of internal control over f1nancial eeporting, to the
registrint s auditors and the audit commiee of the regisiranm s board ot dircetors (or persons performing the cquivalent lunctions)

a) all srgrificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of mternal control over financial reporting which are
rcasonably likely to adversely aftect the registrant’s abihiv to record process summanze and report financial intormation, and

h) any fraud whether or not matenal that involves management or other employees who have a ssgnificant role in the registrant s internal
contro! over financial reporting

Diare March 13 2013

/st JAMPS A PEIRS

James A Puers
Clief Financial Offteer
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Libhit 32 ¢

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of GF1 Group Inc
Pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, as Adepted Pursnant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connectton with the Annual Report of G Group Inc (the * Company ) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2012 a« filed with
the Secunities and kxchange Commussion on the date hereof (the Report } [ Colin Heftron Chief Fxecutive (XiTicer of the Company certily pursuant to the
18 LS C Secuon 1350 as adopted pursuant to Scction 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that .o my knowledg

| The Report tully complies with the requirements ot Sectson 13(a) or 15(d) of the Sceunitics Fxchange Act ot 1934 and

2 The intormation contatned 1n the Report faurly presents m all matenal respecis the financial condition and results of operatiens ot the
Company

Datc March 13 2013

s/ COLIN HEFFRON
Colin Heftron
Chuef Executive Officer
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Falubit 322

Certificatton of Chief Financia! OfTicer of GFI Group Inc
Pursoant to 18 U S € Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section %06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connectran with the Annual Report of GF1 Group Inc (the “Company”} on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2012 as filed with
the Sceunities and bxchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report } 1, James A Peers Chief Finaneial Officer of the Company certtfy pursuant to the
18 L 5C Section 1350 as adopied pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that to my knowledge

1 The Report {ully complies with the requirements ot Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securtties Exchange Act of 1934, and
2 The intormtion contamed i the Report fardy presents 1 all matenal respects the financral condition and results of operations of the
C ompany

Date March 13 2013

/st JAMES A PETRS
James A Peers
Chief Financial Officer
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